ECONOMIC STUDIES DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS SCHOOL OF BUSINESS, ECONOMICS AND LAW UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG 260

Court-Ordered Care

Ronja Helénsdotter



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

To Helén Andersson and Pertti Karjalainen

ISBN 978-91-88199-79-9 (printed) ISBN 978-91-88199-80-5 (pdf) ISSN 1651-4289 (printed) ISSN 1651-4297 (online)

> Printed in Sweden, Stema 2024



Acknowledgments

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my amazing supervisors, Randi Hjalmarsson and Andreea Mitrut, for their invaluable support and guidance. I cannot stress enough how much I value you both. I also want to thank my discussants, Emily Leslie, Kevin Schnepel, and Nadine Ketel, for sharing their valuable insights and constructive criticism. The advice and encouragement of Jason Baron, Joe Doyle, Marie-Pascale Grimon, Mikael Lindahl, and Matthew Lindquist have been instrumental in the process of writing this dissertation.

I gratefully acknowledge the generous funding offered by The Royal Swedish Academy, Vetenskapsrådet, Herbert & Karin Jacobssons Stiftelse, Kungl. och Hvitfeldtska stiftelsen, Stiftelsen Lars Hiertas Minne, and Jan Wallanders och Tom Hedelius stiftelse. The material and data provided by fantastic staff members at the administrative courts of Sweden, The Swedish National Archives, Stockholm City Archive, The National Courts Administration, Statistics Sweden, The National Board of Health and Welfare, The National Board of Institutional Care, and The National Council for Crime Prevention made this dissertation possible.

I extend my heartfelt appreciation to my colleagues, peers, and teachers for their stimulating discussions and willingness to offer assistance whenever needed. Their contributions have enriched my journey immeasurably. I would especially like to thank Katarina Nordblom for inspiring me to become a researcher as an undergraduate student and Olof Johansson-Stenman for convincing me to apply to the Ph.D. program. I am also grateful to Anna Bindler, Per Krusell, Elina Lampi, Andreas Dzemski, Gustav Kjellsson, Joe Vecci, and many more for all their support.

I thank my family for their unconditional support and love. Words cannot express how grateful I am to have my parents and loving partner by my side. Helén Andersson, Pertti Karjalainen, and Jonas Bolin, thank you for always believing in me. Without you, I would never be where I am today.

Last, I want to thank the many friends and teachers who helped and supported me throughout the years.

Introduction

With my research, I aim to inform the design of policies that target disadvantaged subpopulations, such as the mentally ill, substance abusers, and children who interact with child welfare and juvenile justice systems. There is ample correlational evidence across disciplines documenting, for example, the overrepresentation of mental and physical illness among child welfare clients, social clustering in self-harming behavior, and high rates of relapse following substance abuse treatment (Richardson et al., 2012; Deutsch and Fortin, 2015; Fontanella et al., 2015; de Andrade et al., 2019). However, there is insufficient causal evidence on research questions in this domain.

In my dissertation, I study one of the most vulnerable groups in society: children and youths who interact with the child protection system. This population fares disproportionately worse in adulthood and is at a high risk of engaging in destructive behavior, such as self-harm, substance abuse, and crime (Sariaslan et al., 2022). At the same time, it is a surprisingly large group: more than 1 in 3 U.S. children are investigated for maltreatment at some point before their 18th birthday (Kim et al., 2017).

In the first chapter of my dissertation, titled "Surviving Childhood: Health and Crime Effects of Removing a Child From Home", I study the effects of removing children from their homes via court order on all-cause mortality, suicide, and accidental overdose. I also examine the effects on hospitalization related to mental illness and substance abuse, criminal behavior, and a range of parent outcomes. I construct a novel data set based on court documents spanning 2001-2019 that I transcribe and link with detailed register data. The final data set contains over 26,000 child-by-case observations. To disentangle causality from correlation, I employ an instrumental variable (IV) design that capitalizes on quasirandom variation in judge assignment together with across-judge variation in the tendency to favor removal. Intuitively, such judge designs take advantage of systematic differences in judge decision-making that courtroom participants are subject to due to the 'luck' of the draw.

I find that court-ordered out-of-home placement has large adverse effects on the mortality of the marginal child. Removal increases the risk of death by the year the child turns 19 by 7 percentage points (relative to a control mean of 1%). This increase is primarily driven by suicides that occur while the removed children are still in out-of-home care. In addition, removal causes large increases in the risk of being hospitalized for mental illness and the risk of committing nonnarcotic crimes. For birth parents, I again find an increase in non-narcotic crimes but there is little evidence of adverse health effects. I explore several potential explanations for the detrimental effects on child health. Peer victimization, adverse care home conditions, and peer-to-peer spillovers appear to be important channels.

My second dissertation chapter, titled "Treated Together: Spillovers Among Youths Admitted to Residential Treatment", is focused on youths struggling with substance abuse and self-harm. Such youths are often treated in group-based programs. However, concerns have been raised about the risk of adverse outcomes through peer-to-peer spillovers (Richardson et al., 2012). Hence, I analyze the effects of peers placed in residential treatment facilities on each other's outcomes using novel data on the universe of youths (over 16,000) admitted to state-owned treatment facilities in Sweden between 2000 and 2020. To overcome the issue of nonrandom assignment of youths to facilities, I use the natural flow of youths to and from facilities within a given year by including facility-by-year fixed effects. Intuitively, this design takes advantage of randomness in who is in the facility when the youth enters. I empirically show that the central assumption – i.e., the variation in peer composition is as good as random after netting out facility-by-year fixed effects – is plausible.

I find strong evidence of reinforcing peer effects in substance abuse and selfharm. Exposing youths with a history of substance abuse to a 1-standard deviation higher share of youths with the same problem history increases the risk of experiencing adverse events (death, hospitalization, readmission, or narcotic crime) related to substance abuse during the 1-12 months after discharge by 5.6%). This effect is primarily driven by an increase in the risk of dying or being hospitalized from substance abuse.

Likewise, placing a youth with a history of self-harm in a facility with a 1standard deviation higher share of peers with a history of self-harm increases the risk of being hospitalized or dying from self-harm during the 1-12 months after discharge by 27.3%.

As seen in the other chapters of my dissertation, the decision to remove a child from home has potentially severe consequences. Given the high stakes, it is important that decisions are fair, consistent, and based on the case's merits. However, prior studies, including my first dissertation chapter, document substantial variation in decision-making for otherwise similar cases. To enhance consistency and fairness, a common practice in government institutions is to assign high-stakes or complex cases to more experienced agents. This potential remedy relies on the assumption that experienced agents are more skilled, which is not evident, especially in settings with limited feedback.

In the third chapter of my dissertation, titled "Making Better Choices: The

Role of Learning in the Judicial System" (with Jason Baron and Joseph Doyle), we investigate the role of judges' experience in the decision to remove children from their homes and the accuracy of these decisions. To further deepen our knowledge about the causes of variation in decision-making, we also examine how judges respond to decisions made by appellate courts. The analysis is based on over 20,000 Swedish child protection court cases from 2001 to 2019, which are linked with rich register data and novel data on appellate court decisions. To isolate the role of judge experience from case selection and systematic differences between judges, we exploit the quasi-random assignment of cases to judges together with temporal variation within each judge by including court-by-year and judge fixed effects.

Our results offer several important insights. First, we find strong and robust evidence that judges become more stringent with experience, conditional on court-by-year and judge fixed effects. One more year of experience as a judge increases the probability of removal by about 1.8 percentage points (relative to a dependent mean of 88.4%). This increase in stringency with experience is entirely driven by male judges: one more year of experience increases the probability of a male judge ordering removal by approximately 3.3 percentage points. For female judges, the point estimate is close to zero and lacks statistical significance. The difference in effect size is statistically significant at the 5% level.

The behavior change is not consistent with skill improvements as children who are randomly assigned to more experienced judges are more likely to die by the year they turn 19. The lack of learning is likely rooted in the limited access to information about the consequences of the court's decision. A potential driver of the positive relationship between stringency and experience can be signals from appellate courts. Indeed, we find that judges respond to appellate courts' decisions to *reverse* the judges' previous judgment to *not* remove a child from home by increasing their stringency. However, this effect is short-term and there is no detectable effect after one month. A more likely explanation is a change in judge preferences with experience.

Bibliography

- de Andrade, D., Elphinston, R. A., Quinn, C., Allan, J., & Hides, L. (2019). The effectiveness of residential treatment services for individuals with substance use disorders: A systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 201, 227–235.
- Deutsch, S. A., & Fortin, K. (2015). Physical health problems and barriers to optimal health care among children in foster care. *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*, 45(10), 286–291.
- Fontanella, C. A., Gupta, L., Hiance-Steelesmith, D. L., & Valentine, S. (2015). Continuity of care for youth in foster care with serious emotional disturbances. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 50, 38–43.
- Kim, H., Wildeman, C., Jonson-Reid, M., & Drake, B. (2017). Lifetime prevalence of investigating child maltreatment among US children. *American Journal of Public Health*, 107(2), 274–280.
- Richardson, B., Surmitis, K., & Hyldahl, R. (2012). Minimizing social contagion in adolescents who self-injure: Considerations for group work, residential treatment, and the internet. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, *34*(2), 121–132.
- Sariaslan, A., Kääriälä, A., Pitkänen, J., Remes, H., Aaltonen, M., Hiilamo, H., Martikainen, P., & Fazel, S. (2022). Long-term health and social outcomes in children and adolescents placed in out-of-home care. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *176*(1).

Contents

L	Surv	viving	Childhood: Health and Crime Effects of Removing a
	Chi	ld Fron	n Home 1
	1.1	Introd	uction
	1.2	Institu	tional Background
		1.2.1	Child Protection System in Sweden
		1.2.2	Cross-Country Comparison of Child Welfare Systems . 11
	1.3	Data .	
		1.3.1	Data Description
		1.3.2	Judge Removal Tendency 13
		1.3.3	Sample Creation and Descriptive Statistics
	1.4	Empir	ical Methodology
		1.4.1	Instrumental Variable Model
		1.4.2	Instrument Relevance
		1.4.3	Random Assignment 20
		1.4.4	Exclusion Restriction
		1.4.5	Monotonicity
	1.5	Result	s for Child Mortality
		1.5.1	Baseline Results 23
		1.5.2	Heterogeneity
		1.5.3	Robustness Checks 31
	1.6	Effects	s on Other Outcomes
		1.6.1	Effects on Other Child Outcomes
		1.6.2	The Role of Parent Outcomes 35
	1.7	Mecha	anisms
		1.7.1	Drivers of Suicide
		1.7.2	Separation and Disruption of the Child's Environment . 36
		1.7.3	Peers
		1.7.4	Care Conditions
		1.7.5	Placement Exit and Transition to Adulthood 39
	1.8	Conclu	usion
	1.A	Descri	ptive Statistics
	1.B	Attriti	on

	1.C	Tests of Assumptions	62
	1.D	Results	70
	1.E	Heterogeneity (including MTEs)	77
	1.F	Comparison	81
	1.G	Data Dictionary, Sample Restrictions, and Literature Overview .	82
2	Trea	ated Together: Spillovers Among Youths Admitted to Residen-	
	tial	Treatment	88
	2.1	Introduction	89
	2.2	Setting & Data	95
		2.2.1 Institutional Care in Sweden	95
		2.2.2 Cross-Country Comparison	97
		2.2.3 Data Description	97
		2.2.4 Sample Creation and Descriptive Statistics	99
	2.3	Empirical Methodology	.01
		2.3.1 Empirical Specification	.01
		2.3.2 Test of Identifying Assumption	.02
	2.4	Results	.04
		2.4.1 Peer Effects in Substance Abuse and Self-Harm 1	.04
		2.4.2 Heterogeneity	.07
		2.4.3 Placebo & Robustness Checks	12
	2.5	Mechanisms	12
		2.5.1 Decomposed Effects on Post-Placement Outcomes 1	12
		2.5.2 Socialization and Co-Harming	16
		2.5.3 Interrupted Treatment	.17
		2.5.4 Quality of Care	.18
		2.5.5 Spread of Mental Illness	.19
		2.5.6 Networks, Availability, and Learning	.19
	2.6	Conclusion	.20
	2.A	Additional Descriptive Statistics, Tests, and Results 1	.30
	2.B	Robustness Checks of Main Results	.47
	2.C	Data Dictionary 1	.53
3	Mak	king Better Choices: The Role of Learning in the Judicial Sys-	
	tem	1	58
	3.1	Introduction	.59
	3.2	Institutional Background	.62
	3.3	Data	.65
		3.3.1 Data Description	.65
		3.3.2 Sample Creation and Descriptive Statistics 1	.66
	3.4	Empirical Methodology	.69
		3.4.1 Empirical Specification	.69

 169
 171
 171
 174
 177
 179
 179
 182
 188
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Chapter 1

Surviving Childhood: Health and Crime Effects of Removing a Child From Home

Ronja Helénsdotter¹

This paper studies the effects of the court-ordered removal of children from home on health and crime. To isolate causal effects, I exploit quasi-random variation in judge assignment together with across-judge variation in the tendency to favor removal in an instrumental variable (IV) design. Using a novel data set (N=26,481) based on Swedish court documents that I transcribe and link with detailed register data, I find that court-ordered out-of-home placement has large adverse effects on the mortality of the marginal child. These effects are primarily driven by suicides that occur while the removed child is still placed in outof-home care. Removal also causes an increase in hospitalizations for mental illness and non-narcotic crimes. For birth parents, I again find an increase in non-narcotic crimes but there is little evidence of adverse health effects. I explore potential explanations for the detrimental effects on child health. Peer victimization, peer-to-peer spillovers, and adverse care home conditions appear to be important channels.

¹University of Gothenburg, Department of Economics, Vasagatan 1, SE 405 30, Gothenburg. Email: ronja.helensdotter@economics.gu.se. I am grateful for the invaluable advice, feedback, and support of my supervisors Randi Hjalmarsson and Andreea Mitrut. I thank David Autor; Jason Baron; Mitchell Downey; Joseph J. Doyle, Jr.; Andreas Dzemski; Amy Finkelstein; Marie-Pascale Grimon; Emily Leslie; Mikael Lindahl; Matthew Lindquist; and the participants and discussants at Copenhagen Business School, Duke University, EALE, MIT, Stockholm University, Texas Economics of Crime Workshop, The Ragnar Frisch Centre for Economic Research, The Stockholm Health Day, and University of Gothenburg for many helpful comments and suggestions. I gratefully acknowledge funding support from Vetenskapsrådet, Herbert & Karin Jacobssons Stiftelse, Kungl. och Hvitfeldtska stiftelsen, and Stiftelsen Lars Hiertas Minne. The material and data provided by the administrative courts of Sweden, The Swedish National Archives, Stockholm City Archive, The National Courts Administration, Statistics Sweden, The National Board of Health and Welfare, The National Board of Institutional Care, and The National Council for Crime Prevention made this paper possible. This research has been approved by the Swedish Ethical Review Authority.

1.1 Introduction

Suicide and drug use disorder are among the top three causes of teenage death in many Western countries (World Health Organization, 2020). A particularly vulnerable group is children placed in out-of-home care. Studies in for example Australia, Denmark, and Sweden document that 2-6% of children will be placed in out-of-home care by age 18 (Berlin et al., 2021).^{2,3} At the same time, children with experience of out-of-home care in these countries are 3-5 times as likely to die in adolescence and early adulthood as their peers (NBHW, 2013; Segal et al., 2021; Sariaslan et al., 2022; Sørensen et al., 2023). Out-of-home placed children are also more likely to use heavy drugs, attempt suicide, and be diagnosed with a range of physical and mental disorders (Braciszewski and Stout, 2012; Deutsch and Fortin, 2015; Evans et al., 2017). Despite these striking statistics, there is little causal evidence on the effects of out-of-home placement on health outcomes. In this paper, I leverage a novel Swedish data set to study the effects of court-ordered out-of-home placement on all-cause mortality, suicide, and accidental overdose. To further deepen our understanding, I also examine effects on hospitalization related to mental health and substance use, criminal behavior, and a range of parent outcomes.

One reason for the scarce evidence on the causal effects of child removal on health outcomes is data availability. To obtain credible estimates, a large, longitudinal, and rich data set at the individual level is needed. To overcome this challenge, I collect and process 21,509 Swedish child protection court files from 2001 to 2019 and extract relevant information with scripts, including the personal identity number of each child.⁴ Using these identifiers, Statistics Sweden links the children and their parents to rich registry data, including death, patient, and crime registers. To this data set, I add administrative data on judges from the National Courts Administration.

Another key challenge is selection bias. For example, out-of-home placed children likely have experienced more severe maltreatment than others, which

³Similar rates are reported in Ubbesen et al. (2015), Rouland and Vaithianathan (2018), and Yi et al. (2020).

in itself can impact future outcomes and thereby confound the estimates. In this paper, identification is achieved by utilizing as-if-random assignment of judges to child protection cases together with across-judge variation in removal tendency in an IV design. With this strategy, I estimate the causal effect of removing children at the margin of placement, i.e. cases that judges disagree about. From a policy perspective, the effect on this group is especially relevant because these are the children who are affected if there is a change in the threshold for when child removal is required.

In my baseline specification, I define judge removal tendency as the mean removal rate in all other cases handled by the same judge, leaving out the focal case.⁵

Three key features of the Swedish setting enable me to use the judge instrument. First, there is meaningful variation in judge behavior and the instrument is highly predictive of decision-making in the focal case. Second, due to Swedish law, the assignment of child protection cases to judges is quasi-random. This is confirmed by court staff and empirically validated. Third, the assigned judge only has contact with the family during the oral hearing (if at all) and is essentially tasked with making a single, binary decision: remove the child from home or not. All other decisions are made by caseworkers at the local child protection authority (known as social welfare committee; SWC).⁶ Hence, it is unlikely that the judge influences the child's outcomes in any other way than via the removal decision, which is critical to meet the exclusion restriction needed for a causal interpretation.

There are multiple reasons to expect that removing a child from home affects mortality, mental health, and substance use. For example, removing a child from an abusive or neglectful home may positively affect child outcomes as child abuse and neglect are associated with later-life mental illness, substance use disorder, and suicide (Felitti et al., 1998; Dube et al., 2001). In addition, out-of-home placement might facilitate take-up of health and substance abuse treatment among children and parents (Grimon, 2020), and encourage parents to improve the home environment (Baron and Gross, 2022). Yet another potential channel is exposure to better neighborhoods, which has been shown to impact a range of child outcomes (Chyn and Katz, 2021).

At the same time, being separated from one's family may have long-lasting effects on the child's mental health (Astrup et al., 2017). In addition, maltreatment might worsen in out-of-home care. In an international review, Mazzone et al. (2018) conclude that violent victimization by peers during out-of-home place-

²I use "child removal" and "out-of-home placement" interchangeably when referring to the intervention of removing a child from their home and placing them in, e.g., a foster or group home. I focus on cases in which a parent or the child contests removal. I refer to these cases as court-ordered or involuntary placements. While only around 30% of children in Swedish out-of-home care are removed without consent, such cases are particularly policy relevant as they involve taking government actions that conflict with the individual's right to family and home. There are two key explanations for the large share of voluntary cases. First, unaccompanied minors are included in the statistics and they make up one-third of children in voluntary care. Second, according to Swedish law, children are not allowed to live in a home that does not belong to a person with legal custody of the child without the involvement of the social welfare committee.

⁴Personal identity numbers are unique and given to all residents in Sweden, including foreignborn.

⁵By leaving out the focal case, I ensure that there is no mechanical relationship between the instrument and decision-making in the focal case. My results are robust to alternative judge instruments, including the use of a binary instrument that takes the value 1 if the judge has an above-average removal tendency.

⁶My results are robust to including fixed effects for the SWC in charge of the case.

ment is a widespread phenomenon. For example, Allroggen et al. (2017) document that 4.5% of German adolescents placed in care facilities experience severe sexual victimization for the first time while placed in such a facility. Sweden is no exception: during the last two decades, there have been numerous news stories on murders, rapes, and assaults committed in Swedish foster homes, group homes, and institutions (e.g., Järkstig, 2016; Hellman, 2019). Moreover, exposure to peers who abuse substance and self-harm may increase in out-of-home care, which can influence own outcomes (Helénsdotter, 2023).

Using IV analysis, I find that out-of-home placement has significant adverse effects on the mortality of the marginal child.⁷ Removal increases the risk of death by the year the child turns 19 by 7 percentage points (relative to a control complier mean of 1.6%). This increase is primarily driven by suicides that occur while the removed children are still placed in out-of-home care. I also trace out the effects over the months following the court's judgment. For children who are old enough to self-harm and use harmful substances, there is a significant increase in the risk of suicide (but not accidental overdose) already by month 9. Using the full sample (aged 0 to 19), positive but imprecisely estimated effects on all-cause mortality are found in the 24-month window post-judgment. The results are robust to alternative specifications and samples.

Heterogeneity analysis does not reveal any statistically significant differences in mortality effects along observable characteristics (gender, age, petition grounds, and foreign background). However, the standard errors are large and I cannot rule out economically meaningful differences in effect size.

I also consider effects on child criminality and hospitalization. In light of the diverging findings for overdose and suicide, I examine outcomes related to substance use separately. Removal significantly increases both the risk of being hospitalized for mental illness and the risk of committing a non-narcotic crime within the first year following the court's judgment. An important driver of the latter is an increase in the risk of the marginal child committing a crime against persons (e.g., violent and sexual crimes). Conditional on being removed, almost all of these crimes are committed *during* placement. The increases in hospitalization and crime appear to precede the rise in suicides.

In line with the non-significant effect on overdose during the first two years following the judgment, there is no evidence of an increase in substance userelated hospitalization or narcotic crime in the first year.

Child removal also increases the risk of any birth parent committing a nonnarcotic crime and, particularly, a crime against persons. For narcotic crimes, the estimates are not statistically significant. There is little evidence of adverse effects on parental health, and there is no overlap in parent and child deaths during the 24 months post-judgment. There are no statistically significant changes in marriage rates or the probability of having positive labor market earnings during the following calendar year. All in all, effects on birth parents (except, potentially, criminality) appear to be unlikely mediators of the adverse effects on child mortality.

Why do I find such adverse effects on child mortality? First, prior empirical evidence suggests that individuals with a large stock of suicide risk factors (e.g., presence of mental disorders and history of adverse childhood experiences) are particularly sensitive to psychosocial stressors (e.g., change and separation), which can trigger an acute risk of suicide (Carballo et al., 2020). Hence, we may expect greater responsiveness to new stressors among children at risk of removal.

Court-ordered child removal may lead to further accumulation of risk factors and exposure to stressors through, for example, family separation and disruption of the child's social and physical environment. To shed some light on this channel, I investigate heterogeneity in effects by the probability of (i) experiencing placement instability and (ii) having to move to another municipality. However, I find little evidence of effect heterogeneity. In contrast, I find suggestive evidence in support of peer victimization, peer-to-peer spillovers, and adverse care home conditions being potentially important channels through which out-ofhome placement affects mortality. A critical point appears to be the transition to adulthood: over 20% of the deaths occur during the 2 months after the removed child turns 18 and is legally considered an adult.⁸ These deaths cannot be explained by the child aging out of care since the children who died would have aged out of care at 21. I find little support for poor post-placement conditions or the stress of placement exit being major drivers of the adverse mortality effects.

My paper contributes to the literature on the effects of child protection interventions (for a review, see Bald, Doyle, et al., 2022).⁹ In Appendix 1.G, I present an overview. To date, the literature focuses on education, crime, and labor outcomes. Only five papers (using different empirical strategies) examine any health-related outcomes (with mixed findings): behavioral problems (Berger et al., 2009), emergency health visits (Doyle, 2013), parental take-up of treatment programs (Grimon, 2020), and health care usage (Drange et al., 2022; Gram Cavalca et al., 2022). By using plausibly exogenous variation in removals to study the

⁷I also compute the average treatment effect on all, treated, and untreated children as weighted averages of marginal treatment effects (MTEs). However, the weighted averages should be interpreted with caution as I do not have full common support.

⁸When turning 18, the individual is given a host of rights and responsibilities, which can be both stressful and lead to destructive behaviors. At the same time, the young adult is no longer eligible for certain services and can no longer receive care via the child and adolescence health care system.

⁹Around half of the children in my sample engage in destructive behavior, including crime. These children can be placed in secure facilities. Hence, another relevant literature is the work on the health effects of incarceration (Hjalmarsson and Lindquist, 2022; Norris et al., 2022). In contrast with my findings, these studies do not find that mortality increases during or after incarceration. Part of the explanation can be differences in the characteristics of the population and the alternative to treatment.

effects on overall mortality, suicide, and overdose, I can extend our knowledge on the health effects of child removal. Thereby, I also add to a rapidly growing economic literature on the determinants of mental health (e.g., Persson and Rossin-Slater, 2018; Adhvaryu et al., 2019; Fruehwirth et al., 2019; Baranov et al., 2020; Kiessling and Norris, 2023) and the determinants of harmful substance use (e.g., Powell et al., 2018; Alpert et al., 2022). My findings — which concern a highly disadvantaged population — are also relevant to the literature on mortality inequality (Miller et al., 2021; Case and Deaton, 2022).

Almost all credible papers on the effects of child protection interventions are conducted in North America. The only exceptions are Lindquist and Santavirta (2014), Drange et al. (2022), and Gram Cavalca et al. (2022). While none of these studies has access to exogenous variation in removals, they make use of detailed and longitudinal data to mitigate omitted variables bias. By creating a novel data set based on court documents and exploiting plausibly exogenous variation in judge behavior, I shed new light on the effects of child removal outside North America. Given that the institutional setting in the US is vastly different from Europe in terms of, e.g., child welfare, juvenile justice, health care, schooling, and social security systems (Gilbert et al., 2011), it is imperative to gain knowledge about the effects of child removal in Europe.¹⁰

I also contribute to our knowledge on family effects of child removal by considering novel parent outcomes (mortality, self-harm, substance use, marriage, labor income). Bald, Chyn, et al. (2022) and Baron and Gross (2022) examine the effects of removal on crime outcomes for parents listed as maltreatment perpetrators and find conflicting results. The only other paper that can observe perpetrator and non-perpetrator parents is Grimon (2020). She finds that opening a child welfare case increases mothers' take-up of mental health and substance abuse treatment. This line of work fits into the literature on family spillover effects (Carneiro et al., 2015; Bhuller et al., 2018a, 2018b; Billings, 2018; Dobbie, Grönqvist, et al., 2018; Fadlon and Nielsen, 2019; Arteaga, 2021; Bhuller et al., 2021; Bingley et al., 2021).

A last distinguishing feature of my paper is that I use a judge instrument to achieve identification. Judge decision-making has been exploited as an instrument in several influential papers (Kling, 2006; Aizer and Doyle, 2015; Dobbie, Goldin, and Yang, 2018; Eren and Mocan, 2019; Bhuller et al., 2020; Norris et al., 2021), but not in the context of child protection.¹¹ What has been used in the child protection literature is variation across workers at the child protection ser-

vices (CPS) in their tendency to file a petition with the courts for child removal.¹² These studies report diverging results, with some finding overall negative effects (Doyle, 2007, 2008, 2013; Warburton et al., 2014) and others finding positive or null effects (Roberts, 2018; Bald, Chyn, et al., 2022; Baron and Gross, 2022; Gross and Baron, 2022). There can be several reasons for the mixed findings: e.g., differences in age group, welfare practices, and population characteristics.¹³ In Appendix 1.F, I elaborate on how the European setting differs from the settings considered in prior studies.

The paper proceeds as follows. Section 1.2 presents the institutional background and a cross-country comparison. Section 1.3 describes the data. Section 1.4 outlines the IV model and discusses the validity of the assumptions. Effects on child mortality are presented in Section 1.5 while effects on other short-term outcomes are presented in Section 1.6. Section 1.7 probes possible mechanisms. Section 1.8 concludes.

1.2 Institutional Background

1.2.1 Child Protection System in Sweden

Figure 1.1 provides a representation of the child protection process in Sweden. The local SWC (*socialnämnden*) is responsible for child protection.¹⁴ This responsibility is broad and encompasses, e.g., preventive work, maltreatment investigations, evaluation of service need, and service provision. However, the SWC does not have the authority to take children into care without the consent of the

¹³Another potential reason is differences pertaining to the instrument and the underlying assumptions. As discussed in, e.g., Grimon (2020), Bald, Chyn, et al. (2022), and Gross and Baron (2022), the CPS worker instrument can be challenging to apply. For example, if the worker also decides which support services should be prescribed to the family, which issues must be resolved in the family before reunification, or whether the police should be contacted, the worker may affect child outcomes through channels other than the removal decision. While a combined, reducedform effect can be estimated — which is a policy-relevant effect as well — the exclusion restriction needed to isolate the effect of removal can be challenging to meet. The extent and character of this issue potentially varies between study settings due to local variation in social welfare practices. With the judge instrument, I can avoid this issue since (in my context) the judge only decides whether the child should be removed and has very limited contact with the family. All other decisions are made by the caseworker at the Swedish child protection authorities.

¹⁴Typically, there is one SWC per municipality. In large municipalities, there can be several SWCs. There are 290 municipalities in Sweden.

¹⁰A key difference between the child protection systems in Europe versus the US is that placement in out-of-home care is rarely coupled with eligibility to other potentially welfare-improving programs (e.g., Medicaid and Head Start) in Europe. I elaborate on differences in institutional features in Section 1.2.2 and Appendix 1.F.

¹¹Decision-maker stringency has been used as an instrument in other non-criminal contexts (e.g., Maestas et al., 2013; Dahl et al., 2014; French and Song, 2014; Dobbie and Song, 2015; Dobbie et al., 2017; Autor, Kostøl, et al., 2019; Collinson et al., 2022).

¹²The margins studied using the judge versus CPS worker instrument are slightly different. The CPS worker instrument identifies effects for children on the margin of being subject to a court petition for removal, while the judge instrument identifies effects for children at the margin of being removed via court order conditional on a petition already having been filed. Hence, the judge instrument might identify effects for cases in which it is especially difficult to determine whether the child should be removed.

Figure 1.1. Child Protection Process in Sweden



Note: This figure provides a representation of the child protection process in Sweden. The SWC handles case intake, determines whether an investigation is needed, conducts the investigation, and determines whether the allegations that prompted the investigation are substantiated. The SWC then decides which interventions are needed. If the SWC determines that out-of-home care is necessary, but the family does not consent to removal, the SWC files a petition with the court. The court then decides whether to approve the petition. If the court approves the petition, the SWC chooses where to place the child and continues to provide care until the child can exit (or ages out of) the child protection system.

caregivers and the child.¹⁵ When no consent can be attained, the SWC files a petition with one of Sweden's 12 administrative courts.¹⁶

The court's objective is described in the Care of Young Persons Act. First and foremost, what is best for the child is to be decisive. If (i) one or more conditions of the home environment imply a palpable threat to the health or development of the child or (ii) the child endangers their health or development through substance abuse, criminality, or other destructive behavior, the court is to rule in favor of out-of-home care. I refer to the former as environment cases and the latter as behavior cases.

When a petition has been filed, the case must promptly be assigned to a judge in accordance with predetermined and objective criteria, and the assignment may not be conducted to influence the outcome of the case. According to staff at the Administrative Court of Gothenburg, the registration office registers the case in the national case management system when the petition is received.¹⁷ The case is then automatically assigned to a department within the court according to a rotating system.¹⁸ Cases are then manually assigned within the department to the next judge according to (again) a rotating system. This is done irrespective of the characteristics of the case, with one exception: junior judges. As specified in national guidelines, junior judges are typically not assigned: (i) cases in which there is suspected physical or sexual abuse of a young child, (ii) environment cases in which a parent has an intellectual disorder, and (iii) behavior cases in which the need for care largely is based on ADHD or autism.¹⁹ Fortunately, junior judges only make up 3% of my analysis samples and the results are robust to excluding these judges and cases that are typically not assigned to junior judges.²⁰

Upon receiving the petition, the court must offer family members lawyers and hold an oral hearing within 2 weeks. The date of the hearing is decided by the court administrator based on courtroom availability and the calendars of the lawyers, judge, and law clerk. Judges are expected to be available Monday-Friday during office hours. No hearings are held after office hours or on weekends. When the date of the hearing is set, the case is randomly assigned three jurors (*nämndemän*) from the pool of available jurors. The judge has no influence over the choice of jurors.

The court invites the concerned parties to the hearing. Attendance is not mandatory and whether a party attends should not influence the outcome of the case. The identity of the judge is revealed to all parties before the hearing. However, in contrast to the setting studied in Ash and Nix (2023), there are no public statistics on judge strictness in child protection cases (or any other case group).²¹

The hearing typically lasts for one hour and is the only point at which the judge has direct contact with the family, if at all. Even during the hearing, contact

¹⁵A key difference between children who are removed with versus without consent is the higher share of unaccompanied minors in the voluntary group: 27% compared to 2% in the involuntary group. In addition, the share of individuals above the age of 18 is higher in the voluntary group (38% compared to 9%) and almost no individuals in voluntary care are placed in institutions (compared to 14% of children in involuntary care; NBHW, 2020). For more descriptive statistics, see Table A1.

¹⁶Before February 15, 2010, there were 23 courthouses.

¹⁷While the exact details vary between courts and over time, staff at the courts in Falun, Malmö, and Stockholm provide similar descriptions of the assignment process and confirm that quasi-random assignment has been used during the two decades covered in my sample.

¹⁸A departmental structure is employed in the four largest courts. Each department has a chief judge and a team of judges. Typically, one department is solely focused on tax cases and the remaining departments are assigned all other cases. There are departments that solely process immigration cases in Stockholm, Gothenburg, and Malmö. The results are robust to the use of department-by-year FEs.

¹⁹While less applicable to child protection cases, the court guidelines also state that junior judges are typically not to be given a case if it includes a rare or complicated legal matter; is very big; has or can be expected to receive media attention; concerns security issues; or will likely require special experience to not delay proceedings.

²⁰The first-stage estimate and balance test are robust to excluding junior judges and non-junior cases from the analysis samples and the samples used for instrument construction.

²¹The SWC can change their claims at any point before or during the hearing. I use the initial petition (i.e. before judge assignment) to construct background variables such as petition grounds.

between the judge and the family is very restricted. Family members are only allowed in the courtroom during the hearing, the judge and the family enter the courtroom through separate doors, and the judge only asks direct questions when needed (questions are otherwise asked by the lawyers and SWC workers).²²

The judge and three jurors hold deliberations immediately after the hearing. The deliberations usually take less than 15 minutes and end with a vote. Each vote is given equal weight, but the judge holds the tiebreaker. The sole task of the court is to decide whether or not the child is to be placed in out-of-home care. The assigned judge and jurors cannot, for example, decide for how long or in what form care is provided as all other aspects of care are decided by the SWC.^{23,24} Hence, there is only one judiciary outcome.

If the court does not rule in favor of out-of-home placement, the child cannot be removed from home. The SWC must then continue to offer support services (e.g., a support family that can care for the child part-time) but the family can decline such services.²⁵

If the court rules in favor of child removal, the SWC decides where the child should be placed. Children removed via court order can be placed together with children who receive care voluntarily. The most common placement option is foster home, followed by group home and institution (Table A2). The former placement type implies living in the private home of a family. Foster families may have children of their own living in the same house.

Group homes and institutions are primarily used for older children with behavioral problems. In such facilities, multiple children live together while supervised by staff. Group homes are often privately owned and vary in size, orientation, treatment portfolio, target group, and staff education. For example, some group homes are located in urban settings and have on-site schools while others are located on farms with horses and other animals. This placement type is similar to wilderness programs, therapeutic boarding schools, and other forms of

²⁴The SWC takes about 80% of children into emergency care. The SWC must then inform the court within one week and submit a petition for removal within four weeks. Judges can terminate emergency care before ruling on the petition for removal. However, judges only terminate emergency care in 0.6% of the baseline sample, usually because of administrative errors made by the SWC (Table A2).

residential facilities for 'troubled teens' used in the US and elsewhere. However, in Sweden, all such residential homes, programs, and schools must be authorized by The Health and Social Care Inspectorate and registered as an official group home.

Institutions are secure facilities managed by The National Board of Institutional Care and are akin to juvenile detention centers. Indeed, youths who commit serious offenses are almost exclusively sentenced to serve time in the same institutions as children taken into care rather than serve time in an adult prison.²⁶ Staff at institutions has the authority to take coercive measures such as body searches, communication restrictions, solitary confinement, and isolation.

Irrespective of placement type, parents are usually encouraged to have contact with their children while they are placed in out-of-home care and the goal is family reunification.²⁷ Adoption is extremely rare and only allowed if both birth parents agree. The SWC must reassess the need for care every six months. At the latest, placement is terminated when the child turns 18 in environment cases and 21 in behavior cases (NBHW, 2020).

As shown in Table A2, the average placement length following court-ordered removal is 25 months. Figure A1 displays the share of children still placed in out-of-home care *t* months after being removed from home. After four years, around 10% of children who are taken into care at age 16-19 are still in care, compared to around 50% (70%) of children aged 11-15 (0-10).²⁸

1.2.2 Cross-Country Comparison of Child Welfare Systems

In terms of child well-being in the general population, Sweden ranks well compared to other OECD countries. In contrast, the US (which is the country in which most credible studies on child removal have been conducted) is found in the bottom tertile (UNICEF Innocenti, 2020). Part of the explanation for Sweden's high level of child well-being can be Sweden's generous family policies, affordable health care, and extensive social security system (Gilbert et al., 2011). In terms of child mortality, the rate of death per 100,000 in Sweden is similar to other Western countries. The US, on the other hand, is an outlier with far higher child death rates (World Health Organization Mortality Database, 2022). During the years 2001-2022, the average rate of death among children (age 0-19) was 27 per 100,000 in Sweden. Among Swedish adolescents (age 10-19), around 4 per

²²Contact between judges, SWC workers, and lawyers is very restricted to ensure that there is no bias.

²³Some decisions made by the SWC can be appealed to the court. Appeals are treated as standalone cases and judges are quasi-randomly assigned to such cases, irrespective of previous experience with the concerned parties, with one exception: termination cases. If a caregiver or child requests termination of care and the SWC denies the request, the caregiver/child can appeal that decision, but such an appeal will only be quasi-randomly assigned to the judge pool leaving out the judge who ordered out-of-home care in the first place.

²⁵The SWC can submit a new petition for removal only if the petition is not based on the same grounds. Of the children whose first petition is rejected, 13.3% are part of a future petition and most (85.4%) are removed in the second case. On average, the time between the first and second petition is almost 2 years.

²⁶Youths sentenced to serve time in an institution for committing a serious offense are not part of the analysis samples as they enter care through the criminal, rather than the administrative, court system.

²⁷Of court-ordered placements terminated in 2019, 26% ended with family reunification, 24% turned into a voluntary placement, 11% ended with a new involuntary placement, and 39% ended with another outcome (Table A1).

²⁸These calculations are based on a register known to be subject to underreporting (see Section 1.3.1).

100,000 died each year from suicide during the same period (NBHW, 2023).

For children in need of protection, Sweden is regarded as having a quite strong child protection system in terms of the practices employed (FRA, 2015). Sweden's rate of (voluntary and involuntary) placement has been low relative to other Western countries during the last two decades (Gilbert, 2012). However, it is difficult to compare rates across countries due to differences in reporting. For example, in some countries (including Sweden) voluntary placements in the homes of relatives and private residential facilities are included in the official statistics. In 2019, the total rate of placement (including voluntary placements) was 8.2 per 1,000 Swedes under age 21 while the rate of court-ordered and emergency placements was only 2.5. In the US, official statistics almost exclusively cover court-ordered and emergency placements. Hence, the placement rate in the US of 4.9 per 1,000 should be compared with the rate of 2.5 in Sweden.²⁹

The age composition of children in out-of-home care is different in the US: among children in out-of-home care on September 30, 2019, 30% were under the age of 4. In contrast, just 10% of children placed via court order or emergency removal were under the age of 4 in Sweden on November 1, 2019. Moreover, while foster care is the main placement form in both countries, the share of foster placements is larger in the US: 79% compared to 59%. See Table A1 and Appendix 1.F for more comparative statistics and institutional details.

1.3 Data

1.3.1 Data Description

The primary data source is child protection judgments that I collect from Swedish courts, The Swedish National Archives, and Stockholm City Archive. I transcribe these judgments using a mix of automated and manual techniques, and manually verify that each document is accurately transcribed. I extract a number of variables including the personal identity number of the child, whether siblings are part of the same case, petition grounds, whether any child or parent consents to removal, judgment, and judge name and title from the documents using scripts. I also classify whether the case is largely based on concerns for the child's mental health and whether it is a non-junior case type (see Appendix 1.G for details).

I have universal coverage between February 15, 2010, and December 31, 2019. From January 1, 2005, to February 14, 2010, the collection includes all judgments at eight courts and department 6 at the court in Stockholm. Before January 1, 2005, only judgments handed down by department 6 at the court in Stockholm are included. The results are robust to excluding years with non-universal coverage. The full court sample consists of 26,481 child-by-case observations spanning 2001 to 2019.

I add administrative data from the National Courts Administration. The data include records (name, year of birth, gender, courthouse, and date of employment by position) of all judges registered at an administrative court. Name is sufficient to uniquely identify each judge except for two pairs of judges. For these pairs, I combine full name with courthouse or employment period to uniquely identify the judge. For 99.3% of the sample, I can match the deciding judge with a judge in the employment records.

I have accurate personal identity numbers on 94.0% of the sample.³⁰ Using these identifiers, Statistics Sweden matches the children to their parents. From Statistics Sweden, I receive data on, e.g., gender, birth date, immigration/emigration dates, foreign background, labor income, and marital status of both children and parents.

Information on all deaths (date and cause) comes from the National Cause of Death Register (1997-2022) kept by the National Board of Health and Welfare (NBHW). I also obtain data on all hospitalizations at Swedish hospitals (private and public) related to mental health and substance use from the National In-Patient Register (1997-2020). When exploring mechanisms, I make use of placement data from the Register on Service Provision to Children and Young Persons (2000-2020). This register is supposed to include all 24-hour care interventions provided to people under the age of 21 but it suffers from underreporting.³¹

Moreover, I obtain data on all institutional placements from the National Board of Institutional Care (2000-2021) and all legal proceedings (date of crime, date of decision, and section of the law) from the National Council for Crime Prevention (1997-2021).³² See Appendix 1.G for variable definitions.

1.3.2 Judge Removal Tendency

As described in Section 1.4, I use an IV design to isolate exogenous variation in removal decisions by exploiting variation in judges' propensity to remove children from home. I follow standard practice in the literature and calculate judge j's removal tendency in focal case c as the total number of children judge j removes minus the number of children judge j removes in the focal case divided by the total number of children processed by judge j minus the number of children

²⁹Own calculations based on statistics from U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division (2020), Children's Bureau (2020), Statistics Sweden (2019), and NBHW (2020).

³⁰Missing accurate personal identity number is almost always due to (i) not yet having been assigned one because of recent first-time immigration or birth or (ii) protected identity.

³¹Before 2014, all municipalities reported information on changes in 24-hour care interventions that occurred during the previous year to the register. Due to administrative changes, the quality and coverage of the data deteriorated during 2014-2021. In each year during this period, 4-13 of Sweden's 290 municipalities failed to submit their data and there were few manual quality checks. No register was created in 2017. I do not use data from this register in my main analysis.

³²The legal proceedings register includes all crimes in which guilt has been established and includes convictions, penalty orders without court hearing, and waivers of prosecution.

in the focal case:

$$Z_{j(c)} = \frac{1}{n_j - n_{j(c)}} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n_j} R_{j(i)} - \sum_{j=1}^{n_{j(c)}} R_{j(i)} \right),$$
(1.1)

where $Z_{j(c)}$ is judge j's removal tendency score in focal case c, n_j is the total number of children processed by judge j during the sample period, $n_{j(c)}$ is the number of children in case c, and $R_{j(i)}$ is an indicator taking the value 1 if judge j decides to remove child i from home. By constructing judge removal tendency in this manner, I allow for variation in removal decisions between children in the same case. By excluding all decisions made in the focal case, I rid the measure of a mechanical relationship between removal tendency and decisions in the focal case.

When I calculate judge removal tendency, I start with all possible cases (even those not included in the analysis sample). To limit measurement error, I drop cases processed by a judge who handles fewer than 25 cases during the sample period. Judge removal tendency (mean: .885, sd: .066) is thus calculated on a sample of 20,473 observations.³³ The results are robust to changes in instrument construction, including the use of a higher cutoff for the number of cases per judge.

1.3.3 Sample Creation and Descriptive Statistics

This section describes the construction of each analysis subsample, which varies depending on the outcome and availability of register data. Table G1 presents an overview.

First, I drop children that I cannot observe in Statistics Sweden's register data (N=1,576). I also drop cases with missing information on judge removal tendency (N=5,689) and cases in court-by-year cells containing only one active judge (N=80). The final sample (N=19,136) consists of 15,364 unique cases (18,037 unique kids) assigned to one of 249 judges. I use this sample to study all-cause mortality in the months following the court's judgment and refer to it as the 'All Ages Sample'.³⁴

When studying the effects of removal on mortality by the year the child turns 19, I further restrict the sample to children who turn 19 by the end of my mortality data (year 2022) whose cases are decided before the year they turn 19. The sample (N=10,200) is referred to as the 'Year 19 Sample'.

Moreover, when studying suicide and overdose during the months following the court's judgment, it is reasonable to exclude children who are too young to self-harm or use harmful substances. The youngest child hospitalized due to self-harm or substance use within the first year was 11 at the time of the judgment. Hence, I limit the 'All Ages Sample' to children who were at least 11 years old.³⁵ This sample (N=11,205) is referred to as the ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample'.

Table 1.1 displays descriptive statistics at the child and birth parent level (Panel A) and judge level (Panel B) for each analysis sample.³⁶ For comparison purposes, the first column shows statistics for the full court sample conditional on being observed in Statistics Sweden's register. The child and parent statistics reported in the first and second columns are very similar. However, the judge characteristics deviate. The reason is that, by restricting the sample to cases assigned to judges who process at least 25 cases, almost all cases handled by junior judges are excluded. Since junior judges are younger and more likely to be female, these statistics are affected as well. However, the average judge removal tendency is unaffected. In fact, judge removal tendency (0.89) is similar across all samples in Table 1.1, which is the first piece of evidence supporting random assignment.^{37,38}

Child and parent characteristics vary between the analysis samples (columns 2-4). Compared to the 'All Ages Sample', the mean age at the time of judgment is higher in the more restrictive samples. As can be expected among an older group of children, the child's own behavior is more likely to be stated as grounds for removal on the SWC's petition, there is a lower share of cases involving siblings, it is more common that parents consent to removal, and there is a higher share of children with histories of crime and mental illness. Naturally, since there are few or no children aged below four in the 'Year 19 Sample' and ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample', the share with missing information in the years t-1 to t-3 is much smaller in these samples.

Figure 1.2 depicts the average risk of the child being hospitalized (due to mental health or substance use) or committing an offense (non-narcotic or narcotic) around the time of the judgment.³⁹ Probabilities for removed and non-removed

 $^{^{33}}$ The main instrument is highly correlated with yearly judge removal tendency (the leave-out mean removal rate based on cases processed by the same judge in the same year). Regressing yearly removal tendency on the main instrument (while controlling for court-by-year FEs) yields a point estimate of 0.945 (std. err.: 0.012, *p*-value<0.001).

³⁴Results are robust to only using the first case for each child.

³⁵The youngest child to die from suicide (overdose) within the first year was 13 (16) at the time of the judgment.

³⁶Descriptive statistics are almost identical when taking into account attrition (Table B2).

³⁷The average judge removal tendency is not comparable with the average tendency reported in studies using the decisions of child protection caseworkers (e.g., Doyle, 2007) because, in the current setting, the child protection caseworkers have *already* decided to submit a petition for removal. In the full sample of Swedish child protection investigations, the rate of court-ordered removal is less than 5% (SOU, 2015:71).

³⁸The share of female judges is somewhat lower in the 'Year 19 Sample' compared to the other analysis samples, which is expected since the share of female judges has increased over time and the 'Year 19 Sample' contains a larger share of children whose cases were handed down at the beginning of the sample period (because they are more likely to turn 19 by the end of my data).

³⁹The date of the crime, rather than the date of conviction or reporting, is used for crime out-

 Table 1.1. Descriptive Statistics

		A 11 A main		N11
	All in	All Ages	Year 19	≥11 y.o.
	Registry	Sample	Sample	Sample
A: Child & Parent Characteristics				
Removed	0.89	0.88	0.90	0.91
Girl	0.46	0.47	0.46	0.46
Age at judgment	10.83	10.75	14.49	15.05
Sibling case	0.32	0.33	0.17	0.15
Foreign background	0.38	0.38	0.42	0.42
Behavior petition	0.29	0.28	0.44	0.47
Environment petition	0.61	0.62	0.39	0.35
Double grounds petition	0.10	0.10	0.17	0.17
Child consents to removal	0.57	0.65	0.44	0.48
At least 1 parent consents to removal	0.32	0.36	0.52	0.48
Case largely based on child mental health	0.04	0.04	0.06	0.07
Non-junior case type	0.17	0.17	0.09	0.08
Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3):				
Crime against person	0.09	0.09	0.12	0.13
Narcotic crime	0.09	0.10	0.11	0.14
Other crime	0.11	0.11	0.14	0.16
Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to:				
Mental health	0.06	0.06	0.08	0.09
Substance use	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.07
Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3	0.23	0.24	0.11	0.11
Any birth parent:				
Dead	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.06
<18 y.o. at birth of child	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.03
Married, yr t-1	0.42	0.45	0.49	0.49
No labor income, yr t-1	0.58	0.63	0.56	0.55
Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1	0.07	0.07	0.06	0.05
Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.04
Any crime, yr t-1	0.15	0.16	0.11	0.11
Missing Xs, yr t-1	0.24	0.24	0.28	0.28
B. Fudge Characteristics				
Judge removal tendency	0.80	0.89	0.88	0.89
Junion judgo	0.89	0.09	0.88	0.09
Formale judge	0.13	0.03	0.03	0.03
Judge age	0.55	0.30	0.47	0.49
	49.77	52.50	52.00	52.50
Unique judges	843	249	249	249
Unique cases	20124	15364	9438	10546
Unique children	23097	18037	9591	10559
Unique birth parents	31542	24853	15323	17036
Observations	24905	19136	10200	11205

Note: This table presents descriptive statistics on child, parent, and judge characteristics for all children who are observed in Statistics Sweden's register and for each analysis sample as described in Section 1.3.3. Statistics are shown for observations with non-missing information.

Figure 1.2. Child Event Before and After Month of Judgment



Note: This figure presents the raw probability of an event (indicated in the subfigure heading) occurring in a given month before or after the month of the judgment. Probabilities are presented separately for removed (black line) and not removed (dashed line) children. The ' \geq 10 y.o. Sample' is used. In the two bottom subfigures, the sample is further restricted to children who had reached the age of criminal responsibility (15) at the time of the judgment.

children are shown separately. For each event, there is a steep rise in the months preceding the judgment, which is expected given that these events can prompt the SWC to file for removal (i.e. there is selection into removal). There is then a sharp drop around the month of the judgment to levels that are more in line with those observed 12 months prior to the judgment. Both the rise and drop are especially prevalent for removed children. This is true for all events except hospitalization for mental health, which is unsurprising since mental illness is not grounds for removal while substance abuse and criminality are.

The drop starts before the judgment month, which might be due to incapacitation effects from emergency out-of-home placement or deterrence effects in light of the risk of future removal. After the judgment month, event probabilities are fairly similar for removed and non-removed children. All in all, Figure 1.2 illustrates that it is difficult to use event studies to estimate the causal effects of removal in this context.

comes. Children can be sentenced to placement in out-of-home care by a district court if they commit a crime punishable by prison. Such placements are not included in this paper.

1.4 Empirical Methodology

1.4.1 Instrumental Variable Model

The aim is to estimate the causal effect of removal on child health outcomes. Consider the model:

$$Y_{i,c,t} = \beta R_{i,c,t} + X'_{i,c,t}\theta + \eta_{i,c,t}, \qquad (1.2)$$

where $Y_{i,c,t}$ is an outcome measured for child *i* whose case *c* is decided in year *t*, $R_{i,c,t}$ is an indicator variable equal to 1 if the court orders the child to be removed from home, $X'_{i,c,t}$ is a vector of child and parent controls, and $\eta_{i,c,t}$ is an error term.

Even with a rich set of child and parent controls, estimates of β using OLS are likely plagued by omitted variable (OV) bias. Factors that can be difficult to measure and control for, while being correlated with the removal decision, include severity of abuse and addiction. To isolate exogenous variation in removal, judge removal tendency is used as an instrument for removal in a two-stage least squares (2SLS) procedure. As described in Section 1.3.2, judge removal tendency is measured as the leave-out mean removal rate. The first-stage equation in the 2SLS model is:

$$R_{i,c,t} = \pi Z_{j(c)} + \alpha_{h,t} + \epsilon_{i,c,t}, \qquad (1.3)$$

where $Z_{j(c)}$ is the removal tendency of judge j in case c, $\alpha_{h,t}$ are court-by-year FEs, and $\epsilon_{i,c,t}$ is an error term. In line with previous studies using judge instruments (e.g., Bhuller et al., 2020), court-by-year FEs are included because case randomization takes place among the pool of judges who are available at the court with jurisdiction. Since the sample includes multiple courts and spans almost two decades, I allow for variation in case characteristics and judge removal tendency across courts and over time. I demonstrate robustness to the use of other fixed effects: department-by-year FEs as well as court-by-year FEs together with day-of-week FEs and SWC FEs.

Since judges are assigned to cases (which may contain siblings), I cluster the standard errors at the case level (Abadie et al., 2023; Chyn et al., 2023). I show robustness to alternative levels of clustering.

By using an IV design, I can estimate the local average treatment effect (LATE), i.e. the effect of treatment on compliers. Compliers are children who could have been subject to another decision had another judge been assigned to their case. I also estimate MTEs and construct other parameters of interest as weighted averages of the MTEs. Figure 1.3. First-Stage Graph of Removal on Judge Removal Tendency



Note: This figure depicts the first-stage relationship between removal in the focal case and judge removal tendency. The baseline 'All Ages Sample' is used (see Section 1.3.3). The histogram shows the density of judge removal tendency (leaving out the top and bottom 1%). The solid line shows a Kernel-weighted local polynomial regression of removal on removal tendency. The dashed lines show 90% confidence bands. Removal and judge removal tendency are residualized using court-by-year FEs and mean-standardized. Settings: triangle Kernel, degree 0, and bandwidth 0.1.

1.4.2 Instrument Relevance

To identify the effects of removal using judge removal tendency as an instrument, removal tendency must be relevant for the removal decision. Figure 1.3 provides a graphical representation of the identifying variation. The shaded bars depict the distribution of the residualized (using court-by-year FEs) and mean-standardized judge instrument. Even after residualization, there is substantial variation in the instrument (mean: 0.885, std. dev.: 0.059; min: 0.640; max: 1.089), where a judge at the 10th percentile removes 81% of cases and a judge at the 90th percentile removes 95%. To Figure 1.3, a flexible regression of removal on judge removal tendency is added, showing that the likelihood of being removed is monotonically increasing in the instrument.

To formally assess whether judge removal tendency is a relevant instrument, I regress a dummy for whether the child is removed on judge removal tendency in each analysis sample and present these first-stage estimates in Table 1.2. In Panel A, I only include court-by-year FEs while in Panel B, I add controls for child and parent characteristics (as listed in Table 1.1, Panel A). Irrespective of the analysis sample and whether extra controls are added, the estimated coefficient is large, positive, and highly significant with an effective *F*-statistic around 50-70.⁴⁰ The point estimate varies somewhat between the analysis samples, which is unsurprising given that the characteristics of the samples differ. The point estimate of around 0.4 in the 'All Ages Sample' implies that being randomly assigned a judge with a 10 percentage point higher removal rate increases the probability of being removed from home by roughly 4 percentage points.⁴¹

 Table 1.2. First-Stage Estimates of Removal on Judge Removal Tendency

	(1) All Ages Sample	(2) Year 19 Sample	(3) ≥11 y.o. Sample
A: Court-by-Year FEs			
Judge removal tendency	0.4237***	0.4422***	0.3887***
	(0.0550)	(0.0609)	(0.0552)
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	60.57	53.46	49.70
B: Add Child & Parent Cor	<i>itrols</i>		
Judge removal tendency	0.4205***	0.4340***	0.3787***
	(0.0507)	(0.0581)	(0.0521)
Effective F-statistic	70.34	56.40	52.97
Dependent mean	0.88	0.90	0.91
Ν	19136	10200	11205

Note: In Panel A, estimations include court-by-year FEs. In Panel B, the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 1.1 are added. I report Olea and Pflueger (2013)'s effective *F*-statistic. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

In Tables C4-C5, I re-estimate the first stage using various subsamples, specifications, and instrument definitions. Each regression yields a positive, highly significant estimate.

1.4.3 Random Assignment

The second required assumption is that the instrument is as good as randomly assigned, i.e. uncorrelated with the error term in reduced form where reduced form refers to the regression of the outcome on the instrument.

As described in Section 1.2, judges are expected to be assigned to cases quasirandomly (conditional on observable controls) given the features of the institutional setting. Table 1.3 provides strong empirical evidence that judges are ranTable 1.3. Test of Random Assignment of Judge Removal Tendency

	Remo	ved	Judge Rem	oval Tendency
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
Girl	-0.0043	0.0048	0.0011	0.0009
Age at judgment	0.0034***	0.0008	-0.0001	0.0002
Sibling case	-0.0292***	0.0082	0.0000	0.0016
Foreign background	0.0304***	0.0066	0.0008	0.0014
Behavior petition	0.0205***	0.0076	0.0019	0.0017
Environment petition	-0.0982***	0.0095	-0.0012	0.0019
Child consents to removal	0.2454***	0.0096	-0.0002	0.0015
At least 1 parent consents to removal	0.0658***	0.0065	-0.0004	0.0014
Missing consent data	0.1445***	0.0221	0.0032	0.0043
Case largely based on child mental health	-0.0432***	0.0154	-0.0004	0.0027
Non-junior case type	-0.0069	0.0079	0.0011	0.0015
Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3):				
Crime against person	0.0140^{*}	0.0079	0.0002	0.0020
Narcotic crime	0.0491***	0.0072	0.0009	0.0019
Other crime	0.0086	0.0076	-0.0012	0.0018
Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to:				
Mental health	0.0015	0.0097	0.0015	0.0021
Substance use	0.0080	0.0093	-0.0016	0.0024
Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3	0.0238***	0.0077	0.0011	0.0016
Any birth parent:				
Dead	0.0294**	0.0125	0.0021	0.0025
<18 y.o. at birth of child	-0.0143	0.0185	-0.0002	0.0037
Married, yr t-1	0.0096	0.0068	-0.0004	0.0014
No labor income, yr t-1	0.0023	0.0068	-0.0004	0.0014
Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1	0.0158	0.0128	-0.0031	0.0026
Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1	0.0044	0.0144	0.0028	0.0027
Any crime, yr t-1	0.0272***	0.0090	-0.0000	0.0017
Missing Xs, yr t-1	0.0004	0.0094	-0.0009	0.0018
<i>F</i> -statistic	38.98		0.50	
<i>p</i> -value	0.00		0.98	
Ν	19136		19136	

Note: Test of random assignment of judge removal tendency to cases using the 'All Ages Sample'. Reported *F*-statistic of joint significance is for the displayed variables. All estimations include court-by-year dummies. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

domly assigned, conditional on court-by-year FEs. The first column regresses removal on 25 background variables. Important predictors of removal are, e.g., petition grounds, whether the case is largely based on concerns for the child's mental health, foreign background, whether the child or any parent consents to removal, and the criminal history of the child and parents. I then regress judge removal tendency on the same set of characteristics. In line with random assignment, the estimated coefficients are now close to zero, lack individual sig-

⁴⁰I obtain similar first-stage results using a probit model.

⁴¹As noted in Bhuller et al. (2020), the judge 2SLS model has one moment condition and, hence, only one instrument even though there are many judges in the sample. A first-stage estimate of 0.3-0.5 is common in the decision-maker IV literature (e.g., Doyle, 2008; Bhuller et al., 2020). The estimate is not expected to be 1 since I include covariates and have a limited number of observations per judge.

nificance, and are not jointly significant (*F*-statistic: 0.50). In other words, child and parent characteristics that predict removal are not correlated with the instrument. For half of the variables, the coefficient from the balance check even has the opposite sign as the direct relationship with removal.

Results from additional randomization tests are presented in Tables C2-C3. I vary the sample, specification, and instrument used when performing the randomization test. I also test for random assignment using other judge characteristics (judge gender, age, and junior position) in Table C1. Irrespective of the test I run, I find small *F*-statistics.

1.4.4 Exclusion Restriction

While random assignment is sufficient to achieve a consistent estimator in reduced form, the estimator of the parameter of interest (β_t) is not necessarily consistent. To achieve the latter, the instrument must satisfy the exclusion restriction which means that judge removal tendency must exclusively affect child outcomes through the removal decision. If, for example, a judge with a high removal tendency also is inclined to order the parents to complete support programs, and completion of such programs affects child outcomes, the exclusion restriction is violated. In criminal cases, the judge must typically decide on guilt and a host of possible sanctions. This multifaceted nature of judgments in criminal cases poses a threat to the exclusion restriction (see, e.g., Bhuller et al., 2020). Fortunately, as described in Section 1.2, the assigned judge only makes a single, binary decision in the type of cases I study and has little to no contact with the family.

A formal test of the exclusion restriction, joint with random assignment and the strong monotonicity condition (see Section 1.4.5) is provided by Frandsen et al. (2023).⁴² I apply the test for the main outcomes as well as hospitalization and crime outcomes while varying the settings (Table C6). In line with the validity of the three assumptions, I cannot reject the null hypothesis for any of the main outcomes.⁴³

In Table C7, I provide further empirical support for the exclusion restriction by documenting that judge removal tendency is uncorrelated with case and placement characteristics conditional on court-by-year FEs. First, I regress judge removal tendency on case processing time, whether the SWC decided to place the child in emergency care before the court hearing, and an indicator for the court rejecting the emergency care decision. Second, I use the subset of removed children and regress judge removal tendency on various placement characteristics (placement type, length of stay, placement switches, across-municipality moves, and within-country moves). In line with the exclusion restriction, the estimated coefficients are close to zero and lack statistical significance (*F*-statistic for joint significance: 0.53-0.87).

1.4.5 Monotonicity

A standard assumption invoked in heterogeneous IV models has up until recently been Imbens and Angrist (1994) monotonicity, also known as strong monotonicity. In this setting, the assumption implies that if judge J is overall more likely to remove children from home than judge K, then *every* child removed by judge K would also have been removed by judge J had judge J been assigned the case. This is a very strong assumption and its validity in empirical settings has been questioned in recent papers (Mogstad et al., 2021; Norris et al., 2021; Chan et al., 2022; Frandsen et al., 2023; Sigstad, 2023). As I note in Section 1.4.4, I apply Frandsen et al. (2023)'s test and find evidence in support of strong monotonicity.

Nevertheless, strong monotonicity is not necessary to ensure that the IV estimand is a weighted sum of non-negative individual treatment effects (Frandsen et al., 2023). Instead, as shown by Frandsen et al. (2023), a weaker average monotonicity condition is sufficient. This assumption implies that, in each case, judges who decide to remove the child from home do not have a lower overall removal tendency than judges who decide to leave the child at home. However, as clarified in Sigstad (2023), while weak monotonicity is sufficient to identify some proper weighted average, it does not ensure identification of MTEs, LATE, or some other meaningful parameter.

If the weak monotonicity assumption holds, the first-stage estimates are nonnegative for all subsamples of children. Hence, whether the weak monotonicity assumption is credible can be investigated by slicing the sample along observable dimensions and rerunning the first stage for each subsample. Table C8 presents such estimates when I split the sample by petitions grounds, age, foreign background, and gender. In each subsample, the estimates are large, positive, and significant. I also rerun the first stage using an alternative definition of removal tendency: the judge's tendency to remove children *outside* the subsample. Again, the estimates are large, positive, and significant in each subsample (Panel B). These results suggest that judges who are prone to remove children in one subsample (e.g., girls) are also prone to remove children in the complement subsample (e.g., boys), which further supports the validity of the monotonicity assumption.

1.5 Results for Child Mortality

1.5.1 Baseline Results

Table 1.4 presents the estimated effects of court-ordered removal on all-cause and cause-specific mortality measured by the year the child turns 19 or by month 24

⁴²Frandsen et al. (2023)'s test essentially tests an implication of the three assumptions: outcomes averaged at the judge level should fit a continuous function with bounded slope of judge treatment propensity.

⁴³For hospitalization and crime outcomes, the test rejects the null only when few knots are used.

following the court's judgment. Compared to Table 1.1, the sample sizes are slightly smaller because of sample attrition stemming from emigration.⁴⁴

As shown in the last column of Table 1.4, naive OLS analysis reveals that the risk of overdose by month 24 is 0.14 percentage points higher among removed children (conditional on being at least 11 years old at the time of the judgment). This result is unsurprising since drug and alcohol addiction is grounds for removal. Hence, the removed group likely has a higher underlying risk of overdose.

When controls for child and parent characteristics are added, the point estimate is reduced. As I cannot observe and control for all variables that influence the removal decision and the risk of overdose (e.g., addiction severity), the OLS results are still likely plagued by (positive) OV bias. When using IV analysis (which addresses the issue of OV bias), the estimate is reduced to the point that it even switches signs. However, due to large standard errors, the IV estimate is not statistically significant at conventional levels.

Since IV estimation captures the treatment effect for compliers, not the average treatment effect, discrepancies between OLS and IV estimates could be driven by effect heterogeneity rather than selection bias. In fact, the complier groups deviate from the analysis samples along several observable dimensions (Table A3). Nevertheless, reweighting the sample using complier weights yields a similar OLS estimate,⁴⁵ which suggests that the difference in estimates is not driven by effect heterogeneity.

In contrast to the effect on overdoses by month 24, the IV estimated effect on overdose by the year the child turns 19 (column 3) is positive but still imprecisely estimated.

	Death by	⁄ Year Child J	Jurns 19	Death by N	Aonth 24 Post	-Judgment
	(1) All-Cause	(2) Suicide	(3) Overdose	(4) All-Cause	(5) Suicide	(6) Overdose
OLS (No Controls)						
Removed	-0.0009	-0.0027	0.0009	-0.0000	-0.0003	0.0014^{***}
	(0.0029)	(0.0023)	(0.0011)	(0.0013)	(0.0015)	(0.0004)
OLS (With Full Set of Controls)						
Removed	-0.0035	-0.0045*	0.0002	-0.0009	-0.0019	0.0011^{**}
	(0.0031)	(0.0024)	(0.0011)	(0.0014)	(0.0017)	(0.0005)
OLS (Complier Reweighted)						
Removed	-0.0042	-0.0043*	-0.0004	-0.0002	-0.0009	0.0010^{*}
	(0.0034)	(0.0025)	(0.0014)	(0.0013)	(0.0010)	(0.0005)
RF (Only Court-by-Year FEs)						
Judge removal tendency	0.0321^{**}	0.0156^{**}	0.0134	0.0066	0.0149^{***}	-0.0067
	(0.0131)	(0.0073)	(0.0081)	(0.0055)	(0.0054)	(0.0058)
IV (Only Court-by-Year FEs)						
Removed	0.0719^{**}	0.0350^{**}	0.0299	0.0154	0.0383^{**}	-0.0173
	(0.0312)	(0.0173)	(0.0187)	(0.0131)	(0.0150)	(0.0150)
IV (With Full Set of Controls)						
Removed	0.0721^{**}	0.0337^{*}	0.0301	0.0144	0.0383^{**}	-0.0184
	(0.0316)	(0.0174)	(0.0191)	(0.0132)	(0.0152)	(0.0154)
Sample	Year 19	Year 19	Year 19	All Ages	≥11 y.o.	≥11 y.o.
AR <i>p</i> -value	0.0157	0.0427	0.1050	0.2674	0.0065	0.2263
AR confidence set (95%)	[.016, .141]	[.001, 072]	[005,.07]	[011,.041]	[.011, 073]	[051,.012]
Dependent mean	0.0071	0.0026	0.0018	0.0031	0.0017	0.0013
Complier mean if not removed	0.0156	0.0023	0.0083	0.0006	0.0000	0.0000
Z	10168	10168	10168	19089	11189	11189

estimations except *OLS* (*No Controls*) include court-by-year FEs. *OLS* (*With Full Set of Controls*), *OLS* (*Complier Reweighted*), and *IV* (*With Full Set of Controls*) also control for the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 1.1. Reported AR *p*-values and confidence sets are for *IV* (*Only Court-by-Year FEs*). Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .05. *** p < .05. *** p < .01.

⁴⁴See Appendix 1.B for further details on attrition. To test for selective sample attrition, I regress a dummy for missing in each analysis sample on the judge instrument. Selective attrition appears to be negligible (Table B1). Nevertheless, I conduct an exercise in which removed attriters are assigned the best outcome (e.g., survival by month 24) and non-removed attriters are assigned the worst outcome (e.g., death by month 24). The results are essentially the same (Table B3).

⁴⁵To obtain complier reweighted samples, I adopt the procedure employed in, e.g., Dahl et al. (2014), Bhuller et al. (2020), Dobbie, Goldin, and Yang (2018), and Baron and Gross (2022). First, I identify the least and most stringent judges, defined as the bottom and top 1 percentiles. I then calculate the overall proportion of compliers in each analysis sample as the difference in the first stage between children assigned the most stringent and least stringent judges. I then create sub-groups that capture important heterogeneity. Specifically, I use LASSO to obtain a measure of the risk of removal based on court-by-year dummies and the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 1.1. I then split the analysis sample into quartiles depending on the child's risk score and follow the same procedure as for the full analysis sample to compute the share of compliers within each risk quartile. Finally, I retrieve the relative likelihood of a complier belonging to a risk quartile by dividing the share of compliers in the risk quartile by the total share of compliers. These relative likelihoods are the complier weights.

While addiction is both a major predictor of overdose and a legal ground for removal, the main predictor of suicide, mental illness (Beautrais, 2000; Bostwick et al., 2016), is not a legal ground. Nevertheless, some SWC workers attempt to protect children at risk of suicide by trying to place them in out-of-home care (SOU, 2000:77). This practice is reflected in the over-representation of cases that are largely based on the child's mental health among children who are *not* removed by the assigned judge (Table A3). Hence, it is plausible that the counterfactual suicide rate is higher among non-removed children. In turn, suicides make up over one-third of all-cause deaths. This implies that a selection of children with a high risk of suicide into the control group would also bias the OLS estimates for all-cause mortality downward, which may explain why naive OLS analysis reveals slightly negative estimates for mortality outcomes that include suicides (columns 1-2, 4-5).

When adding observable controls and reweighting the sample using complier weights, the estimates barely change. However, as for overdoses, my capacity to accurately measure factors that influence the risk of suicide and the removal decision (e.g., severity of prior self-harming behavior) is limited.

Using judge removal tendency as an instrument for removal reveals very different results compared to OLS. As shown in the first column of Table 1.4, removal increases the risk of the marginal child dying by the year they turn 19 by over 7 percentage points (significant at the 5% level). This holds both with and without child and parent controls. In relation to the mean of 1.6% among compliers if not removed, this increase is striking.⁴⁶ The effect is primarily driven by suicides. The IV estimate in column 2 implies that removal increases the risk of suicide by year 19 by over 3 percentage points (significant at the 5-10% level). I also report the Anderson-Rubin (AR) test and identification-robust confidence sets as recommended by Andrews et al. (2019). Even the lower bounds of the AR confidence sets imply large increases in mortality.⁴⁷

Such large effects suggest caution in interpretation. Recall that the effects are estimated for cases that judges disagree about, which only make up around 14% of the analysis samples.⁴⁸ This group might be more responsive to place-

ment in terms of increased mortality than the average child because, for example, it likely contains a higher share of children with underlying mental health problems given that there is a lack of legal guidance and consensus on involuntary placement of such children.⁴⁹ Indeed, empirically, I find that cases that are largely based on the child's mental health are more than twice as common in the complier group as in the full 'Year 19 Sample' (Table A3).

In addition, the instrument typically only takes on values between 0.7 and 1 (see Figure 1.3) and the first-stage coefficient is around 0.4.⁵⁰ However, the IV estimate extrapolates the induced change in the likelihood of removal to a binary change in removal from 0 to 1, which can result in large point estimates and standard errors.

Table 1.4 also provides reduced-form (RF) estimates.⁵¹ The relationship between (actual and predicted) child mortality and judge removal tendency is further explored in Figure D1. In line with conditional randomization, predicted child mortality (using child and parent background characteristics) appears unrelated to the instrument. In contrast, actual mortality by the year the child turns 19 increases approximately linearly with the instrument.

Turning to all-cause mortality by month 24 following the court's judgment, the full sample of children aged 0 to 19 can be used. Since a meaningful share of these children are not old enough to engage in self-harm and substance use, it is unsurprising that the estimated effect is not statistically significant at conven-

⁴⁹The legal mandate to place children with mental health problems in out-of-home care has been discussed, changed, and clarified over the last two decades in several official reports, government bills, and rulings (e.g., Swedish Government, 2002;SOU, 1998:31, 2000:77). According to the Supreme Administrative Court (2010), a child cannot be taken into care on the *basis* of their mental illness, but children with mental illness can be removed if they engage in socially destructive behavior provided that the behavior is not a *symptom* of the child's underlying mental illness. Further guidance is very limited and it is emphasized that decision-makers must decide which form of care (out-of-home versus in-home) is best on a case-by-case basis (Swedish Government, 1989). Even if a child engages in socially destructive behavior that would warrant removal, the best treatment given the child's needs might be offered in the home environment by various specialists and health care professionals.

⁵⁰The range of variation in the instrument in Aizer and Doyle (2015) is 12 percentage points, while it is around 25 percentage points in Bhuller et al. (2020).

⁵¹A probit model yields similar reduced-form estimates.

⁴⁶The yearly death rate among the sampled children is much higher than the rate observed in the general Swedish population. In the 12 months following the court's judgment, the death rate is 63 (353) per 100,000 children in the 'All Ages' Sample aged 10-14 (15-19) compared to an average of 10 (27) per 100,000 children aged 10-14 (15-19) in the general Swedish population during the years 2001-2020 (NBHW, 2023).

 $^{^{47}}$ In Appendix 1.F, I discuss reasons for why my findings contrast with recent findings reported in studies conducted in the US.

⁴⁸Consider the effect on all-cause mortality by the year the child turns 19. The risk of death, P(Y), can be decomposed: P(Y)=P(Y|NC)*P(NC)+P(Y|C)*P(C), where C defines complier and NC defines non-complier. In turn, the risk of death among compliers can be decomposed: P(Y|C)=P(Y|C,NT)*(1-P(T|C))+P(Y|C,T)*P(T|C), where T defines treated and NT defines control. Using that P(Y|C,NT)=0.0156 and P(Y|C,T)=0.0875, we get P(Y|C)=0.0156+0.0719P(T|C). I estimate that the share of compliers is around 13.55%, while the mean risk of death is 0.71%. Hence,

 $^{0.0071=}P(Y|NC)^*(1-0.1355)+(0.0156+0.0719P(T|C))^*0.1355$. Suppose 20% of compliers are removed from home. If so, the probability of death among non-compliers (always- and never-takers) must be around 0.35%. In total, 72 children die by the year they turn 19, of which 44 die from suicide or accidental overdose. Under the assumption that 20% of compliers are removed, there are $(0.0156^*0.8+0.0875^*0.2)^*0.1356^*10168\approx41$ deaths among compliers and 31 deaths among non-compliers. According to my point estimates, only $0.0156^*0.1356^*10168\approx22$ compliers would die if none of the compliers are removed from home and child removal causes an extra 19 deaths. Using instead the lower end of the AR confidence set (0.016) yields (under the same assumption that 20% of compliers are removed) 26 deaths among compliers, of which only 4 deaths are attributable to child removal. If 80% of compliers are removed, there are 39 deaths among compliers and 17 of these deaths are attributable to child removal.

tional levels (Table 1.4, Column 4). Instead, limiting the sample to children who are at least 11 years old at the time of the judgment reveals a significant increase (5% level) in suicides by month 24.⁵²

Figure 1.4. Effect of Removal on All-Cause Mortality and Suicide



Note: Black lines show IV estimates of the effect of removal on the cumulative probability of the child dying by month t post-judgment. The relevant outcome and sample are stated in the subfigure heading. Dashed lines show 90% AR confidence bands. All specifications condition on being in Sweden during month t or later.

Figure 1.4 graphically presents IV estimates of the effects of child removal on cumulative all-cause mortality and cumulative risk of suicide by month t after the court's judgment (with 90% AR confidence intervals). The point estimates quickly turn positive and stay non-negative for the subsequent months. For all-cause mortality using the 'All Ages Sample', the intervals are wide and only a few estimates are statistically significant at the 10% level. In contrast, for suicides in the ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample', the estimates become significant (5% level) already by month 9 and remain steady for the subsequent months.

1.5.2 Heterogeneity

By Observable Characteristics

In light of prior research documenting that boys are particularly responsive to childhood conditions (Bertrand and Pan, 2013; Autor, Figlio, et al., 2019), I first split the sample by gender. Responsiveness (as well as needs, care home conditions, and treatment length) may also vary by petition grounds, foreign background, and age. Therefore, I split the sample along these dimensions too. Moreover, the existence of close, trusting, and supportive relationships has been identified as a protective factor against mental illness (McLaughlin and Lambert, 2017). Hence, being placed together with a sibling could have a shielding effect against adverse outcomes. While I do not observe whether siblings are placed

together, I can split the sample by whether siblings are part of the same court case.

Results by subgroups are presented in Table 1.5. Since the samples are sliced along several dimensions, the effects are often imprecisely estimated. While Wald tests of equality reveal no statistically significant differences, I cannot rule out economically significant differences. Nevertheless, there is no evidence of decreased mortality as a result of child removal in any subgroup.

I do not present results for overdoses since the outcome, both by year 19 and by month 24, is frequently null in individual subgroups. Overdoses are concentrated among boys with behavioral problems taken into care as teenagers.

MTEs and Other Parameters of Interest

Heterogeneity in treatment effects can also be explored by estimating MTEs. Figure E1 traces out MTE curves over the unobserved resistance to treatment. The MTEs are attained by fitting a quadratic polynomial model using the local IV approach. I also show the propensity score distribution (the probability of removal given judge removal tendency and court-by-year FEs) for removed and non-removed children in the 'Year 19 Sample'. The common support is around 0.70 to 0.98 after trimming the bottom and top 1% from the common support.

For each outcome except all-cause death by month 24, the MTE curves tend to be flat or somewhat upward-sloping. An upward slope means that the adverse effect on mortality is largest for children that have high unobserved resistance to treatment (i.e. children who have unobservable characteristics that make them unlikely to be removed).

Table E3 presents approximations of ATE, ATT, and ATUT based on MTEs obtained using various parametric models. The results reveal no evidence that child removal significantly improves mortality for the average child. However, as the common support is very limited, the parameter approximations should be interpreted with caution.

 $^{^{52}}$ In the 'All Ages Sample', 60 children die by month 24, while 19 (14) children die from suicide (overdose) in the ' ≥ 11 y.o. Sample' by month 24.

	Gei	nder	Petition	grounds	Backg	round	Siblin	g Case	Ag	e at Judgmer	It
	Girl	Boy	Behavior	Environ.	Foreign	Native	Yes	No	16-20 yrs	11-15 yrs	0-10 yrs
A: Death by Year C	hild Turns	19									
Removed	0.0655	0.0806^{*}	0.1412	0.0577^{**}	0.0478	0.0834^{**}	0.0443	0.0911^{**}	0.0922	0.0566	0.1001^{*}
	(0.0452)	(0.0430)	(0.1294)	(0.0266)	(0.0555)	(0.0395)	(0.0432)	(0.0414)	(0.0594)	(0.0437)	(0.0596)
Dependent mean	0.0057	0.0082	0.0096	0.0046	0.0042	0.0092	0.0034	0.0079	0.0069	0.0071	0.0066
N	4705	5460	4483	3910	4272	5890	1751	8407	4352	4900	906
B: Death by Year C	hild Turns	19 (Suicide)									
Removed	0.0312	0.0387^{**}	0.1104	0.0093	0.0115	0.0482^{**}	0.0132	0.0438^{*}	0.0643^{*}	0.0173	0.0374
	(0.0330)	(0.0173)	(0.0791)	(0.0143)	(0.0308)	(0.0227)	(0.0176)	(0.0229)	(0.0365)	(0.0231)	(0.0331)
Dependent mean	0.0034	0.0018	0.0038	0.0015	0.0014	0.0034	0.0006	0.0030	0.0023	0.0027	0.0033
N	4705	5460	4483	3910	4272	5890	1751	8407	4352	4900	906
C: Death by Month	24 Post-Jue	dgment									
Removed	0.0240	0.0101	0.0417	0.0084	0.0009	0.0258	0.0072	0.0214	0.0103	0.0398^{**}	0.0028
	(0.0151)	(0.0216)	(0.0903)	(0.0072)	(0.0187)	(0.0173)	(0.0054)	(0.0187)	(0.0575)	(0.0172)	(0.0106)
Dependent mean	0.0022	0.0039	0.0081	0.0012	0.0018	0.0040	0.0006	0.0043	0.0082	0.0015	0.0013
Ν	8909	10178	5306	11828	7307	11778	6202	12887	4998	6198	7882
D: Death by Month	24 Post-Ju	dgment (Sui	cide)								
Removed	0.0451^{*}	0.0402^{**}	0.0966*	0.0116	0.0331	0.0405^{**}	0.0215	0.0467^{**}	0.0581*	0.0282^{*}	
	(0.0270)	(0.0177)	(0.0549)	(0.0092)	(0.0279)	(0.0179)	(0.0255)	(0.0193)	(0.0329)	(0.0145)	
Dependent mean	0.0017	0.0017	0.0028	0.0005	0.0011	0.0022	0.0006	0.0019	0.0026	0.0010	
Ν	5167	6018	5301	3949	4744	6438	1699	9480	4993	6193	
te: This table presen	ts IV estim	ates of rem	oval on chilc	1 mortality.	The 'Year 1	9 Sample' i	s used in P	anels A-B	the 'All Age	s Samule' is	aned in Dan

Table 1.5. Heterogeneity of Effects on Child Mortality

and the ' ≥ 11 y.o. Sample' is used in Panel D (see Section 1.3.3). I limit the samples to the subgroup specified at the top of each column. All estimations only include court-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

1.5.3 Robustness Checks

I present robustness checks related to sample, specification, and instrument construction decisions in Tables D1-D2. The main results are robust to dropping each court.

Baseline results are provided in Table D1, Panel A for comparison. The results are robust to limiting the sample to only include years with universal coverage of child protection cases (cases determined after February 15, 2010); cases handled by non-junior judges; cases that are randomized to any judge irrespective of position at the court; the first case per child; cases determined 24 or more months before the outbreak of Covid-19 in February 2020; cases in court-by-year cells containing at least 10 observations; cases processed by judges who handle at least 30 cases; and cases processed by judges with tendencies that are not in the top or bottom 1% of the distribution. I also show robustness to three-way clustering on judge, child, and case level; replacing court-by-year FEs with department-by-year FEs; and adding FEs for judgment day of the week and SWC in charge.

Table D2 demonstrates robustness to how judge removal tendency is measured by using three-year specific judge removal tendency; leave-out same-family judge removal tendency; judge removal tendency calculated on the subsample of first-time cases, cases handled as a non-junior judge, and cases that are randomized to any judge at the court irrespective of position; an indicator for aboveaverage judge removal tendency; and judge removal tendency calculated by first residualizing the removal decision using court-by-year FEs (in line with Dobbie, Goldin, and Yang, 2018). I also demonstrate robustness to using a full set of judge dummies as instruments, jackknife instrumental variable estimation, and limited-information maximum likelihood.

1.6 Effects on Other Outcomes

1.6.1 Effects on Other Child Outcomes

Given that the adverse effects on mortality occur quickly (the effect on suicide is significant at the 5% level by month 9), it is valuable to examine the effects on other short-term outcomes. Next, I consider the effects on child criminality and hospitalization due to mental illness and substance use during the first year following the court's judgment. In light of the diverging effects on suicide and overdose by month 24, I present results separately for outcomes related to substance use. As these outcomes are not relevant for very young children, I use the ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample' for hospitalization outcomes. For crime outcomes, I only include children who are at least 15 years old at the time of the judgment since the minimum age of criminal responsibility in Sweden is 15.

	Not 3	Substance Use-Re	lated	Substance Use	e-Related
	(1) Hosp. d.t. Mental Health	(2) Non-Narcotic Crime	(3) Crime Against Person	(4) Hosp. d.t. Substance Use	(5) Narcotic Crime
IV (Only Court-by-Year FEs)					
Removed	0.2086^{**}	0.5276^{**}	0.3509^{*}	0.0514	-0.1173
	(0.0980)	(0.2488)	(0.1919)	(0.0777)	(0.2082)
IV (With Full Set of Controls)					
Removed	0.1769^{*}	0.5584^{**}	0.3831^{**}	0.0350	-0.1041
	(0.0961)	(0.2513)	(0.1938)	(0.0782)	(0.2001)
Sample	≥11 y.o.	≥15 y.o.	≥15 y.o.	≥11 y.o.	≥15 y.o.
AR <i>p</i> -value	0.0553	0.0151	0.0344	0.6541	0.6039
AR confidence set (95%)	[002, .386]	[.111, 1.165]	[.038, 836]	[117,.193]	[524,.3]
Dependent mean	0.0630	0.1967	0.1136	0.0382	0.1389
Complier mean if not removed	0.0353	0.1803	0.0522	0.0556	0.1853
Z	11139	7025	7025	11139	7025

 Table 1.6. Effect of Removal on Child Hospitalization & Crime, Month 1-12

Note: The ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample' is used in columns 1 and 4 (see Section 1.3.3). In columns 2-3 and 5, I further limit the sample to children who had reached the age of criminal responsibility (15) at the time of the judgment. All estimations include court-by-year FEs. *IV (With Full Set of Controls)* also controls for the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 1.1. Reported AR *p*-values and confidence sets are for *IV (Only Court-by-Year FEs)*. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. OLS estimates are provided in Table D3. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

As shown in the first column of Table 1.6, removal increases the risk of the marginal child being hospitalized for mental illness within the first year by around 20 percentage points (significant at the 5-10% level).⁵³ Removal also increases the risk of the marginal child committing a non-narcotic crime within the first year by around 50 percentage points (5% significance level).⁵⁴ The effect on non-narcotic crimes is primarily driven by a large increase in the risk of committing a crime against persons, of which at least 91% are committed while the removed children are still placed in out-of-home care.

Again, these large estimates should be interpreted with caution (see the discussion in Section 1.5.1), especially in light of the large confidence sets.⁵⁵

Turning to substance use-related outcomes (columns 4-5 of Table 1.6), the IV estimates are not statistically significant, which is in line with the non-significant effect found on overdose by month 24.

The outcomes used in Table 1.6 condition on the child surviving and never emigrating during the first year. Figure 1.5 shows the estimated effects of removal on the cumulative probability of (i) hospitalization due to mental health and (ii) non-narcotic crime by calendar month t post-judgment. The effects are significant at the 5-10% level already by the first calendar month following the court's judgment and the point estimates remain positive in the 12-month window. The effect on non-narcotic crime, but not hospitalization, increases fairly steadily. For hospitalization due to mental health, the effect increases after month 6, which coincides with the first review of the child's case.⁵⁶ The next kink at month 8 coincides with the steep rise in suicides (which results in these children

⁵⁵During the months 1-12 following child removal, 702 of 11,139 children are hospitalized for mental illness. In the " \geq 11 y.o. Sample", I estimate that about 12% are compliers, while the point estimated effect of removal is 0.2086 and the control complier mean is 0.0353. Under the assumption that 20% of compliers are removed from home, the number of children who are hospitalized among compliers is estimated to be (0.0353*0.8+0.2439*0.2)*0.1191*11139 \approx 102. If instead no compliers are removed, only 47 children would be hospitalized in the complier group. In other words, my estimates imply that child removal causes 55 additional children to be hospitalized for mental illness. However, the uncertainty in these approximations is very high. This is also the case when examining the implied change in the number of children who commit non-narcotic crimes. In the sample used to estimate the effect of child removal on crime, I estimate that 10.4% are compliers, while the complier mean is 0.1803 and the point estimated effect of removal is 0.7079. Under the assumption that 20% of compliers are removed, the estimates imply that (0.1803*0.8+0.7079*0.2)*0.1042*7025≈209 youths commit non-narcotic crimes in the complier group. If none of the compliers are removed, the estimates suggest that only 132 of these youths would commit non-narcotic crimes during the 1-12 months following the court's judgment.

⁵⁶The SWC must reassess the need for out-of-home placement every 6 months.

⁵³OLS and reduced-form estimates are provided in Table D3. I also present estimated effects on the likelihood of committing a minor versus non-minor crime. I define minor crimes as those that do not result in a criminal trial. Note that all non-minor crimes must be processed in a trial even if the perpetrator admits guilt. Examples of minor crimes are traffic offenses and petty theft.

⁵⁴Since I use the date of the crime, rather than the date of conviction or date of reporting, the rise in crime cannot be attributed to crimes committed prior to removal. If the crime spans several days, I use the first date when determining which month the crime occurred.

Figure 1.5. Effect of Removal on Child Hospitalization & Crime



Note: Black lines show IV estimates of the effect of removal on the cumulative probability of the child being hospitalized due to their mental health and committing a non-narcotic crime by month *t* post-judgment. The relevant outcome is stated in the subfigure heading. Dashed lines show 90% AR confidence bands. The ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample' is used. For non-narcotic crime, I further limit the sample to children who had reached the age of criminal responsibility (15) at the time of the judgment. All specifications condition on being alive and in Sweden during months 0-*t*.

exiting the sample).

Estimates by subsamples are presented in Table E2. The effects on nonnarcotic crime and crime against persons are concentrated among youths who are 16 or older at the time of the judgment. For both outcomes, the differences in effects for children aged 15 versus 16 or older are significant at the 5% level (*p*-values: .014 and .032, respectively). Part of the reason can be Sweden's particularly lenient treatment of offenders who are 15 as opposed to 16 or older at the time of the crime (The Prosecutor-General of Sweden, 2006).

The estimated effects of removal on crime and hospitalization are subject to the caveat that there may be under- or over-reporting. For example, foster parents may be more likely to bring a child to the hospital than birth parents for the same level of injury (or the other way around). The focus on hospitalizations, rather than total health care usage, likely mitigates this issue. Physicians only hospitalize patients with severe injuries or illnesses that cannot wait or be treated within the Swedish primary care system. Hence, if someone brings a child to the hospital when it is unnecessary the child would not be hospitalized and, thereby, such overuse would not affect my results. Regarding criminality, the risk of being found guilty might be higher when a child commits a crime while placed in outof-home care due to increased supervision. On the other hand, prosecutors are encouraged to drop cases against children who are placed in institutions (The Prosecutor-General of Sweden, 2006). Moreover, having a criminal record is an important outcome even if there is no change in actual criminality. For example, it is common among Swedish employers to conduct criminal background checks. Hence, a criminal record can adversely affect the individual's outcomes (Agan and Starr, 2018).

1.6.2 The Role of Parent Outcomes

In Sweden, parents typically have extensive contact with their children while they are placed in out-of-home care via phone or visits. Hence, parent outcomes may impact child outcomes already during out-of-home placement.

Tables D4-D5 present IV estimated effects of child removal on birth parents using the 'All Ages Sample'. In sharp contrast to the results for children, I find little evidence that removal impairs birth parents' health as measured by mortality and hospitalizations. In addition, none of the children of parents who died within 2 years died themselves. All in all, deteriorated parent health is not a likely mediator of the adverse effects found for child mortality.

Turning to criminal behavior, removal increases the probability of any parent committing a non-narcotic crime within the first year by around 17 percentage points (10% significance level). This increase is primarily driven by an increase in crimes against persons (13 percentage point increase; 10% significance level). For narcotic crime, the estimates are negative and not statistically significant. Likewise, there are no significant effects on family composition as measured by marriage rates or the probability of any parent having positive labor income during the year after child removal.

1.7 Mechanisms

My analysis reveals that court-ordered removal of the marginal child from home decreases their chances of surviving childhood, with particularly large effects on the risk of suicide. In this section, I tentatively explore potential mechanisms through which removal might affect child mortality and especially suicide.

1.7.1 Drivers of Suicide

Stahl et al. (2021) offer an overview of the existing knowledge about the drivers of suicide. The empirical evidence suggests that suicide may be driven by the accumulation of and interaction between biological, psychological, and environmental risk factors (McFeeters et al., 2015). Such risk factors include psychiatric disorders, substance abuse, physical health conditions, personality traits, genetics, low social support, high barriers to effective health care, and adverse childhood experiences (ACEs). ACE is a concept used in the medical literature and describes a key childhood event that harms the child's health and development (Kalmakis and Chandler, 2015). ACEs are, e.g., abuse, neglect, family separation, and growing up with a mentally ill or substance-abusing family member.⁵⁷

⁵⁷A large body of literature documents that exposure to multiple ACEs is a major risk factor for a wide variety of adverse health outcomes (for a meta-analysis, see Hughes et al., 2017). For example, the risk of a suicide attempt is estimated to be around 4-5 times higher among children who experience at least four ACEs compared to children who experience one ACE (Petruccelli

The evidence base indicates that individuals with a large stock of underlying risk factors react more strongly to psychosocial stressors (e.g., loss, conflict, change, and bullying) which can lead to an acute risk of suicide (Turecki and Brent, 2016; Carballo et al., 2020).^{58,59} Naturally, ACEs, substance abuse, and other suicide risk factors are common among children at risk of out-ofhome placement. Hence, we should expect greater responsiveness to emotionally stressful events in this group compared to children who do not interact with the child welfare system, which may partly explain why I find such large effects of court-ordered placement on suicide.

Next, I explore how court-ordered out-of-home placement can affect the accumulation of suicide risk factors and exposure to stressors.

1.7.2 Separation and Disruption of the Child's Environment

An important driver of the observed effects of court-ordered placement on child mortality can be family separation and disruption of the child's social and physical environment. First, the family separation event can be a deeply traumatic experience (Cohen and Mannarino, 2019).⁶⁰ Second, moving to a new home can be a psychologically stressful event and may involve both school and neighborhood change. Greater residential mobility during childhood has been linked with increased prevalence of depression, drug use, and other adverse outcomes (see Jelleyman and Spencer, 2008, for a meta-analysis).

Out-of-home placement can also disrupt the child's support system and social bonds with primary caretakers, teachers, relatives, friends, and other important individuals in the child's life through geographical relocation and implementation of visitation and communication restrictions. Such disruptions can lead to feelings of isolation, detachment, and loss and have long-lasting adverse effects on the child's health and development (Goldsmith et al., 2004; Astrup et al., 2017).

The extent of these disruptions is likely larger if the child must move far from their original home. To shed some light on this mechanism, I create an indicator that takes the value 1 if the child moves at least once across municipalities within the first 6 months following the court's judgment.⁶¹ As I cannot observe where non-removed children would have been placed had the court ordered removal, I use the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 1.1, court-by-year dummies, and SWC dummies to predict across-municipality moves. Prediction is done with LASSO. I then split the sample by whether the child has an above- or below-median risk of having to move and re-estimate the main IV specification in each subsample. The results are presented in Table E1. The point estimates are positive in both subsamples and tend to be marginally larger for children with *low* probability of having to move across municipalities. This suggests that large disruptions to the child's social and physical environment do not drive the effects of removal on mortality.

To further explore the role of disruptions, I exploit data on placement changes and create an indicator for whether the child experiences more than one placement change within the first 6 months. I then apply the same procedure as for across-municipality moves described above. No statistically significant differences are found for children with low versus high probability of placement instability (Table E1).^{62,63}

All in all, I find little evidence that large or frequent disruptions are the main drivers of the adverse effects found for child mortality. However, caution is advised due to incomplete register data on placement characteristics (see Section 1.3.1). In addition, my measures of long-distance moves and placement instability might not accurately capture important disruptions in the child's life. Hence, it is still possible that disruptions adversely affect mortality.

1.7.3 Peers

As I show in Section 1.6, out-of-home placement has a large effect on the likelihood of youths committing crimes against other persons. These crimes are almost exclusively committed while the removed youth is still placed in out-ofhome care. If the victims are other children in care, the increase in crime may mediate the adverse effect on mortality. Indeed, children did die from violent crimes committed by other children placed in the same home during my sample period (e.g., Hellman, 2019). Crimes against persons in the same home can also adversely affect child mental health and thereby increase the risk of suicide.

et al., 2019).

⁵⁸Empirical studies in medicine provide a biological explanation for the greater responsiveness (in terms of increased risk of suicide) to stressors among individuals who have experienced earlylife adversities (for a review, see Van Heeringen and Mann, 2014).

⁵⁹Studies in economics document evidence that further supports the notion that disadvantaged children are particularly sensitive to adverse events, including parental death (Adda et al., 2011), parental job loss (Oreopoulos et al., 2008), and parental incarceration (Dobbie, Grönqvist, et al., 2018).

⁶⁰Adverse effects of family separation have been documented in other contexts as well. For example, forced separation of migrant families is associated with trauma symptoms (see Lovato et al., 2018, for a review).

⁶¹Because there is a significant effect on the risk of suicide already by month 9, I focus on events that occur by month 6 when exploring mechanisms. Figure A2 depicts the distribution of placement switches and across-municipality moves by month 6.

⁶²I try several definitions of environment instability, including an indicator for more than the median number of moves within the country during the first 6 months following removal. Regardless of the definition, I find no evidence of environment instability being an important mechanism.

⁶³In Table D6, I regress the probability of death by the year the child turns 19 on child and placement characteristics among the subset of removed children. Having to move across municipalities is weakly associated with a lower likelihood of death, while the point estimate for experiencing more than one placement change is close to zero.

Prior research shows that there are adverse effects of victimization on a range of outcomes, including mental health and suicide (Dustmann and Fasani, 2016; Nikolaou, 2017; Bharadwaj et al., 2021).

The adverse effects on child mortality can also be driven by increased exposure to peers who engage in harmful behaviors if peer-to-peer spillovers exist. In Helénsdotter (2023), I shed light on this channel using data on the universe of youths placed in Swedish institutional care from 2000 to 2020. To address the issue of non-random assignment of youths to facilities, I include facility-by-year fixed effects and estimate peer effects using only temporal variation in peer composition within each facility and year. I find that greater exposure to peers with a history of self-harm increases the risk of future self-harming behavior among youths with own history of self-harm. A similar, reinforcing effect is found for substance abuse.

1.7.4 Care Conditions

Swedish government agencies have repeatedly found widespread and oftentimes systemic deficiencies in out-of-home care, including denied or limited access to health and dental care; inadequate provision of schooling; and unlawful use of isolation, communication restrictions, physical restraint, collective punishment, and nude body searches. Deficiencies in the provision of care have been directly linked to deaths (see The Ombudsman for Children, 2010, 2011, 2019, for overviews). In a government report (SOU, 2011:9), the investigators conclude that a large number of children are subject to severe forms of abuse and neglect while placed in out-of-home care. Among the known cases, children abused and neglected in foster families are overrepresented, which might be explained by greater surveillance and training in group homes and institutions.

On the other hand, there are characteristics of non-family facilities that may make such placements particularly harmful. For example, developing a secure attachment to a parent figure can be difficult in a non-family facility. Table E1 presents estimated effects of child removal on mortality by the probability of ever being placed in an institution during the first 6 months following the court's judgment. The point estimates are consistently larger for children with a high probability of institutional placement, but only the difference in estimates for suicide by month 24 is marginally significant (*p*-value=0.088).⁶⁴ Nevertheless, it should be noted that of the removed children who die in out-of-home care, over 60% die in group homes and institutions.

To further explore if poor care conditions can explain the adverse effects on mortality, I collect news stories from *Mediearkivet* on children who died during the years 2000-2022 while being involuntarily placed in Swedish out-of-home care.⁶⁵ I identify 26 cases in which (i) a child died from suicide and (ii) a gov-ernment agency conducted an investigation and found that deficiencies in the provided care contributed to the child's suicide. Physical and sexual abuse in out-of-home care are identified as contributors to a handful of deaths, while severe neglect of the child's medical and emotional needs are identified as contributors in almost all cases. Examples of such neglect are failure to seek or facilitate psychiatric treatment and refusal to monitor or seek medical care when children express acute suicidal intent or attempt suicide. In addition, I identify 7 cases in which the child was murdered or died from a physical injury or illness attributable to neglect.

In line with the findings of these government investigations, studies conducted in Western countries document large unmet health needs (e.g., low immunization coverage, untreated dental decay, and underdiagnosis and suboptimal treatment of medical conditions) among children living in out-of-home care (Kaltner and Rissel, 2011; Fontanella et al., 2015; Randsalu and Laurell, 2018). Resource shortages, lack of formal policies to track health care delivery, limited access to the child's medical history, and frequent discontinuity of health care are some of the identified barriers to health care delivery (see Deutsch and Fortin, 2015, for an overview).

Why do I find an adverse effect on the risk of dying from suicide but not overdose? Treatment of substance abuse is one of the responsibilities of the child protection system in Sweden. Hence, there are well-organized substance abuse treatment programs, actors within the child protection system are educated and trained on how to manage children with substance use problems, and the physical environment is oftentimes tailored to the needs of substance abusers. All other mental and physical illnesses are the responsibility of the child and adolescent health care system. Therefore, the child protection system is not equipped to provide care for children suffering from mental illnesses other than substance use disorder (Swedish Government, 2002).

1.7.5 Placement Exit and Transition to Adulthood

The adverse effects on mortality can be driven by poor post-placement conditions or the emotional stress of having to exit care. Hence, I examine when adverse events occur: during or after out-of-home placement. I find that for each mortality outcome, the overwhelming majority of deaths occur while the child is still placed in out-of-home care (conditional on being removed). For example, 81%

⁶⁴Estimates are based on data provided by the National Board of Institutional Care. No statistically significant differences are observed when comparing effects among children with low versus high probability of being placed in a non-family facility (group home or institution) using the incomplete register data covering all placement types. Caseworkers at the SWC, not the assigned judge, determine where the child should be placed.

⁶⁵*Mediearkivet* is Scandinavia's largest media archive and contains stories from newspapers, radio, and television.

of suicides by the year the removed child turns 19 occur while placed in out-ofhome care. Given the issue of underreporting in the placement data, the share of children still in care at the time of death is likely even higher.

The high share of deaths during out-of-home placement speaks against poor post-placement conditions and the stress of placement exit being major drivers of my findings. On the other hand, children might end their lives before placement exit in anticipation of stress and poor post-placement conditions. To explore this channel, I examine how old the children are at the time of death.

Children who are involuntarily placed in care based on deficiencies in the home age out of care when they turn 18. Hence, a spike in deaths right before their 18th birthday could be driven by anticipation. However, none of the children in the 'Year 19 Sample' who are removed based on deficiencies in the home die in the month of their 18th birthday or within 6 months before.

Nevertheless, there is a clustering of deaths but among the children in the 'Year 19 Sample' who are removed (solely or partly) based on their own behavior. Specifically, more than 20% of the children who die by the year they turn 19 die within 2 months *after* they turn 18. It is unlikely that this pattern is driven by anticipation of having to leave care because children who are removed based on their own behavior age out of care when they turn 21.⁶⁶ Figure A3 depicts the distribution of months between the month the child turns 18 and the month of death among all children in the 'Year 19 Sample' who die by the year they turn 19.

The spike in deaths in the months right after turning 18 can be driven by several factors. When a person turns 18, they are legally considered an adult in Sweden which means that they become responsible for their own finances and can enter contracts, take out loans, gamble, shop online, and drink alcohol. In addition, the 18-year-old must manage all contact with the school, bank, health care system, police, and other authorities. The sudden increase in responsibility and freedom can be stressful and lead to destructive behaviors that increase the risk of suicide.

A particularly salient psychosocial stressor among children struggling with mental or physical illness can be the automatic termination of their treatment within the child and adolescent health care system on the day of their 18th birth-day.⁶⁷ Upon turning 18, the young adult must seek treatment at an adult unit and start to pay a fee for each visit. Typically, 18-year-olds are also transferred to a new unit within the social welfare system and are assigned a new caseworker.

1.8 Conclusion

This paper studies the effects of the court-ordered placement of children in outof-home care on health and crime outcomes, including all-cause mortality, suicide, and accidental overdose. Causal effects are identified by exploiting quasirandom assignment of judges together with across-judge variation in the tendency to remove children in an IV framework.

I find that court-ordered out-of-home placement adversely affects the health of children on the margin of placement. Court-ordered removal strongly increases the risk of death by the year the child turns 19 years old. This effect is primarily driven by suicides. I also trace out the effects over the months following the judgment. For children who are old enough to self-harm and use harmful substances, there is a large and significant increase in the risk of suicide already by month 9. In contrast, the point estimate is negative and not statistically significant for overdose in the 24-month window post-judgment. When using the full sample (aged 0 to 19) a positive but imprecisely estimated effect on all-cause mortality is found.

There are no statistically significant differences in treatment effects by child characteristics (gender, petition grounds, foreign background, or age). While all point estimates are positive, economically significant differences in effect magnitude cannot be ruled out.

I also examine the effects of removal on crime and hospitalization due to mental illness and substance use during the year following the court's judgment. Significant increases in the risks of (i) being hospitalized for mental illness and (ii) committing a non-narcotic crime are found already by the first month after the judgment month and the estimates remain positive for the full 12-month window. An important driver of the effect on non-narcotic crime is an increase in crimes against persons (e.g., violent and sexual crimes). These crimes are almost exclusively committed while the removed child still is in out-of-home care. In line with the non-significant effect on overdoses, no effect is found on narcotic crimes or the risk of being hospitalized due to substance use during the first year.

Among birth parents, child removal causes a significant increase in nonnarcotic crimes and, in particular, crimes committed against other persons during the year following the court's judgment. Other parent outcomes, such as mortality, hospitalization, family composition, and labor income are not significantly affected at conventional levels.

I explore possible mechanisms. I find suggestive evidence in favor of peer victimization, peer-to-peer spillovers, and adverse care home conditions being potentially important drivers of the effects on child mortality. In addition, the transition to adulthood appears to be a critical point with 20% of deaths occurring during the 2 months after the child turns 18. These deaths cannot be explained by poor post-placement conditions as the children who die would not age out

⁶⁶Children removed due to their own behavior cannot leave care even when they turn 18 unless the SWC decides that care is no longer needed.

⁶⁷Children in Sweden, irrespective of whether they are placed in out-of-home care, receive psychiatric treatment in specialized child and adolescent psychiatric units (*Barn- och ungdomsp-sykiatrin*) and, if they have a functional impairment, in the child and adolescent habilitation units up until the day they turn 18.

of care until they turn 21. Indeed, the clear majority of deaths among removed children occur while the child still is placed in out-of-home care.

In this paper, I only study court-ordered placements (i.e. cases in which a parent or the child does not consent to removal). Court-ordered placements only make up around 30% of Swedish out-of-home placements on a given day. Hence, focusing solely on court-ordered placements is a limitation of the paper. However, from a policy perspective, studying the effects of court-ordered removal is particularly relevant as it involves taking a government action that intervenes with citizens' private lives. The effects of voluntary and involuntary removal are potentially different. In the future, it would be interesting to quantify and compare the effects.

Another limitation is the set of considered outcomes. There can be positive effects on other health-related outcomes (e.g., nutrition and routine health visits). Such outcomes can have important long-term effects, which might eventually switch the effect on mortality. Hence, future studies on other health (and non-health) outcomes are needed.

Bibliography

- Abadie, A., Athey, S., Imbens, G. W., & Wooldridge, J. M. (2023). When should you adjust standard errors for clustering? *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *138*(1), 1–35.
- Adda, J., Björklund, A., & Holmlund, H. (2011). The role of mothers and fathers in providing skills: Evidence from parental deaths. *IZA Discussion Paper No. 5425.*
- Adhvaryu, A., Fenske, J., & Nyshadham, A. (2019). Early life circumstance and adult mental health. *Journal of Political Economy*, *127*(4), 1516–1549.
- Agan, A., & Starr, S. (2018). Ban the box, criminal records, and racial discrimination: A field experiment. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 133(1), 191– 235.
- Aizer, A., & Doyle, J. J. (2015). Juvenile incarceration, human capital, and future crime: Evidence from randomly assigned judges. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 130(2), 759–803.
- Allroggen, M., Rau, T., Ohlert, J., & Fegert, J. (2017). Lifetime prevalence and incidence of sexual victimization of adolescents in institutional care. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *66*, 23–30.
- Alpert, A., Evans, W. N., Lieber, E. M. J., & Powell, D. (2022). Origins of the opioid crisis and its enduring impacts. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 137(2), 1139–1179.
- Anderson, H. D. (2011). Suicide ideation, depressive symptoms, and out-of-home placement among youth in the U.S. child welfare system. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 40(6), 790–796.
- Andrews, I., Stock, J. H., & Sun, L. (2019). Weak instruments in instrumental variables regression: Theory and practice. *Annual Review of Economics*, *11*(1), 727–753.
- Arteaga, C. (2021). Parental incarceration and children's educational attainment. *The Review of Economics and Statistics.*
- Ash, T., & Nix, E. (2023). How asylum seekers in the United States respond to their judges: Evidence and implications. *Working Paper*.
- Astrup, A., Pedersen, C. B., Mok, P. L. H., Carr, M. J., & Webb, R. T. (2017). Selfharm risk between adolescence and midlife in people who experienced

separation from one or both parents during childhood. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 208, 582–589.

- Autor, D., Figlio, D., Karbownik, K., Roth, J., & Wasserman, M. (2019). Family disadvantage and the gender gap in behavioral and educational outcomes. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 11(3), 338–81.
- Autor, D., Kostøl, A., Mogstad, M., & Setzler, B. (2019). Disability benefits, consumption insurance, and household labor supply. *American Economic Review*, *109*(7), 2613–2654.
- Bald, A., Chyn, E., Hastings, J., & Machelett, M. (2022). The causal impact of removing children from abusive and neglectful homes. *Journal of Political Economy*, 130(7), 1919–1962.
- Bald, A., Doyle, J., Joseph J, Gross, M., & Jacob, B. (2022). Economics of foster care. *NBER Working Paper Series, No. 29906*.
- Baranov, V., Bhalotra, S., Biroli, P., & Maselko, J. (2020). Maternal depression, women's empowerment, and parental investment: Evidence from a randomized controlled trial. *American Economic Review*, 110(3), 824–859.
- Baron, E. J., & Gross, M. (2022). Is there a foster care-to-prison pipeline? Evidence from quasi-randomly assigned investigators. *Working Paper*.
- Beautrais, A. L. (2000). Risk factors for suicide and attempted suicide among young people. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 34(3), 420-436.
- Berger, L. M., Bruch, S. K., Johnson, E. I., James, S., & Rubin, D. (2009). Estimating the "impact" of out-of-home placement on child well-being: Approaching the problem of selection bias. *Child development*, 80(6), 1856–1876.
- Berlin, M., Kääriälä, A., Lausten, M., Andersson, G., & Brännström, L. (2021). Long-term NEET among young adults with experience of out-of-home care: A comparative study of three Nordic countries. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 30(3), 266–279.
- Bertrand, M., & Pan, J. (2013). The trouble with boys: Social influences and the gender gap in disruptive behavior. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 5(1), 32–64.
- Bharadwaj, P., Bhuller, M., Løken, K. V., & Wentzel, M. (2021). Surviving a mass shooting. *Journal of Public Economics*, *201*, 104469.
- Bhuller, M., Dahl, G. B., Løken, K. V., & Mogstad, M. (2018a). Incarceration spillovers in criminal and family networks. *NBER Working Paper Series, No. 24878.*
- Bhuller, M., Dahl, G. B., Løken, K. V., & Mogstad, M. (2018b). Intergenerational effects of incarceration. *AEA Papers and Proceedings*, *108*, 234–40.
- Bhuller, M., Dahl, G. B., Løken, K. V., & Mogstad, M. (2020). Incarceration, recidivism, and employment. *Journal of Political Economy*, *128*(4), 1269–1324.
- Bhuller, M., Khoury, L., & Løken, K. V. (2021). Prison, mental health and family spillovers. *NHH Dept. of Economics Discussion Paper, SAM 19/2021*.

- Billings, S. B. (2018). Parental arrest and incarceration: How does it impact the children? *Available at SSRN 3034539*.
- Bingley, P., Lundborg, P., & Lyk-Jensen, S. V. (2021). Brothers in arms: Spillovers from a draft lottery. *Journal of Human Resources*, *56*(1), 225–268.
- Bostwick, J. M., Pabbati, C., Geske, J. R., & McKean, A. J. (2016). Suicide attempt as a risk factor for completed suicide: Even more lethal than we knew. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *173*(11), 1094–1100.
- Braciszewski, J. M., & Stout, R. L. (2012). Substance use among current and former foster youth: A systematic review. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 34(12), 2337–2344.
- Carballo, J. J., Llorente, C., Kehrmann, L., Flamarique, I., Zuddas, A., Purper-Ouakil, D., Hoekstra, P. J., Coghill, D., Schulze, U. M. E., Dittmann, R. W., Buitelaar, J. K., Castro-Fornieles, J., Lievesley, K., Santosh, P., & Arango, C. (2020). Psychosocial risk factors for suicidality in children and adolescents. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 29*(6), 759–776.
- Carneiro, P., Løken, K. V., & Salvanes, K. G. (2015). A flying start? Maternity leave benefits and long-run outcomes of children. *Journal of Political Economy*, *123*(2), 365–412.
- Case, A., & Deaton, A. (2022). The great divide: Education, despair, and death. Annual Review of Economics, 14(1), 1–21.
- Chan, D. C., Gentzkow, M., & Yu, C. (2022). Selection with variation in diagnostic skill: Evidence from radiologists. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *137*(2), 729–783.
- Children's Bureau. (2020). The AFCARS report: Preliminary fy 2019 estimates as of June 23, 2020 No. 27.
- Chyn, E., Frandsen, B., & Leslie, E. (2023). Examiner and judge designs in economics: A practitioner's guide. *Unpublished Manuscript*.
- Chyn, E., & Katz, L. F. (2021). Neighborhoods matter: Assessing the evidence for place effects. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *35*(4), 197–222.
- Cohen, J. A., & Mannarino, A. P. (2019). Trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy for childhood traumatic separation. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *92*, 179–195.
- Collinson, R., Humphries, J. E., Mader, N. S., Reed, D. K., Tannenbaum, D. I., & van Dijk, W. (2022). Eviction and poverty in american cities. *NBER Working Paper Series, No. 30382.*
- Dahl, G. B., Kostøl, A. R., & Mogstad, M. (2014). Family welfare cultures. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *129*(4), 1711–1752.
- Deutsch, S. A., & Fortin, K. (2015). Physical health problems and barriers to optimal health care among children in foster care. *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*, 45(10), 286–291.

- Dobbie, W., Goldin, J., & Yang, C. S. (2018). The effects of pre-trial detention on conviction, future crime, and employment: Evidence from randomly assigned judges. *American Economic Review*, *108*(2), 201–240.
- Dobbie, W., Goldsmith-Pinkham, P., & Yang, C. S. (2017). Consumer bankruptcy and financial health. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 99(5), 853–869.
- Dobbie, W., Grönqvist, H., Niknami, S., Palme, M., & Priks, M. (2018). The intergenerational effects of parental incarceration. *NBER Working Paper Series, No. 24186.*
- Dobbie, W., & Song, J. (2015). Debt relief and debtor outcomes: Measuring the effects of consumer bankruptcy protection. *American Economic Review*, 105(3), 1272–1311.
- Doyle, J. J. (2007). Child protection and child outcomes: Measuring the effects of foster care. *American Economic Review*, *97*(5), 1583–610.
- Doyle, J. J. (2008). Child protection and adult crime: Using investigator assignment to estimate causal effects of foster care. *Journal of Political Economy*, *116*(4), 746–770.
- Doyle, J. J. (2013). Causal effects of foster care: An instrumental-variables approach. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 35(7), 1143–1151.
- Drange, N., Hernæs, Ø., Raaum, O., & Markussen, S. (2022). The effect of foster care placement on development throughout childhood and beyond – evidence from Norway. *Working Paper*.
- Dube, S. R., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Chapman, D. P., Williamson, D. F., & Giles, W. H. (2001). Childhood abuse, household dysfunction, and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span. *JAMA*, *286*(24), 3089.
- Dustmann, C., & Fasani, F. (2016). The effect of local area crime on mental health. *The Economic Journal, 126*(593), 978–1017.
- Dworsky, A., Ahrens, K., & Courtney, M. (2013). Health insurance coverage and use of family planning services among current and former foster youth: Implications of the health care reform law. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law, 38*(2), 421–439.
- Eren, O., & Mocan, N. (2019). Juvenile punishment, high school graduation and adult crime: Evidence from idiosyncratic judge harshness. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 1–46.
- Evans, R., White, J., Turley, R., Slater, T., Morgan, H., Strange, H., & Scourfield, J. (2017). Comparison of suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and suicide in children and young people in care and non-care populations: Systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *82*, 122–129.
- Fadlon, I., & Nielsen, T. H. (2019). Family health behaviors. American Economic Review, 109(9), 3162–3191.

- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., Koss, M. P., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *14*(4), 245–258.
- Fontanella, C. A., Gupta, L., Hiance-Steelesmith, D. L., & Valentine, S. (2015). Continuity of care for youth in foster care with serious emotional disturbances. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 50, 38–43.
- FRA. (2015). Mapping child protection systems in the EU.
- Frandsen, B., Lefgren, L., & Leslie, E. (2023). Judging judge fixed effects. *American Economic Review*, *113*(1), 253–77.
- French, E., & Song, J. (2014). The effect of disability insurance receipt on labor supply. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, *6*(2), 291–337.
- Fruehwirth, J. C., Iyer, S., & Zhang, A. (2019). Religion and depression in adolescence. *Journal of Political Economy*, 127(3), 1178–1209.
- Gilbert, N. (2012). A comparative study of child welfare systems: Abstract orientations and concrete results. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 34(3), 532–536.
- Gilbert, N., Parton, N., & Skivenes, M. (2011). *Child protection systems: International trends and orientations.*
- Goldsmith, D. F., Oppenheim, D., & Wanlass, J. (2004). Separation and reunification: Using attachment theory and research to inform decisions affecting the placements of children in foster care. *Juvenile and Family Court Journal*, 55(2), 1–13.
- Gram Cavalca, P., Ejrnæs, M., & Gørtz, M. (2022). Before and after out-of-home placement: Child health, education and crime. *CEBI Working Paper Series*, 22/22.
- Grimon, M.-P. (2020). Effects of the child protection system on parents. *Working Paper*.
- Gross, M., & Baron, E. J. (2022). Temporary stays and persistent gains: The causal effects of foster care. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 14(2), 170–199.
- Helénsdotter, R. (2023). Treated together: Spillovers among youths admitted to residential treatment. *Working Paper*.
- Hellman, S. (2019). Utredning av HVB-mord avslutad.
- Hjalmarsson, R., & Lindquist, M. J. (2022). The health effects of prison. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 14(4), 234–70.
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., Jones, L., & Dunne, M. P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health*, 2(8).

- Imbens, G. W., & Angrist, J. D. (1994). Identification and estimation of local average treatment effects. *Econometrica*, *62*(2), 467–475.
- Järkstig, L. (2016). Pojke våldtogs på familjehem.
- Jelleyman, T., & Spencer, N. (2008). Residential mobility in childhood and health outcomes: A systematic review. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *62*(7), 584.
- Kalmakis, K. A., & Chandler, G. E. (2015). Health consequences of adverse childhood experiences: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 27(8), 457–465.
- Kaltner, M., & Rissel, K. (2011). Health of Australian children in out-of-home care: Needs and carer recognition. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 47(3), 122–126.
- Kiessling, L., & Norris, J. (2023). The long-run effects of peers on mental health. *The Economic Journal*, *133*(649), 281–322.
- Kling, J. R. (2006). Incarceration length, employment, and earnings. *American Economic Review*, *96*(3), 863–876.
- Lindquist, M. J., & Santavirta, T. (2014). Does placing children in foster care increase their adult criminality? *Labour Economics*, *31*, 72–83.
- Lovato, K., Lopez, C., Karimli, L., & Abrams, L. S. (2018). The impact of deportationrelated family separations on the well-being of Latinx children and youth: A review of the literature. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *95*, 109– 116.
- Maestas, N., Mullen, K. J., & Strand, A. (2013). Does disability insurance receipt discourage work? Using examiner assignment to estimate causal effects of SSDI receipt. *American Economic Review*, *103*(5), 1797–1829.
- Mazzone, A., Nocentini, A., & Menesini, E. (2018). Bullying and peer violence among children and adolescents in residential care settings: A review of the literature. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *38*, 101–112.
- McFeeters, D., Boyda, D., & O'Neill, S. (2015). Patterns of stressful life events: Distinguishing suicide ideators from suicide attempters. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *175*, 192–198.
- McLaughlin, K. A., & Lambert, H. K. (2017). Child trauma exposure and psychopathology: Mechanisms of risk and resilience. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *14*, 29–34.
- Miller, S., Johnson, N., & Wherry, L. R. (2021). Medicaid and mortality: New evidence from linked survey and administrative data. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 136(3), 1783–1829.
- Mogstad, M., Torgovitsky, A., & Walters, C. R. (2021). The causal interpretation of two-stage least squares with multiple instrumental variables. *American Economic Review*, 111(11), 3663–98.
- NBHW. (2013). Vård och omsorg om placerade barn: Öppna jämförelser och utvärdering [No. 2013-3-7].

- NBHW. (2020). Statistik om socialtjänstinsatser till barn och unga 2019 [No. 2020-8-6871].
- NBHW. (2023). Statistikdatabas för dödsorsaker.
- Nikolaou, D. (2017). Does cyberbullying impact youth suicidal behaviors? *Journal* of Health Economics, 56, 30–46.
- Norris, S., Pecenco, M., & Weaver, J. (2021). The effects of parental and sibling incarceration: Evidence from Ohio. *American Economic Review*, *111*(9), 2926–2963.
- Norris, S., Pecenco, M., & Weaver, J. (2022). The effect of incarceration on mortality. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 1–45.
- Olea, J. L. M., & Pflueger, C. (2013). A robust test for weak instruments. *Journal* of Business & Economic Statistics, 31(3), 358-369.
- Oreopoulos, P., Page, M., & Huff Stevens, A. (2008). The intergenerational effects of worker displacement. *Journal of Labor Economics*, *26*(3), 455–483.
- Palmer, M., Marton, J., Yelowitz, A., & Talbert, J. (2017). Medicaid managed care and the health care utilization of foster children. *INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, 54.*
- Persson, P., & Rossin-Slater, M. (2018). Family ruptures, stress, and the mental health of the next generation. *American Economic Review*, *108*(4-5), 1214–52.
- Petruccelli, K., Davis, J., & Berman, T. (2019). Adverse childhood experiences and associated health outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *97*, 104127.
- Powell, D., Pacula, R. L., & Jacobson, M. (2018). Do medical marijuana laws reduce addictions and deaths related to pain killers? *Journal of Health Economics*, 58, 29–42.
- Randsalu, L. S., & Laurell, L. (2018). Children in out-of-home care are at high risk of somatic, dental and mental ill health. *Acta Paediatrica*, 107(2), 301–306.
- Roberts, K. V. (2018). Fostering better educational outcomes in youth. *Working Paper.*
- Robila, M. (2014). Handbook of family policies across the globe. Springer.
- Rouland, B., & Vaithianathan, R. (2018). Cumulative prevalence of maltreatment among New Zealand children, 1998–2015. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(4), 511–513.
- Sariaslan, A., Kääriälä, A., Pitkänen, J., Remes, H., Aaltonen, M., Hiilamo, H., Martikainen, P., & Fazel, S. (2022). Long-term health and social outcomes in children and adolescents placed in out-of-home care. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *176*(1).
- Segal, L., Armfield, J. M., Gnanamanickam, E. S., Preen, D. B., Brown, D. S., Doidge, J., & Nguyen, H. (2021). Child maltreatment and mortality in young adults. *Pediatrics*, 147(1).

- Sigstad, H. (2023). Monotonicity among judges: Evidence from judicial panels and consequences for judge IV designs. *Working Paper*.
- Sørensen, T. T., Rod, N. H., Nguyen, T.-L., & Bengtsson, J. (2023). Out-of-home care placement and mortality rate in early adulthood: Identifying vulnerable subgroups in a nationwide cohort study. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 38(2), 189–197.
- SOU. (2011:9). Barnen som samhället svek: Åtgärder med anledning av övergrepp och allvarliga försummelser i samhällsvården.
- SOU. (2015:71). Barns och ungas rätt vid tvångsvård. Förslag till ny LVU.
- SOU. (1998:31). Det gäller livet: Stöd och vård till barn och ungdomar med psykiska problem.
- SOU. (2000:77). Omhändertagen samhällets ansvar för utsatta barn och unga.
- Stahl, S. M., Moutier, C. Y., & Pisani, A. R. (2021). *Suicide prevention*. Cambridge University Press.
- Statistics Sweden. (2019). Folkmängden den 1 november efter region, ålder och kön.
- Supreme Administrative Court. (2010). Ref. 24, case number 146-09 [Document No. 86559].
- Swedish Government. (1989). Proposition om vård i vissa fall av barn och ungdomar: (1989/90:28).
- Swedish Government. (2002). Stärkt skydd för barn i utsatta situationer m.m.: (2002/03:53).
- The Ombudsman for Children. (2010). I.m sorry röster från särskilda ungdomshem.
- The Ombudsman for Children. (2011). Bakom fasaden barn och ungdomar i den sociala barnavården berättar.
- The Ombudsman for Children. (2019). Vem bryr sig när samhället blir förälder.
- The Prosecutor-General of Sweden. (2006). *Riksåklagarens riktlinjer för handläggning av ungdomsärenden* [RåR 2006:3].
- Turecki, G., & Brent, D. A. (2016). Suicide and suicidal behaviour. *The Lancet*, *387*(10024), 1227–1239.
- Ubbesen, M.-B., Gilbert, R., & Thoburn, J. (2015). Cumulative incidence of entry into out-of-home care: Changes over time in Denmark and England. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 42, 63–71.
- UNICEF Innocenti. (2020). *Worlds of influence: Understanding what shapes child well-being in rich countries.* UNICEF Office of Research Innocenti.
- U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division. (2020). Annual estimates of the resident population for selected age groups by sex for the United States: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2019.
- Van Heeringen, K., & Mann, J. J. (2014). The neurobiology of suicide. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *1*(1), 63–72.
- Vinnerljung, B., & Hjern, A. (2018). Health and health care for children in outof-home care. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, *27*(4), 321–324.

- Warburton, W. P., Warburton, R. N., Sweetman, A., & Hertzman, C. (2014). The impact of placing adolescent males into foster care on education, income assistance, and convictions. *The Canadian Journal of Economics*, 47(1), 35–69.
- Whittaker, J. K., Holmes, L., Fernandez del Valle, J. C., & James, S. (2022). *Revitalizing residential care for children and youth: Cross-national trends and challenges.* Oxford University Press.
- World Health Organization. (2020). Global health estimates 2020: Deaths by cause, age, sex, by country and by region, 2000-2019.
- World Health Organization Mortality Database. (2022). Trends in cause-specific mortality by country(s) or area(s) for a selected age group and sex.
- Yi, Y., Edwards, F. R., & Wildeman, C. (2020). Cumulative prevalence of confirmed maltreatment and foster care placement for US children by race/ethnicity, 2011-2016. *American Journal of Public Health*, *110*(5), 704–709.

1.A Descriptive Statistics



Figure A1. Share of Removed Children Still in Out-of-Home Care

Note: This figure shows the share of children (by age at judgment) still in out-of-home care for any number of days during month t post-judgment in the 'All Ages Sample' conditional on the child (i) being removed from home and (ii) existing in the placement data on any day in the judgment month ± 1 month. This is a selective sample since the placement data is known to suffer from underreporting.

Appendix Tables and Figures





Note: The left-hand subfigure gives the distribution of across-municipality moves while the right-hand subfigure gives the distribution of placement switches by month 6 following the court's judgment. I use the subsample of children in the 'All Ages Sample' who are removed. In the left-hand subfigure, I further restrict the sample to children who are observable in the placement data on any day in the judgment month ± 1 month.

Table A1. Placement Statistics in the US and Sweden

	USA	Swee	den
	(1)	(2)	(3)
		Involuntary	Voluntar
Panel A. Age Composition of Out-of-Hor	ne Placed Ch	ildren	
$\overline{0-3 \text{ years}}$	30%	10%	4%
4 – 6 years	16%	12%	5%
7 – 9 years	14%	14%	6%
10 – 12 years	13%	16%	8%
13 – 14 years	9%	12%	9%
15 – 17 years	16%	27%	29%
18 – 20 years	3%	9%	38%
Panel B. Children in Out-of-Home Care	ber 1,000		
$\overline{0-3}$ years	8,2	1,4	1,4
4 – 6 years	5,8	2,1	2,0
7 – 9 years	4,7	2,4	2,5
10 – 12 years	4,3	2,7	3,3
13 – 14 years	4,4	3,1	5,4
15 – 17 years	5,3	4,8	12,2
18 – 20 years	1,0	1,6	16,0
Total	4,9	2,5	5,8
Panel C. Placement Composition			
Foster Family Home	79%	59%	58%
Group Home	4%	21%	23%
Institution	6%	11%	0%
Other	11%	9%	19%
Panel D. Living Situation After Care Ter	mination		
Adopted by foster parents		0%	0%
Both parents		9%	10%
Foster parents given custody		7%	2%
Father		4%	4%
Involuntary care		11%	5%
Mother		13%	16%
Other		16%	27%
Own home		2%	18%
Unknown		13%	7%
Voluntary care		24%	11%

Note: This table reports placement statistics based on the children in out-of-home care on September 30, 2019, in the US (column 1) or on November 1, 2019, in Sweden (columns 2-3). Column 2 is restricted to court-ordered and emergency placements while column 3 is restricted to voluntary placements. Panel A gives the age composition, Panel B gives the number of children in out-of-home care per 1,000, and Panel C gives the most recent placement composition. Panel D reports the composition of living arrangements for children whose care ended in 2019 in Sweden. Based on statistics reported by Children's Bureau (2020) and NBHW (2020).

Figure A3. Distribution of Months Between 18th Birthday and Death



Time of Death Relative to 18th Birthday

Note: This figure depicts the distribution of months between the month of the child's 18th birthday and the month of death. The subsample of children who die from any cause by the year they turn 19 is used. Deaths that occur within the period 30 months before and 20 months after the month of the child's 18th birthday are grouped into bins that represent 3 months. The month of the child's birthday is included in the 0-2 month bin labeled '1'.

Table A2. Case & Placement Characterist	ics
---	-----

	All Ages Sample	Year 19 Sample	≥11 y.o. Sample
<u>A: Case Characteristics</u>			
Months from case intake to judgment	1.67	1.60	1.58
The SWC removed the child immediately	0.78	0.80	0.80
The court rejects the immediate removal decison	0.01	0.00	0.00
Observations	19136	10200	11205
B: Placement Characteristics			
Months in out-of-home care	25.17	25.16	21.50
First placement type:			
Foster care	0.42	0.32	0.26
Group home (private)	0.21	0.24	0.27
Group home (public)	0.06	0.06	0.06
Institutional care	0.23	0.30	0.35
Kinship care	0.04	0.03	0.02
Other facility	0.04	0.04	0.03
Ever placed in by month 6:			
Congregate care	0.50	0.68	0.70
Institutional care	0.28	0.44	0.46
Kinship care	0.05	0.04	0.03
Observations	15307	8469	9296

Note: This table presents case and placement characteristics in the 'All Ages Sample', 'Year 19 Sample', and ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample'. Placement characteristics (Panel B) are shown for the first placement spell or during the first 6 months after court-ordered removal conditional on the child (i) being removed from home and (ii) existing in the placement data on any day in the judgment month \pm 1 month.

Ta	able A	A3. Descri	ptive Sta	tistics for	r All,	Removea	l and Cor	npliers				
		All Ag	es Sample			Year	19 Sample			\geq 11 y.	o. Sample	
			Not				Not				Not	
	All	Removed	Removed	Complier	All	Removed	Removed	Complier	All	Removed	Removed	Complier
Girl	0.47	0.46	0.49	0.53	0.46	0.46	0.49	0.45	0.46	0.46	0.50	0.47
<11 yrs	0.41	0.40	0.55	0.47	0.09	0.08	0.16	0.16				
11-15 yrs	0.32	0.33	0.28	0.32	0.48	0.48	0.49	0.52	0.55	0.55	0.63	09.0
>15 yrs	0.26	0.27	0.17	0.21	0.43	0.44	0.34	0.35	0.45	0.45	0.37	0.39
Sibling case	0.33	0.31	0.44	0.28	0.17	0.16	0.30	0.19	0.15	0.14	0.27	0.15
Foreign background	0.38	0.39	0.32	0.36	0.42	0.42	0.38	0.32	0.42	0.43	0.39	0.33
Behavior petition	0.28	0.30	0.14	0.13	0.44	0.46	0.27	0.20	0.47	0.49	0.31	0.24
Environment petition	0.62	0.60	0.79	0.77	0.39	0.36	0.59	0.61	0.35	0.33	0.55	0.52
Double grounds petition	0.10	0.11	0.07	0.09	0.17	0.18	0.14	0.17	0.17	0.18	0.14	0.16
Child consents to removal	0.65	0.69	0.35	0.58	0.44	0.46	0.22	0.38	0.48	0.50	0.22	0.42
At least 1 parent consents to removal	0.36	0.38	0.17	0.12	0.52	0.54	0.24	0.07	0.48	0.51	0.22	0.06
Case largely based on child mental health	0.04	0.04	0.07	0.08	0.06	0.06	0.12	0.14	0.07	0.06	0.16	0.15
Non-junior case type	0.17	0.16	0.20	0.15	0.09	0.09	0.11	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.11	0.09
Any birth parent:												
Dead	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.07	0.06	0.06	0.07	0.08
<18 y.o. at birth of child	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.06	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.07	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.05
Married, yr t-1	0.45	0.46	0.42	0.45	0.49	0.49	0.49	0.46	0.49	0.49	0.48	0.49
No labor income, yr t-1	0.63	0.62	0.68	0.61	0.56	0.56	0.61	0.67	0.55	0.54	09.0	0.66
Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.11	0.06	0.06	0.05	0.10	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.05
Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.07	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.05
Any crime, yr t-1	0.16	0.17	0.15	0.25	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.04	0.11	0.10	0.11	0.00
Observations	19136	16910	2226	19136	10200	9187	1013	10200	11205	10197	1008	11205
Note: This table presents descriptive statisti To characterize the subpopulation of compl Dobbie, Goldin, and Yang (2018), and Baroi	ics on c liers w n and (thild and pa ithin each e Gross (2022	rrent chara estimation (). First, I i	icteristics f sample, I a dentify the	or all c adopt t e least	hildren, re he proced and most	emoved chi ure employ stringent j	ldren, and red in, e.g. udges (1st	complie , Dahl el and 99	ers within e t al. (2014), th percenti	each analy Bhuller ei iles). I the	sis sample. al. (2020), r calculate
the overall proportion of compliers in each	estime	tion sampl	e as the di	fference in	the fir	st-stage c	oefficient b	etween ch	uildren a	ssigned th	e most str	ngent and
least stringent judges. I then follow the sam	le proc	edure to co	mpute the	share of c	omplie	rs within	each chara	cteristic su	ubgroup	. Then, by	dividing tl	ie share of
compuers in each subgroup by une total sna I multiply the original probability of an obs	are oi c servatio	ompuers, i on belongir	can retrie 1g to a cha	ve une reia iracteristic	subgro	cennoou o oup with t	t a compute the comput	ed relative	ig io a c ilikeliho	naracteris oods.	uc subgrou	ıp. rmany,

1.B Attrition

When studying mortality, I treat children as attrited if they emigrate from Sweden during the specified period (e.g., months 0-24) and do not return by the end of the latest available year (2022). In practice, there are no other meaningful sources of attrition than emigration. Even if a person changes their name or goes missing, they would most likely be identified if they die in Sweden. When an unknown person dies in Sweden, the National Board of Forensic Medicine (NBFM) investigates their identity. Since Sweden has free dental care for residents up until the year they turn 24 and well-documented dental care, most unknown individuals are identified using dental X-rays. During the last 4 years, the identity could not be confirmed in only about 10 cases.

When studying hospitalization and crime during the months following the court's judgment, I treat children as attrited if they die or ever emigrate from Sweden during the specified period (e.g., months 1-12). In contact with the health care and judicial systems, the individual must provide their personal identity number and support their identity (e.g., using a physical or digital identification card). All individuals in my analysis samples have accurate personal identity numbers. Even if a person obtains protected identity status or changes their personal identity number, all hospitalizations and legal proceedings in Sweden would be linked to their person if they identified themselves.⁶⁸ It is possible that hospitalizations and legal proceedings are not accurately registered if the person refuses to identify themselves or uses someone else's identity. However, there are strong motives against failing to identify oneself. First, it is a crime to use someone else's identity and health care personnel can report suspected illegal identity use to the police. In addition, Swedish residents pay nothing or a small fee for health care, but if health care professionals cannot verify the patient's identity or suspect illegal identity use, they can require that the patient pays for the care in full.

Sample		Year 19	All Ages	≥11 y.o.	≥11 y.o.	≥15 y.o.
Dependent mean	0.0603	0.0031	0.0025	0.0014	0.0059	0.0069
Ν	20471	10200	19136	11205	11205	7074
Note: Column 1 regresses an indicator for mi	ssing personal	identity num	ber on judge	e removal ten	idency using ol	servations with non-missing remo-
tendency in court-by-year cells containing more	than 1 judge.	In columns 2-	-6, I regress a	n indicator fo	or missing infor	mation on child death, hospitalizati
or crime within the sample specified at the bott	om of the table	. Sample attri	ition can occi	ur because of	emigration or	(in columns 5-6) death. All regressic
include court-by-year FEs. Standard errors are c	lustered at the	case level. $* p$	< .1. * p <	.05. *** p <	.01.	

rs u

Attrition	
of Selective	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Test	
B1.	Ì
Table	

Crime Months 1-12

(5) Hospitalization Months 1-12

> Death by Month 24

Death by Month 24

Death by Year 19

Number

9

Missing Information on...

(4)

3

(2)

(1) No Personal Identity -0.0098 (0.0174)

-0.0063 (0.0120)

 -0.0134^{*} (0.0070)

0.0013 (0.0072)

-0.0075 (0.0111)

0.0346(0.0335)

Judge removal tendency

⁶⁸If a person cannot provide a conventional form of identification such as a driver's license, the identity can be supported by, for example, providing a transcript from the Swedish Tax Authorities.
Table B2. Descriptive Statistics Ex	cluding Attriters
-------------------------------------	-------------------

	Year 19	Mon	th 24	Mont	th 12
				Hospital-	
	Mortality	Mortality	Mortality	ization	Crime
A: Child & Parent Characteristics					
Removed	0.90	0.88	0.91	0.91	0.92
Girl	0.46	0.47	0.46	0.46	0.42
Age at judgment	14.50	10.75	15.05	15.04	16.31
Sibling case	0.17	0.32	0.15	0.15	0.06
Foreign background	0.42	0.38	0.42	0.42	0.42
Behavior petition	0.44	0.28	0.47	0.47	0.64
Environment petition	0.38	0.62	0.35	0.35	0.20
Double grounds petition	0.17	0.10	0.17	0.17	0.17
Child consents to removal	0.44	0.65	0.48	0.48	0.28
>1 parent consents to removal	0.52	0.36	0.48	0.49	0.57
Case based on child mental health	0.06	0.04	0.07	0.07	0.05
Non-junior case type	0.09	0.17	0.08	0.08	0.09
Committed (vrs $t-1$ to $t-3$):					
Crime against person	0.12	0.09	0.13	0.13	0.20
Narcotic crime	0.11	0.10	0.14	0.14	0.22
Other crime	0.14	0.11	0.16	0.16	0.25
Hospitalized (vrs t-1 to t-3) due to:					
Mental health	0.08	0.06	0.09	0.09	0.12
Substance use	0.06	0.05	0.07	0.07	0.10
Missing vrs t-1 to t-3	0.11	0.24	0.11	0.11	0.11
Any hirth parent:	0111	0.21	0111	0111	0111
Dead	0.06	0.05	0.06	0.06	0.06
< 18 v.o. at birth of child	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02
Married, vr t-1	0.49	0.45	0.49	0.49	0.50
No labor income, vr t-1	0.56	0.63	0.55	0.55	0.50
Hosp. d.t. mental health. vr t-1	0.05	0.07	0.05	0.05	0.04
Hosp dt substance use vr t-1	0.04	0.05	0.04	0.04	0.03
Any crime, yr t-1	0.11	0.17	0.11	0.11	0.09
Missing Xs. yr t-1	0.28	0.24	0.28	0.27	0.28
	0.20		0120	0.27	
B: Judge Characteristics	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Judge removal tendency	0.88	0.89	0.89	0.89	0.88
Junior judge	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02
Female Judge	0.47	0.50	0.49	0.49	0.48
Judge age	52.65	52.56	52.50	52.50	52.53
Sample	Year 19	All Ages	\geq 11 y.o.	≥11 y.o.	≥15 y.o.
Unique judges	249	249	249	249	249
Unique cases	9412	15332	10532	10487	6947
Unique children	9560	17992	10544	10498	6723
Unique birth parents	15283	24803	17013	16955	11504
Observations	10168	19089	11189	11139	7025

Note: This table presents descriptive statistics on child, parent, and judge characteristics for each analysis sample used to study mortality (see Section 1.3.3) but excluding children who attrited by the year the child turns 19 or by month 24 following the court's judgment. I also present descriptive statistics for children who never attrited during the 1-12 months after the court's judgment in the ' \geq 11 y.o.' and ' \geq 15 y.o.' samples. Statistics are shown for observations with non-missing information. 60

Table B3	. Effect of R	emoval on	Child Morta	lity Incl. Attı	riters		
	Death b	y Year Child	Turns 19	Death by N	Aonth 24 Post	t-Judgment	
	(1) All-Cause	(2) Suicide	(3) Overdose	(4) All-Cause	(5) Suicide	(6) Overdose	
OLS (No Controls)							
Removed	-0.0029	-0.0046^{***}	-0.0011	-0.0018	-0.0003	0.0014	
	(0.0028)	(0.0017)	(0.0015)	(0.0013)	(0.0014)	(0.0012)	
OLS (With Full Set of Controls)							
Removed	-0.0055	-0.0065**	-0.0018	-0.0030	-0.0019	0.0011^{**}	
	(0.0037)	(0.0031)	(0.0023)	(0.0019)	(0.0017)	(0.0005)	
OLS (Complier Reweighted)							
Removed	-0.0071	-0.0072^{*}	-0.0033	-0.0019	-0.0009	0.0010^{*}	
	(0.0044)	(0.0038)	(0.0032)	(0.0016)	(0.0010)	(0.0005)	
RF (Only Court-by-Year FEs)							
Judge removal tendency	0.0350^{***}	0.0184^{**}	0.0161^{*}	0.0096	0.0150^{***}	-0.0067	
	(0.0133)	(0.0078)	(0.0086)	(0.0065)	(0.0054)	(0.0058)	
IV (Only Court-by-Year FEs)							
Removed	0.0791^{**}	0.0417^{**}	0.0364^{*}	0.0227	0.0387^{**}	-0.0173	
	(0.0324)	(0.0189)	(0.0202)	(0.0156)	(0.0150)	(0.0151)	
IV (With Full Set of Controls)							
Removed	0.0791^{**}	0.0404^{**}	0.0366^{*}	0.0221	0.0387^{**}	-0.0184	
	(0.0328)	(0.0190)	(0.0204)	(0.0158)	(0.0152)	(0.0155)	
Sample	Year 19	Year 19	Year 19	All Ages	≥11 y.o.	≥11 y.o.	
AR <i>p</i> -value	0.0098	0.0241	0.0635	0.1510	0.0060	0.2268	
AR confidence set (95%)	[.021,.151]	[.007,.082]	[001,.081]	[007,.055]	[.012, 073]	[051,.012]	
Dependent mean	0.0073	0.0027	0.0020	0.0033	0.0017	0.0012	
Complier mean if not removed	0.0156	0.0023	0.0083	0.0006	0.0000	0.0000	
Ν	10200	10200	10200	19136	11205	11205	
reproduces Table 1.4 while includi	ng attriters.	lo provide a e	conservative n	neasure, non-re	emoved attrit	ers are assume	d to ŀ

Note: This table reproduces Table 1.4 while including attriters. To provide a conservative measure, non-removed attriters are assumed to have the worst outcomes (e.g., suicide) while removed attriters have the best outcomes. AR *p*-values and confidence sets are for *IV* (*Only Court-by-Year FEs*). Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

1.C Tests of Assumptions

Table C1.	Tests o	f Random	Assignmen	t of Other	• Judge (Characteristics
		/	(1	,		

	Female Judge	Judge Age	Non-Junior Judge
F-statistic	1.05	1.28	1.05
<i>p</i> -value	0.40	0.16	0.39
Ν	19136	19136	19136

Note: Test of random assignment of judge gender, age, and junior position using the 'All Ages Sample'. All estimations include the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 1.1 and courtby-year FEs. Reported *F*-statistic of joint significance is for the child and parent characteristics only. Standard errors are clustered at the case level.

Table C2. Tests of Random Assignment: Sample DecisionsAll Ages Sample ≥ 11 y.o. SampleYear 19 SampleA: BaselineF-statistic0.500.550.58p-value0.980.970.95N191361120510200

	0.00	0100	0100
<i>p</i> -value	0.98	0.97	0.95
Ν	19136	11205	10200
B: Sample Wit	h National Covera	age	
F-statistic	0.73	0.73	0.77
<i>p</i> -value	0.83	0.84	0.78
N	17373	9996	8723
C: Excluding N	Ion-Junior Cases		
F-statistic	0.48	0.52	0.64
<i>p</i> -value	0.99	0.97	0.91
N	15971	10289	9299
D: First-Time (Cases		
F-statistic	0.56	0.61	0.67
<i>p</i> -value	0.96	0.93	0.89
N	17752	10209	9408
E: Cases Deter	mined \geq 24 Month	ns Before Covid-19	
F-statistic	0.57	0.76	0.72
<i>p</i> -value	0.96	0.80	0.85
N	15358	9095	9074
F: Cases in Con	urt*Year Cells Wit	th \geq 10 obs	
F-statistic	0.50	0.56	0.60
<i>p</i> -value	0.98	0.96	0.94
N	19094	11122	10141
G: Same Samp	le as in Table 4		
F-statistic	0.52	0.56	0.56
<i>p</i> -value	0.98	0.96	0.96
N	19089	11189	10168
H: Non-Junior	Judges		
F-statistic	0.45	0.54	0.65
<i>p</i> -value	0.99	0.97	0.91
Ň	18490	10818	9832
I: Each Judge I	Handles \geq 30 Case	25	
F-statistic	0.44	0.52	0.57
<i>p</i> -value	0.99	0.98	0.96
N	18369	10745	9825
J: Excluding Ju	udges With Top or	· Bottom 1% Residua	lized Tendency
<i>F</i> -statistic	0.65	0.76	0.86
<i>p</i> -value	0.91	0.80	0.66
N	18746	10986	9976

Note: In these randomization tests, I limit the baseline samples to years with universal coverage (Panel B), cases that are randomly assigned to any judge within the judge pool irrespective of the judge's seniority (Panel C), the first case for each child (Panel D), cases decided \geq 24 months before February 2020 (Panel E), cases in court-by-year cells with at least 10 observations (Panel F), the samples (excluding attriters) used in Table 1.4 (Panel G), cases processed by non-junior judges (Panel H), judges who handle at least 30 cases during the sample period (Panel I) and judges whose residualized (using court-by-year FEs) removal tendency is between the 1st and 99th percentiles of the distribution (Panel J). All estimations include the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 1.1 and court-by-year FEs. Reported *F*-statistic of joint significance is for the child and parent characteristics only. Standard errors are clustered at the case level.

Table C3. Tests of Random Assignment: Specification and Instrument Decisions

	All Ages Sample	\geq 11 y.o. Sample	Year 19 Sample
A: Three-Wa	ıy Cluster at Case, C	hild, and Judge Leve	el
<i>F</i> -statistic	0.64	0.65	0.75
<i>p</i> -value	0.90	0.90	0.81
Ν	19136	11205	10200
B: Court-by-	-Year FEs Replaced V	Vith Department-by-	-Year FEs
<i>F</i> -statistic	0.64	0.72	0.62
<i>p</i> -value	0.91	0.84	0.93
Ν	19111	11173	10174
C: Add Day	-of-Week and Social	Welfare Committee	FEs
F-statistic	0.48	0.50	0.51
<i>p</i> -value	0.99	0.98	0.98
Ν	19127	11191	10188
D: Three-Yea	ar Specific Judge Ren	noval Tendency	
F-statistic	0.79	0.75	0.96
<i>p</i> -value	0.76	0.81	0.53
Ν	12834	7455	6524
E: Leave-Ou	t Same-Family Judg	e Removal Tendency	,
F-statistic	0.49	0.54	0.58
<i>p</i> -value	0.98	0.97	0.95
Ν	19136	11205	10200
F: Judge Rer	noval Tendency Excl	. Return Children	
F-statistic	0.50	0.66	0.67
<i>p</i> -value	0.98	0.90	0.89
N	17752	10209	9408
G: Judge Re	moval Tendency Exc	l. Cases Handled as	Junior
<i>F</i> -statistic	0.47	0.54	0.63
<i>p</i> -value	0.99	0.97	0.92
N	18637	10913	9946
H: Judge Re	moval Tendency Exc	l. Non-Junior Cases	
F-statistic	0.57	0.61	0.65
<i>p</i> -value	0.95	0.93	0.91
Ν	15971	10289	9299
I: Indicator j	for Judge Removal T	endency Above Mea	n
F-statistic	0.87	0.73	0.73
<i>p</i> -value	0.65	0.83	0.83
N	19136	11205	10200
J: Judge Rer	noval Tendency Calo	culated Following Do	obbie et al. (2018)
F-statistic	0.50	0.55	0.58
<i>p</i> -value	0.98	0.97	0.95
Ν	19136	11205	10200

Note: Panel A clusters the standard errors on the case, judge, and child level. Panel B replaces court-by-year FEs with department-by-year FEs. Panel C adds FEs for judgment day of the week and SWC. Panel D redefines the instrument as the judge's removal rate among cases handed down in the same 3-year period. Panels E-H redefine the instrument as the judge's removal rate excluding cases involving the same child or parent as in the focal case; children who have been part of a case before; cases handled while the judge held a junior position; and non-junior cases. Panel I replaces the instrument with an indicator for above-mean removal tendency. In Panel J, judge removal tendency is calculated by first residualizing removal using court-by-year FEs (see Dobbie, Goldin, and Yang, 2018). All estimations include child and parent characteristics (Table 1.1) and court-by-year FEs. Reported F-statistic of joint significance is for the child and parent characteristics. Standard errors are clustered at the case level.

	All Ages	Sample	Year 19 S	Sample	>11 y.o.	Sample
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
A. D. 1:						
<u>A: Baseline</u>	0 400 7***	0.0550	0 4 4 0 0 * * *	0.0(00	0 0007***	0.0550
Judge removal tendency	0.4237	0.0550	0.4422	0.0609	0.3887	0.0552
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	60.57		53.46		49.70	
	19136		10200		11205	
B: Sample With National C	overage			0.0/50	0 0 0 0 5 ***	0.0505
Judge removal tendency	0.4563	0.0576	0.4525***	0.0650	0.3907***	0.0585
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	63.86		48.59		44.77	
N	17373		8723		9996	
C: Excluding Non-Junior C	cases					
Judge removal tendency	0.4322***	0.0566	0.4642***	0.0633	0.3974***	0.0565
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	59.52		54.60		49.63	
Ν	15971		9299		10289	
<u>D: First-Time Cases</u>						
Judge removal tendency	0.4105***	0.0570	0.4433***	0.0634	0.3952***	0.0576
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	52.96		49.60		47.13	
N	17752		9408		10209	
<i>E:</i> Cases Determined ≥ 24 <i>l</i>	Months Befor	e Covid-19)			
Judge removal tendency	0.4215***	0.0597	0.4691***	0.0652	0.4245***	0.0615
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	51.33		52.66		47.81	
Ν	15358		9074		9095	
F: Cases in Court*Year Cell	ls With ≥ 10	obs				
Judge removal tendency	0.4242***	0.0550	0.4470***	0.0609	0.3865***	0.0553
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	60.63		54.59		48.96	
Ν	19094		10141		11122	
G: Same Sample as in Tabl	e 4					
Judge removal tendency	0.4277***	0.0550	0.4466***	0.0611	0.3900***	0.0553
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	60.57		53.46		49.70	
Ν	19089		10168		11189	
H: Non-Junior Judges						
Judge removal tendency	0.4150***	0.0571	0.4214***	0.0636	0.3713***	0.0576
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	53.86		44.65		41.65	
Ν	18490		9832		10818	
I: Each Judge Handles >30) Cases					
Iudge removal tendency	0.4327***	0.0584	0.4435***	0.0638	0.3863***	0.0586
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	56.16		48.99		43.55	
N	18369		9825		10745	
7: Excluding Judges With	Top or Botton	1 1% Resid	ualized Tend	encv		
Judge removal tendency	0.4041***	0.0593	0.4047***	0.0644	0.3798***	0.0580
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	47.52	5.0575	40.27	5.0011	43.06	5.0500
N	18746		9976		10986	

Table C4. Additional First-Stage Estimates: Sample Decisions

Note: I limit the baseline samples to years with universal coverage (Panel B), cases that are randomly assigned to any judge within the judge pool irrespective of seniority (Panel C), the first case for each child (Panel D), cases decided ≥24 months before February 2020 (Panel E), cases in court-by-year cells with at least 10 observations (Panel F), the samples (excluding attriters) used in Table 1.4 (Panel G), cases processed by non-junior judges (Panel H), judges who handle at least 30 cases during the sample period (Panel I), and judges whose residualized (using court-by-year FEs) removal tendency is between the 1st and 99th percentiles of the distribution (Panel J). All estimations include court-by-year FEs. I report Olea and Pflueger (2013)'s effective F-statistic. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table C5. Additional First-Stage Estimates: Specification and Instrument Decisions

	All Ages	Sample	Year 19 S	Sample	≥11 y.o.	Sample
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
A: Three-Way Cluster	at Case, Chi	ld, and Ju	dge Level			
Instrument	0.4237***	0.0719	0.4422***	0.0721	0.3887***	0.0583
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	60.61		53.50		49.32	
Ν	19136		10200		11205	
B: Court-by-Year FEs	Replaced Wi	th Departn	nent-by-Year	· FEs		
Instrument	0.3648***	0.0577	0.3702***	0.0638	0.3313***	0.0583
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	40.77		34.29		32.28	
Ν	19111		10174		11173	
C: Add Day-of-Week	and Social W	Velfare Con	nmittee FEs			
Instrument	0.4286***	0.0540	0.4445***	0.0607	0.3844***	0.0547
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	64.18		54.21		49.32	
Ν	19127		10188		11191	
D: Three-Year Judge R	emoval Tend	lency				
Instrument	0.2697***	0.0631	0.2416***	0.0737	0.2846***	0.0664
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	19.00		10.70		18.42	
Ν	12834		6524		7455	
E: Leave-Out Same-Fa	imily Judge	Removal T	endency			
Instrument	0.4160***	0.0550	0.4408***	0.0609	0.3882***	0.0553
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	58.27		53.12		49.51	
Ν	19136		10200		11205	
F: Judge Removal Ten	dency Excl. I	Return Chi	ldren			
Instrument	0.3727***	0.0534	0.4002***	0.0589	0.3581***	0.0536
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	49.71		46.83		44.76	
Ν	17752		9408		10209	
G: Judge Removal Ten	idency Excl.	Cases Han	dled as Juni	or		
Instrument	0.3993***	0.0559	0.4115***	0.0635	0.3625***	0.0574
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	52.17		42.68		39.97	
Ν	18637		9946		10913	
H: Judge Removal Ten	idency Excl.	Non-Junio	or Cases			
Instrument	0.4140***	0.0543	0.4358***	0.0601	0.3789***	0.0540
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	59.22		53.18		49.26	
Ν	15971		9299		10289	
I: Indicator for Judge	Removal Ten	dency Abo	ove Mean			
Instrument	0.0408***	0.0070	0.0428***	0.0079	0.0370***	0.0070
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	34.26		30.22		27.88	
Ν	19136		10200		11205	
J: Judge Removal Ten	dency Calcu	lated Follo	wing Dobbie	et al. (201	8)	
Instrument	0.4237***	0.0550	0.4422***	0.0609	0.3886***	0.0552
Effective <i>F</i> -statistic	60.55		53.45		49.66	
N	10107		10200		11005	

Note: Panel A clusters the standard errors on the case, judge, and child level. Panel B replaces court-by-year FEs with department-by-year FEs. Panel C adds FEs for judgment day of the week and SWC. Panel D redefines the instrument as the judge's removal rate among cases handed down in the same 3-year period. Panels E-H redefine the instrument as the judge's removal rate excluding cases involving the same child or parent as in the focal case; children who have been part of a case before; cases handled while the judge held a junior position; and non-junior cases. Panel I replaces the instrument with an indicator for above-mean removal tendency. In Panel J, judge removal tendency is calculated by first residualizing removal using court-by-year FEs (see Dobbie, Goldin, and Yang, 2018). All estimations include court-by-year FEs. I report Olea and Pflueger (2013)'s effective *F*-statistic. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

66

Table C6. Frandsen et al. (2023)'s Test

	5 knots	10 knots	15 knots	20 knots
A: Death by Ye	ear Child T	urns 19		
Test statistic	70	66	61	57
nest statistic	[1 000]	[1 000]	[1 000]	[1 000]
p-value	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]
B: Death by Ye	ar Child Ti	urns 19 (Suic	cide)	
Test statistic	26	24	22	22
<i>p</i> -value	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]
C: Death by Ye	ear Child Ta	urns 19 (Ove	rdose)	
Test statistic	18	18	18	17
<i>p</i> -value	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]
		[1000]	[1000]	[1000]
D: Death by M	onth 24	57	50	(1
rest statistic	01	57	53	00
<i>p</i> -value	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]
<u>E: Death by</u> M	onth 24 (Su	uicide)		
Test statistic	19	19	47	21
<i>p</i> -value	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]
F. Death by M	onth 24 (Or	verdose)	[]	[]
Test statistic	14	14	14	12
	[1 000]	14 [1 000]	14 [1 000]	13
<i>p</i> -value	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]
G: Hosp. d.t. N	lental Illne	ss, Months 1	-12	
Test statistic	284	214	176	155
<i>p</i> -value	[0.009]	[0.689]	[0.987]	[0.999]
H: Non-Narcot	ic Crime. N	Aonths 1-12		
Test statistic	381	248	252	230
p-value	[0,000]	[0 138]	[0.067]	[0.234]
	[0.000]		[0.007]	[0.254]
1: Crime Again	ist Person, I	vionths 1-12		
Test statistic	326	234	184	194
<i>p</i> -value	[0.000]	[0.321]	[0.964]	[0.846]
- F: Hosp. d.t. Sı	ıbstance Us	e. Months 1-	-12	
Test statistic	373	298	253	158
n voluo	[0 000]	[0.001]	[0.061]	[0 000]
<i>p</i> -value	[0.000]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.999]
K: Narcotic Cr	ime, Month	ns 1-12		
Test statistic	305	221	203	150
<i>p</i> -value	[0.001]	[0.569]	[0.789]	[1.000]
d.f.	230	225	220	215

Note: Application of Frandsen et al. (2023)'s test of random assignment, exclusion restriction, and strong monotonicity using the 'Year 19 Sample' (Panels A-C), the 'All Ages Sample' (Panel D), and the ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample' (Panels E-K). In Panels H-I and K, I further limit the sample to children who had reached the age of criminal responsibility by the judgment date. Each panel gives the test statistic and *p*-value associated with a separate test. The outcome is indicated in the panel heading. The number of knots used in the spline function is indicated at the top of the table, while degrees of freedom are shown at the bottom. Failure to reject the null hypothesis implies that I cannot reject the null that random assignment, exclusion restriction, and strong monotonicity jointly hold.

Table C7. Test of Implications of the Exclusion Restriction

	(1) Judge Removal	(2) Judge Removal
	Tendency	Tendency
Months from case intake to judgment	0.0004	
	(0.0007)	
The SWC removed the child immediately	0.0015	
	(0.0014)	
The court rejects the immediate removal decison	-0.0030	
	(0.0088)	
First placement type:		
Foster care		-0.0052
		(0.0057)
Group home		-0.0034
		(0.0057)
Institutional care		-0.0046
		(0.0058)
Kinship care		-0.0079
		(0.0070)
Missing first placement type		-0.0022
		(0.0057)
Months in out-of-home care		0.0000
		(0.0000)
Missing service length		-0.0004
		(0.0014)
No. of placement switches by month 6		0.0004
		(0.0004)
No. of across-municipality moves by month 6		-0.0021
		(0.0017)
No. of within-country moves by month 6		0.0002
		(0.0014)
<i>F</i> -statistic	0.53	0.87
<i>p</i> -value	0.66	0.56
_ Dependent mean	0.89	0.89
N	18909	15285

Note: Column 1 reports the results from a regression of judge removal tendency on the number of months from case intake to the judgment is announced, an indicator for the SWC placing the child in emergency care before the court hearing, and an indicator for the court rejecting the decision to place the child in emergency care before the court hearing. Column 1 uses the 'All Ages Sample' (see Section 1.3.3) excluding observations with missing case processing time (N=227). Column 2 reports the results from a regression of judge removal tendency on the characteristics of the first placement spell. The omitted placement type is "Other facility". Column 2 uses the 'All Ages Sample' but restricted to children who are (i) removed and (ii) observable in the placement data on any day in the judgment month ± 1 month. All regressions include court-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table C8. First-Stage Estimates of Removal on Judge Removal Tendency in Subsamples

Behavior Environment 0-10 years 11-15 years 16-20 $A: Main Measure of Judge Removal Tendency 0.0580) 0.0799) 0.4728*** 0.4238*** 0.338 Judge removal tendency 0.0580) (0.0799) (0.0765) (0.0781) (0.0 Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.9 N 5312 11865 7913 6206 50 B: Reverse-Sample Judge Removal Tendency 0.107** 0.3667*** 0.3574*** 0.240 Judge removal tendency 0.0440) (0.0905) (0.1034) (0.0689) (0.05 B: Reverse-Sample Judge Removal Tendency 0.0905) (0.1034) (0.0689) (0.05 Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.50 $					
A: Main Measure of Judge Removal Tendency 0.5172^{***} 0.4728^{***} 0.4238^{***} 0.335 Judge removal tendency 0.0580 0.0799 0.0956 0.0781 0.035 Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.979 0.0785 0.090 0.0956 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0356 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.02312 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0251 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.0781 0.090 0.051 0.090 0.091	s 11-15 years 16-20 years	Native Background	Background	Girl	Boy
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					
Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.95 0.90 0.91 Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.9 Effective F-statistic 12.50 42.74 25.06 29.50 $23.$ N 5312 11865 7913 6206 50 B: Reverse-Sample Judge Removal Tendency 0.3667^{***} 0.5803^{***} 0.3574^{***} 0.246 Judge removal tendency 0.0005 (0.1034) (0.0689) (0.076) Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.66 Teffective F-statistic 6.44 16.67 31.74 26.94 17	* 0.4238*** 0.3386*** (0.0781) (0.0703)	0.4568*** (0.0720)	0.3871 ^{***} (0.0811)	0.4733*** (0.0737)	0.3954*** (0.0660)
Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.90 0.0 Effective F-statistic 12.50 42.74 25.06 29.50 $23.$ N 5312 11865 7913 6206 50 B: Reverse-Sample Judge Removal Tendency 11865 7913 6206 50 Judge removal tendency 0.1107^{**} 0.3667^{***} 0.5803^{***} 0.3574^{***} 0.246 Dependent mean 0.94 0.0005 (0.1034) (0.0689) (0.0168) Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.56	(6616:0) (1616:0)	(07/0)	(1100.0)	(10100)	(0000.0)
Effective F-statistic 12.50 42.74 25.06 29.50 23. N 5312 11865 7913 6206 50 B: Reverse-Sample Judge Removal Tendency 11865 7913 6206 50 Judge removal tendency 0.107** 0.3667*** 0.5803*** 0.3574*** 0.240 Dudge removal tendency 0.00905 (0.1034) (0.0689) (0.0905) Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.560 Fffective F-statistic 6.44 16.67 31.74 26.94 17	0.90 0.92	0.87	06.0	0.88	0.89
N 5312 11865 7913 6206 50 B: Reverse-Sample Judge Removal Tendency 0.3667*** 0.5803*** 0.3574*** 0.240 Judge removal tendency 0.1107** 0.3667*** 0.5803*** 0.3574*** 0.240 Dudge removal tendency 0.1007* 0.3667*** 0.5803*** 0.3574*** 0.240 Dudge removal tendency 0.107** 0.3667*** 0.5803*** 0.3574*** 0.240 Dudge removal tendency 0.10740 (0.0905) (0.1034) (0.0689) (0.0905) Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.50 Effective F-statistic 6.44 16.67 31.74 26.94 17	29.50 23.30	40.78	23.79	42.30	36.27
B: Reverse-Sample Judge Removal Tendency 0.3667*** 0.5803*** 0.3574*** 0.240 Judge removal tendency 0.1107** 0.3667*** 0.5803*** 0.3574*** 0.240 Dopendent mean 0.0440) (0.0905) (0.1034) (0.0689) (0.0 Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.50 Fffective F-statistic 6.44 16.67 31.74 26.94 17	6206 5006	11800	7332	8931	10203
Judge removal tendency 0.1107** 0.3667*** 0.5803*** 0.3574*** 0.246 (0.0440) (0.0905) (0.1034) (0.0689) (0.05 Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.5 Fffective F-statistic 6.44 16.67 31.74 26.94 17					
(0.0440) (0.0905) (0.1034) (0.0689) (0.02 Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.90 0.9 Effective F-statistic 6.44 16.67 31.74 26.94 17	* 0.3574*** 0.2406***	0.2887^{***}	0.3627^{***}	0.3672^{***}	0.2601^{***}
Dependent mean 0.94 0.85 0.90 0.5 Effective F-statistic 6.44 16.67 31.74 26.94 17.	(0.0689) (0.0577)	(0.0532)	(0.0683)	(0.0660)	(0.0500)
Effective F-statistic 6.44 16.67 31.74 26.94 17.	0.90 0.92	0.87	0.90	0.88	0.89
	26.94 17.44	29.46	29.78	31.56	27.19
N 5312 11865 7913 6206 50	6206 5006	11800	7332	8931	10203

69

1.D Results

Figure D1. Child Mortality vs Judge Removal Tendency

.02 .02 (Year 19 Sample) Suicide (Year 19 Sample) .015 .015 .01 .01 .005 All-Cause .005 0 .7 .75 .85 .95 .7 .75 .85 .95 .8 .9 .8 .9 Judge Removal Tendency Judge Removal Tendency Panel B. Death by Month 24 Post-Judgment .01 .0 (All Ages Sample) Suicide (≥11 y.o. Sample) .0075 .0075 .005 .005 All-Cause .0025 .0025 0 .75 .8 .85 .9 Judge Removal Tendency .75 .95 .95 .7 .7

Panel A. Death by Year Child Turns 19

Note: Each solid black line shows a Kernel-weighted local polynomial regression of the mortality outcome (as indicated on the y-axis) on judge removal tendency and the dashed lines show 90% confidence bands. The black squares indicate mean mortality among cases assigned judges with removal tendencies that fall within the same bin (8 bins of equal size). The solid gray lines show Kernel-weighted local polynomial regressions of predicted mortality (using the background characteristics listed in Table 1.1) on judge removal tendency. The sample used is indicated on the y-axis title (see Section 1.3.3 for details). Child outcomes and judge removal tendency are residualized using court-by-year FEs and mean-standardized. Settings: triangle Kernel, degree 0, and bandwidth 0.10.

	Deatl	n by Year	Child Turn	ıs 19	Death	by Month	n 24 Post-Juo	lgment
	All-C	ause	Suic	ide	All-0	Cause	Suici	de
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
A: Baseline								
Removed	0.0719**	0.0312	0.0350**	0.0173	0.0154	0.0131	0.0383**	0.0150
Observations	10168		10168		19089		11189	
B: Sample With	National	Coverage						
Removed	0.0824**	0.0343	0.0364^{*}	0.0190	0.0168	0.0130	0.0444***	0.0165
Observations	8698		8698		17328		9982	
C: Cases Handle	ed by Non-	Junior Ju	dges					
Removed	0.0842**	0.0350	0.0375*	0.0192	0.0166	0.0142	0.0405**	0.0167
Observations	9800		9800		18444		10802	
D: Excluding N	on-Junior (Cases						
Removed	0.0607**	0.0304	0.0353**	0.0179	0.0122	0.0146	0.0413**	0.0162
Observations	9269		9269		15937		10274	
E: First-Time Co	ases							
Removed	0.0753**	0.0322	0.0354**	0.0175	0.0124	0.0128	0.0382**	0.0160
Observations	9377		9377		17707		10194	
F: Cases Determ	nined ≥ 24 .	Months B	efore Covid	-19				
Removed	0.0584*	0.0301	0.0271*	0.0162	0.0184	0.0141	0.0315**	0.0141
Observations	9044		9044		15322		9082	
G: Cases in Cou	rt*Year Ce	lls With \geq	≥10 obs					
Removed	0.0724**	0.0309	0.0347**	0.0171	0.0154	0.0131	0.0387**	0.0152
Observations	10109		10109		19047		11106	
H: Each Judge I	Handles ≥ 3	30 Cases						
Removed	0.0733**	0.0327	0.0361*	0.0185	0.0185	0.0138	0.0400**	0.0165
Observations	9793		9793		18323		10729	
I: Excluding Jud	lges With (Top or Bot	tom 1% Res	idualized	Tendency	,		
Removed	0.0816**	0.0390	0.0368*	0.0208	0.0175	0.0157	0.0377**	0.0157
Observations	9944		9944		18699		10970	
J: Three-Way C	luster at Co	ase, Child	, and Judge	Level				
Removed	0.0719**	0.0307	0.0350*	0.0186	0.0154	0.0131	0.0383**	0.0150
Observations	10168		10168		19089		11189	
K: Court-by-Yea	ır FEs Repl	aced With	n Departme	nt-by-Yea	r FEs			
Removed	0.0821**	0.0408	0.0433*	0.0237	0.0251	0.0177	0.0469**	0.0220
Observations	10142		10142		19064		11157	
L: Add Day-of-	Week and S	Social Wel	fare Comm	ittee FEs				
Removed	0.0747**	0.0317	0.0372**	0.0167	0.0145	0.0134	0.0375**	0.0152
Observations	10156		10156		19080		11175	

Note: Panels B-I limit the baseline analysis samples to years with universal coverage (Panel B), cases handled by non-junior judges (Panel C), cases that are randomly assigned to any judge within the judge pool irrespective of the judge's seniority (Panel D), the first case for each child (Panel E), cases decided \geq 24 months before February 2020 (Panel F), cases in court-by-year cells with at least 10 observations (Panel G), and cases handled by a judge who handles at least 30 cases during the sample period (Panel H). Panel I excludes cases handled by judges whose residualized (using court-by-year FEs) removal tendency is in the top or bottom 1% of the distribution. Panel J clusters the standard errors on the case, judge, and child level. Panel K replaces court-by-year FEs with department-by-year FEs. Panel L adds FEs for judgment day of the week and SWC. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table D1. Robustness Checks of Effects on Child Mortality I

	Table D2.	Robustness	Checks o	f Effects on	Child Mortality II
--	-----------	------------	----------	--------------	--------------------

	Death	h by Year	Child Turn	s 19	Death l	oy Month	24 Post-Ju	lgment
	All-Ca	ause	Suic	ide	All-C	Cause	Suic	ide
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
A: Three-Year Sp	ecific Judg	e Remova	l Tendency					
Removed	0.1797**	0.0755	0.0500	0.0321	0.0412^{*}	0.0211	0.0423**	0.0211
Observations	6505		6505		12805		7446	
B: Leave-Out Sa	me-Family	Judge Re	moval Tend	lency				
Removed	0.0721**	0.0313	0.0350**	0.0173	0.0155	0.0133	0.0384**	0.0150
Observations	10168		10168		19089		11189	
C: Judge Remov	al Tendenc	y Excl. Re	turn Childr	en				
Removed	0.0643*	0.0343	0.0297	0.0193	0.0150	0.0153	0.0395**	0.0166
Observations	9377		9377		17707		10194	
D: Judge Remov	al Tendenc	y Excl. Ca	ses Handle	d as Junio	r			
Removed	0.0774**	0.0349	0.0348*	0.0192	0.0112	0.0149	0.0392**	0.0167
Observations	9914		9914		18591		10897	
E: Judge Remove	al Tendenc	y Excl. No	n-Junior Co	ases				
Removed	0.0607**	0.0304	0.0404**	0.0167	0.0116	0.0137	0.0347**	0.0148
Observations	9269		9269		15937		10274	
F: Indicator for j	Judge Remo	oval Tende	ency Above	Mean				
Removed	0.0914**	0.0455	0.0576**	0.0267	0.0118	0.0191	0.0488**	0.0212
Observations	10168		10168		19089		11189	
G: Judge Remov	al Tendenc	y Calcula	ted Followir	ıg Dobbie	et al. (201	8)		
Removed	0.0718**	0.0312	0.0348**	0.0172	0.0153	0.0131	0.0383**	0.0150
Observations	10168		10168		19089		11189	
H: Full Set of Ju	dge Fixed E	Effects						
Removed	0.0381***	0.0125	0.0157**	0.0069	0.0061	0.0057	0.0132**	0.0054
Observations	10168		10168		19089		11189	
I: Estimated Usin	ng Jackkni	fe Instrum	ental Varia	ble Estim	ation			
Removed	0.0839***	0.0265	0.0352**	0.0143	0.0099	0.0088	0.0285**	0.0113
Observations	10168		10168		19089		11189	
J: Estimated Usi	ng Limited	-Informat	ion Maxim	um Likeli	hood			
Removed	0.0719**	0.0312	0.0350**	0.0173	0.0154	0.0131	0.0383**	0.0150
Observations	10168		10168		19089		11189	

Note: Panel A defines the instrument as the judge's mean removal rate among cases handed down during the same 3-year period. Panels B-D redefine the instrument as the judge's mean removal rate excluding cases involving the same child or parent as in the focal case (Panel B); children who have been part of a case before (Panel C); cases handled while the judge held a junior position (Panel D); and non-junior cases (Panel E). Panel F replaces the instrument with an indicator for above-mean removal tendency. In Panel G, judge removal tendency is calculated by first residualizing the removal decision using court-by-year FEs (see Dobbie, Goldin, and Yang, 2018). Panel H uses a full set of judge dummies as instruments. Panel I uses jackknife instrumental variable estimation, after residualizing the outcome, removal, and the judge dummies using court-by-year FEs. Panel J uses limited-information maximum likelihood. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

	Not 3	Substance Use-Re	lated	Substance Use	e-Related	Severity o	of Crime
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)
	Hosp. d.t. Mental Health	Non-Narcotic Crime	Crime Against Person	Hosp. d.t. Substance Use	Narcotic Crime	Non-Minor	Minor
DLS (No Controls)							
temoved	0.0001	0.0343^{**}	0.0146	0.0157^{***}	0.0058	0.0308^{*}	-0.0085
	(0.0081)	(0.0164)	(0.0132)	(0.0052)	(0.0149)	(0.0176)	(0.0137)
DLS (With Full Set of Controls)							
temoved	-0.0062	-0.0040	-0.0067	0.0017	-0.0456***	-0.0249	-0.0364***
	(0.0079)	(0.0166)	(0.0135)	(0.0059)	(0.0147)	(0.0172)	(0.0141)
)LS (Complier Reweighted)							
temoved	-0.0034	0.0088^{*}	0.0039	-0.0011	-0.0327**	-0.0027	-0.0308^{**}
	(0.0083)	(0.0052)	(0.0175)	(0.0147)	(0.0144)	(0.0178)	(0.0139)
F (Only Court-by-Year FEs)							
udge removal tendency	0.0822^{**}	0.1853^{**}	0.1233^{*}	0.0202	-0.0412	0.0920	0.0144
	(0.0367)	(0.0814)	(0.0640)	(0.0306)	(0.0729)	(0.0874)	(0.0643)
V (Only Court-by-Year FEs)							
emoved	0.2086^{**}	0.5276^{**}	0.3509^{*}	0.0514	-0.1173	0.2619	0.0410
	(0.0980)	(0.2488)	(0.1919)	(0.0777)	(0.2082)	(0.2536)	(0.1831)
V (With Full Set of Controls)							
emoved	0.1769^{*}	0.5584^{**}	0.3831^{**}	0.0350	-0.1041	0.3028	0.0509
	(0.0961)	(0.2513)	(0.1938)	(0.0782)	(0.2001)	(0.2475)	(0.1856)
ample	≥11 y.o.	≥15 y.o.	\geq 15 y.o.	\geq 11 y.o.	\geq 15 y.o.	≥15 y.o.	≥15 y.o.
.R <i>p</i> -value	0.0553	0.0151	0.0344	0.6541	0.6039	0.2040	0.7833
R confidence set (95%)	[002, .386]	[.111, 1.165]	[.038,.836]	[117,.193]	[524,.3]	[158,.861]	[324,.44]
ependent mean	0.0630	0.1967	0.1136	0.0382	0.1389	0.2286	0.1029
complier mean if not removed	0.0353	0.1803	0.0522	0.0556	0.1853	0.2600	0.1481
	11139	7025	7025	11139	7025	7025	7025

		De	ath By Month	24	Hospitalizatic	on, Months 1-12	In Yea	ır t+1
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4) $Mental$	(5) Substance	(9)	(7)
		All-Cause	Suicide	Overdose	Health	Use	Married	Income
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	OLS (No Controls)							
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Removed	-0.0017	0.0005	-0.0012	0.0086	0.0038	0.0171	-0.0325^{**}
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		(0.0043)	(0.0012)	(0.0018)	(0.0075)	(0.0071)	(0.0149)	(0.0140)
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	OLS (With Full Set of Controls)							
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Removed	-0.0011	0.0003	-0.0011	0.0197^{**}	0.0119^{*}	-0.0144	0.0262^{**}
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		(0.0041)	(0.0013)	(0.0018)	(0.0078)	(0.0068)	(0.0119)	(0.0126)
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	OLS (Complier Reweighted)							
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Removed	-0.0034	-0.0004	-0.0011	0.0194^{**}	0.0116	-0.0149	0.0416^{***}
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		(0.0044)	(0.0014)	(0.0018)	(0.0085)	(0.0075)	(0.0127)	(0.0135)
	RF (Only Court-by-Year FEs)							
	Judge removal tendency	-0.0393	0.0044	0.0001	-0.0396	-0.0021	-0.0642	-0.0024
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		(0.0260)	(0.0075)	(0.0057)	(0.0396)	(0.0346)	(0.0802)	(0.0767)
	IV (Only Court-by-Year FEs)							
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Removed	-0.0890	0.0101	0.0003	-0.0903	-0.0047	-0.1493	-0.0055
$ \begin{array}{l lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		(0.0602)	(0.0169)	(0.0128)	(0.0913)	(0.0789)	(0.1886)	(0.1751)
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	IV (With Full Set of Controls)							
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Removed	-0.0877	0.0115	-0.0008	-0.0775	-0.0145	-0.1313	0.0243
SampleSample0.38070.84510.35680.8658AR p -value0.13550.49810.94810.38070.84510.35680.8658AR confidence set (95%) $[213,.024]$ $[027,.024]$ $[258,.096]$ $[164,.129]$ $[421,.147]$ $[255,.315]$ AR confidence set (95%) $[213,.024]$ $[027,.024]$ $[258,.096]$ $[164,.129]$ $[421,.147]$ $[255,.315]$ Dependent mean 0.0169 0.0027 0.0026 0.0693 0.0613 0.4003 0.6171 Complier mean if not removed 0.0514 0.0005 0.0034 0.0387 0.0772 0.3590 0.7089 N185571855718557184291840818387		(0.0598)	(0.0170)	(0.0129)	(0.0892)	(0.0742)	(0.1437)	(0.1440)
AR p -value 0.1355 0.4981 0.9481 0.3807 0.8451 0.3568 0.8658 AR confidence set (95%) [-213,024] [-022,046] [-027,024] [255,.096] [164,.129] [421,.147] [255,.315] Dependent mean 0.0169 0.0027 0.0026 0.0693 0.0613 0.4003 0.6171 Complier mean if not removed 0.0514 0.0005 0.0034 0.0387 0.0772 0.3590 0.7089 N 18557 18557 18557 18429 18429 18408 18387	Sample							
AR confidence set (95%) [213,.024] [022,.046] [027,.024] [258,.096] [164,.129] [421,.147] [255,.315] Dependent mean 0.0169 0.0027 0.0026 0.0693 0.0613 0.4003 0.6171 Complier mean if not removed 0.0514 0.0005 0.0034 0.0387 0.0772 0.3590 0.7089 N 18557 18557 18557 18429 18429 18429 18387	AR <i>p</i> -value	0.1355	0.4981	0.9481	0.3807	0.8451	0.3568	0.8658
Dependent mean 0.0169 0.0027 0.0026 0.0693 0.4003 0.6171 Complier mean if not removed 0.0514 0.0005 0.0034 0.0387 0.0772 0.3590 0.7089 N 18557 18557 18557 18429 18429 18098 18387	AR confidence set (95%)	[213,.024]	[022,.046]	[027,.024]	[258,.096]	[164,.129]	[421,.147]	[255, .315]
Complier mean if not removed 0.0514 0.0005 0.0034 0.0387 0.0772 0.3590 0.7089 N 18557 18557 18557 18429 18098 18387	Dependent mean	0.0169	0.0027	0.0026	0.0693	0.0613	0.4003	0.6171
N 18557 18557 18557 18429 18429 18098 18387	Complier mean if not removed	0.0514	0.0005	0.0034	0.0387	0.0772	0.3590	0.7089
	Z	18557	18557	18557	18429	18429	18098	18387

Table D4. Effect of Removal on Parent Outcomes I

Note: The 'All Ages Sample' is used (see Section 1.3.3). I also condition on having data on any birth parent. All estimations except *OLS* (*No Controls*) include court-by-year FEs. *OLS* (*With Full Set of Controls*), *OLS* (*Complier Reweighted*), and *IV* (*With Full Set of Controls*) also control for the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 1.1. Reported AR *p*-values and confidence sets are for *IV* (*Only Court-by-Year FEs*). Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .05. *** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Т

1

Table D	5. Effect of Rev	noval on Pa	trent Outcon	tes II	
	Crim	e, Months 1-1	[2	Severity .	of Crime
	(1)	(2) Against	(3)	(4)	(5)
	Non-Narcotic	Persons	Narcotic	Non-Minor	Minor
OLS (No Controls)					
Removed	-0.0166^{*}	-0.0058	0.0023	-0.0021	-0.0012
	(0.0092)	(0.0062)	(0.0064)	(0.009)	(0.0069)
OLS (With Full Set of Controls)					
Removed	-0.0011	0.0029	0.0072	0.0144	0.0067
	(0.0091)	(0.0064)	(0.0064)	(0.0099)	(0.0073)
OLS (Complier Reweighted)					
Removed	0.0027	0.0060	0.0074	0.0170	0.0089
	(0.0101)	(0.0068)	(0.0071)	(0.0110)	(0.0082)
RF (Only Court-by-Year FEs)					
Judge removal tendency	0.0750^{*}	0.0585^{**}	-0.0273	0.0458	0.0060
	(0.0433)	(0.0289)	(0.0350)	(0.0508)	(0.0366)
IV (Only Court-by-Year FEs)					
Removed	0.1708^{*}	0.1333^{*}	-0.0622	0.1043	0.0136
	(0.1013)	(0.0681)	(0.0802)	(0.1166)	(0.0834)
IV (With Full Set of Controls)					
Removed	0.1636^{*}	0.1271^{*}	-0.0700	0.0998	0.0107
	(0.0952)	(0.0659)	(0.0758)	(0.1084)	(0.0809)
Sample					
AR p -value	0.0792	0.0478	0.3519	0.3548	0.8943
AR confidence set (95%)	[013,.363]	[.004,.265]	[223,.077]	[111,.319]	[153,.168]
Dependent mean	0.0966	0.0427	0.0604	0.1354	0.0620
Complier mean if not removed	0.0439	0.0231	0.0863	0.1236	0.0655
Z	18429	18429	18429	18429	18429

Note: The 'All Ages Sample' is used (see Section 1.3.3). I also condition on having data on any birth parent. All estimations except *OLS* (*No Controls*) include court-by-year FEs. *OLS* (*With Full Set of Controls*), *OLS* (*Complier Reweighted*), and *IV* (*With Full Set of Controls*) also control for the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 1.1. Reported AR *p*-values and confidence sets are for *IV* (*Only Court-by-Year FEs*). Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .05. *** p < .05.

T

Table D6. Predictors of Death Among Removed Children

	Death by Year Child Turns 19
Cial	0.0022*
GIII	-0.0035
	(0.0017)
A ment in law out	[9157]
Age at Judgment	0.0001
	(0.0003)
Sibling and	[9137]
Sibiling case	-0.0042
	[0157]
Foreign healtground	[9137]
roreign background	-0.0040
	(0.0017)
Deberierrettion	[9157]
benavior petition	0.0038
	(0.0018)
Further and a stition	[9157]
Environment petition	-0.0034
	(0.0017)
Child consents to removel	[9137]
child consents to removal	(0.0011)
	(0.0023)
At least 1 percent concents to removel	[3091]
At least 1 parent consents to removal	0.0042
	[5401]
Hosp (virget 1 to t 2) montal health	[3091]
riosp. (yrs t-1 to t-5), mental nearth	(0.0004)
	[8172]
Hoon (vrs. t. 1 to. t. 2) substance use	[01/2]
riosp. (yrs t-1 to t-3), substance use	(0.0075)
	[8172]
Ever institutional care by month 6	0.0032*
Ever institutional care by month o	(0.0032)
	[0138]
Ever congregate care by month 6	0.0022
Ever congregate care by month o	(0.0022)
	[8427]
Any across-municipality move by month 6	-0.0030*
my across-municipanty move by month o	-0.0030
	[0138]
More than 1 placement change by month 6	[] 130]
more than I placement change by month o	(0.0017)
	[8427]
	[0427]

Note: This table reports OLS estimates of separately regressing death by the year the child turns 19 on each of the listed variables. The base sample used is all removed children in the 'Year 19 Sample'. The sample size (displayed in brackets) varies by regression since I exclude observations with missing information on the regressor of interest. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

1.E Heterogeneity (including MTEs)

Table E1. Results by Placement Characteristics

	Pr(Inst	itution)	Pr(Insta	ability)	Pr(New M	unicipality
	Low	High	Low	High	Low	High
A: Death by Year C	hild Turns	19				
Removed	0.0407**	0.0850	0.0758***	0.0286	0.0787	0.0442^{*}
	(0.0202)	(0.0592)	(0.0293)	(0.0365)	(0.0529)	(0.0236)
Dependent mean	0.0049	0.0092	0.0071	0.0071	0.0083	0.0059
Ν	5081	5087	5083	5085	5087	5081
B: Death by Year C	hild Turns 1	9 (Suicide)				
Removed	0.0166	0.0668*	0.0270	0.0397*	0.0637**	0.0180
	(0.0120)	(0.0365)	(0.0172)	(0.0223)	(0.0314)	(0.0148)
Dependent mean	0.0018	0.0033	0.0026	0.0026	0.0028	0.0024
N	5081	5087	5083	5085	5087	5081
C: Death by Year C	hild Turns	19 (Overdose	?)			
Removed	0.0055	0.0284	0.0280*	-0.0053	0.0053	0.0170^{*}
	(0.0056)	(0.0339)	(0.0143)	(0.0183)	(0.0287)	(0.0096)
Dependent mean	0.0004	0.0031	0.0018	0.0018	0.0026	0.0010
N	5081	5087	5083	5085	5087	5081
D: Death by Month	24 Post-Jud	dgment				
Removed	0.0051	0.0186	0.0125	0.0099	0.0134	0.0045
	(0.0088)	(0.0219)	(0.0119)	(0.0184)	(0.0241)	(0.0087)
Dependent mean	0.0014	0.0049	0.0023	0.0040	0.0050	0.0013
N	9535	9554	9545	9544	9547	9542
E: Death by Month	24 Post-Jua	lgment (Suid	cide)			
Removed	0.0107	0.0808**	0.0398**	0.0279	0.0652**	0.0183
	(0.0073)	(0.0364)	(0.0162)	(0.0194)	(0.0297)	(0.0121)
Dependent mean	0.0005	0.0029	0.0016	0.0018	0.0021	0.0013
N	5605	5584	5594	5595	5595	5594

Note: This table presents IV estimates of removal on child mortality. The 'Year 19 Sample' is used in Panels A-C, the 'All Ages Sample' is used in Panel D, and the ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample' is used in Panel E (see Section 1.3.3). I limit the samples to the subgroup specified at the top of each column. High (low) probability of institutional placement is defined as an above (below) median risk of being placed in an institutional facility in the first six months following removal. High (low) probability of placement instability is defined as an above (below) median risk of having more than one placement switch in the first six months following removal. High (low) probability of moving to a new municipality is defined as an above (below) median risk of moving to a new municipality at least one time in the first six months following removal. Predictions are made using LASSO and full sets of court-by-year FEs, SWC FEs, and child and parent characteristics listed in Table 1.1. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

		,			,	,				
	Gei	ıder	Petition	grounds	Backg	round	Siblin	g Case	Age at Jı	udgment
	Girl	Boy	Behavior	Environ.	Foreign	Native	Yes	No	16-20 yrs	11-15 yrs
A: Hosp. d.t. Menta	l Health, M	onths 1-12								
Removed	0.2557	0.1214	0.4384	0.0577	0.2644	0.2158^{*}	-0.1756	0.2823^{**}	0.1867	0.1870^{*}
	(0.1638)	(0.1070)	(0.3348)	(0.0869)	(0.1774)	(0.1219)	(0.1586)	(0.1258)	(0.1972)	(0.1006)
Dependent mean	0.0950	0.0356	0.0776	0.0374	0.0505	0.0723	0.0160	0.0714	0.0789	0.0503
7	5148	5987	5271	3932	4715	6417	1690	9439	4957	6179
3: Non-Narcotic Cr.	ime, Month	s 1-12								
Removed	0.2729	0.7701^{**}	1.1983	0.0694	0.7694	0.3800	0.2312	0.5738^{*}	0.8641^{***}	-0.4420
	(0.3131)	(0.3724)	(0.8074)	(0.1665)	(0.5243)	(0.2899)	(0.7566)	(0.3109)	(0.3330)	(0.4301)
Dependent mean	0.1262	0.2487	0.2355	0.0702	0.1886	0.2031	0.0821	0.2041	0.2009	0.1871
7	2979	4037	4459	1368	2954	4062	402	6603	4957	2058
C: Crime Against P	erson, Mon	ths 1-12								
temoved	0.0793	0.5910^{*}	0.6392	0.2143^{*}	0.2458	0.3105	0.5522	0.3838	0.5857^{**}	-0.3133
	(0.2111)	(0.3039)	(0.5966)	(0.1130)	(0.3671)	(0.2242)	(0.8604)	(0.2400)	(0.2476)	(0.3520)
Dependent mean	0.0628	0.1511	0.1397	0.0270	0.1124	0.1147	0.0323	0.1187	0.1118	0.1181
7	2979	4037	4459	1368	2954	4062	402	6603	4957	2058
D: Hosp. d.t. Substa	nce Use, M	onths 1-12								
Removed	0.0990	0.0174	0.1443	-0.0007	-0.0282	0.0974	0.0497	0.0674	0.1816	-0.0361
	(0.1119)	(0.1074)	(0.2890)	(0.0369)	(0.1220)	(0.1032)	(0.0866)	(0.1008)	(0.1815)	(0.0624)
Dependent mean	0.0408	0.0361	0.0632	0.0084	0.0216	0.0505	0.0077	0.0438	0.0629	0.0184
7	5148	5987	5271	3932	4715	6417	1690	9439	4957	6179
3: Narcotic Crime,	Months 1-1.	0								
Removed	0.2190	-0.2428	-0.0997	0.0192	0.0424	-0.1653	-0.0896	-0.1644	0.0642	-0.4028
	(0.2190)	(0.3168)	(0.6168)	(0.0884)	(0.3834)	(0.2626)	(0.4592)	(0.2585)	(0.2632)	(0.3455)
Dependent mean	0.0611	0.1964	0.1859	0.0205	0.1117	0.1590	0.0199	0.1464	0.1580	0.0933
7	2979	4037	4459	1368	2954	4062	402	6603	4957	2058

and D (see Section 1.3.3). In e judgment. I also limit each clustered at the case level. * of the j are errors time (15) at the t . Standard e ninal responsibility (court-by-year FEs. 3 criminal for e age of ci control f reached the estimations o children who had 1 f each column. All e Note: This table presents IV estimates of remo Panels B-C and E, I further limit the sample to sample to the subgroup specified at the top of p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.



Figure E1. Common Support and MTEs Panel A. Common Support

8 10

Note: Panel A presents the propensity score distribution for removed and not removed children when using the 'Year 19 Sample' (distributions are very similar in the 'All Ages' and ' \geq 11 y.o.' samples). Dashed vertical lines show, after trimming 1% of the sample with common support, the top and bottom scores at which there is overlap in the distribution. Panels B-C present the MTEs (black line) attained by fitting a polynomial model of degree 2 using the local IV approach and the 'Year 19 Sample' (Panel B), the 'All Ages Sample' (Panel C, left), or the ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample' (Panel C, right). The shaded area shows 95% confidence intervals. Standard errors are generated from 300 bootstrap replications and clustered at the court-by-year level. The dashed line indicates the ATE, which is constructed as a weighted average of the MTEs.

	(1) Linear Specification	(2) Global Quadratic	(3) Global Cubic	(4) Global Quartic
A · Death	hy Vear Child Turns 10	~		~~~~
ATE	0.0720	0.0660	0.0680	0.0801
AIL	(0.0730	(0.0536)	(0.0501)	(0.0528)
ATT	(0.0491)	(0.0530)	(0.0391)	(0.0328)
	(0.0684)	(0.0763)	(0.0473	(0.0490)
	(0.0004)	(0.0703)	(0.0930)	(0.0722)
AIUI	0.0803	0.0659)	0.1070	(0.1340)
B. Death I	(0.0722) hy Vaar Child Turns 10 (Si	(0.0058)	(0.0976)	(0.1220)
	0.0580**	0.0581*	0.0594*	0.0422**
AIL	0.0389	0.0381	0.0384	0.0055
	(0.0298)	(0.0517)	(0.0318)	(0.0518)
ALI	0.0628*	0.0614	0.0604	0.0613
	(0.0350)	(0.0387)	(0.0408)	(0.0353)
ATUT	0.0301	0.0312	0.0358	0.0550
	(0.0264)	(0.0304)	(0.0386)	(0.0670)
C: Death	by Month 24			
ATE	0.0530^{*}	0.0560*	0.0553*	0.0519*
	(0.0293)	(0.0292)	(0.0289)	(0.0299)
ATT	0.0709	0.0782^{*}	0.0809*	0.0817
	(0.0436)	(0.0453)	(0.0453)	(0.0505)
ATUT	0.0046	0.0010	-0.0104	-0.0284
	(0.0403)	(0.0387)	(0.0530)	(0.0950)
D: Death	by Month 24 (Suicide)			
ATE	0.0557**	0.0514***	0.0524***	0.0477**
	(0.0232)	(0.0180)	(0.0200)	(0.0218)
ATT	0.0537**	0.0449*	0.0405	0.0368
	(0.0235)	(0.0229)	(0.0300)	(0.0272)
ATUT	0.0508*	0.0575*	0.0828	0.0521
	(0,0208)	(0, 0245)	(0, 100c)	(0,0828)

Table E3. Average Treatment Effects on Child Mortality (Based on MTEs)

Note: This table presents approximations of the ATE, ATT, and ATUT of being removed from home on child all-cause mortality and suicide. The estimates are constructed as weighted averages of the MTEs. The MTEs are estimated using the 'Year 19 Sample' (Panels A-B), the 'All Ages Sample' (Panel C), and the ' \geq 11 y.o. Sample' (Panel D). As I do not have full support, the treatment effect parameter weights are rescaled to sum to 1 over the region of common support. In columns 1-4, I adopt parametric specifications with 1-4 degrees. Trimming: 1%. Standard errors are based on 300 bootstrap replications and clustered at the court-by-year level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

1.F Comparison

The adverse effects that I find are in line with those reported in Doyle (2007, 2008, 2013) and Warburton et al. (2014), but contrast with the positive or null findings in Roberts (2018), Bald, Chyn, et al. (2022), Baron and Gross (2022), and Gross and Baron (2022). As discussed in Bald, Chyn, et al. (2022) and Gross and Baron (2022), there can be several reasons for the mixed findings. In this appendix, I add to these discussions.

All of the aforementioned studies are conducted in North America but not in the same state or time period. My study is conducted in a European county (Sweden) after 2000. Hence, my findings should be interpreted in light of the high health outcomes for children in Europe relative to the US (UNICEF Innocenti, 2020). In particular, children rarely die from abuse, overdoses, self-harm, or any other form of injury in Northern and Western Europe. Depending on the age group, the rates of general and injury-related deaths among children in the US are often twice as large as the rates in Northern and Western Europe (World Health Organization Mortality Database, 2022).

Europe and especially Scandinavia offer generous public services that promote care in the home environment. For example, Sweden offers a general child allowance, free school meals, lengthy parental leave, compensation for days caring for a sick child, as well as free or heavily subsidized child care, education, and (dental, physical, psychiatric) health care (Robila, 2014). Residents that fall ill, have a disability, or struggle financially receive economic benefits via Sweden's strong social security system. Families in need are offered even more extensive services, such as a support family that can care for the child part-time, help with housekeeping, parent training, and a variety of treatment programs. If needed, children can be provided free tutoring and tailored education. All in all, the care provided to children who are not removed might be particularly good in European countries.

Being placed in out-of-home care does not change the child's access to any social services, nor does Sweden give children in out-of-home care priority access to health care. Indeed, few European countries grant children in out-of-home care priority access to health care (Vinnerljung and Hjern, 2018).

In the US, on the other hand, out-of-home placement makes the child eligible for a host of possible services. The package of additional resources varies by state and over time. During the last decades, there have been a number of reforms that further strengthen the support to children in out-of-home care (Dworsky et al., 2013; Palmer et al., 2017). In Michigan, which is the setting studied in Baron and Gross (2022) and Gross and Baron (2022), children who enter out-of-home care are eligible for, for example, Head Start (an early childhood program), free school meals, Medicaid (a program providing health care coverage), and compensation for tuition, education, and training expenses. It is plausible that the estimates reported in the US studies capture - to a varying extent - the positive effects of access to services like Head Start. Since eligibility to support services stays constant in my setting, my estimates do not pick up such effects.

Another important difference between Sweden and the US is the placement composition. While a third of children in the US stay with a relative (Children's Bureau, 2020), only 5% of the children in the 'All Ages Sample' are placed in the home of a relative at some point in the first 6 months. In addition, the use of congregate care is common throughout Europe (Whittaker et al., 2022). In particular, congregate care is about three times as common in Sweden as in the US. A number of studies report that adverse outcomes are concentrated among children placed in non-kinship care and especially congregate care. For example, according to Anderson (2011), children in group homes are more than 7 times as likely to express suicidal thoughts as children in kinship care.

These differences in placement composition are related to differences in placement grounds. Almost half of the children in the 'Year 19 Sample' are taken into care because of their own behavior, which is rare in the US. On the other hand, I still find significant adverse effects on mortality among children removed solely because of deficiencies in the home environment.

Other reasons to expect variation in results between study settings is the rate of placement (Baron and Gross, 2022). However, during this paper's time frame (early 2000s to late 2010s), Sweden's rate of out-of-home care (voluntary and involuntary) is actually lower than the rates observed in several other Western countries (Gilbert, 2012). As noted in Section 1.2.2, Sweden's rate of involuntary placement is about half as large as the rate in the US. Hence, it is not evident that the difference in results between recent studies in the US and my study is driven by a Sweden-specific practice to take an excessive number of children into care.

1.G Data Dictionary, Sample Restrictions, and Literature Overview

Judge Variables

Judge removal tendency: I calculate judge removal tendency as the mean removal rate in all other cases handled by the same judge, leaving out the focal case.

Junior judge: =1 if the judge is junior at the time of judgment.

Female judge: =1 if the judge is female.

Judge age: Judge age in years at the time of the judgment. Measured using judge year of birth.

Outcome Variables

Death by year child turns 19: =1 if child dies before or during the year they turn 19.

Death by month t: =1 if dies before or during month t post-judgment.

- *Death (suicide)*: =1 if dies and the cause is intentional self-harm (ICD10-codes X60-X84).
- *Death (overdose)*: =1 if dies and the cause is unintentional drug or alcohol poisoning (ICD10-codes X40-X45).
- *Hospitalization due to mental health*: =1 if hospitalized with intentional self-harm (ICD10-codes X60-X84) or a mental and behavioral disorder (ICD10-codes F2-F9) as the main cause of harm/diagnosis.
- *Hospitalization due to substance use*: =1 if hospitalized with unintentional drug or alcohol poisoning (ICD10-codes X40-X45), mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (ICD10-codes F1), or alcoholic liver disease (K70) as the main cause of harm/diagnosis.
- *Non-narcotic crime*: =1 if committed an offense under The Swedish Criminal Code. Start date of crime is used through out the paper.
- *Crime against person*: =1 if committed an offense under Chapter 3-7, Section 5-6 of Chapter 8, or Section 1 of Chapter 17 of The Swedish Criminal Code.
- *Narcotic crime*: =1 if committed an offense under The Swedish Penal Law on Narcotics.
- *Non-minor crime*: =1 if committed an offense that resulted in a criminal trial. All non-minor crimes must be processed in a trial even if the perpetrator admits guilt.
- *Minor crime*: =1 if committed a minor offense (e.g., driving under the influence) that did not result in a criminal trial.

Control Variables

Girl: =1 if the child is female.

- *Age at judgment*: Child age in years at the time of the judgment based on child date of birth.
- *Sibling case*: =1 if two or more children are part of the same court case.
- *Foreign background*: =1 if the child is born in another country than Sweden or has two parents born in another country than Sweden.
- *Behavior case*: =1 if the SWC filed the petition for child removal on the grounds that the child's own behavior poses a palpable risk to her health or development, i.e. under Section 3 of the Care of Young Persons Act.
- *Environment case*: =1 if the SWC filed the petition for child removal on the grounds that the home environment is deficient, i.e. under Section 2 of the Care of Young Persons Act.

Double grounds: =1 if the SWC filed the petition for child removal on both grounds, i.e. under Section 2 and Section 3 of the Care of Young Persons Act.

- *Child consents to removal*: =1 if the lawyer assigned to represent the child or the child themselves consents to child removal.
- *At least 1 parent consents to removal*: =1 if at least one of the parents listed in the case file consents to child removal.

- *Case largely based on child mental health*: =1 if child psychological problems (including developmental disorders) is a case topic, but not crime, addiction, prostitution, vagabonding, honor culture, or tendency to runaway.
- *Non-junior case type*: =1 if the case falls into any of the following categories: (i) suspected physical or sexual abuse of a young child, (ii) environmental case in which the parent(s) have an intellectual or similar developmental disorder, or (iii) behavior cases in which the need for care to a large extent is based on ADHD or autism.
- *Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3): Crime against person:* =1 if the child committed an offense under Chapter 3-7, Section 5-6 of Chapter 8, or Section 1 of Chapter 17 of The Swedish Criminal Code in any of the three calendar years prior to the judgment. Start date of crime is used.
- *Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3): Narcotics*: =1 if the child committed an offense under The Swedish Penal Law on Narcotics in any of the three calendar years prior to the judgment.
- *Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3): Other crime:* =1 if the child committed any offense other than crimes against person or narcotic crimes under The Swedish Criminal Code in any of the three calendar years prior to the judgment.
- *Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to: Mental health*: =1 if the child was hospitalized in any of the three calendar years prior to the judgment with intentional selfharm (ICD10-codes X60-X84) or a mental and behavioral disorder (ICD10codes F2-F9) as the main cause of harm/diagnosis.
- *Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to: Substance use*: =1 if the child was hospitalized in any of the three calendar years prior to the judgment with unintentional drug or alcohol poisoning (ICD10-codes X40-X45), mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (ICD10-codes F1), or alcoholic liver disease (K70) as the main cause of harm/diagnosis.
- *Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3*: =1 if data is missing for the child during any of the three calendar years prior to the judgment.
- *Any birth parent: Dead:* =1 if any birth parent died before the judgment.
- *Any birth parent:* < *18 y.o. at birth of child*: =1 if any birth parent was under the age of 18 at the time of the child's birth.
- *Any birth parent: Married, yr t-1*: =1 if any birth parent was married at the end of the calendar year prior to the judgment.
- *Any birth parent: No labor income, yr t-1*: =1 if any birth parent had no labor income during the full calendar year prior to the judgment.
- *Any birth parent: Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1*: =1 if any birth parent was hospitalized in the calendar year prior to the judgment with intentional self-harm (ICD10-codes X60-X84) or a mental and behavioral disorder (ICD10-codes F2-F9) as the main cause of harm/diagnosis.
- Any birth parent: Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1: =1 if any birth parent was hospitalized in the calendar year prior to the judgment with accidental drug

or alcohol poisoning (ICD10-codes X40-X45), mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (ICD10-codes F1), or alcoholic liver disease (K70) as the main cause of harm/diagnosis.

- Any birth parent: Any crime, yr t-1: =1 if any birth parent committed an offense under The Swedish Criminal Code or The Swedish Penal Law on Narcotics in the calendar year prior to the judgment.
- Any birth parent: Missing Xs, yr t-1: =1 if data is missing for any birth parents in the calendar year prior to the judgment.

Table G1. Sample Restrictions

Description	Observations	Sample Name
Constructing Sample Used For IV Calculation		
Base sample	26,481	
Drop cases with missing information on judge	-6,008	
removal tendency		
Final sample	20,473	IV Calc.
Constructing 'All in Registry' Sample		
Base sample	26,481	
Drop children that I cannot observe in Statistics Sweden's register data	-1,576	
Final sample	24,905	All in Registry
Constructing 'All Ages' Sample		
Base sample	24,905	All in Registry
Drop cases with missing information on judge removal tendency	-5,689	
Drop observations in court-by-year cells containing <2 judges	-80	
Final sample	19,136	All Ages
Constructing 'Year 19' Sample		
Base sample	19,136	All Ages
Drop children who turn 19 after the end of my data (year 2022)	-8,281	C
Drop children whose cases are decided during or after the year they turn 19	-642	
Drop observations in court-by-year cells	-13	
containing <2 judges		
Final sample	10,200	Year 19
Constructing '≥11 y.o.' Sample		
Base sample	19,136	All Ages
Drop children who are younger than 11 years old at	-7,919	-
the time of the judgment		
Drop observations in court-by-year cells containing <2 judges	-12	
Final sample	11 205	>11 v o

Note: The initial sample consists of all child protection judgments handed down by any Swedish court during 2010-2019, eight courts during 2005-2010, and one court during 2001-2005.

Study	Setting	Base Sample	Strategy	Child Outcome	Child Effect	Parent Outcome	Parent Effect
Doyle (2007)	Illinois, US	Medicaid	CPS worker IV	Crime, teen mom,	Adverse		
Doyle (2008)	Illinois, US	recipients Medicaid	CPS worker IV	labor Crime	Adverse		
Berger et al. (2009)	SU	recipients National Survey of	OLS, DID, FE	Behavior problems,	Null		
		Child and		cognitive skills			
Doyle (2013)	Illinois, US	Adolescent Well-Being Medicaid recipients	CPS worker IV	Crime, emergency healthcare	Adverse		
Lindquist and	Stockholm,	Persons born 1953	OLS	episodes Adult crime	Adverse only for		
Santavirta (2014)	Sweden	residing in Stockholm 1963			teen boys		
Warburton et al.	British Columbia,	Boys	CPS worker IV,	Education, income	Adverse or mixed		
(2014) Roberts (2018) Grimon (2020)	Canada South Carolina, US Allegheny county.	Substantiated cases Neglect cases	Policy change IV CPS worker IV Event-study + CPS	ass., crime Education	Favorable or null	Health service use,	Increases mothers'
÷	US-PA)	worker IV			benefit receipt,	health service use
Bald, Chyn, et al.	Rhode Island, US	Substantiated cases	CPS worker IV	Education	Favorable only for	crime Crime, future CPS	Null
(2022) Baron and Gross	Michigan, US	Public School	CPS worker IV	Crime	young girls Favorable	case Crime, future CPS	Favorable
(2022) Gross and Baron	Michigan, US	Pupils Public School	CPS worker IV	Crime, education,	Favorable or null	case	
(2022) Drange et al. (2022)	Norway	Pupils Universal	Event-study, CPS unit IV	future CPS case Education, health, crime, welfare,	Increase in health service use		·
Gram Cavalca et al. (2022)	Denmark	Universal	Event-study, OLS	labor Education, health, crime	Increase in health service use, mixed	·	·
					effects on education		
		Note: This table list	ts the papers on the	effects of child wel	fare interventions.		

Table G2. Overview of Literature on Effects of Child Protection Interventions

: pape

Chapter 2

Treated Together: Spillovers Among Youths Admitted to Residential Treatment

Ronja Helénsdotter¹

Individuals struggling with substance abuse and self-harm are often treated in group-based programs. However, concerns have been raised about the risk of adverse outcomes through peer-to-peer spillovers. This paper analyses the effects of peers placed in residential treatment facilities on each other's outcomes. I use novel data on the universe of youths (over 16,000) admitted to state-owned treatment facilities in Sweden between 2000 and 2020. To overcome the issue of nonrandom assignment of youths, I make use of the natural flow of youths to and from facilities within a given year by including facility-by-year fixed effects. I find strong evidence of reinforcing peer effects in substance abuse and self-harm: exposing youths with a history of substance abuse (self-harm) to peers with a similar background increases the risk of experiencing adverse events (for example, hospitalization) related to substance abuse (self-harm) post-discharge.

2.1 Introduction

Youth suicide rates and, especially, drug overdose rates have risen dramatically during recent decades in many Western countries. In the US, the rate of drug overdose among youths (ages 15-25) has more than quintupled since 2001 while the rate of suicide has increased by 46%, resulting in 8,000 unintentional overdoses and 7,000 suicides in 2020 (CDC, 2023). Major predictors of overdose and suicide are nonlethal substance abuse and self-harm (Hawton et al., 2003; Degenhardt and Hall, 2012).² People struggling with substance abuse and self-harm are often treated in group-based programs. However, the cost-effectiveness, efficacy, and safety of group programs have been questioned (Beetham et al., 2020; Wakeman et al., 2020). In particular, high and long exposure to individuals who engage in the same type of behavior may have detrimental effects on the recovery process (Taiminen et al., 1998; Richardson et al., 2012). But, due to the challenges with estimating peer effects, little is known about the presence and character of such effects.

In this paper, I exploit novel Swedish data on youths (under age 21) placed together in residential treatment facilities to estimate the effects of exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse and self-harm on the risk of experiencing adverse outcomes related to substance abuse and self-harm post-placement (as measured by death, hospitalization, re-institutionalization, and narcotic crime). To identify youths with a history of substance abuse and self-harm, I use register data on hospitalizations and narcotic crimes that occur strictly before placement and information on the reason for institutionalization (as stated on the Swedish child protection authority's application for placement).³ Hence, I only capture behaviors that are serious enough to warrant hospitalization, prosecution, or institutionalization.⁴ I also consider other peer characteristics: crime, mental disorders, gender, foreign background, and age.

Estimating peer effects is empirically difficult (Manski, 1993). In most nat-

³The reason stated on the placement application cannot be changed once the application has been approved. The application must be approved before the youth arrives at a facility.

¹University of Gothenburg, Department of Economics, Vasagatan 1, SE 405 30, Gothenburg. E-mail: ronja.helensdotter@economics.gu.se. I am thankful to my supervisors, Randi Hjalmarsson and Andreea Mitrut, for their valuable guidance. I thank Jason Baron, Joseph Doyle, Andreas Dzemski, Matthew Lindquist, Kevin Schnepel, and the seminar participants at the University of Gothenburg for many helpful comments and suggestions. Funding from Herbert & Karin Jacobssons Stiftelse, Kungl. och Hvitfeldtska stiftelsen, and Stiftelsen Lars Hiertas Minne is gratefully acknowledged. The material and data provided by Statistics Sweden, The National Board of Health and Welfare, The National Board of Institutional Care, and The National Council for Crime Prevention made this paper possible. This research is approved by the Swedish Ethical Review Authority.

²There is a lack of consensus on the definitions of substance use, misuse, abuse, and dependence (Mahmoud et al., 2017). In Sweden, youths can be legally institutionalized if their use of addictive substances (alcohol, drugs, or other addictive substances) poses a significant risk to their health or development. I use the term substance abuse to denote such use. Substance use disorders are included in the term substance abuse but substance abuse is not limited to substance use disorders. Rare use of a substance (e.g., alcohol) is typically not considered youth substance abuse in the context of this paper unless the substance is highly dangerous (e.g., amphetamine). I use the term self-harm to denote self-inflicted poisonings and injuries.

⁴Physicians only hospitalize patients with severe injuries or illnesses that cannot wait or be treated within the Swedish primary care system. Even if a youth accidentally harms themselves while being under the influence, my measure of substance abuse would not capture the incident since I only include hospitalizations in which substance use or self-harm is registered as the main cause of illness or harm (primarily overdoses, substance use disorder, and severe acts of self-harm).

ural settings, individuals select into peer groups. If similar individuals tend to interact with one another, allowing for self-selection inflates estimated peer effects. In addition, the environments in which peer groups operate might vary across groups, thereby creating within-group correlation in unobservables. It is especially challenging to identify the endogenous social effect of peer behavior on the individual due to the simultaneity of individual and peer behavior.⁵

With these challenges in mind, the setting considered in this paper lends itself well to the study of peer effects. Specifically, I use data on the universe of individuals admitted to residential youth facilities managed by the Swedish National Board of Institutional Care (NBIC). These youths are placed in the care of NBIC because they engage in substance abuse, criminal behavior, or some other destructive behavior that threatens their health or development. Assignment of youths to facilities is done by a central placement unit based on the availability of beds and observable characteristics.⁶ These facilities are miles apart, meaning that across-facility contact is limited. Within facilities, youths spend large amounts of time together (in the common rooms, fenced-in yard, on-site school, therapy sessions, etc.), partly because they are not free to leave the premises.⁷

The facilities youths are assigned to are different from each other in terms of, e.g., target group, treatment portfolio, and staff education. To avoid within-group correlation in unobservables, I apply the identification strategy used originally in Bayer et al. (2009) and replicated by Stevenson (2017) and Damm and Gorinas (2020), which relies on the natural variation in the peer group generated by the continuous entry and exit of individuals from the group. Specifically, I adopt a fixed effects (FEs) approach to exploit variation in peer composition within facility-by-year cells.

In my main specification, I define each peer measure as the share of *other* youths with a pre-placement history of h (e.g., substance abuse) on the first day of the youth's first placement spell.⁸ Guided by previous research showing reinforcing peer effects in crime and substance use (Kremer and Levy, 2008; Bayer et al., 2009), I estimate separate effects for youths with versus without a history

of the behavior of interest.⁹ The central assumption is that the variation in firstday peer characteristics is as good as random after netting out facility-by-year FEs. Through a series of tests, I show that this assumption is empirically valid.

There is ample correlational evidence that exposure to substance abuse and self-harm (via peers, family members, and the media) are important predictors of own substance abuse and self-harm (Hawton et al., 2012; Costello et al., 2021). In particular, studies in psychology and sociology document that segregation of youths who engage in problematic behaviors in special education, community, and treatment programs appears to exacerbate problematic behavior (Dishion and Tipsord, 2011). Potential mechanisms that have been suggested include so-cial learning, social identification, and conformity with a perceived social norm (Jarvi et al., 2013; Neighbors et al., 2013; Martínez et al., 2023).¹⁰

I find strong evidence of peer effects in substance abuse and self-harm among youths with a prior history of the *same* behavior. Specifically, placing a youth with a pre-placement history of substance abuse in a facility with a 1-standard deviation higher share of youths with the same problem history increases (5% significance level) the risk of experiencing adverse events (death, hospitalization, readmission, or narcotic crime) related to substance abuse during the 1-12 months after discharge by 2.7 percentage points (relative to a mean of (48.3%). This effect is primarily driven by an increase in the risk of dying or being hospitalized from substance abuse.

Similarly, placing a youth with a history of self-harm in a facility with a 1standard deviation higher share of peers with a history of self-harm increases (1-5% level) the risk of being hospitalized or dying from self-harm during the 1-12 months after discharge by 4.1 percentage points (mean: 15.0%). This increase is primarily driven by a rise in hospitalizations from self-harm. The results are robust to alternative specifications and samples.

Among youths with no history of substance abuse or self-harm, there is little

¹⁰Examples of social learning are learning about more potent combinations of drugs and more effective ways to self-harm with available material by observing peers. An example of social identification is identifying with someone who abuses substances and imitation of that behavior.

⁵I only consider own and peer characteristics measured before social interaction commences (i.e. exogenous peer effects). For identification of endogenous peer effects, see Lee (2007), Bramoullé et al. (2009), and Blume et al. (2015).

⁶Assignment should be done immediately upon receiving a placement application from the Swedish social services. The placement unit takes into consideration (in falling order of importance): gender, availability, special needs, security class, age, group composition, and home region (see Section 2.2.1).

⁷Naturally, there is self-selection into how much and with whom the youth chooses to interact in the facility. I abstract from this within-facility behavior and estimate the impact of potential peer composition.

⁸A placement spell is defined as an uninterrupted placement at NBIC but can include periods of isolation and facility transfers. I use the peer composition on the first day because total peer exposure is a function of placement length and future peer composition, which can depend on unobservable characteristics of the focal youth and their peers (see Section 2.3).

⁹There are several reasons to expect that peer effects for youths with versus without a history of the behavior of interest differ in magnitude. For example, there is variation in youth's predisposition to different types of behaviors and susceptibility to peer influence in that behavior. Specific genes, underlying disorders, and personality traits can be important risk factors for developing one particular behavior but not another (Brown, 2002; Laukkanen et al., 2009; Allen et al., 2012; Hilt and Hamm, 2014). At the same time, youths placed at NBIC are on average 16 years old at the time of first placement and have typically already been heavily exposed to peers who engage in a host of problematic behaviors via pre-placement networks. It is possible that youths who have not yet started to engage in behavior *h* before institutionalization are not predisposed to behavior *h* and not susceptible to peer influence in that regard. Another reason to expect reinforcing, but not introductory, peer effects is within-facility clustering of youths by behavior history. If youths who engage in the same behavior tend to interact more with each other, the exposure to other youths placed at the same facility might be low.

evidence of adverse peer effects. However, the outcomes I consider are extreme (death, hospitalization, re-institutionalization, and crime). If there are introductory peer effects, it might take several years before the behavior has progressed to the point where I can observe an effect on these extreme outcomes.

I analyze heterogeneity by youth characteristics (gender, foreign background, and age) and placement characteristics (peer group size, crowdedness, and placement in the youth's home county). The analysis reveals reinforcing (but at times imprecisely estimated) peer effects in substance abuse and self-harm in all sub-samples and few statistically significant differences in effect size.

What are the drivers of these peer effects in substance abuse and self-harm? Youths with a history of these behaviors can influence their peers' outcomes through, for example, learning, imitation, hampering treatment provision, and spreading mental illness. I find evidence suggesting that direct exposure to substance abuse and self-harm incidents are important for the main results. In particular, there is evidence of adverse peer effects already during placement and considerable clustering in incidents. Among youths who are ever hospitalized for self-harm or substance abuse during placement at NBIC, almost 1 in 4 are hospitalized in the same month as their peer is hospitalized for the *same* reason. I also find some evidence that an increased share of peers with a history of substance abuse leads to disruptions of treatment provision through increased time spent on the run from NBIC.

While I cannot rule out any alternative mechanisms, I find no evidence that the results are driven by a higher share of resource-demanding peers, depressed peers, or peers who have other mental disorders. Neither do I find much support for an expanded network of dealers, increased drug availability, or social learning being major drivers of the main findings.

The bulk of credible studies on peer substance use consider self-reported drinking, smoking, and occasional marijuana use among students (e.g., Duncan et al., 2005; Kremer and Levy, 2008; Card and Giuliano, 2013).¹¹ Only three papers include heavy drugs (Gaviria and Raphael, 2001; Lundborg, 2006; Eisenberg et al., 2014), again using surveys in which students are asked whether they have ever used different substances during specified time periods. Most studies tend to find evidence of positive peer effects, but sometimes only in specific subsamples or substances.

To the best of my knowledge, there is no paper that identifies peer effects in substance *abuse*, i.e. use of addictive substances that significantly harms the individual's health or development (e.g., alcoholism). Even if there are peer effects in, for example, occasional binge drinking with friends, it is not evident that there are meaningful peer effects in alcoholism as the underlying mechanisms and importance of biological, environmental, and psychological risk factors are likely different (Tarter and Vanyukov, 2001). In addition, even if a peer effect in alcoholism exists among friends, it might not exist in treatment programs where staff can interrupt harmful peer interactions. At the same time, knowledge about peer-to-peer spillovers in substance abuse in treatment programs is particularly policy-relevant as it is important for treatment design. By using administrative data on death, institutionalization, hospitalization, and narcotic crimes, I shed light on how exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse affects own outcomes and add to the growing economic literature on the determinants of harmful substance use (e.g., Powell et al., 2018; Ruhm, 2019; Alpert et al., 2022).

Eisenberg et al. (2014) is the only other study on the causal effects of exposure to self-harming peers that I am aware of. Using survey data from college students, they do not find any evidence of peer effects in suicidal ideation or non-suicidal self-injury.¹² A related literature is the small line of work on causal peer effects in mental well-being. In line with the literature on peer effects in substance use, these studies are typically conducted in school environments using survey data (Aizer, 2009; Golberstein et al., 2016; Zhang, 2019; Giulietti et al., 2022; Kiessling and Norris, 2023).¹³ The studies that focus on student-to-student spread of mental well-being tend to find no or modest increasing effects, while those that examine the effects of other peer features (such as ability ranking) find larger effects.

Peer effects in residential facilities — which is the setting of my study — may be very different from those in school environments. Prior correlational evidence suggests that social effects in mental health predominately exist in close relationships and relationships outside the school environment (Zalk et al., 2010; Fruehwirth et al., 2019). Moreover, limited contact opportunities with family, prior history of problematic behaviors, and experience of adverse childhood events might make youths in residential facilities more susceptible to peer influences (Dishion and Tipsord, 2011). By studying peer effects in self-harm and mental disorders in residential care using register data on hospitalizations and death, I not only add to the peer effects literature but also to the economic literature on the determinants of self-harm and mental illness (e.g., Persson and Rossin-Slater, 2018; Adhvaryu et al., 2019; Baranov et al., 2020).

Peer effects in youth facilities are surprisingly understudied. Even though at least 6 million children are placed in residential facilities without parental care each year in the name of child welfare and justice (United Nations, 2020),

¹¹For a review of the literature on peer effects, see Sacerdote (2011).

¹²An important difference between Eisenberg et al. (2014) and this paper is the severity of the self-harm studied. I only consider self-harm which at least results in hospitalization. In contrast, Eisenberg et al. (2014) classify, for example, having punched oneself as self-harm. The visibility of peer self-harm and the role of peer influence can be very different depending on the severity of the self-inflicted harm.

¹³Two studies that use non-survey data are Getik and Meier (2022) and Bütikofer et al. (2020), where the former uses Swedish register data to examine how gender composition in school cohorts affects mental health and the latter uses Norwegian register data to estimate the mental health effects of school selectivity.

only three papers can identify peer effects using credible designs in such settings (Bayer et al., 2009; Stevenson, 2017; Font and Mills, 2022).¹⁴ The main focus of these three papers is crime-related outcomes. Bayer et al. (2009) use data from juvenile correctional facilities in Florida and find predominately reinforcing peer effects, meaning that exposing juveniles to peers with a criminal history within the same crime category increases recidivism. Stevenson (2017) uses similar data and finds evidence of social contagion of crime-oriented noncognitive factors.¹⁵ Font and Mills (2022) use data on youths placed in foster care in Wisconsin. They do not find that exposure to peers with a higher risk of future imprisonment increases own risk of criminal behavior, running away, or early parenthood, but they find an increase in high school dropout rate. By considering novel groups of variables (substance abuse, self-harm, and mental disorders), I extend our knowledge about the peer effects in residential facilities.^{16,17}

The paper proceeds as follows. Section 2.2 presents the institutional background and describes the data. Section 2.3 outlines the empirical methodology and discusses the validity of the identifying assumption. Section 2.4 presents the estimated peer effects while Section 2.5 probes possible mechanisms. Section 2.6 concludes.

¹⁶A related literature is that on the effects of placing juveniles in residential facilities (e.g., Hjalmarsson, 2009; Aizer and Doyle, 2015; Eren and Mocan, 2021). See Doyle and Aizer (2018) for a review of studies on the effects of child protection interventions. Of particular relevance is Helénsdotter (2023), who includes data on youths placed at NBIC in her analysis of the causal effects of involuntary placement in out-of-home care. Helénsdotter (2023) shows that such placement greatly increases the risk of death and hospitalization due to self-harm. However, she finds little evidence of an increase in the risk of experiencing adverse events related to substance abuse.

¹⁷This paper is also related to the literature on the effects of exposure to peers who come from deficient or criminal homes, which finds adverse effects on a range of outcomes (e.g., Carrell and Hoekstra, 2010; Carrell et al., 2018; Billings and Hoekstra, 2019; Santavirta and Sarzosa, 2019). There are also papers on neighborhood effects that include measures of mental health, drinking, and smoking (see Chyn and Katz, 2021, for a review). In addition, the literature on social influences on crime at the extensive margin is relevant. For example, Hjalmarsson and Lindquist (2012) provide indirect evidence that role modeling might explain why children of criminally active fathers are more likely to have a record.

2.2 Setting & Data

2.2.1 Institutional Care in Sweden

Each year, the National Board of Institutional Care (NBIC) houses youths aged below 21 in about 20 residential treatment facilities spread across Sweden.¹⁸ Almost all youths (90%) are involuntarily placed at NBIC. The remaining 10% are either voluntarily placed or sentenced to serve time at NBIC for having committed a crime punishable by prison.¹⁹ In the two former cases, the local Social Welfare Committee (SWC; *socialnämnden*) decides whether the youth should be placed at NBIC, while it is the District Court in the latter case. Figure 2.1 provides a representation of the possible routes to institutionalization.

Figure 2.1. Pathways to Institutionalization in Sweden



Note: This figure provides a representation of the different routes to placement at NBIC. Almost all youths at NBIC are placed by the SWC, either involuntarily via the court (90%) or voluntarily (5%). All of these youths engage in substance abuse, criminal behavior, or another destructive behavior that poses a significant risk to their health or development. The SWC decides whether the child should be placed at NBIC, but the central placement unit at NBIC allocates youths to facilities. Youths can also be sentenced to serve time at NBIC by a district court for committing a crime punishable by prison (5%).

Regardless of the placement route, the SWC must submit an application to the central placement unit at NBIC. The placement unit assigns the youth to a facility while considering (in falling order): gender, availability of beds, special needs, security class, age, group composition, and home region. The placement

¹⁴This population fares disproportionately worse than children living in family-type homes (Li et al., 2019; Gutterswijk et al., 2020) and are at a high risk of future involvement in socially destructive behaviors, such as crime and substance abuse (Shook et al., 2011; Aizer and Doyle, 2015; Eren and Mocan, 2021).

¹⁵These findings are in line with a sizable literature in economics that documents the importance of social interactions in explaining criminal behavior (e.g., Case and Katz, 1991; Glaeser et al., 1996; Ludwig et al., 2001; Jacob and Lefgren, 2003; Kling et al., 2005; Deming, 2011; Billings et al., 2014; Damm and Dustmann, 2014; Corno, 2017; Billings et al., 2019; Billings and Schnepel, 2022). Especially relevant for this paper is the work on peer effects in prisons (Harris et al., 2018; Damm and Gorinas, 2020). Literatures in criminology, sociology, and psychology also provide evidence of peer effects in crime (see Pratt et al., 2010).

¹⁸During the sample period, some facilities have closed and new ones have opened. Hence, the total number of unique facilities during the sample period is higher.

¹⁹According to the Swedish Criminal Code, a person under the age of 18 who commits a crime that would be sanctioned with imprisonment if the perpetrator had been 18 or older should be ordered to serve time at NBIC instead of prison unless there are special circumstances.

unit is open around the clock and the assignment should be done immediately upon receiving the application. No applications can be denied. Almost all youths are placed in their assigned facility the same day or the day after their placement application is submitted. Around one-third of youths are transferred to a new facility at some point after entering their first facility. However, in my main specification, I only exploit variation in the peer composition on the first day of arrival to estimate peer effects.

At NBIC, youths live together while being supervised by staff. All youths have separate bedrooms. The youths are institutionalized because they engage in substance abuse, criminal behavior, or some other destructive behavior (e.g., prostitution) that significantly threatens their health or development. While many of the youths at NBIC suffer from mental disorders and engage in self-harming behavior (e.g., skin cutting), having a mental disorder or engaging in self-harm is not legal grounds for placement at NBIC in itself.

The NBIC facilities are miles apart. Therefore, across-facility contact is very limited. Within facilities, youths spend large amounts of time together: in the common rooms, fenced-in yard, on-site school, therapy sessions, basketball practice, etc. In fact, youths are not free to leave the premises. Hence, the doors are locked and the facility is usually surrounded by a high fence.

Facilities vary in terms of target group, treatment portfolio, security class, and staff education. All facilities accept youths struggling with substance abuse or other destructive behaviors, and almost all accept youths with criminal backgrounds. Some facilities exclusively accept youths with a certain sex or age, while some facilities are more equipped than others to handle youths with special needs. Therefore, it is essential for identification to only exploit variation in peer composition within facilities.

Unless the youth is sentenced to serve time at NBIC, the SWC must reassess whether the need for care persists every six months. If the SWC determines that the youth would benefit from being placed in a foster family or other form of placement, the SWC can transfer the youth from NBIC at any time. If the youth no longer exposes their health or development to a significant risk of harm through abuse of addictive substances, criminal activity, or some other destructive behavior, the SWC terminates care. At the latest, care is terminated when the youth turns 21.

Youths placed at NBIC for committing an offense punishable by prison serve a fixed sentence. The length of the sentence is determined by the court in advance and must be at least 14 days and at most 4 years. There is no possibility of early release.

2.2.2 Cross-Country Comparison

Providing global estimates of the number of children and youths in residential facilities without parental care is difficult since there is a plethora of placement types and, in some countries, large informal sectors.²⁰ Nevertheless, the United Nations (2020) estimates that at least 6 million children and youths are placed in such facilities each year in the name of child welfare and justice. The estimated rate of placement in Sweden (2-3 children per 1,000) is lower than the rates in most Western countries. For example, in Canada, Germany, and the United Kingdom, the rate of placement is estimated to be 5-10 children per 1,000.

The institutional features and legal framework governing the provision of care to youths with behavioral problems are almost identical in Sweden and other Scandinavian countries. While the system employed in the US is very different, the systems used in other parts of Europe are similar to the Scandinavian system. In particular, favoring treatment in residential facilities akin to NBIC over prison when a youth abuses drugs, engages in prostitution, or commits crimes is common throughout Europe. In the US, on the other hand, the rate of imprisonment is over 10 times as high as in Western Europe (United Nations, 2020). For overviews of the systems employed in several Western countries, see Whittaker et al. (2022).

2.2.3 Data Description

The primary data source is the administrative records kept by NBIC on the universe of youths admitted to residential care during 2000-2020 in Sweden. The full sample contains 27,683 youth-by-spell observations and 16,461 unique youths. The records include placement reasons (as specified on the placement application submitted by the SWC) as well as information on facility assignments and dates related to admission, discharge, moves within NBIC, and episodes of isolation and absconding.

Statistics Sweden links the administrative records on youths placed at NBIC with register data using the youths' personal identity numbers. These personal identity numbers are unique and given to all Swedish residents, including foreignborn. I have accurate personal identity numbers for 93% of the youths. The reason for missing an accurate personal identity number is almost always recent immigration to Sweden. Statistics Sweden matches the youths to their parents and adds data on, e.g., gender, birth date, immigration/emigration dates, foreign background, labor income, and marital status of both youths and parents.

The main explanatory variables are measured *before* placement. History of substance abuse takes the value 1 if the youth (i) is placed at an NBIC facility because they expose their health or development to a significant risk of harm

²⁰In Sweden, there is in practice no informal sector as all residential child and youth facilities must be registered with The Health and Social Care Inspectorate.

through substance abuse, (ii) is hospitalized from substance abuse, or (iii) commits a narcotic crime at any point during the 24 months prior to placement.²¹ History of self-harm takes the value 1 if the youth is hospitalized from self-harm at least one time during the 24 months before placement. The main outcomes are measured similarly but during the 1-12 months *after* the placement ends. The outcome variables also take the value 1 if the youth dies from substance abuse or self-harm post-placement. See Appendix 2.C for detailed variable definitions.

Information on all hospitalizations at Swedish hospitals (private and public) related to substance abuse, self-harm, and mental health comes from the National In-Patient Register (1997-2020) kept by the National Board of Health and Welfare. Via the National Board of Health and Welfare, I also obtain data on all deaths (date and cause) from the National Cause of Death Register (1997-2021), court petitions for involuntary adult addiction treatment from the Register of Compulsory Care Under the Act on Care of Substance Abusers (2000-2020), and out-of-home placements from the Register on Service Provision to Children and Young Persons (2000-2020). Last, I obtain data on all legal proceedings (date of crime, date of decision, section of the law, and sanction) from the National Council for Crime Prevention (1997-2021).

To measure peer composition, I start with the full sample of youths (N=27,683). I define the peer group at the facility level: peers on day d are the other youths living in the same facility on day d as the youth i. However, I exclude youths who are in isolation or on the run on day d.²² The main peer measure (*Peer history*_{*i*,*f*,*h*}) is the share of peers in facility f with pre-placement history h (e.g., substance abuse) on the *first day* that the youth is admitted to NBIC:

Peer history_{i,f,h} =
$$\frac{1}{N_f - 1} \sum_{j \neq i} History_{j,f,h}$$
 (2.1)

where $History_{j,f,h}$ is an indicator taking the value 1 if peer j in facility f has a pre-placement history of h and N_f is the number of available peers in facility f on the day of youth i's arrival. Since a youth can have a history of multiple behaviors, the shares do not sum to one.

Another potential peer measure is total exposure to peers with a certain history. Such a measure can be constructed as the sum of daily exposure shares over the total number of days that youth i spent in institutional care. An issue with using total exposure rather than first-day exposure is that the former might be heavily affected by unobservable characteristics of the focal youth even after accounting for facility-by-year FEs. In particular, unobservable factors may affect the number of days the youth spends at NBIC and in individual facilities. For 95% of the sample, placement at NBIC is terminated when the youth no longer engages in destructive behavior or turns 21. Hence, a youth with severe prior substance abuse problems likely spends more time at NBIC than a youth with minor prior substance abuse problems, even after controlling for any history of substance abuse. If the youth with severe problems is more likely to abuse substances post-placement than the youth with minor problems (regardless of peer exposure), I may wrongly attribute the difference in post-placement behavior to greater peer exposure.

Table A4 presents the relationship between the main measure of peer exposure (the share of peers with a certain history on the first day of youth i's arrival) and total peer exposure over all days youth i spent at NBIC during their first placement spell. Irrespective of the behavior of interest, the main peer measure is a strong predictor of total peer exposure (*F*-statistic 27-105).

2.2.4 Sample Creation and Descriptive Statistics

I limit the sample (N=27,683) to the first placement spell per youth (N=16,461). Since I only observe youths who were admitted from January 1, 2000, I cannot observe the full peer group at the start of 2000. While the median placement length is only 3 months, over 10% of the sample are placed for longer than 1 year (see Figure A4). As only 2.5% are placed longer than 2 years, I drop the first two years and restrict the analysis sample to youths admitted during 2002-2020 (N=14,648).²³ I then drop youths without any peers on their first day (5 observations) and youths in facility-by-year cells with less than 2 youths (22 observations). The final sample consists of 14,621 unique youths assigned to one of 42 facilities (referred to as the '2002-2020 Sample').

When studying outcomes based on register data obtained from another source than NBIC, I further restrict the sample to youths who are observable by Statistics Sweden, i.e. youths with valid personal identity numbers (1,140 observations dropped). I also restrict the sample to youths whose NBIC placement was terminated at least 12 months before the end of 2020, i.e. the end of my hospital data (1,047 observations dropped). I then drop youths who emigrate from Sweden at any point during the 1-12 months after placement termination and are therefore not observable in the hospital records during the main window of interest (61 observations). Finally, I drop one youth who, after the sample restrictions, is in a facility-by-year cell with less than 2 youths. This sample (N=12,372) is referred to as the 'Main Analysis Sample'.²⁴

²¹I use the date of the crime, not the date of conviction or reporting.

²²One-third of youths run away or get put in isolation at least once during their first placement spell. Among those who run away or get put in isolation, the median number of days on the run or in isolation is 11.

²³Results are robust to dropping the first three years.

²⁴To test for selective sample attrition, I regress dummies for missing in Statistics Sweden's register data, placement ended less than 12 months before the end of my hospital data (year 2020), and missing in the 'Main Analysis Sample', respectively, on my main peer measures. The results presented in Table A1 suggest that selective attrition is negligible.

Table 2.1 displays descriptive statistics at the child and birth parent level (Panel A), placement spell level (Panel B), and peer level (Panel C) for all first-time placements, the '2002-2020 Sample', and 'Main Analysis Sample'. The descriptive statistics reported in the first and second columns are very similar. In the last column, the share of youths with missing personal identity numbers is (naturally) zero, and the share of youths with missing background information on any birth parent is smaller. However, the share is still large (23%). The reason for the high share of youths with missing information on at least one birth parent during the year before placement is that almost a quarter of the youths are foreign-born and, in this subgroup, it is common that at least one birth parent is unobservable at some point during the previous year.

	All First-Time Placements	2002-2020 Sample	Main Analysis Sample
A: Child & Parent Characteristics			
Female	0.34	0.35	0.35
Foreign	0.29	0.30	0.23
Age	15.78	15.77	15.76
<15 y.o.	0.22	0.22	0.23
\geq 18 y.o.	0.13	0.13	0.14
Placement type:			
Involuntary	0.90	0.91	0.91
Sentenced	0.05	0.05	0.05
Voluntary	0.05	0.04	0.05
Required to attend school	0.43	0.43	0.44
Completed 9th grade	0.41	0.41	0.44
Missing personal identity number	0.07	0.08	0.00
History of:			
Substance abuse	0.57	0.57	0.57
Self-harm	0.05	0.05	0.05
Crime	0.75	0.76	0.75
Neurodevelopmental disorder	0.03	0.03	0.03
Depression	0.02	0.02	0.02
Other mental illness	0.06	0.06	0.06
Any birth parent:			
Dead	0.06	0.06	0.06
<18 y.o. at birth of child	0.02	0.02	0.02
Married, yr t-1	0.47	0.49	0.49
No labor income, yr t-1	0.49	0.50	0.50
Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1	0.03	0.04	0.04
Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1	0.03	0.03	0.03
Any crime, yr t-1	0.09	0.10	0.10
Missing any X, yr t-1	0.29	0.29	0.23

Table 2.1. Continued

B: Placement Characteristics			
Days in institutional care during spell	151.62	148.38	149.65
Total days in institutional care	254.45	248.91	260.81
Number of spells	2.30	2.35	2.27
First facility is in new county	0.71	0.72	0.69
C: Peer Characteristics on First Day			
Peer substance abuse	0.63	0.63	0.61
Peer self-harm	0.06	0.06	0.06
Peer crime	0.82	0.82	0.81
Peer NDD	0.04	0.04	0.04
Peer depression	0.02	0.02	0.02
Peer other mental illness	0.07	0.07	0.07
Peer female	0.32	0.32	0.33
Peer foreign	0.27	0.27	0.26
Peer <15 y.o.	0.21	0.21	0.22
Peer missing personal id. no.	0.05	0.05	0.04
Peer size	19.44	19.46	19.00
Above median peer size	0.38	0.38	0.38
Unique facilities	47	42	42
Unique birth parents	26017	23017	21192
Observations	16461	14621	12372

Note: This table presents descriptive statistics on child, parent, placement, and first-day peer characteristics for all first-time placements at NBIC and each analysis sample as described in Section 2.2.4. Child and parent characteristics are measured at or by the start of the youth's first NBIC placement. Statistics are shown for observations with non-missing information.

2.3 Empirical Methodology

2.3.1 Empirical Specification

To investigate how exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse and selfharm affects individual outcomes, and motivated by the specification in Bayer et al. (2009), I estimate (for each history category):

$$Y_{i} = \beta_{0}(Own \ history_{i} * Peer \ history_{i}) + \beta_{1}(No \ own \ history_{i} * Peer \ history_{i}) + \alpha(Own \ history_{i}) + \delta_{f,t} + \varepsilon_{i,f,t}$$
(2.2)

where Y_i is an outcome measured for youth *i* who was first admitted in year *t* to facility *f*, $Own \ history_i$ is an indicator taking the value 1 if the youth has a history of the category of interest, $No \ own \ history_i$ indicates the opposite, $Peer \ history_i$ is the share of peers in facility *f* on the day of youth *i*'s arrival who have a history of the category of interest, $\delta_{f,t}$ are facility-by-year FEs, and

 $\varepsilon_{i,f,t}$ is an error term.

Facility-by-year FEs are included to account for systematic differences in own and peer characteristics between facilities and over time. By including such FEs, I only exploit variation in peer composition within facility-by-year cells. I demonstrate robustness to using (i) facility-by-quarter FEs, (ii) facility and year FEs, and (iii) facility-by-history and year FEs. Figure A1 depicts the variation in peer characteristics after accounting for facility-by-year FEs. For residualized peer substance abuse, the mean is 0.628 (std. dev. 0.089) while it is 0.060 for self-harm (std. dev. 0.053). Figure A2 presents plots for peer substance abuse and selfharm by the youth's own history. Beyond the distribution of the residualized and mean-standardized first-day measures, the plots in Figure A2 also include flexible regressions of total peer exposure on first-day peer exposure by own history. In each plot, total peer exposure appears to monotonically increase in first-day exposure.

Since the treatment (peer composition) is assigned to all youths who enter the same facility on the same day, I cluster the standard errors at the facilityby-day level (see Abadie et al., 2023). I show robustness to alternative levels of clustering.

As shown in Table 2.2, own history of a behavior is a strong predictor of future behavior in the same problem category in the 1-12 months after the end of the placement spell. This is also the case when controlling for all child and parent controls listed in Table 2.1. Hence, the baseline probability of engaging in a given risky behavior in the future is vastly different for those with and without a pre-placement history of the behavior. In line with previous studies on peer effects in criminal behavior (e.g., Bayer et al., 2009, Damm and Gorinas, 2020), I chose Specification 2.2 (before gaining access to the data) to allow the effect of peer history to depend on the individual's own history. Thereby, I can shed light on the presence and character of introductory versus reinforcing peer effects. Such knowledge is essential for understanding the mechanisms at play and for the challenging task of optimally assigning youths with certain backgrounds to peer groups.

2.3.2 Test of Identifying Assumption

At which facility a youth is placed is not random. To circumvent the issue of non-random assignment, I rely on natural variation in peer composition within facility-by-year cells as youths are discharged and new ones are admitted. This approach has been employed by Bayer et al. (2009), followed by Stevenson (2017) and Damm and Gorinas (2020). It relies on the central assumption that the variation in peer characteristics is as good as random after netting out facility-by-year FEs.

To examine the validity of this assumption, I present results from employ-

Table 2.2. Own History as Predictor of Outcomes

	Substance A	buse, Month 1-12	Self-Harm,	Month 1-12
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Own substance abuse	0.3289***	0.3149***		0.0074**
	(0.0083)	(0.0089)		(0.0037)
Own self-harm		0.0044	0.1100***	0.0788***
		(0.0197)	(0.0137)	(0.0133)
Constant	0.1410***	-0.0924	0.0285***	0.0612
	(0.0051)	(0.1079)	(0.0015)	(0.0471)
Child & parent controls	No	Yes	No	Yes
Adjusted R-squared	0.1566	0.1625	0.0343	0.0511
Dependent mean	0.3296	0.3296	0.0344	0.0344
Observations	12372	12372	12372	12372

Note: The dependent variable is any adverse event (readmission, hospitalization, death, or crime) related to substance abuse or self-harm (respectively) during the 1-12 months after exit from the first placement spell at NBIC. Each dependent variable is regressed on an indicator taking the value 1 if the youth has a pre-placement history of the corresponding behavior. The 'Main Analysis Sample' is used. All specifications are estimated using OLS and include facility-by-year FEs. The full set of child and parent characteristics listed in Table 2.1 are included as controls in columns 2 and 4. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

ing randomization checks in Table 2.3 and Table A2 (see Bayer et al., 2009 and Guryan et al., 2009). In Table 2.3, I regress the share of peers with a history of substance abuse (self-harm) on own history of the corresponding behavior with and without facility-by-year FEs. In all regressions, I control for the leave-out mean of the relevant history category within the population at risk of being the youth's peers (i.e. the leave-out mean within the facility-by-year cell). The leave-out mean within the randomization cell is included to account for the mechanical negative correlation between individual and peer characteristics.

In line with facility specialization, there is a strong correlation between own and peer pre-placement history when no facility-by-year FEs are included (columns 1 and 3 in Table 2.3). Hence, naive estimations of peer effects that do not take into account such specialization would likely yield biased estimates. Fortunately, when facility-by-year FEs are included, the correlations between own and peer history are small and lack statistical significance. These results provide strong empirical evidence that youths are as-if-randomly assigned to peer groups within facility-by-year cells. In Table A2, I present further evidence in support of the central assumption using the diagnostic testing procedure proposed in Bayer et al. (2009).²⁵

²⁵First, I predict each outcome (substance abuse and self-harm post-placement) based on the full set of child and parent characteristics listed in Table 2.1 and full sets of home county and

	2002-2020) Sample	Main Analy	ysis Sample
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
A: Peer Substance Abuse	<u>)</u>			
Own substance abuse	0.0264***	-0.0053	0.0275***	-0.0062
	(0.0034)	(0.0051)	(0.0039)	(0.0058)
Dependent mean	0.6286	0.6286	0.6102	0.6102
B: Peer Self-Harm				
Own self-harm	0.0244***	-0.0079	0.0246***	-0.0099
	(0.0040)	(0.0089)	(0.0042)	(0.0091)
Facility*year FEs	No	Yes	No	Yes
Dependent mean	0.0604	0.0604	0.0619	0.0619
Observations	14621	14621	12371	12371

Table 2.3. Test of Exogenous Peer Variation

Note: The dependent variable is the share of peers with a history of substance abuse (Panel A) or self-harm (Panel B) on the first day of the youth's placement. All models are estimated with OLS and control for the facility-by-year leave-out mean. Columns 2 and 4 also include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

While the outlined strategy allows for a causal analysis of peer effects, the estimated effect might reflect the influence of other peer characteristics than the peer characteristic of interest. For example, if own depression increases the risk of engaging in self-harm, and peer depression affects own depression, the estimates of the effect of peer self-harm on own self-harm are likely subject to omitted variable bias. To alleviate such concerns, I follow Altonji et al. (2005) and examine the stability of my estimates to the inclusion of additional peer characteristics. In the peer effects literature, concerns about omitted variable bias have been addressed in a similar fashion by Golsteyn et al. (2020).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Peer Effects in Substance Abuse and Self-Harm

Table 2.4 presents the estimated effects of peer substance abuse and self-harm, respectively, on the risk of youth i experiencing an adverse event (hospitalization, re-institutionalization, death, or crime) related to each behavior during the 1-12 months after placement exit. Separate effects are estimated for youths with versus without a history of each behavior. Columns 1 and 4 include no other

controls than facility-by-year FEs. Columns 2 and 5 include controls for the peer history measures listed in panel C of Table 2.1, while columns 3 and 6 add controls for the full set of child and parent characteristics.²⁶

As shown in column 1 of Table 2.4, being first placed in a facility on a day with a higher share of peers with a history of substance abuse significantly increases (at the 5% level) the risk of experiencing an adverse event related to substance abuse in the 1-12 months after placement, but only if the youth has a history of substance abuse. Relative to the average risk of a future substance abuse-related event among youths with a history of substance abuse (48.3%), the point estimate of 12.5 percentage points in column 1 implies that a 1-standard deviation increase in peer exposure (0.22) increases the risk of future substance abuse problems by 2.7 percentage points (or 5.6%) to 51.0% for youths at the mean.

For youths without a history of substance abuse, the estimated peer effect is negative and not statistically significant. Tests of equality reveal a significant difference in coefficients at the 1% level.

The same pattern is revealed for self-harm (column 4, Table 2.4): a large reinforcing peer effect is found (significant at the 5% level), while the estimated introductory peer effect is small and lacks statistical significance. The difference in effects is significant at the 5% level. The point estimate of 40.3 percentage points for youths with a history of self-harm is striking. However, the variation in peer self-harm is smaller compared to substance abuse. Hence, a 1-standard deviation increase in exposure to peer self-harm (0.10) would increase the risk of future self-harm by 4.1 percentage points. Among youths with a history of self-harm, such an increase would raise the average risk of being hospitalized or dying from self-harm post-exit from 15.0% to 19.1% for youths at the mean.

As shown in columns 2-3 and 5-6 of Table 2.4, the estimated reinforcing peer effects in substance abuse and self-harm remain similar when controlling for the other peer measures and child and parent characteristics. This suggests that omitted variable bias is potentially of limited concern for my estimates (Altonji et al., 2005) and supports that it is the peer characteristic of interest, rather than some other peer characteristic such as gender composition, that is driving the estimated effects.

facility-by-year FEs. I then regress predicted outcomes on the peer variables and corresponding own history variables with and without facility-by-year FEs. In line with the validity of the central assumption, the estimated coefficients are close to zero, lack individual significance, and are not jointly significant when facility-by-year FEs are included.

²⁶Estimated effects of all peer measures interacted with own history of the corresponding peer measure on the main outcomes (substance abuse and self-harm post-placement) are available in Table A5. In Table A8, I provide estimated peer effects in crime, depression, and any mental disorder (excluding substance abuse and self-harm). Peer effects in crime by crime category are offered in Table A9.

	Substanc	e Abuse, Mi	onth 1-12	Self-]	Harm, Mont	h 1-12
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)
Jwn history*Peer history	0.1247^{**}	0.1124^{**}	0.0985**	0.4032^{**}	0.4379***	0.4249***
	(0.0490)	(0.0503)	(0.0501)	(0.1609)	(0.1616)	(0.1591)
Vo own history*Peer history	-0.0123	-0.0277	-0.0226	-0.0040	0.0259	0.0110
	(0.0421)	(0.0438)	(0.0438)	(0.0310)	(0.0330)	(0.0328)
Jependent mean if own hist.=1	0.4829	0.4829	0.4829	0.1500	0.1500	0.1500
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.1236	0.1236	0.1236	0.0278	0.0278	0.0278
Fest of equality $(p$ -value)	0.0008	0.0006	0.0032	0.0106	0.0099	0.0085
Peer controls	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Child & parent controls	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
Observations	12372	12372	12372	12372	12372	12372

Table 2.4. Effect of Peers on Post-Exit Outcomes

to substance abuse or self-harm (respectively) during the 1-12 months after exit from the first placement spell at NBIC. Each dependent variable is regressed on first-day peer exposure interacted with the youth's own history of the behavior indicated in the top row. All specifications are estimated using OLS and include facility-by-year FEs. Whether controls for other first-day peer characteristics (substance abuse, self-harm, crime, neurodevelopmental diagnosis, depression, other mental disorder, female, foreign-born, under 15 years old, and missing personal identity number) and the full set of child and parent characteristics (as listed in Table 2.1) are included is indicated at the bottom of the table. The 'Main Analysis Sample' is used. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-byor crime) related hospitalization. Note: The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if the individual experiences an adverse event (readmission, < .01 d .05. \vee a lay-of-entry level. * p

Figure 2.2 depicts the relationship between peer history and future outcomes among youths with a history of the same behavior. The relationship is approximately linear for both substance abuse and self-harm. Figure A6 provides the corresponding figure for youths with no such history. Figure A6 also illustrates the relationship between peer characteristics and future outcomes when the number of peers (rather than the share) with a certain history is used.

Figure 2.2. Relationship Between Peer History and Post-Exit Outcomes



Note: Black dots represent the risk of experiencing an adverse event related to substance abuse and self-harm post-placement over the share of first-day peers with a history of the corresponding behavior interacted with own history. All values are residualized and mean-standardized using facility-by-year FEs, no own history interacted with peer exposure, and own history.

Figure 2.3 traces out the effect of peer exposure on the cumulative risk of experiencing adverse events related to each behavioral category by month t after the end of the NBIC placement (with 90% confidence intervals). Separate lines are shown for youths with and without a history of the behavior. Among youths with a history of substance abuse, the estimated effect on post-placement substance abuse is positive for the full 12-month window and appears to be slightly increasing in size over time. The point estimates are statistically significant (at conventional levels) at all time points except month 5. For youths with no history of substance abuse, the point estimates are negative and lack statistical significance.

For self-harm, the effect is positive and increases over the months following placement exit among youths with a prior history of self-harm. The effect is statistically significant in months 6-7 and from month 9 onward. Among youths with no such prior history, the point estimates are close to zero during the year post-placement.

2.4.2 Heterogeneity

Prior studies document important gender and age differences in the prevalence of substance abuse and self-harm as well as susceptibility to peer influence (Kloos et al., 2009; Bresin and Schoenleber, 2015; Laursen and Veenstra, 2021). There is

Figure 2.3. Effect of Peers on Post-Exit Outcomes



Note: Black lines show OLS estimates of the effect of peers on the cumulative probability of experiencing an adverse event related to substance abuse and self-harm (respectively) by month t post-exit. The relevant outcome is stated in the subfigure heading. Dashed lines show 90% confidence bands. All specifications condition on being in Sweden during month t.

also some evidence of heterogeneity in these behaviors by foreign background (Jablonska et al., 2009; Cristini et al., 2015). Hence, I first split the sample by gender, age, and foreign background. Results are presented in Table 2.5. Columns 3, 6, and 9 of Table 2.5 give the difference between the point estimates in the preceding two columns. Interestingly, there is evidence of an introductory peer effect in substance abuse among youths younger than 15. Compared to youths aged 15 or older, the introductory peer effect estimate is significantly larger (p-value=0.054). The point estimate for youths younger than 15 (12.4) implies that a 1-standard deviation (0.19) increase in peer substance abuse raises the risk of experiencing adverse outcomes related to substance abuse from 11.9% to 14.3% at the mean (i.e. by 19.6%).

Note: The dependent variable (indicated in the panel heading) is any adverse event related to substance abuse or self-harm (respectively) during the 1-12 months after exit from the first placement spell at NBIC. Each dependent variable is regressed on first-day peer exposure interacted with the youth's history of the behavior. The 'Main Analysis Sample' is restricted to the subsample indicated in the top row. All specifications are estimated using OLS and include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .05. *** p < .01. (0.1177) 0.1736^{*} (0.0900)(0.4416)-0.0326 (0.0817) 0.1007122890.5707 12289ত ব Age at Placement ≥15 yrs (0.0579) -0.0499 (0.0534)(0.1703)(0.0337)-0.00810.0667 0.49500.1258 0.3178^{*} 0.15630.0258 9561 9561 8 <15 yrs (0.1045) 0.1236^* (0.0740)(0.4154)(0.0757) -0.04070.16740.40440.11950.8885*' 0.1207 0.03472728 2728 6 (0.5514)0.1523(0.1262) -0.0326 (0.1051)(0.0926)-0.051012293 -0.253712293 ⊚⊲ Background (0.0553)0.0197(0.0491)(0.1687)(0.0346)Native 0.1346^{**} 0.1240 9508 -0.02700.15150.02950.4790 0.4389^{**} 9508 2 Foreign (0.1184) -0.0129 (0.0968)0.1852(0.5474) (0.0893)0.1224 2785 0.08350.49960.12520.14140.02252785 (4)(0.0982) 0.0488 (0.0848) -0.0085 (0.4185) -0.0002 (0.0586) 0.111512346 12346 3 \triangleleft (0.0393)(0.0677) -0.0502 (0.0602)(0.3707)0.0737 0.1259 8037 0.0167 0.06190.0173 Gender 0.53040.33528037 Boy (2)(0.0714) -0.0013 (0.0600)0.3906(0.1932)0.0165(0.0436)0.1852*** $0.1194 \\ 4309$ 0.3266* 0.19110.04914309 $(\underline{1})$ Not substance abuse*Peer substance abuse Substance abuse*Peer substance abuse A: Substance Abuse, Months 1-12 Dependent mean if own hist.=1 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 Dependent mean if own hist.=1 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 Not self-harm*Peer self-harm B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12 Self-harm^{*}Peer self-harm Observations Observations

Table 2.5. Heterogeneity of Peer Effects in Substance Abuse and Self-Harm I

Prior studies document that peer effects tend to be stronger in groups with similar characteristics (e.g., Billings and Schnepel, 2022). To inspect whether peer effects increase with connectivity in the current context, I calculate two measures of peer exposure: (i) the share of peers with history h and the same sex as the focal youth and (ii) the share of peers with history h and the opposite sex as the focal youth. In Table A10, I regress the main outcomes on these genderspecific peer measures, interacted with own history. The results suggest that the reinforcing peer effects in substance abuse and self-harm are entirely driven by exposure to peers of the same sex. In fact, the point estimated effects of oppositesex peer history are negative and lack statistical significance. The differences in point estimates are significant at the 5-10% level. Turning to foreign background, there is less evidence of larger peer effects with connectivity (Table A11).

Heterogeneity can also be explored using placement characteristics (Table 2.6). First, I split the sample by peer group size on the day of the focal youth's arrival. The effects might vary by peer size for several reasons. For example, a larger group might facilitate homophily (i.e. clustering of similar youths) as there are more peers to choose from when deciding who to interact with. Hence, the effect of an increase in the share of peers with a certain history might be amplified among youths with the same history in large groups. In addition, the effect of increasing the share of peers with a history of behavior *h* can vary by the size of the peer group since the same percent increase translates into different changes in the total number of peers with a history of *h*.

As shown in column 3 of Table 2.6, there is a statistically significant difference in effect size for substance abuse. Specifically, the effect of peer substance abuse is larger (significant at the 5% level) when there are more than 20 peers available on the first day of the youth's arrival. For self-harm, there is only minor evidence of a larger impact of peer self-harm among peer groups with more than 20 youths, but only if the youth does not have a prior history of self-harm.

How crowded the facility is on the day of arrival may also be important for the transmission of harmful behaviors. If there are unusually many youths, it might be more difficult for staff to detect contraband such as drugs, peer-to-peer victimization, and inappropriate interactions. In columns 4-5 of Table 2.6, I split the sample by whether there are more peers on the first day than the median within that facility-by-year cell. However, I find no statistically significant differences.

Moreover, being further away from home might facilitate peer influence by limiting external contact (Dobson and Dozois, 2008). Hence, I explore heterogeneity by whether the facility is in the youth's home county in columns 7-9 of Table 2.6 but again find no statistically significant differences.

		Peer Count		High Sl	nare Occupi	ed Beds	Acro	ss-County l	vlove
	(1) <20 peers	(2) >20 peers	∇ (3)	(4) Yes	(5) No	(9)	(7) Yes	(8) No	(6)
A: Substance Abuse, Months 1-12									
Substance abuse*Peer substance abuse	0.0621	0.3254^{***}	-0.2634**	0.1615^{*}	0.1880^{***}	-0.0265	0.1471^{**}	0.1264	0.0208
	(0.0568)	(0.1078)	(0.1223)	(0.0959)	(0.0604)	(0.1126)	(0.0611)	(0.0873)	(0.1055)
Not substance abuse*Peer substance abuse	-0.0202	0.0746	-0.0948	0.0543	0.0162	0.0381	-0.0251	0.0438	-0.0689
	(0.0467)	(0.1052)	(0.1156)	(0.0886)	(0.0517)	(0.1018)	(0.0543)	(0.0727)	(0.0899)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	0.4752	0.4929		0.4881	0.4796		0.4888	0.4681	
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.1203	0.1277		0.1332	0.1179		0.1259	0.1191	
Observations	6929	5420	12349	4616	7698	12314	8501	3778	12279
B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12									
Self-harm*Peer self-harm	0.4098^{**}	0.2016	0.2082	0.3540	0.4208^{**}	-0.0668	0.2587	0.6360^{**}	-0.3773
	(0.1809)	(0.3573)	(0.4020)	(0.2665)	(0.1971)	(0.3297)	(0.1914)	(0.3029)	(0.3575)
Not self-harm*Peer self-harm	-0.0189	0.1364^{*}	-0.1552^{*}	0.0660	-0.0190	0.0850	-0.0061	0.0317	-0.0378
	(0.0341)	(0.0772)	(0.0847)	(0.0683)	(0.0357)	(0.0764)	(0.0377)	(0.0590)	(0.0694)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	0.1686	0.1145		0.1429	0.1538		0.1381	0.1754	
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.0316	0.0231		0.0271	0.0283		0.0289	0.0255	
Observations	6929	5420	12349	4616	7698	12314	8501	3778	12279
Note: The dependent variable (indicated in the months after exit from the first placement spel of the behavior. The 'Main Analysis Sample' i facility-by-year FFs. Standard errors are cluste	ne panel headi Il at NBIC. Eac s restricted to	ng) is any ad h dependent the subsampl litv-bv-dav-of	verse event variable is re e indicated : -entry level	related to spressed on the top r $n < 1^{-1}$	iubstance al first-day pe ow. All spectrum $n < 0.5$ *	buse or self ter exposur cifications $i^{**} n < 01$	-harm (resp e interacted are estimate	ectively) dı with the y ed using OL	iring the 1-1: outh's history S and includ
the second second second second for farming the farming second se		((a (are			$V \sim V \sim V$				

Ш Table 2.6. Heterogeneity of Peer Effects in Substance Abuse and Self-Harm

111

While the effects are imprecisely estimated in some subsamples, the point estimated effects of peer substance abuse and self-harm among youths with a history of the behavior are positive in all subsamples presented in Tables 2.5-2.6.

2.4.3 Placebo & Robustness Checks

Table A3 offers a place bo test in which the main peer measures are replaced with the share of peers with history h in facility f 180 days *before* the youth enters the facility.

Robustness checks related to specification decisions are presented in Table C1. Baseline results are provided in Panel A for comparison. The results are robust to controlling for the full set of child, parent, and peer characteristics (see Table 2.1) and the crime rate in the youth's home municipality in the month before intake (Panel B). The results are also robust to controlling for the leave-out mean history of the behavior of interest within the randomization cell (Panel C). Moreover, I demonstrate robustness to clustering the standard errors at the facility-by-year level (Panel D) and replacing facility-by-year FEs with facility-by-history and year FEs (Panel E).

In Table C2, I present evidence that the results are robust to sample selection by restricting the sample to placements longer than 14 days (Panel A), placements without imputed exit dates (Panel B), placements starting in 2003 or later (Panel C), placements starting before 2019 (Panel D), and youths who were not placed at the same facility and at the same time as their full or half sibling (Panel E). Last, I demonstrate robustness to how peer exposure is measured in Panels F-G by replacing the main peer measures with the share of peers with history h on the day after entry (Panel F), the average share of peers with history h during the first 0-2 days after entry (Panel G), and the number of peers with history hon the first day of entry (Panel H).

The results are also robust to dropping each facility (Tables C3-C6).

2.5 Mechanisms

My analysis suggests that being exposed to peers who have a background of substance abuse and self-harm has large adverse effects on the post-placement outcomes of youths with a history of such behaviors. In this section, I explore mechanisms through which peer exposure can impact post-placement outcomes.

2.5.1 Decomposed Effects on Post-Placement Outcomes

First, I unpack the estimated peer effects by estimating the effects of peer substance abuse on the individual variables included in the construction of my main measure of post-placement substance abuse. Post-placement substance abuse takes the value 1 if the youth is hospitalized, dies, or is readmitted to an NBIC youth facility due to substance abuse or commits a narcotic crime during the 1-12 months after placement termination. In Table 2.7, I regress the composite outcome and components of the composite outcome on the main measure of peer substance abuse interacted with own history. Among youths with a history of substance abuse, the point estimated effect of exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse is positive in all columns but lacks statistical significance when the outcome is narcotic crime and cannabis-related hospitalizations.

In Table 2.8, I decompose the effect of exposure to peers with a history of selfharm. The first column of Table 2.8 provides the baseline results. The composite measure of self-harm includes hospitalizations and deaths due to confirmed and potential self-harm. In columns 2-5, I regress each variable on the composite measure of peer self-harm. The reinforcing peer effect in self-harm appears to be driven by an increase in the risk of being hospitalized due to both confirmed and potential self-harm.

The lack of a statistically significant increase in narcotic crime following exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse might be explained by the youths' living situation after placement. First, if youths commit crimes before placement exit for which they are sentenced to serve time in prison, they might not be able to commit narcotic crimes in the 1-12 months after placement exit. Second, prosecutors are encouraged to drop cases against institutionalized youths (The Prosecutor-General of Sweden, 2006). Hence, if peer exposure increases the risk of being readmitted I might not be able to observe a rise in narcotic crimes even if there is a meaningful effect. Table A6 presents evidence that exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse increases the likelihood of being readmitted (for any reason) to NBIC and lowers the likelihood of being placed in a foster family among youths with a prior history of substance abuse.²⁷ The point estimate for being placed in prison is positive but imprecise for youths with a history of substance abuse.²⁸

²⁷Figure A3 shows the share of youths in out-of-home care in the months after exiting their first placement at NBIC.

²⁸The estimates for prison and adult addiction treatment should be interpreted with caution given the small sample. Since prison and adult addiction treatment are rare outcomes for youths under age 18, I limit the sample to youths who are at least 18 at the time of exit, which leaves fewer than 3,000 youths.

Months 1-12
Abuse, 1
Substance .
Peers on
Effect of
Decomposed
Table 2.7.

	Composite	Due to	Substance	Use	Committed		Hos	pitalized due	e to	
	(1)	(2) Death,	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6) Any	(7)	(8)	(6)	(10) Other
	Substance Abuse	Hosp. or Readmission	Death	Readmission	Narcotic Crime	Substance Abuse	Alcohol	Narcotics	Cannabis	Substance Abuse
History of Substance Abuse Own history*Peer hist.	0.1247^{**}	0.1213^{***}	0.0041**	0.0822*	0.0178	0.0952***	0.0245*	0.0165**	0.0111	0.0780***
,	(0.0490)	(0.0458)	(0.0019)	(0.0434)	(0.0482)	(0.0274)	(0.0126)	(0.0072)	(0.0124)	(0.0207)
No own history*Peer hist.	-0.0123	-0.0054	-0.0010	0.0160	-0.0012	-0.0119	0.0017	0.0023	0.0075	-0.0123
	(0.0421)	(0.0376)	(0.0018)	(0.0350)	(0.0433)	(0.0223)	(0.0121)	(0.0055)	(0.0100)	(0.0162)
Dep. mean if own hist.=1	0.4829	0.3481	0.0024	0.2947	0.2775	0.0979	0.0196	0.0069	0.0164	0.0622
Dep. mean if own hist.=0	0.1236	0.0758	0.0000	0.0581	0.0772	0.0235	0.0102	0.0008	0.0042	0.0087
Test of equality (<i>p</i> -value)	0.0008	0.0005	0.0103	0.0550	0.6379	0.0000	0.0324	0.0052	0.6835	0.0000
Observations	12372	12372	12372	12327	9518	12327	12327	12327	12327	12327
Note: Each dependent variabl	le at the top of	the table is regre	ssed on pee	r history of subs	stance abuse in	teracted with	own history	y of substanc	te abuse. The	'Main

Analysis Sample' is used. In columns 4-10, youths who died during the first 12 months are excluded (N=45). In column 5, youths aged below 15 are excluded because such young children are not observable in the National Council for Crime Prevention's crime register. All estimations include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-of-entry level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

	Composite	Known Int	ent	Unknown Ir	itent
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(2)
	Self-Harm	Hospitalization	Death	Hospitalization	Death
History of Self-Harm					
Own history*Peer history	0.4032^{**}	0.3163^{**}	0.0000	0.4078^{**}	-0.005
	(0.1609)	(0.1576)	(0.0179)	(0.1606)	(0.019)
No own history*Peer history	-0.0040	-0.0038	-0.0005	-0.0070	0.0035
	(0.0310)	(0.0296)	(0.0041)	(0.0306)	(0.056
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	0.1500	0.1400	0.0030	0.1476	0.003(
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.0278	0.0241	0.0009	0.0268	0.001
Test of equality (<i>p</i> -value)	0.0106	0.0396	0.9790	0.0090	0.6697
Observations	12372	12327	12372	12327	12372

Table 2.8. Decomposed Effect of Peers on Self-Harm, Months 1-12

Note: Each dependent variable at the top of the table is regressed on peer history of self-harm interacted with own history of self-harm. The 'Main Analysis Sample' is used. In columns 2 and 4, youths who died during the first 12 months are excluded (N=45). All estimations include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

2.5.2 Socialization and Co-Harming

If peers with a history of substance abuse and self-harm are more likely to engage in these activities at NBIC than other peers, such an increase in exposure to incidents involving substance abuse and self-harm during placement can impact own risk of substance abuse and self-harm through, for example, triggering of craving or emotional distress (Walton et al., 1995). In addition, youths who identify with peers who engage in these behaviors may imitate the behavior and join their peers, which can be a form of socialization and create a sense of closeness and community (Taiminen et al., 1998). The intensity and frequency of own behavior may increase to match peer behavior. Due to the addictive nature of both behaviors (Davis and Lewis, 2019), such an increase in frequency and intensity can impact the risk of experiencing adverse outcomes even after placement.

To shed some light on this mechanism, I first examine whether first-day peer composition affects the likelihood of death, hospitalization, and narcotic crimes during placement. Figure 2.4 traces out the effects of first-day peer composition on the risk of experiencing adverse events related to substance abuse and self-harm during the months after admission but before placement termination. Since placements last for 5 months on average, the confidence intervals are wide toward the end of the displayed 12-month window.

Figure 2.4. Effect of Peers on Behavioral Outcomes During Placement



Note: Black lines show OLS estimates of the effect of peers on the cumulative probability of an adverse event related to substance abuse and self-harm (respectively) occurring by month t post-intake. The relevant outcome is stated in the subfigure heading. Dashed (dotted) lines show 90% confidence bands for youths with (without) a history of the behavior. All specifications condition on the NBIC placement ending after month t.

In line with the main results, the point estimates for peer substance abuse and self-harm are positive among youths with a prior history of the corresponding behavior for the full 12-month window. However, the estimates are imprecise. For substance abuse, the reinforcing peer effect is significant at the 5-10% level in months 6-7 and 9, while for self-harm, the estimate is significant at the 5-10%

level in months 3 and 10-12.²⁹

Moreover, there appears to be considerable clustering of severe substance abuse and self-harm incidents: almost 1 in 4 youths who are hospitalized for selfharm while placed at NBIC are hospitalized (at least once) in the same month as their peer is hospitalized for the same reason. An equivalent share is observed among youths who are hospitalized for substance abuse while placed at NBIC.

If peer behavior affects own behavior through direct exposure to substance abuse and self-harm incidents, we should expect an effect of exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse (but not self-harm) on the length of time the youth spends at NBIC because the placement length depends on whether the youth threatens their health or development through substance abuse, criminal activity, or other destructive behavior (excluding self-harm). In Table A7, I regress the effective number of days spent at NBIC (excluding any time on the run or in isolation) on each peer measure interacted by own history. As expected, exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse significantly increases (1% level) the time youths with a history of substance abuse spend at NBIC. Exposure to peers with a history of self-harm, on the other hand, does not significantly increase placement duration.

All in all, these results speak in favor of peers influencing youth substance abuse and self-harm through direct exposure to peer behavior.

2.5.3 Interrupted Treatment

Peer composition may affect post-placement outcomes by hampering treatment provision. In particular, substance-abusing youths might coordinate to help each other escape and use substances outside the treatment facilities. In support of this channel, I find evidence that exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse increases the number of days on the run if the youth has a history of substance abuse (Table A7).^{30,31} However, the reinforcing peer effect in substance abuse is

²⁹My measures of substance abuse and self-harm are largely based on hospital data. However, there are staff members at each NBIC facility around the clock. Hence, drug use and self-harming acts committed at NBIC might be caught *before* the youth can overdose or inflict serious injury to themselves, thereby avoiding hospitalization. In addition, there is medically trained staff at all NBIC facilities. These staff members can potentially handle some injuries that would otherwise warrant hospitalization.

³⁰Even though the security of NBIC facilities is supposed to be high, it is surprisingly common to escape: almost 1 in 5 manage to escape at least one time during their first placement spell.

³¹Treatment can also be affected by being placed in isolation, which implies that the youth is kept separate from the other youths and only has contact with staff members. However, it is not evident that exposure to substance abusing or self-harming peers would influence time spent in isolation. Isolation is supposed to be used if staff members believe that the youth will benefit from receiving care alone. Isolation is sometimes (inaccurately) used as a punishment. As shown in Table A7, no statistically significant effects are found on the likelihood of being placed in isolation or the number of days spent in isolation.

still large and statistically significant in the subsample of youths who never run away during their first placement spell (Table A12).

If a peer group is functioning poorly (e.g., frequent overdoses and self-harming incidents), some youths may need to be moved. Such a move naturally creates a discontinuity in treatment provision as the youth who moves must establish new relationships with treatment providers. Such discontinuities in treatment can have adverse effects on the youth's recovery process. However, as shown in columns 2-3 of Table A7, I find no statistically significant effects of peer composition on the likelihood of switching facilities or the number of facility switches during the placement spell.

2.5.4 Quality of Care

Exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse and self-harm might adversely affect own outcomes because such peers are, possibly, especially resourcedemanding and, thereby, negatively affect the quality of care available to the focal youth. For example, a youth who self-harms frequently might require close supervision around the clock, which could affect how much time staff can allocate to other youths. Hence, my findings might not be driven by a social interaction effect. To shed some light on this potential channel, I consider other groups of youths who likely require high-intensity care: youths with neurodevelopmental disorders, youths who have committed violent crimes, and youths who have committed such serious crimes that they are sentenced to serve time at NBIC (e.g., murder).

In Panel A of Table A13, I regress my main outcomes (substance abuse and self-harm, months 1-12) on the share of peers with neurodevelopmental disorders interacted with own history of substance abuse and self-harm, respectively. The point estimates are negative and not statistically significant, suggesting that exposure to neurodivergent peers does not increase the risk of experiencing adverse events related to substance abuse or self-harm after placement exit.

Being exposed to violent and hardened criminals can impact the probability of engaging in substance abuse and self-harm through multiple channels. Violent and hardened criminals can be resource-demanding in the sense that staff members may need to spend more time breaking off fights, writing incident reports, and caring for youths put in isolation. However, exposure to such youths can also impact future outcomes through an increased risk of victimization. Nevertheless, as shown in Panels B-C of Table A13, there is little evidence that exposure to peers with such backgrounds increases the risk of experiencing adverse events related to substance abuse and self-harm.

While I cannot offer conclusive evidence, these results suggest that the main results (reinforcing peer effects in substance abuse and self-harm) are not driven by exposure to resource-demanding peers.

2.5.5 Spread of Mental Illness

It has been suggested that mental disorders such as depression are "contagious", i.e. being exposed to depressed peers increases the risk of developing depression (e.g., Giulietti et al., 2022). In turn, depression and other mental disorders are predictors of self-harm and substance abuse (Beautrais, 2000; Bostwick et al., 2016). However, as shown in Table A5, there is no statistically significant effect of peer depression on the likelihood of experiencing adverse events related to substance abuse or self-harm in the year following placement. Likewise, regressing an indicator for hospitalization due to depression on peer depression interacted with own history of depression does not yield significant estimates (Table A8). In fact, the point estimated effect on future depression is negative. Hence, my results do not support the existence of depression contagion. Neither can I find any evidence that exposure to peers with a history of any other mental disorder (excluding substance abuse and self-harm) adversely affects own mental health. Nevertheless, I cannot rule out the existence of peer effects in depression or other mental disorders. For example, I only measure outcomes during the year after placement exit, but it may take several years before an effect on hospitalizations from depression can be detected.

2.5.6 Networks, Availability, and Learning

Placement with a higher share of youths with a history of substance abuse may expand the youth's network of dealers and increase the availability of addictive substances. This channel might be especially relevant if the youth moves to a new county because their capacity to smuggle addictive substances into NBIC is likely lower if the facility is far from their network of dealers. However, as shown in Table 2.6, there is no statistically significant difference in the reinforcing peer effect in substance abuse by whether the youth must move to a new county.

Being exposed to a higher share of peers with a history of substance abuse and self-harm may also facilitate future substance abuse and self-harm through social learning. Youths might teach each other about heavier substances, potent drug combinations, and administration methods to maximize the desired effect, thereby increasing the risk of hospitalization and death. Likewise, there may occur youth-to-youth spread of knowledge about how to effectively self-harm with available material. If learning is an important driver, we should expect larger effects for youths with relatively low knowledge or experience of the behavior.

The lack of introductory peer effects (i.e. peer effects for youths with no history of the behavior) in the full sample speaks against social learning being a major driver of peer influence.

If knowledge and experience are correlated with age, we should expect larger peer effects in young subsamples. Indeed, there is evidence of an introductory peer effect in substance abuse among youths aged below 15 (Table 2.5). However, no further evidence suggests that the youngest youths are most adversely affected.

2.6 Conclusion

This paper examines how exposure to youths with a history of substance abuse and self-harm affects other youths' outcomes. To identify causal peer effects, I exploit novel data on youths placed in residential treatment facilities and plausibly exogenous variation in peer composition within facility-by-year cells stemming from the steady flow of new admissions and discharges.

The results yield strong evidence of reinforcing peer effects in substance abuse and self-harm. Exposing individuals with a pre-placement history of substance abuse (self-harm) to a higher share of peers with a history of the *same* behavior increases the risk of experiencing adverse events related to substance abuse (self-harm) in the year after discharge. The strong effects persist even after controlling for a rich set of alternative peer characteristics (crime, neurodevelopmental disorder, depression, other mental disorder, gender, age, and foreign background). In contrast, I find little evidence of introductory peer effects.

Heterogeneity analysis by child characteristics (gender, foreign background, and age) and placement characteristics (peer group size, crowdedness, and acrosscounty move) yield reinforcing peer effects in all subsamples. However, the estimates are often imprecise due to the smaller sample size. Few significant differences are detected.

The reinforcing peer effect in substance abuse is primarily driven by an increase in the risk of death and hospitalization due to abuse of other addictive substances than cannabis. For self-harm, the reinforcing peer effect is driven by an increased risk of being hospitalized from self-harm.

I investigate possible mechanisms and find some evidence of adverse peer effects already during placement. In addition, there is considerable clustering in incidents. Among youths who are hospitalized for self-harm or substance abuse during placement, almost 1 in 4 are hospitalized at least once in the same month as their peer is hospitalized for the same reason. These results speak in favor of direct exposure to peer behavior being an important driver. I also find some evidence that exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse leads to disruptions of treatment provision through increased time spent on the run from NBIC.

While I cannot rule out any alternative mechanisms, I find no evidence that the results are driven by a higher share of resource-demanding peers, depressed peers, or peers who have other mental disorders (excluding substance abuse and self-harm). Neither do I find much evidence in support of an expanded network of dealers, increased drug availability, or learning being major drivers of the adverse peer effects in substance abuse and self-harm. All in all, the adverse effects of exposure to peers with a history of substance abuse and self-harm on post-discharge outcomes are likely generated by peers reinforcing each others' addictive and self-harming behaviors through social influence.

This paper is limited to youths placed in residential facilities. The social spillovers of substance abuse, self-harm, crime, and mental disorders might be very different for other populations (e.g., adults), in other settings (e.g., schools), and for other types of relationships (e.g., parent-child interactions). Moreover, 95% of the youths in the studied sample are placed involuntarily. A study conducted using youths who are voluntarily admitted for treatment in residential facilities might yield different results. Future studies on spillovers in substance abuse and self-harm using other samples are needed.

Bibliography

- Abadie, A., Athey, S., Imbens, G. W., & Wooldridge, J. M. (2023). When should you adjust standard errors for clustering? *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *138*(1), 1–35.
- Adhvaryu, A., Fenske, J., & Nyshadham, A. (2019). Early life circumstance and adult mental health. *Journal of Political Economy*, *127*(4), 1516–1549.
- Aizer, A. (2009). Peer effects, institutions and human capital accumulation: The externalities of ADD. *NBER Working Paper Series*, *No. 14354*.
- Aizer, A., & Doyle, J. J. (2015). Juvenile incarceration, human capital, and future crime: Evidence from randomly assigned judges. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 130(2), 759–803.
- Allen, J. P., Chango, J., Szwedo, D., Schad, M., & Marston, E. (2012). Predictors of susceptibility to peer influence regarding substance use in adolescence. *Child Development*, 83(1), 337–350.
- Alpert, A., Evans, W. N., Lieber, E. M. J., & Powell, D. (2022). Origins of the opioid crisis and its enduring impacts. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 137(2), 1139–1179.
- Altonji, J. G., Elder, T. E., & Taber, C. R. (2005). Selection on observed and unobserved variables: Assessing the effectiveness of Catholic schools. *Journal of Political Economy*, *113*(1), 151–184.
- Baranov, V., Bhalotra, S., Biroli, P., & Maselko, J. (2020). Maternal depression, women's empowerment, and parental investment: Evidence from a randomized controlled trial. *American Economic Review*, 110(3), 824–859.
- Bayer, P., Hjalmarsson, R., & Pozen, D. (2009). Building criminal capital behind bars: Peer effects in juvenile corrections. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *124*(1), 105.
- Beautrais, A. L. (2000). Risk factors for suicide and attempted suicide among young people. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 34(3), 420-436.
- Beetham, T., Saloner, B., Gaye, M., Wakeman, S. E., Frank, R. G., & Barnett, M. L. (2020). Therapies offered at residential addiction treatment programs in the United States. *JAMA*, 324(8), 804.

- Billings, S. B., Deming, D. J., & Rockoff, J. (2014). School segregation, educational attainment, and crime: Evidence from the end of busing in Charlotte-Mecklenburg. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 129(1), 435–476.
- Billings, S. B., Deming, D. J., & Ross, S. L. (2019). Partners in crime. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 11(1), 126–50.
- Billings, S. B., & Hoekstra, M. (2019). Schools, neighborhoods, and the long-run effect of crime-prone peers. *NBER Working Paper Series, No. 25730.*
- Billings, S. B., & Schnepel, K. T. (2022). Hanging out with the usual suspects: Neighborhood peer effects and recidivism. *Journal of Human Resources*.
- Blume, L. E., Brock, W. A., Durlauf, S. N., & Jayaraman, R. (2015). Linear social interactions models. *Journal of Political Economy*, *123*(2), 444–496.
- Bostwick, J. M., Pabbati, C., Geske, J. R., & McKean, A. J. (2016). Suicide attempt as a risk factor for completed suicide: Even more lethal than we knew. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *173*(11), 1094–1100.
- Bramoullé, Y., Djebbari, H., & Fortin, B. (2009). Identification of peer effects through social networks. *Journal of Econometrics*, *150*(1), 41–55.
- Bresin, K., & Schoenleber, M. (2015). Gender differences in the prevalence of nonsuicidal self-injury: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *38*, 55– 64.
- Brown, R. T. (2002). Risk factors for substance abuse in adolescents. *Pediatric Clinics of North America*, 49(2), 247–255.
- Bütikofer, A., Ginja, R., Landaud, F., & Løken, K. V. (2020). School selectivity, peers, and mental health. *Working Paper*.
- Card, D., & Giuliano, L. (2013). Peer effects and multiple equilibria in the risky behavior of friends. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 95(4), 1130–1149.
- Carrell, S. E., Hoekstra, M., & Kuka, E. (2018). The long-run effects of disruptive peers. *American Economic Review*, *108*(11), 3377–3415.
- Carrell, S. E., & Hoekstra, M. L. (2010). Externalities in the classroom: How children exposed to domestic violence affect everyone's kids. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 2*(1), 211–28.
- Case, A. C., & Katz, L. F. (1991). The company you keep: The effects of family and neighborhood on disadvantaged youths. *NBER Working Paper Series, No. 3705.*

CDC. (2023). Web-based injury statistics query and reporting system (WISQARS).

- Chyn, E., & Katz, L. F. (2021). Neighborhoods matter: Assessing the evidence for place effects. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *35*(4), 197–222.
- Corno, L. (2017). Homelessness and crime: Do your friends matter? *The Economic Journal*, *127*(602), 959–995.
- Costello, B. J., Anderson, B. J., & Stein, M. (2021). Peer influence in initiation to heroin use. *Journal of Drug Issues*, *51*(2), 323–339.

- Cristini, F., Scacchi, L., Perkins, D. D., Bless, K. D., & Vieno, A. (2015). Drug use among immigrant and non-immigrant adolescents: Immigrant paradox, family and peer influences. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, *25*(6), 531–548.
- Damm, A. P., & Dustmann, C. (2014). Does growing up in a high crime neighborhood affect youth criminal behavior? *American Economic Review*, *104*(6), 1806–32.
- Damm, A. P., & Gorinas, C. (2020). Prison as a criminal school: Peer effects and criminal learning behind bars. *Journal of Law and Economics*, *63*(1), 149–180.
- Davis, S., & Lewis, C. A. (2019). Addiction to self-harm? The case of online postings on self-harm message boards. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *17*(4), 1020–1035.
- Degenhardt, L., & Hall, W. (2012). Extent of illicit drug use and dependence, and their contribution to the global burden of disease. *The Lancet*, *379*(9810), 55–70.
- Deming, D. J. (2011). Better schools, less crime? *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *126*(4), 2063–2115.
- Dishion, T. J., & Tipsord, J. M. (2011). Peer contagion in child and adolescent social and emotional development. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *62*(1), 189–214.
- Dobson, K. S., & Dozois, D. J. (2008). Risk factors in depression.
- Doyle, J. J., & Aizer, A. (2018). Economics of child protection: Maltreatment, foster care, and intimate partner violence. *Annual Review of Economics*, *10*(1), 87–108.
- Duncan, G., Boisjoly, J., Kremer, M., Levy, D. M., & Eccles, J. (2005). Peer effects in drug use and sex among college students. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *33*(3), 375–385.
- Eisenberg, D., Golberstein, E., & Whitlock, J. L. (2014). Peer effects on risky behaviors: New evidence from college roommate assignments. *Journal of Health Economics*, 33, 126–138.
- Eren, O., & Mocan, N. (2021). Juvenile punishment, high school graduation, and adult crime: Evidence from idiosyncratic judge harshness. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 103(1), 34–47.
- Font, S., & Mills, C. J. (2022). Safe from harm? Peer effects and criminal capital formation in foster care. *Working Paper*.
- Fruehwirth, J. C., Iyer, S., & Zhang, A. (2019). Religion and depression in adolescence. *Journal of Political Economy*, *127*(3), 1178–1209.
- Gaviria, A., & Raphael, S. (2001). School-based peer effects and juvenile behavior. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, *83*(2), 257–268.
- Getik, D., & Meier, A. N. (2022). Peer gender and mental health. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 197, 643–659.

- Giulietti, C., Vlassopoulos, M., & Zenou, Y. (2022). Peers, gender, and long-term depression. *European Economic Review*, 144, 104084.
- Glaeser, E. L., Sacerdote, B., & Scheinkman, J. A. (1996). Crime and social interactions. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 111(2), 507–548.
- Golberstein, E., Eisenberg, D., & Downs, M. F. (2016). Spillover effects in health service use: Evidence from mental health care using first-year college housing assignments. *Health Economics*.
- Golsteyn, B. H. H., Non, A., & Zoelitz, U. (2020). The impact of peer personality on academic achievement. *Journal of Political Economy*.
- Guryan, J., Kroft, K., & Notowidigdo, M. J. (2009). Peer effects in the workplace: Evidence from random groupings in professional golf tournaments. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 1(4), 34–68.
- Gutterswijk, R. V., Kuiper, C. H. Z., Lautan, N., Kunst, E. G., Van Der Horst, F. C. P., Stams, G. J. J. M., & Prinzie, P. (2020). The outcome of nonresidential youth care compared to residential youth care: A multilevel meta-analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 113, 104950.
- Harris, H. M., Nakamura, K., & Bucklen, K. B. (2018). Do cellmates matter? A causal test of the schools of crime hypothesis with implications for differential association and deterrence theories. *Criminology*, *56*(1), 87–122.
- Hawton, K., Saunders, K. E. A., & O'Connor, R. C. (2012). Self-harm and suicide in adolescents. *The Lancet*, *379*(9834), 2373–2382.
- Hawton, K., Zahl, D., & Weatherall, R. (2003). Suicide following deliberate selfharm: Long-term follow-up of patients who presented to a general hospital. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *182*(6), 537–542.
- Helénsdotter, R. (2023). Surviving childhood: Health and crime effects of removing a child from home. *Working Paper*.
- Hilt, L. M., & Hamm, E. H. (2014). Peer influences on non-suicidal self-injury and disordered eating. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Hjalmarsson, R. (2009). Juvenile jails: A path to the straight and narrow or to hardened criminality? *Journal of Law and Economics*, 52(4), 779–809.
- Hjalmarsson, R., & Lindquist, M. J. (2012). Like godfather, like son. *Journal of Human Resources*, 47(2), 550–582.
- Jablonska, B., Lindberg, L., Lindblad, F., & Hjern, A. (2009). Ethnicity, socio-economic status and self-harm in Swedish youth: A national cohort study. *Psychological Medicine*, *39*(1), 87–94.
- Jacob, B. A., & Lefgren, L. (2003). Are idle hands the devil's workshop? Incapacitation, concentration, and juvenile crime. *American Economic Review*, *93*(5), 1560–1577.
- Jarvi, S., Jackson, B., Swenson, L., & Crawford, H. (2013). The impact of social contagion on non-suicidal self-injury: A review of the literature. *Archives of Suicide Research*, *17*(1), 1–19.

- Kiessling, L., & Norris, J. (2023). The long-run effects of peers on mental health. *The Economic Journal*, *133*(649), 281–322.
- Kling, J. R., Ludwig, J., & Katz, L. F. (2005). Neighborhood effects on crime for female and male youth: Evidence from a randomized housing voucher experiment. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 120(1), 87–130.
- Kloos, A., Weller, R. A., Chan, R., & Weller, E. B. (2009). Gender differences in adolescent substance abuse. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *11*(2), 120–126.
- Kremer, M., & Levy, D. (2008). Peer effects and alcohol use among college students. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *22*(3), 189–206.
- Laukkanen, E., Rissanen, M.-L., Honkalampi, K., Kylmä, J., Tolmunen, T., & Hintikka, J. (2009). The prevalence of self-cutting and other self-harm among 13- to 18-year-old finnish adolescents. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 44(1), 23–28.
- Laursen, B., & Veenstra, R. (2021). Toward understanding the functions of peer influence: A summary and synthesis of recent empirical research. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 31(4), 889–907.
- Lee, L.-F. (2007). Identification and estimation of econometric models with group interactions, contextual factors and fixed effects. *Journal of Econometrics*, 140(2), 333–374.
- Li, D., Chng, G. S., & Chu, C. M. (2019). Comparing long-term placement outcomes of residential and family foster care: A meta-analysis. *Trauma*, *Violence, & Abuse*, 20(5), 653–664.
- Ludwig, J., Duncan, G. J., & Hirschfield, P. (2001). Urban poverty and juvenile crime: Evidence from a randomized housing-mobility experiment. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *116*(2), 655–679.
- Lundborg, P. (2006). Having the wrong friends? Peer effects in adolescent substance use. *Journal of Health Economics*, *25*(2), 214–233.
- Mahmoud, K. F., Finnell, D., Savage, C. L., Puskar, K. R., & Mitchell, A. M. (2017).
 A concept analysis of substance misuse to inform contemporary terminology. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, *31*(6), 532–540.
- Manski, C. F. (1993). Identification of endogenous social effects: The reflection problem. *Review of Economic Studies*, *60*(3), 531.
- Martínez, V., Jiménez-Molina, Á., & Gerber, M. M. (2023). Social contagion, violence, and suicide among adolescents. *Current opinion in psychiatry*, 36(3), 237–242.
- Neighbors, C., Foster, D. W., & Fossos, N. (2013). Peer influences on addiction. In
 P. M. Miller, A. W. Blume, D. J. Kavanagh, K. M. Kampman, M. E. Bates,
 M. E. Larimer, N. M. Petry, P. De Witte, & S. A. Ball (Eds.), *Principles of* addiction: Comprehensive addictive behaviors and disorders (pp. 323–331, Vol. 1).
- Olea, J. L. M., & Pflueger, C. (2013). A robust test for weak instruments. *Journal* of Business & Economic Statistics, 31(3), 358–369.

- Persson, P., & Rossin-Slater, M. (2018). Family ruptures, stress, and the mental health of the next generation. *American Economic Review*, *108*(4-5), 1214–52.
- Powell, D., Pacula, R. L., & Jacobson, M. (2018). Do medical marijuana laws reduce addictions and deaths related to pain killers? *Journal of Health Economics*, 58, 29–42.
- Pratt, T. C., Cullen, F. T., Sellers, C. S., Thomas Winfree, L., Madensen, T. D., Daigle, L. E., Fearn, N. E., & Gau, J. M. (2010). The empirical status of social learning theory: A meta-analysis. *Justice Quarterly*, 27(6), 765– 802.
- Richardson, B., Surmitis, K., & Hyldahl, R. (2012). Minimizing social contagion in adolescents who self-injure: Considerations for group work, residential treatment, and the internet. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, *34*(2), 121–132.
- Ruhm, C. J. (2019). Drivers of the fatal drug epidemic. *Journal of Health Economics*, 64, 25–42.
- Sacerdote, B. (2011). Peer effects in education: How might they work, how big are they and how much do we know thus far? In E. A. Hanushek, S. J. Machin, & L. Woessmann (Eds.), *Handbook of the economics of education*.
- Sanderson, E., & Windmeijer, F. (2016). A weak instrument F-test in linear IV models with multiple endogenous variables. *Journal of Econometrics*, 190(2), 212–221.
- Santavirta, T., & Sarzosa, M. (2019). Effects of disruptive peers in endogeneous social networks. *Working Paper*.
- Shook, J., Goodkind, S., Pohlig, R. T., Schelbe, L., Herring, D., & Kim, K. H. (2011). Patterns of mental health, substance abuse, and justice system involvement among youth aging out of child welfare. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, *81*(3), 420.
- Stevenson, M. (2017). Breaking bad: Mechanisms of social influence and the path to criminality in juvenile jails. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, *99*(5), 824–838.
- Taiminen, T. J., Kallio-Soukainen, K., Nokso-Koivisto, H., Kaljonen, A., & Helenius, H. (1998). Contagion of deliberate self-harm among adolescent inpatients. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 37(2), 211–217.
- Tarter, R. E., & Vanyukov, M. M. (2001). Introduction: Theoretical and operational framework for research into the etiology of substance use disorders. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse*, 10(4), 1–12.
- The Prosecutor-General of Sweden. (2006). *Riksåklagarens riktlinjer för handläggning av ungdomsärenden* [RåR 2006:3].
- United Nations. (2020). Global study on children deprived of liberty.

- Wakeman, S. E., Larochelle, M. R., Ameli, O., Chaisson, C. E., McPheeters, J. T., Crown, W. H., Azocar, F., & Sanghavi, D. M. (2020). Comparative effectiveness of different treatment pathways for opioid use disorder. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(2), e1920622.
- Walton, M. A., Reischl, T. M., & Ramanathan, C. S. (1995). Social settings and addiction relapse. *Journal of Substance Abuse*, 7(2), 223–233.
- Whittaker, J. K., Holmes, L., Fernandez del Valle, J. C., & James, S. (2022). *Revitalizing residential care for children and youth: Cross-national trends and challenges.* Oxford University Press.
- Zalk, M. H. W. v., Kerr, M., Branje, S. J. T., Stattin, H., & Meeus, W. H. J. (2010). It takes three: Selection, influence, and de-selection processes of depression in adolescent friendship networks. *Developmental Psychology*, *46*(4), 927–938.
- Zhang, A. (2019). Peer effects on mental health: Evidence from random assignment into classrooms. *Working Paper*.

Appendix Tables and Figures

2.A Additional Descriptive Statistics, Tests, and Results



Figure A1. Variation in Residualized Peer History

Note: Variation in peer pre-placement history of substance abuse, self-harm, crime, neurodevelopmental disorder, depression, and other mental illness, respectively, after accounting for facilityby-year FEs. The relevant peer variable is indicated on the x-axis. The '2002-2020 Sample' is used (see Section 2.2.4).



Note: This figure depicts the relationship between total and first-day peer exposure when each peer exposure variable is interacted with own history of substance abuse (plot A), no own history of substance abuse (plot B), own history of self-harm (plot C), and no own history of self-harm (plot D). The histogram in each plot depicts the distribution of own-history-specific first-day peer exposure (leaving out the top and bottom 2%). The solid lines show Kernel-weighted local polynomial regressions of total peer exposure*own history in plots B and D). The dashed lines show 90% confidence bands. The 'Main Analysis Sample' is used (see Section 2.2.4). The plotted values are mean-standardized residuals from regressions on facility-by-year FEs, an indicator for own history, and first-day peer exposure*own history in plots B and D).

Figure A2. Relationship Between First-Day Peer Exposure and Total Peer Exposure
Figure A3. Share of Youths in Out-of-Home Care After First Exit



Note: This figure shows the share of youths (by age at admission) who are in any form of out-ofhome care (including foster family, group home, and institution) for at least one day during month t after exiting NBIC at month 0. The 'Main Analysis Sample' is restricted to youths who exited care before 2013 since the non-NBIC placement data is known to suffer from underreporting from 2014 onward.

	(1) Missing in Statistics Sweden's Register Data	(2) Pacement Ended <12 Months Before end of Hospital Data	(3) Missing in Main Analysis Sample
Peer substance abuse	-0.0009	-0.0051	-0.0047
	(0.0210)	(0.0091)	(0.0229)
Peer self-harm	0.0052	0.0091	0.0055
	(0.0285)	(0.0191)	(0.0354)
Dependent mean	0.0780	0.0751	0.1538
Observations	14621	14621	14621

Note: I use the '2002-2020 Sample' and regress indicators for (i) youth missing in Statistics Sweden's register data, (ii) placement ended less than 12 months before the end of the hospital data (year 2020), and (ii) youth missing in the 'Main Analysis Sample' on my main peer measures. All regressions include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.



Figure A4. Length of Placement Spell

Note: This figure presents the distribution of spell lengths. I use the sample of first-time placements but restricted to placements that start before 2020 since I only have information about exit dates until the end of 2021 (N=15,562).

Figure A5. Number of Admissions by Facility and Year



Note: This histogram shows the number of admissions by facility and year, including admissions of youths who have been placed at NBIC before. The number of youth by facility admissions is 51,079.

Table A1. Test of Selective Attrition

	Predicted Su Pos	bstance Abuse t-Exit	Predicted S Post-	elf-Harm Exit
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Peer substance abuse	0.1453***	0.0016	0.0045*	0.0001
	(0.0058)	(0.0036)	(0.0025)	(0.0012)
Peer self-harm	0.0326*	0.0006	0.0560***	-0.0014
	(0.0168)	(0.0067)	(0.0090)	(0.0021)
Peer crime	-0.0328***	0.0035	-0.0181***	-0.0005
	(0.0087)	(0.0041)	(0.0047)	(0.0013)
Peer NDD	0.1569***	0.0004	-0.0063	0.0023
	(0.0189)	(0.0089)	(0.0091)	(0.0029)
Peer depression	-0.0295	-0.0122	-0.0206*	0.0018
	(0.0246)	(0.0109)	(0.0120)	(0.0032)
Peer other mental illness	0.0487***	0.0056	0.0038	0.0002
	(0.0144)	(0.0063)	(0.0074)	(0.0020)
Peer female	-0.0103**	-0.0020	-0.0131***	-0.0014
	(0.0051)	(0.0073)	(0.0026)	(0.0020)
Peer foreign	-0.0135*	-0.0042	-0.0161***	-0.0007
	(0.0074)	(0.0040)	(0.0027)	(0.0013)
Peer <15 y.o.	0.0456***	-0.0024	0.0009	-0.0017
	(0.0050)	(0.0043)	(0.0020)	(0.0012)
Peer missing personal id. no.	0.2427***	0.0043	0.0194***	-0.0010
	(0.0158)	(0.0096)	(0.0053)	(0.0030)
Facility*year FEs	No	Yes	No	Yes
<i>F</i> -statistic	142.578	0.479	13.186	0.441
<i>p</i> -value	0.000	0.905	0.000	0.927
Observations	12372	12372	12372	12372

Table A2. Robustness Test of Exogenous Peer Variation

Note: Test of exogenous peer variation using the 'Main Analysis Sample'. Outcomes are predicted using the full set of child and parent characteristics as indicated in Table 2.1, home county FEs, and facility-by-year FEs. In each regression, the predicted outcome is regressed with OLS on the listed peer measures and the corresponding own characteristics with or without facility-by-year FEs (as indicated in the table). Reported *F*-statistic (*p*-value) of joint significance is for the displayed variables. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table A3. Placebo Test

	Substance Abuse, Month 1-12 (1)	Self-Harm, Month 1-12 (2)
Own history*Peer history	0.0463	0.2175
	(0.0487)	(0.1361)
No own history*Peer history	-0.0714*	-0.0078
	(0.0421)	(0.0341)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	0.4829	0.1500
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.1236	0.0278
Observations	11925	11925

Note: In this place bo test, I reproduce columns 1 and 4 of Table 2.4 but substitute the main peer measures with the share of peers with history *h* in facility *f* 180 days *before* the youth enters said facility. Youths who were placed at NBIC during the first 180 days in 2002 are dropped from the 'Main Analysis Sample' because I cannot observe the full peer group before 2002. All specifications are estimated using OLS and include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

			TOT T INTO T	Exposure	Total Peer	Exposure*
	Total Peer	Exposure	Own F	History	No Own	History
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)
Exposure to Peers With History of Subsi	tance Abuse					
rst-day peer history	30.4495*** (5.5183)	29.4412^{***} (5.6625)				
wn history*First-day peer history			35.1261^{***} (4.9745)	33.1206*** (5.1022)		
o own history*First-day peer history					50.3452^{***} (5.5417)	51.4150^{***} (5.6513)
ependent mean if own hist.=1	60.04	60.04	60.04	60.04	0.00	0.00
ependent mean if own hist.=0	52.89	52.89	0.00	0.00	52.89	52.89
fective F-statistic	30.45	27.03				
nderson-Windmeijer F-statistic			42.51	38.90	39.65	37.09
Exposure to Peers With History of Self-1	Harm					
rst-day peer history	23.7104^{***} (2.4278)	24.1088^{***} (2.5296)				
wn history*First-day peer history	~		66.1406^{***} (10.3585)	66.7194 ^{***} (10.3726)		
o own history*First-day peer history				, ,	27.5745*** (2.2111)	27.4967*** (2.2794)
ependent mean if own hist.=1	9.78	9.78	9.78	9.78	0.00	0.00
ependent mean if own hist.=0	5.62	5.62	0.00	0.00	5.62	5.62
fective F-statistic	95.38	90.83				
nderson-Windmeijer F-statistic			84.93	84.34	104.83	98.51
er controls	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
oservations	12372	12372	12372	12372	12372	12372

reported. The dependent variable in columns 3-4 (5-6) is the interaction of total peer exposure with an indicator taking the value 1 if the youth has (does not have) a history of the same behavior. Each dependent variable in columns 3-4 (5-6) is the interaction of total peer exposure with an indicator taking the value 1 if the youth has (does not have) a history of the same behavior. Each dependent variable in columns 3-6 is regressed on peer exposure on the youth's first day interacted with the youth's on the same behavior. All estimations include facility-by-year FEs. Sanderson and Windmeijer (2016)'s *F*-statistics are reported. The "Main Analysis Sample" is used. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.



Note: Black dots represent the risk of experiencing an adverse event related to substance abuse and self-harm post-placement over the share of first-day peers with a history of the corresponding behavior interacted with no own history (Panel A), number of first-day peers with a history of the corresponding behavior interacted with own history (Panel B), and number of first-day peers with a history of the corresponding behavior interacted with no own history (Panel C). All values are residualized and mean-standardized using facility-by-year FEs, (no) own history interacted with peer exposure, and (no) own history.

Figure A6. Relationship Between Peer History and Post-Exit Outcomes

136

Table A5. Effect of All First-Day Peer Characteristics on Post-Exit Outcomes

	Substance Abuse, Month 1-12 (1)	Self-Harm, Month 1-12 (2)
Substance abuse*Peer substance abuse	0.1088**	0.0053
	(0.0502)	(0.0215)
Not substance abuse*Peer substance abuse	-0.0338	-0.0036
	(0.0438)	(0.0209)
Self-harm*Peer self-harm	-0.1790	0.4097**
	(0.2002)	(0.1595)
Not self-harm*Peer self-harm	0.0145	0.0118
	(0.0788)	(0.0328)
Crime*Peer crime	-0.0407	-0.0135
	(0.0526)	(0.0239)
Not crime*Peer crime	-0.0173	0.0038
	(0.0586)	(0.0313)
NDD*Peer NDD	0.3200	0.1775
	(0.3768)	(0.2964)
Not NDD*Peer NDD	-0.1195	0.0127
	(0.1085)	(0.0476)
Depression*Peer depression	-0.0570	-0.2587
	(0.5605)	(0.3820)
Not depression*Peer depression	0.0750	-0.0625
	(0.1278)	(0.0597)
Other mental illness*Peer other mental illness	0.2271	-0.0308
	(0.1722)	(0.1247)
Not other mental illness*Peer other mental illness	-0.0020	-0.0527
	(0.0752)	(0.0349)
Female*Peer female	-0.0232	-0.0305
	(0.0768)	(0.0343)
Not female*Peer female	0.1311*	-0.0690**
	(0.0731)	(0.0322)
Foreign*Peer foreign	-0.0447	0.0267
	(0.0531)	(0.0239)
Not foreign*Peer foreign	-0.0015	0.0296
	(0.0472)	(0.0219)
<15 y.o.*Peer <15 y.o.	-0.0758	0.0043
	(0.0510)	(0.0261)
Not <15 y.o.*Peer <15 y.o.	-0.0447	-0.0168
	(0.0496)	(0.0254)
Peer missing personal id. no.	0.0704	-0.0740
	(0.1139)	(0.0452)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	0.4829	0.1500
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.1236	0.0278
Observations	12372	12372

Note: The dependent variables are the same as in Table 2.4. Each dependent variable is regressed on first-day peer exposure interacted with the youth's own history of the corresponding behavior. All specifications are estimated using OLS and include facility-by-year FEs. The dependent mean is conditional on the youth's own history of substance abuse (column 1) and self-harm (column 2). The 'Main Analysis Sample' is used. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

				Out-of-	-Home Care (Exc	el. NBIC)
	(1) Readmission To NBIC	(2) Prison	(3) Adult Addic. Treatment	(4) Foster Care	(5) Group Home	(6) Other OOH Care Facility
: History of Substance Abuse wm history*Peer history	0.1212**	0.0250	0.0307	-0.1178*	0.0225	0.0836
	(0.0528)	(0.0924)	(0.0348)	(0.0617)	(0.0695)	(0.0572)
o own history*Peer history	0.0365	0.1983	-0.0094	0.0037	-0.0560	0.0045
	(0.0521)	(0.1222)	(0.0298)	(0.0595)	(0.0679)	(0.0534)
ependent mean if own hist.=1	0.3492	0.1141	0.0116	0.2361	0.5566	0.2558
ependent mean if own hist.=0	0.2733	0.1419	0.0000	0.2567	0.4869	0.1980
: History of Self-Harm						
wn history*Peer history	-0.1896	-0.0308	-0.0210	0.2749	-0.2154	-0.0360
	(0.1944)	(0.1631)	(0.0953)	(0.2342)	(0.2573)	(0.2337)
o own history*Peer history	-0.1235	-0.0123	0.0439	0.0802	0.1091	-0.2007**
	(0.0823)	(0.1011)	(0.0644)	(0.0928)	(0.1053)	(0.0852)
ependent mean if own hist.=1	0.3166	0.0498	0.0263	0.2295	0.6208	0.2633
ependent mean if own hist.=0	0.3168	0.1257	0.0076	0.2470	0.5173	0.2257
bservations	12327	2675	2496	7946	7946	7946

the table (Panel A) and then peer self-harm interacted with own history of self-harm (Panel B). The 'Main Analysis Sample' is subject to restrictions depending on the outcome. Youths who die during the 12 months post-placement are excluded in all columns. Columns 2-3 exclude youths aged below 18 at the time of placement exit because being sentenced to prison and admission to adult addiction treatment are very rare outcomes for youths aged below 18. Columns 4-6 exclude youths who exited their first NBIC placement after 2012 because the register on non-NBIC placements suffers from underreporting from 2014 onward. All estimations include facility-by-year FEs and the full set of peer characteristics listed in Table 2.1. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.Note: All de during the 1 (Panel A) an

	Total	Facility	Switch	Isol	ation	Runa	away
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
	Days	Ever	Count	Ever	Days	Ever	Days
A: History of Substance Abuse Own history*Peer history	53.8995***	0.0495	0.0729	0.0379	-1.3806	0.0488	3.8723**
No own history*Peer history	(18.8101)	(0.0457)	(0.0962)	(0.0421)	(4.1363)	(0.0399)	(1.9560)
	-7.3880	0.0287	0.0641	-0.0339	-9.9280	- 0.0281	- 0.5963
	(19.4169)	(0.0461)	(0.0938)	(0.0410)	(7.0168)	(0.0378)	(1.8623)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	145.4750	0.3186	1.5340	0.2378	5.7352	$0.1974 \\ 0.1631$	4.5782
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	152.3112	0.2604	1.4199	0.1904	9.0007		3.7076
B: History of Self-Harm Own history*Peer history	84.6300 (00 5272)	-0.1220	-0.2253	-0.0210	-4.0581	0.0789	9.6968
No own history*Peer history	(82.3376)	(/c/1/0)	(9162.0)	(cc/1.0)	(15.2750)	(0.0615)	(0.1019)
	-18.3110	0.0500	0.0475	0.0769	-1.6821	-0.0477	-0.0841
	(26.3875)	(0.0742)	(0.1584)	(0.0676)	(5.2750)	(0.0615)	(2.6047)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 Observations	$\begin{array}{c} 153.8599 \\ 148.0955 \\ 14620 \end{array}$	0.2830 0.2944 14621	$\begin{array}{c} 1.4203 \\ 1.4889 \\ 14621 \end{array}$	0.2730 0.2150 13076	10.3288 6.9320 13076	0.2143 0.1812 14621	3.2898 4.2561 14621

Table A7. Effect of First-Day Peer Composition on Placement Outcomes

Note: Each dependent variable listed in the top row is first regressed on peer substance abuse interacted with own history of substance abuse (Panel A) and then peer self-harm interacted with own history of self-harm (Panel B). The '2002-2020 Sample' is used. The sample is smaller in columns 4-5 because registration of isolation episodes did not start until 2004. All estimations include facility-by-year FEs and the full set of peer characteristics listed in Table 2.1. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-of-entry level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table A8. Effect of Peers on Other Outcomes, Months 1-12

	(1)	(2)	(3) Any Mental
			Disorder Excl.
	Crime	Depression	Sub. Abuse & Self-Harm
Own history*Peer history	0.0243	-0.1317	0.0911
	(0.0649)	(0.1939)	(0.0763)
No own history*Peer history	-0.0644	-0.0181	-0.0324
	(0.0697)	(0.0240)	(0.0243)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	0.4435	0.0536	0.1124
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.2025	0.0056	0.0150
Test of equality (<i>p</i> -value)	0.1821	0.5539	0.0896
Observations	9518	12327	12298

Note: The dependent variable in column 1 is an indicator equal to one if the individual commits a crime for which guilt is established or is readmitted due to their criminal behavior during the 1-12 months after exit from the first placement spell at NBIC. In column 1, the 'Main Analysis Sample' is restricted to youths who were at least 15 when they were first admitted to NBIC. The dependent variable in column 2 (3) is an indicator equal to one if the individual is hospitalized due to depression (any mental disorder excluding substance abuse and self-harm) during the 1-12 months after exit. Each dependent variable is regressed on first-day peer exposure interacted with the youth's history of the behavior indicated in the top row. All specifications are estimated using OLS and include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table A9. Effect of Peers on Crime by Category, Months 1-12

	(1)	(2) Other	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Violent Sexual	Against People	Theft	White Collar	Vandalism	Other
A: Committed Violent or Sexual O	Crime					
Own history*Peer history	0.0078	0.0270	0.0064	0.0343	0.0087	0.0427
	(0.0524)	(0.0318)	(0.0507)	(0.0311)	(0.0317)	(0.0287)
No own history*Peer history	0.0351	-0.0119	0.0820*	0.0035	0.0271	0.0151
	(0.0426)	(0.0244)	(0.0418)	(0.0242)	(0.0265)	(0.0245)
B: Committed Other Crime Again	st Persons					
Own history*Peer history	0.0919	0.0096	-0.0041	-0.0291	0.0474	-0.0295
	(0.1082)	(0.0721)	(0.0998)	(0.0628)	(0.0708)	(0.0616)
No own history*Peer history	0.0508	-0.0150	-0.1069*	-0.0161	0.0064	0.0113
	(0.0563)	(0.0327)	(0.0571)	(0.0332)	(0.0316)	(0.0276)
C: Committed Crime of Stealing						
Own history*Peer history	0.0047	0.0423	0.0212	0.0374	-0.0007	-0.0310
	(0.0512)	(0.0310)	(0.0538)	(0.0329)	(0.0305)	(0.0280)
No own history*Peer history	-0.0037	-0.0171	-0.0842**	-0.0266	-0.0127	0.0024
	(0.0400)	(0.0246)	(0.0411)	(0.0211)	(0.0234)	(0.0224)
D: Committed White-Collar Crim	<u>ie</u>					
Own history*Peer history	0.0845	-0.1970**	0.1710	0.1589	0.0286	-0.0485
	(0.1522)	(0.0802)	(0.1650)	(0.1188)	(0.0712)	(0.0753)
No own history*Peer history	0.0066	-0.0244	-0.0082	-0.0128	0.0166	-0.0610**
	(0.0599)	(0.0412)	(0.0657)	(0.0362)	(0.0427)	(0.0297)
E: Committed Vandalism						
Own history*Peer history	-0.1340	-0.0043	-0.0825	0.0656	0.1452	-0.1055
	(0.1487)	(0.0917)	(0.1386)	(0.0931)	(0.1018)	(0.0701)
No own history*Peer history	-0.1295**	-0.0729**	-0.0488	-0.0795**	0.0309	-0.0380
	(0.0637)	(0.0366)	(0.0629)	(0.0390)	(0.0379)	(0.0337)
F: Committed Other Non-Narcoti	c Crime					
Own history*Peer history	0.0101	0.0046	0.0002	0.0160	-0.0220	-0.0021
	(0.0406)	(0.0245)	(0.0400)	(0.0233)	(0.0246)	(0.0218)
No own history*Peer history	0.0183	-0.0368	-0.0438	-0.0415**	-0.0205	0.0127
	(0.0370)	(0.0241)	(0.0386)	(0.0204)	(0.0221)	(0.0201)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	0.2136	0.0791	0.2103	0.1032	0.0881	0.0729
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.1179	0.0430	0.1040	0.0370	0.0372	0.0356
Observations	9518	9518	9518	9518	9518	9518

Note: Each dependent variable at the top of the table is regressed on the peer history measure indicated in the panel heading interacted with own history. The dependent variables are indicators taking the value 1 if the youth commits such a crime 1-12 months after placement exit. The 'Main Analysis Sample' is used but limited to youths who are at least 15 at the time of intake. All estimations include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table A10. Effect of Gender-Specific Peer Exposure on Post-Exit Outcomes

	(1) Substance Abuse, Month 1-12	(2) Self-Harm, Month 1-12
Own history*Peer history (same sex)	0.1320***	0.4210***
	(0.0495)	(0.1613)
No own history*Peer history (same sex)	-0.0028	-0.0014
	(0.0431)	(0.0340)
Own history*Peer history (opp. sex)	-0.0167	-0.4004
	(0.0727)	(0.4634)
No own history*Peer history (opp. sex)	0.0134	-0.0156
	(0.0573)	(0.0540)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	0.4829	0.1500
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.1236	0.0278
$\beta_1 = \beta_2$ (<i>p</i> -value)	0.0010	0.0081
$\beta_1 = \beta_3$ (<i>p</i> -value)	0.0150	0.0721
$\beta_3 = \beta_4$ (<i>p</i> -value)	0.6459	0.4058
Observations	12372	12372

Note: The dependent variable (indicated in the panel heading) is any adverse event related to substance abuse or self-harm (respectively) during the 1-12 months after exit from the first placement spell at NBIC. *Peer history (same sex)* is defined as the share of peers with history h and the same sex as the focal youth on the focal youth's day of entry, while *Peer history (opp. sex)* is the share of peers with history h and the opposite sex on the focal youth's day of entry. Each dependent variable is regressed on these peer exposure measures interacted with the youth's history of the behavior. The 'Main Analysis Sample' is used. All specifications are estimated using OLS and control for own history, sex, and facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

(1) (1) (2) A: Substance Abuse, Months $1-12$ YesNGA: Substance Abuse, Months $1-12$ 0.1169 0.135 Substance abuse*Peer substance abuse 0.1169 0.137 Not substance abuse*Peer substance abuse 0.1537 0.05 Not substance abuse*Peer substance abuse 0.1577 0.04 Dependent mean if own hist.=1 0.5775 0.47 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Observations 1964 88B: Self-Harm, Months $1-12$ 0.2000 0.200	(2) No 1396** 0.0574)	(3)		Ĵ				
YesNoA: Substance Abuse, Months $1-12$ Substance Abuse, Months $1-12$ Substance abuse*Peer substance abuse 0.1169 0.1537 0.05 Not substance abuse*Peer substance abuse 0.1537 0.0501 0.0501 0.0501 0.06 0.1595 0.047 Dependent mean if own hist = 1 0.5775 0.5775 0.47 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.110ObservationsB: Self-Harm, Months $1-12$ 0.2000 0.2000 0.2000	No .1396**).0574)	<	(4)	(2)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)
A: Substance Abuse, Months 1-12 0.1169 0.135 Substance abuse*Peer substance abuse 0.1169 0.135 Not substance abuse*Peer substance abuse 0.1537) (0.05 Not substance abuse*Peer substance abuse 0.05715 0.04 Dependent mean if own hist.=1 0.2238 0.11 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Observations 1964 88 B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12 0.2000 0.2000	.1396** .0574)	٥	Yes	No	⊲	Yes	No	Þ
Substance abuse *Peer substance abuse 0.1169 0.139 Not substance abuse *Peer substance abuse 0.0501 0.05 Not substance abuse *Peer substance abuse -0.0501 0.00 Dependent mean if own hist.=1 0.5775 0.47 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Dependent mean if own hist.=1 0.5775 0.47 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2000 0.300 Deservations 1964 88 B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12 0.3000 0.300	.1396**).0574)							
(0.1537) (0.05 Not substance abuse*Peer substance abuse -0.0501 0.00 0.1595) (0.1595) (0.04 Dependent mean if own hist.=1 0.5775 0.47 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12 0.2000 0.3000).0574)	-0.0227	0.2129	0.1062^{**}	0.1067	0.0745	0.1651^{***}	-0.0906
Not substance abuse *Peer substance abuse -0.0501 0.00 Not substance abuse *Peer substance abuse (0.1595) (0.04 Dependent mean if own hist.=1 0.5775 0.47 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12 0.2000 0.200		(0.1561)	(0.1438)	(0.0535)	(0.1446)	(0.1158)	(0.0610)	(0.1277)
(0.1595) (0.1595) Dependent mean if own hist.=1 0.5775 0.47 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Observations 1964 88 B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12 0.2000 0.200	0.0064	-0.0564	0.1175	-0.0273	0.1448	-0.0923	0.0130	-0.1053
Dependent mean if own hist.=1 0.5775 0.47 Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Observations 1964 88 B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12 0.3000 0.300	(0.0488)	(0.1585)	(0.1519)	(0.0441)	(0.1487)	(0.1217)	(0.0501)	(0.1282)
Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.2238 0.11 Observations 1964 88 B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12 0.2000 0.200	.4716		0.5531	0.4666		0.5570	0.4645	
Observations 1964 882 B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12 Self horm*Boor of f horm	0.1111		0.2143	0.1064		0.2064	0.1035	
B: Self-Harm, Months 1-12 Self houm*Door off hound	8826	10790	2108	10184	12292	3066	7745	10811
Solf hours * Door fold hours								
	3904^{**}	-0.0904	0.5168	0.2561	0.2607	0.3726	0.2629	0.1097
(0.3380) (0.18).1865)	(0.3713)	(0.3854)	(0.1781)	(0.4082)	(0.2656)	(0.1998)	(0.3285)
Not self-harm*Peer self-harm -0.0758 -0.00	0.0059	-0.0699	0.1075	-0.0304	0.1379	0.0526	-0.0470	0.0996
(0.1071) (0.03	0.0342	(0.1070)	(0.1005)	(0.0329)	(0.0997)	(0.0817)	(0.0358)	(0.0871)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1 0.1724 0.13	0.1378		0.1915	0.1387		0.1619	0.1377	
Dependent mean if own hist.=0 0.0415 0.02	0.0253		0.0334	0.0267		0.0367	0.0250	
Observations 1964 882	8826	10790	2108	10184	12292	3066	7745	10811
Note: This table replicates the main results (Table 2.4) but in the isolation or run away during their first placement spell). The dependence or self-harm (respectively) during the 1-12 months after exit peer exposure interacted with the youth's own history. Periods of is 2004 are dropped from the samples in columns 1-3 and 7-9. All speclustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * $p < .05$.	he subsart ependent vit from t f isolation specificati 5. *** p < 0	nples indic variable (ii he first pla t were not ions are es c .01.	cated at th ndicated in acement sp registered is stimated us	e top of th 1 the panel oell at NBIC before 2004 sing OLS ar	e table (i.e. heading) is . Each depc I. Hence, yc nd include f	by wheth s any adver endent vari ouths who v facility-by-	er the youth se event relk iable is regre were admitte year FEs. St;	is ever get pu ated to substi sssed on first ed to NBIC be andard errors

Table A12. Main Results by Whether the Youths Ever Escape or Placed in Isolation

 Table A11. Effect of Foreign-Background-Specific Peer Exposure on Post-Exit Outcomes

	(1) Substance Abuse, Month 1-12	(2) Self-Harm, Month 1-12
Own history*Peer history (same background)	0.1286**	0.3648**
	(0.0503)	(0.1686)
No own history*Peer history (same background)	0.0172	-0.0330
	(0.0439)	(0.0338)
Own history*Peer history (opp. background)	0.0984^{*}	0.5661
	(0.0578)	(0.3467)
No own history*Peer history (opp. background)	-0.0694	0.0822
	(0.0504)	(0.0548)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	0.4829	0.1500
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.1236	0.0278
$\beta_1 = \beta_2$ (<i>p</i> -value)	0.0111	0.0173
$\beta_1 = \beta_3$ (<i>p</i> -value)	0.4661	0.5746
$\beta_3 = \beta_4 $ (<i>p</i> -value)	0.0006	0.1633
Observations	12372	12372

Note: The dependent variable (indicated in the panel heading) is any adverse event related to substance abuse or self-harm (respectively) during the 1-12 months after exit from the first placement spell at NBIC. *Peer history (same background)* is defined as the share of peers with history h and the same background (foreign or native) as the focal youth on the focal youth's day of entry, while *Peer history (opp. background)* is the share of peers with history h and the opposite background on the focal youth's day of entry. Each dependent variable is regressed on these peer exposure measures interacted with the youth's history of the behavior. The 'Main Analysis Sample' is used. All specifications are estimated using OLS and control for own history, foreign background, and facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

144

2.B Robustness Checks of Main Results

	Substance Month	Abuse, 1-12	Self-H Month	arm, 1-12
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
<u>A: Baseline</u>				
Own history*Peer history	0.1247**	0.0490	0.4032**	0.1609
No own history*Peer history	-0.0123	0.0421	-0.0040	0.0310
Observations	12372		12372	
B: With Child, Parent, Peer Hist	tory, and Cri	me Rate C	ontrols	
Own history*Peer history	0.0994**	0.0505	0.4330***	0.1595
No own history*Peer history	-0.0171	0.0441	0.0099	0.0329
Observations	12180		12180	
C: With Control for Leave-out N	Mean History	within Fo	acility-by-Yea	ar Cell
Own history*Peer history	0.1248**	0.0490	0.3945**	0.1621
No own history*Peer history	-0.0120	0.0421	-0.0030	0.0310
Observations	12372		12372	
D: Clustering at Facility-by-Yea	ır Level			
Own history*Peer history	0.1247**	0.0507	0.4032***	0.1485
No own history*Peer history	-0.0123	0.0458	-0.0040	0.0279
Observations	12372		12372	
E: Facility-by-Year FEs Replaced	d by Facility-	by-Quarte	er FEs	
Own history*Peer history	0.1628**	0.0670	0.4259**	0.1680
No own history*Peer history	0.0404	0.0636	0.0026	0.0489
Observations	12189		12189	
F: Facility-by-Year FEs Replaced	d by Facility .	FEs & Year	• FEs	
Own history*Peer history	0.1078***	0.0401	0.4229***	0.1522
No own history*Peer history	-0.0212	0.0319	0.0327	0.0276
Observations	12372		12372	
G: Facility-by-Year FEs Replace	d by Facility	-by-Histor	y & Year FEs	
Own history*Peer history	0.0839*	0.0458	0.3651**	0.1825
No own history*Peer history	0.0024	0.0329	0.0405	0.0270
Observations	12372		12369	

 Table C1. Robustness Checks of Effect of Peers on Post-Exit Outcomes I

Table A13. Effect of Resource-Demanding Peers, Months 1-12

	(1) Substance Abuse Month 1-12	(2) Self-Harm Month 1-12
A: Peer History of Neurodevelopmental Disor	der	
Own hist. of Y*Peer NDD	-0.1118	-0.0888
	(0.1302)	(0.2233)
No own hist. of Y*Peer NDD	-0.1430	-0.0023
	(0.1164)	(0.0473)
B: Peer History of Violent Crime		
Own hist. of Y*Peer violent crime	0.0470	-0.0979
	(0.0500)	(0.0619)
No own hist. of Y*Peer violent crime	-0.1211**	0.0155
	(0.0501)	(0.0200)
C: Peer History of Being Sentenced to Serve T	ime at NBIC	
Own hist. of Y*Peer sentenced to serve	0.1030	0.0547
	(0.1033)	(0.0922)
No own hist. of Y*Peer sentenced to serve	-0.0470	0.0857*
	(0.1022)	(0.0450)
Dependent mean if own hist.=1	0.4829	0.1500
Dependent mean if own hist.=0	0.1236	0.0278
Test of equality (<i>p</i> -value)	0.0030	0.7134
Observations	12372	12372

Note: Each dependent variable at the top of the table is regressed on the peer history measure indicated in the panel heading interacted with own history of substance abuse (column 1) and self-harm (column 2). The 'Main Analysis Sample' is used. All estimations include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Note: Panel A is the baseline with only facility-by-year FEs. Panel B includes controls for the full sets of child and parent characteristics and peer history measures (see Table 2.1) and crime rate in the child's home municipality the month before intake. Panel C controls for the leave-out mean history within the facility-by-year cell. Panel D clusters the standard errors at the facility-by-year level. Finally, in Panels E-G, the facility-by-year FEs included in the baseline are replaced by facility-by-quarter FEs; facility and year FEs; and facility-by-history and year FEs. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table C3. Robustness of Main Results to Dropping a Facility I

Table C2. Kobusiness Checks of Effect of Peers on Post-Exit Outcomes II

	Substanc Month	e Abuse, 1 1-12	Self-H Month	larm, 1 1-12
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std er
A: Placements > 14 Days				
Own history*Peer history	0.0921*	0.0520	0.5109***	0.1681
No own history*Peer history	-0.0434	0.0455	-0.0004	0.0318
Observations	11047		11047	
B: No Placements with Imputed	Exit Dates			
Own history*Peer history	0.1262**	0.0490	0.4032**	0.1609
No own history*Peer history	-0.0111	0.0421	-0.0012	0.0309
Observations	12351		12351	
C: Placements Starting in 2003	or Later			
Own history*Peer history	0.1207**	0.0508	0.3598**	0.1647
No own history*Peer history	-0.0088	0.0442	0.0110	0.0318
Observations	11597		11597	
D: Placements Starting Before 2	2019			
Own history*Peer history	0.1191**	0.0496	0.3994**	0.1658
No own history*Peer history	-0.0230	0.0423	-0.0002	0.0314
Observations	11960		11960	
E: No Siblings Placed at Same F	facility at th	e Same Ti	те	
Own history*Peer history	0.1235**	0.0490	0.4081**	0.1614
No own history*Peer history	-0.0150	0.0422	-0.0049	0.0311
Observations	12342		12342	
F: Share of Peers With History I	h on Day Aj	fter Entry		
Own history*Peer history	0.1133**	0.0488	0.4593***	0.1595
No own history*Peer history	-0.0232	0.0418	0.0256	0.0335
Observations	12372		12372	
<i>G:</i> Average Share of Peers With History h During First 0-2 Days After Entry				
Own history*Peer history	0.1105**	0.0502	0.4949***	0.1675
No own history*Peer history	-0.0282	0.0433	0.0237	0.0333
Observations	12015		12015	
H: Number of Peers With Histor	ry h on First	t Day of Ei	ntry	
Own history*Peer history	0.0052**	0.0021	0.0211*	0.0108
No own history*Peer history	0.0010	0.0021	0.0023	0.0022
Observations	12372		12372	

Note: All estimations include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facilityby-day-of-entry level. The following samples are used: placements longer than 14 days (Panel A), placements without imputed exit dates (Panel B), placements starting in 2003 or later (Panel C), placements starting before 2019 (Panel D), and placements of youths with no full or half siblings placed at the same facility at the same time (Panel E). In Panels F-H, the main peer measure is replaced with: the share of peers with history h on the day after entry (Panel F), the average share of peers with history h during the first 0-2 days after entry (Panel G), and the number of peers with history h on the first day of entry (Panel H). * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

	Substance Month	e Abuse, 1-12	Self-H Month	arm, 1-12
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
arnhem				
Own history*Peer history	0.1346***	0.0498	0.4102**	0.1693
No own history*Peer history	-0.0160	0.0427	0.0012	0.0333
<u>backebro</u>				
Own history*Peer history	0.1247**	0.0490	0.4032**	0.1609
No own history*Peer history	-0.0123	0.0421	-0.0040	0.0310
bergsmansgården				
Own history*Peer history	0.1151**	0.0497	0.3714**	0.1667
No own history*Peer history	-0.0275	0.0425	0.0067	0.0317
björkbacken				
Own history*Peer history	0.1127**	0.0496	0.4100**	0.1638
No own history*Peer history	-0.0124	0.0425	-0.0020	0.0313
brättegården				
Own history*Peer history	0.1200**	0.0494	0.4464***	0.1689
No own history*Peer history	-0.0102	0.0425	-0.0095	0.0314
härha				
<u>Durp history</u> *Poor history	0 1961**	0.0502	0 2000**	0 1615
No own history*Peer history	-0.0252	0.0302	-0.0011	0.1013
	010202	010 120	010011	010012
<u>dockan</u> Oran history *Door history	0 100 4**	0.0402	0 41 42***	0 1 (0 9
No own history*Peer history	0.1204	0.0492	0.4145	0.1008
	0.0001	0.0424	0.0050	0.0515
<u>eknäs</u>	0 4 0 0 4 **	0.0500		
Own history "Peer history	0.1221**	0.0503	0.3925**	0.1626
No own history Peer history	-0.0168	0.0429	0.0009	0.0517
fagared				
Own history*Peer history	0.1234**	0.0493	0.3964**	0.1622
No own history*Peer history	-0.0203	0.0424	-0.0059	0.0312
familjehuset				
Own history*Peer history	0.1233**	0.0490	0.4032**	0.1609
No own history*Peer history	-0.0129	0.0422	-0.0040	0.0310
folåsa				
Own history*Peer history	0.1274***	0.0494	0.4066**	0.1621
No own history*Peer history	-0.0078	0.0423	-0.0032	0.0316
perstorp				
Own history*Peer history	0.1257**	0.0490	0.4034**	0,1609
No own history*Peer history	-0.0082	0.0421	-0.0041	0.0310
fridagård				
<u>Jueguru</u> Own history*Poor history	0 1945**	0.0516	0 3044**	0 1644
No own history*Door history	-0.0000	0.0310	0.3744	0.1044

Note: The main regressions are reestimated while leaving out the facility indicated in the panel heading. All estimations include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facilityby-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table C5. Robustness of Main Results to Dropping a Facility III

Table C4. Robustness of Main Results to Dropping a Facility II

	Substance Month	e Abuse, 1-12	Self-H Month	arm, 1-12
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
granhult				
Own history*Peer history	0.1291***	0.0490	0.4152***	0.1608
No own history*Peer history	-0.0096	0.0421	-0.0040	0.0314
holmängens				
Own history*Peer history	0.1261**	0.0491	0.4056**	0.1627
No own history*Peer history	-0.0121	0.0421	-0.0055	0.0311
hässleholm				
Own history*Peer history	0.1606***	0.0516	0.4017**	0.1616
No own history*Peer history	0.0113	0.0460	-0.0059	0.0317
håkanstorps				
Own history*Peer history	0.1259**	0.0492	0.4024**	0.1614
No own history*Peer history	-0.0091	0.0421	-0.0031	0.0312
högantorps				
Own history*Peer history	0.1124**	0.0506	0.3993**	0.1633
No own history*Peer history	-0.0332	0.0439	-0.0045	0.0319
johannisberg				
Own history*Peer history	0.1357***	0.0494	0.4081**	0.1615
No own history*Peer history	-0.0060	0.0423	-0.0063	0.0312
klarälvsgården				
Own history*Peer history	0.1293***	0.0491	0.4023**	0.1610
No own history*Peer history	-0.0125	0.0422	-0.0039	0.0311
perstorp				
Own history*Peer history	0.1257**	0.0490	0.4034**	0.1609
No own history*Peer history	-0.0082	0.0421	-0.0041	0.0310
<u>klockbacka</u>				
Own history*Peer history	0.1268**	0.0497	0.4026**	0.1612
No own history*Peer history	-0.0103	0.0430	-0.0014	0.0313

Note: The main regressions are reestimated while leaving out the facility indicated in the panel heading. All estimations include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

	Substance Month	e Abuse, 1-12	Self-H Month	larm, 1 1-12
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
ljungaskog				
Own history*Peer history	0.1255**	0.0492	0.4028**	0.1624
No own history*Peer history	-0.0126	0.0421	-0.0055	0.0310
ljungbacken				
Own history*Peer history	0.1193**	0.0495	0.4047**	0.1622
No own history*Peer history	-0.0041	0.0424	0.0022	0.0314
lunden				
Own history*Peer history	0.1223**	0.0491	0.4322**	0.1700
No own history*Peer history	-0.0122	0.0421	-0.0093	0.0324
långanäs				
Own history*Peer history	0.1159**	0.0493	0.4033**	0.1614
No own history*Peer history	-0.0099	0.0422	-0.0068	0.0312
lövsta				
Own history*Peer history	0.1202**	0.0495	0.3999**	0.1627
No own history*Peer history	-0.0149	0.0424	-0.0075	0.0314
margretelund				
Own history*Peer history	0.1102**	0.0500	0.3914**	0.1627
No own history*Peer history	-0.0132	0.0429	-0.0036	0.0313
nerehv				
Own history*Peer history	0.1252**	0.0499	0.4048**	0.1616
No own history*Peer history	-0.0178	0.0428	-0.0070	0.0311
baratarb				
<u>Durn history</u> *Poor history	0 1257**	0.0400	0 4034**	0 1600
No own history*Peer history	-0.0082	0.0490	-0.0041	0.1009
	0.0002	0.0121	0.0011	
<u>rebecka</u>	0 10/1**	0.0402	0.2010**	0 1/15
No own history*Peer history	-0.0180	0.0493	0.3918	0.1015
	0.0100	0.0122	0.0011	0.0311
ryds_brunn	0 100 / ***	0.0504	0.00F0**	0.4.4.6
Own history Peer history	0.1326***	0.0501	0.3959**	0.1618
No own history Peer history	-0.0022	0.0429	-0.0032	0.0312
<u>råby</u>				
Own history*Peer history	0.1277**	0.0502	0.4163**	0.1630
No own history*Peer history	-0.0120	0.0428	-0.0130	0.0317

Note: The main regressions are reestimated while leaving out the facility indicated in the panel heading. All estimations include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table C6. Robustness of Main Results to Dropping a Facility IV

	Substance Month	e Abuse, 1-12	Self-H Month	arm, 1-12
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
<u>sirius</u> Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1243** -0.0125	0.0493 0.0421	0.4257*** 0.0049	0.1637 0.0326
<u>perstorp</u> Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1257** -0.0082	0.0490 0.0421	0.4034** -0.0041	0.1609 0.0310
<u>solgården</u> Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1270** -0.0108	0.0499 0.0429	0.4231*** -0.0097	0.1631 0.0320
stigby Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1190** -0.0089	0.0494 0.0423	0.3958** -0.0035	0.1618 0.0311
<u>sundbo</u> Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1265** -0.0113	0.0493 0.0422	0.4044** -0.0027	0.1619 0.0313
<i>sävastgården</i> Own history [*] Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1222** -0.0210	0.0507 0.0434	0.4322*** -0.0138	0.1645 0.0314
<u>tunagården</u> Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1256** -0.0107	0.0490 0.0421	0.4032** -0.0040	0.1609 0.0310
tysslinge Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1221** -0.0134	0.0494 0.0422	0.3941** -0.0056	0.1617 0.0311
<u>vemyra</u> Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1236** -0.0149	0.0492 0.0423	0.3635** -0.0101	0.1746 0.0306
villa_ljungbacken Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1265** -0.0135	0.0493 0.0424	0.3991** -0.0043	0.1616 0.0313
<i>åbygården</i> Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1240** -0.0109	0.0490 0.0421	0.4032** -0.0040	0.1609 0.0310
<u>öxnevalla</u> Own history*Peer history No own history*Peer history	0.1294*** -0.0083	0.0495 0.0425	0.3583** -0.0137	0.1616 0.0313

Note: The main regressions are reestimated while leaving out the facility indicated in the panel heading. All estimations include facility-by-year FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the facility-by-day-of-entry level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

2.C Data Dictionary

Peer Variables

Peers: All other youths living in the facility that the youth arrives at on the first day of their placement while leaving out all youths who were in isolation or

on the run on the day of the youth's arrival.

Peer size: Number of peers (see peers definition).

Above median peer size: An indicator taking the value 1 if the peer size is above the median peer size within that facility-by-year cell.

Peer female: Share of female peers (see peer definition), leaving out the focal youth.

Peer foreign: Share of peers (see peer definition) born outside Sweden, leaving out the focal youth.

Peer <15 *y.o.*: Share of peers (see peer definition) who were younger than 15 years old at the time they were placed at NBIC, leaving out the focal youth.

Peer substance abuse: Share of peers (see peer definition) with a pre-placement history of substance abuse (see substance abuse history definition), leaving out the focal youth.

Peer self-harm: Share of peers (see peer definition) with a pre-placement history of self-harm (see self-harm history definition), leaving out the focal youth.

Peer crime: Share of peers (see peer definition) with a pre-placement history of crime (see crime history definition), leaving out the focal youth.

Outcome Variables

Substance abuse: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth experiences any of the following events: (1) is hospitalized with accidental drug/alcohol poisoning (ICD10-codes X40-X45), mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (ICD10-codes F1), or alcoholic liver disease (K70) listed as the main cause of harm or diagnosis; (2) dies from accidental drug or alcohol poisoning (ICD10-codes X40-X45); (3) commits an offense under The Swedish Penal Law on Narcotics; or (4) is readmitted to NBIC on the basis of substance abuse. Start date of crime is used (not conviction date).

Self-Harm: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth experiences any of the following events: (1) is hospitalized with intentional self-harm (ICD10-codes X60-X84) or possible self-harm (ICD10-codes Y10-Y34) listed as the main cause of harm or (2) dies from intentional self-harm (ICD10-codes X60-X84) or possible self-harm (ICD10-codes Y10-Y34).

Crime: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth experiences any of the following events: (1) commits an offense under The Swedish Criminal Code, (2) is readmitted to NBIC on the basis of criminal behavior, or (3) is sentenced to

Peer \geq 18 *y.o.*: Share of peers (see peer definition) who were at least 18 years old at the time they were placed at NBIC, leaving out the focal youth.

serve time at NBIC for an offense punishable by prison. Start date of crime is used (not conviction date).

Death: An indicator taking the value 1 if individual dies.

- *Death (suicide)*: An indicator taking the value 1 if individual dies and the underlying cause is intentional self-harm (ICD10-codes X60-X84).
- *Death (overdose)*: An indicator taking the value 1 if individual dies and the underlying cause is accidental drug or alcohol poisoning (ICD10-codes X40-X45).
- *Hospitalization due to mental health*: An indicator taking the value 1 for hospitalizations with intentional self-harm (ICD10-codes X60-X84) or a mental and behavioral disorder (ICD10-codes F2-F9) listed as the main cause of harm or diagnosis, excluding mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (ICD10-codes F1).
- *Hospitalization due to substance abuse*: An indicator taking the value 1 for hospitalizations with accidental drug/alcohol poisoning (ICD10-codes X40-X45), mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (ICD10codes F1), or alcoholic liver disease (K70) listed as the main cause of harm or diagnosis.
- *Non-narcotic crime*: An indicator taking the value 1 if individual committed any offense under The Swedish Criminal Code. Start date of crime is used (not conviction date).
- *Crime against person*: An indicator taking the value 1 if individual committed an offense under Chapter 3-7, Section 5-6 of Chapter 8, or Section 1 of Chapter 17 of The Swedish Criminal Code. Start date of crime is used (not conviction date).
- *Narcotic crime*: An indicator taking the value 1 if individual committed an offense under The Swedish Penal Law on Narcotics. Start date of crime is used (not conviction date).

Control Variables

Female: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth is female.

- *Age at placed*: Youth age in years at the time of the placement based on date of birth.
- $<15\,$ y.o.: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth was less than 15 at the time of placement.
- ≥ 18 *y.o.*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth was at least 18 at the time of placement.
- *Foreign*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth is born in another country than Sweden.
- *Involuntary placement*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth is placed at NBIC following a court order to provide compulsory care on the basis that the youth's own behavior (substance abuse, criminal behavior, or other destructive behavior) poses a significant risk to her health or development, i.e. under Section 3 of the Care of Young Persons Act.

- *Voluntary placement*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth is placed at NBIC voluntarily.
- *Sentenced*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth is sentenced to serve time at NBIC for committing a crime punishable by prison.
- *Mandatory schooling*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth is of mandatoryschooling age at the time of placement (i.e., placed before July the year the youth turns 16).
- *Finished compulsory schooling*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth had graduated from compulsory schooling at the time of placement.
- *Missing personal identity number*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth does not have an accurate personal identity number.
- *History of: Substance abuse*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth was placed at NBIC because the youth abuses substance or during any of the 24 months prior to placement: (1) was placed at NBIC because the youth abuses substance; (2) was hospitalized with accidental drug/alcohol poisoning (ICD10-codes X40-X45), mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (ICD10-codes F1), or alcoholic liver disease (K70) listed as the main cause of harm or diagnosis; or (3) committed an offense under The Swedish Penal Law on Narcotics. Start date of crime is used (not conviction date).
- *History of: Self-harm*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth was hospitalized in any of the 24 months prior to placement with intentional self-harm (ICD10-codes X60-X84) or possible self-harm (ICD10-codes Y10-Y34) listed as the main cause of harm.
- *History of: Crime*: An indicator taking the value 1 if the youth was placed at NBIC because the youth engages in criminal behavior, was sentenced to serve time at NBIC for an offense punishable by prison, or during any of the 24 months prior to placement committed an offense under The Swedish Criminal Code. Start date of crime is used (not conviction date).
- *Any birth parent: Dead*: An indicator taking the value 1 if any birth parent was dead before placement.
- *Any birth parent:* < *18 y.o. at birth of youth*: An indicator taking the value 1 if any birth parent was under the age of 18 at the time of the youth's birth.
- *Any birth parent: Married, yr t-1*: An indicator taking the value 1 if any birth parent was married at the end of the calendar year prior to placement.
- *Any birth parent: No labor income, yr t-1*: An indicator taking the value 1 if any birth parent had no labor income during the full calendar year prior to placement.
- *Any birth parent: Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1*: An indicator taking the value 1 if any birth parent was hospitalized in the calendar year prior to placement with intentional self-harm (ICD10-codes X60-X84) or a mental and behavioral disorder (ICD10-codes F2-F9) listed as the main cause of harm or

diagnosis, excluding mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (ICD10-codes F1).

- Any birth parent: Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1: An indicator taking the value 1 if any birth parent was hospitalized in the calendar year prior to placement with accidental drug/alcohol poisoning (ICD10-codes X40-X45), mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (ICD10-codes F1), or alcoholic liver disease (K70) listed as the main cause of harm or diagnosis.
- *Any birth parent: Any crime, yr t-1*): An indicator taking the value 1 if any birth parent committed an offense under The Swedish Criminal Code or The Swedish Penal Law on Narcotics in the calendar year prior to placement. Start date of crime is used (not conviction date).
- *Any birth parent: Missing Xs, yr t-1*: An indicator taking the value 1 if data is missing for any birth parents in the calendar year prior to placement.

Chapter 3

Making Better Choices: The Role of Learning in the Judicial System

E. Jason Baron, Joseph J. Doyle, Jr., Ronja Helénsdotter¹

A large literature documents substantial variation in decision-making for otherwise similar cases across decision-makers and over time in an array of government institutions, including the judicial system. This paper studies the drivers of variation in decision-making, with a focus on judges' learning under limited information. The analysis is based on over 20,000 Swedish child protection court cases from 2001 to 2019, which are linked with rich register data and novel data on appellate court decisions. Using quasi-random assignment of cases, we find strong and robust evidence that judges become more stringent with experience, conditional on judge fixed effects. This increase in removal tendency with experience is driven by male judges. The behavior change is not consistent with skill improvements as children who are randomly assigned to more experienced judges are more likely to die by the year they turn 19. The lack of learning is likely rooted in the limited access to information about the consequences of the court's decision. A potential driver of the positive relationship between stringency and experience can be signals from appellate courts. Indeed, we find that judges respond to appellate courts' decisions to reverse the judges' previous judgment to not remove a child from home by increasing their stringency. However, this effect is short-term and there is no detectable effect after one month. A more likely explanation is a change in judge preferences.

3.1 Introduction

Fair treatment of all individuals by governmental institutions is a basic principle of any democracy. Nevertheless, a sizeable literature documents concerning variation in decision-making across agents and over time within an array of government institutions, including the judicial system. To enhance consistency and fairness, a common practice in government institutions is to assign high-stakes or complex cases to more experienced agents. This potential remedy relies on the assumption that experienced agents are more skilled, which is not evident, especially in settings with limited feedback. For example, according to the Convention on the Rights of the Child, the best interests of the child should be the primary consideration when public and private institutions make decisions concerning children. However, it is not uncommon for agents to lack information about the short- and long-term consequences of their decision, much less the counterfactual.² In such settings, it is challenging to evaluate and learn from previous decisions. In this paper, we consider one such setting: the child protection system.

More than 1 in 3 U.S. children are investigated for maltreatment at some point before their 18th birthday (Kim et al., 2017). At the same time, a growing body of literature shows that the decisions made by agents in the child protection system can have severe consequences (for a review, see Bald et al., 2022) and may even result in death (Helénsdotter, 2023). Given the high stakes, it is essential that child protection agents make fair and consistent decisions that are based on the merits of the case. However, as in other government institutions, substantial variation in decision-making has been documented in the child protection system.

In this paper, we investigate the role of judges' experience in the decision to remove children from their homes and the accuracy of these decisions. To further deepen our knowledge about the causes of variation in decision-making, we also examine how judges respond to decisions made by appellate courts.

Two key empirical challenges make it difficult to address these questions. First, if judges are not randomly assigned to cases, selection bias becomes an issue. Hence, we leverage rich data based on Swedish court files handed down between 2001 and 2019.³ Due to Swedish law, the assignment of court cases

³Helénsdotter (2023) also uses data on Swedish child protection court cases but that paper does

¹Baron: Duke University, Department of Economics, 228B Social Sciences Building, Durham, NC 27708. E-mail: jason.baron@duke.edu. Doyle: MIT Sloan School of Management, 100 Main Street, E62-516, Cambridge, MA 02142. E-mail: jjdoyle@mit.edu. Helénsdotter: University of Gothenburg, Department of Economics, Vasagatan 1, SE 405 30, Gothenburg. E-mail: ronja.helensdotter@economics.gu.se. We thank Randi Hjalmarsson, Andreea Mitrut, and the participants and discussants at Arne Ryde Workshop on Gender and Family Wellbeing; The Crime and Victimization Workshop; and University of Gothenburg for many helpful comments and suggestions. Ronja Helénsdotter gratefully acknowledges financial support from The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences. This research has been approved by the Swedish Ethical Review Authority.

²Limited and noisy feedback is common in court systems. This issue might be especially prevalent in systems where the assigned judge does not process future cases involving the same parties and cases involving evaluations of future outcomes, e.g., involuntary provision of psychiatric or addiction care, child arrangements (e.g., custody and visitation), and refugee applications. Beyond the judicial system, limited and noisy feedback may hamper decision-maker learning in, e.g., emergency calls. Suppose an emergency call worker decides to not send an ambulance to a location and the patient dies. The call worker cannot learn from the situation if there is no system in place to provide feedback to emergency call workers about the outcomes of their decisions.

to judges is quasi-random (both at the trial and appellate level) conditional on court-by-year fixed effects (FEs). While this feature rids our estimates of omitted variable bias stemming from case selection, individual judge characteristics and shocks can be correlated. Therefore, in our main specification, we only exploit temporal variation within each judge by including judge FEs. This is possible since judges often handle many cases over long periods of time.⁴

Another important empirical challenge is the lack of information about the 'correct' decision. Some studies use the outcome of appellate courts (e.g., Bhuller and Sigstad, 2022; Norris, 2022), but judges at a higher level do not necessarily make a superior decision. Fortunately, in this setting, the goal is clearly stated in law: make the best decision for the child in terms of their health and development. In addition, we have access to mortality data with national coverage for each child in our data set, which allows us to examine judge performance using an unambiguous outcome: surviving childhood.

Our results offer several important insights. First, conditional on court-byyear and judge FEs, judge experience significantly increases the probability of ordering removal in quasi-randomly assigned cases. One more year of experience as a judge increases the probability of removal by about 1.8 percentage points (relative to a dependent mean of 88.4%). This increase in stringency with experience is entirely driven by male judges: one more year of experience increases the probability of a male judge ordering removal by approximately 3.3 percentage points. For female judges, the point estimate is close to zero and lacks statistical significance. The difference in effect size is statistically significant at the 5% level.

There are no significant differences in the effects of judge experience by child characteristics (gender, foreign background, petition grounds, or age) and all point estimates are positive.

The increase in stringency is *not* consistent with skill improvements. Children who are randomly assigned to a judge who has one more year of experience are 0.4 percentage points more likely to die by the year they turn 19 (relative to a dependent mean of 0.7%). This is consistent with the findings of Helénsdotter (2023), which shows that child removal sharply increases mortality in Sweden.

Why do judges not make better decisions with experience? As we elaborate on in later sections, a plausible explanation is the lack of feedback about the accuracy of their decisions, from the perspective of making the 'best' decision for the child. Indeed, it is rare that judges ever observe the outcomes of the children they have decided over, and even if they do, it is challenging to assess the accuracy of the decisions as they cannot observe the counterfactual.

But why do judges make *worse* decisions with experience? In practice, judges may use decisions by appellate courts as information about the accuracy of their decisions. However, the appellate court judges often have the same information as the trial judge and can rarely observe which decision is 'correct'. Nevertheless, we find strong evidence that judges respond to one specific type of appellate court decision: reversals of their previous decision to *not* remove a child from home. Children who are quasi-randomly assigned a judge who has recently (within the last 2-4 weeks) experienced such a reversal (in an unrelated case) are around 7 percentage points more likely to be removed from home. However, the response decays quickly and there is no detectable effect beyond the first month. This short-term response can be driven by judges using appellate court signals to learn about the correct decision (Bhuller and Sigstad, 2022), but it can also be driven by emotional stress (Eren and Mocan, 2018).

Given the short-term nature of the response, learning through appellate court decisions is an unlikely explanation for the rise in stringency with experience. Anecdotal evidence suggests an alternative channel: processing many cases might affect judge preferences in the sense that they assign a lower subjective cost to removing a child from their home against the family's wishes.

Our paper relates to the large literature on decision-making in the judicial system. This literature predominately focuses on judge decision-making in criminal cases (see Mocan, 2020, for an overview).⁵ It has been shown that both judge and defendant characteristics influence outcomes (e.g. Rehavi and Starr, 2014; Starr, 2015; Arnold et al., 2018; Cohen and Yang, 2019), that judges are affected by irrelevant events such as sport matches (Eren and Mocan, 2018) and birthdays (Chen and Philippe, 2019), and that there is in-group bias in judge decisionmaking (e.g., Gazal-Ayal and Sulitzeanu-Kenan, 2010; Depew et al., 2017; Cai et al., 2021). Beyond criminal justice, some studies investigate decision-making in, for example, immigration (Martén, 2017; Brodeur and Wright, 2019; Norris, 2022) and discrimination cases (Farhang and Wawro, 2004; Boyd et al., 2010; Boyd, 2016; Knepper, 2018). In terms of context, the closest study to this paper is Asmat and Kossuth (2020). They examine differences in male and female judges' decision-making in child support disputes.

We add to this literature, but also to the broader literature on decision-making

not use data on appeals.

⁴Judge experience is correlated with other time-varying characteristics, such as age. A concern is whether the observed effects are driven by these other time-varying characteristics. We attempt to disentangle judge experience from other time-varying characteristics by examining the stability of the estimates and R^2 to the inclusion of such time-varying controls. However, even if the observed effects would be driven by some other time-varying characteristic, it is still, from a policy perspective, valuable to know whether judge experience captures a time-varying characteristic of judges that influences the probability of removal and decision accuracy.

⁵Beyond legally trained judges, another key group of agents in the judicial system is jurors. Jury race (Anwar et al., 2012; Flanagan, 2018), gender (Anwar et al., 2019a; Hoekstra and Street, 2018), neighborhood (Anwar et al., 2022) and political affiliation (Martén, 2017; Anwar et al., 2019b) have all been shown to affect judicial outcomes. Most relevant to our paper is Anwar et al. (2014). They find that older jurors are stricter in criminal cases. Moreover, there is evidence that jury decisions are affected by irrelevant events (e.g., Bindler and Hjalmarsson, 2018; Philippe and Ouss, 2018).

in public and private institutions, by investigating the role of decision-maker experience under limited information using an unambiguous measure of decision accuracy. Prior studies (e.g., Chan et al., 2022; Norris, 2022) tend to find that decision-makers perform better with experience. However, as we show, this is not necessarily the case when it is difficult for decision-makers to learn from previous decisions.

Our paper also contributes to the literature on decision-making in the child protection system (Bartelink et al., 2018, De Haan et al., 2019). Despite the high-risk nature of these decisions, there is surprisingly little causal evidence on decision-making in this domain. An important exception is Baron et al. (2023). Using data on maltreatment investigations in Michigan, they estimate unwarranted disparities in decisions made by hotline call screeners and maltreatment investigators. To the best of our knowledge, there is no study on the causal drivers of *judicial* decision-making in child protection court cases.

Last, we provide some of the first causal evidence on the effects of appellate court decisions on judge decision-making and expand the knowledge about these effects to a non-criminal context. The only other such study is Bhuller and Sigstad (2023). To achieve identification, they exploit variation in the tendency of appellate judge panels to reverse prior judgments and find that (among judges who could have received another appellate court decision had they been assigned another panel) experiencing a random reversal has a large effect on judge sentencing decisions in the direction of the reversal using data on criminal cases in Norway. However, while we find that the judge's response decays quickly and is indistinguishable from zero after just one month, Bhuller and Sigstad (2022) present evidence that the response persists for around one year.

The remainder of this paper proceeds as follows. Section 3.2 presents the institutional setting. Section 3.3 describes the data and analysis samples. Section 3.4 discusses the empirical methodology and the validity of the identifying assumptions. Section 3.5 presents evidence on the role of experience in judicial decision-making. Section 3.6 provides a model of judicial decision-making and discusses potential mechanisms. Section 3.7 concludes.

3.2 Institutional Background

Figure 3.1 illustrates the child protection process in Sweden.⁶ The local Social Welfare Committee (SWC; *Socialnämnden*) holds the main responsibility for child protection (including preventive work, child maltreatment investigation, evaluation of service need, and service provision). If the SWC determines that out-of-home placement is needed but the family does not consent to placement, the SWC files a petition for removal with one of 12 administrative courts (*förvalt*-

ningsrätt).⁷





Note: This figure illustrates the child protection process in Sweden. The local SWC is in charge of determining whether out-of-home care is necessary. If out-of-home placement is necessary but the family does not consent, the SWC files a petition with the court that has jurisdiction. The court then holds a hearing and decides whether to approve the petition. The SWC and the family can appeal the decision made by the court. The case is then tried by a court of appeal. Irrespective of the route to out-of-home care, the SWC is in charge of the provision of care.

According to the Care of Young Persons Act, the court is to rule in favor of removal if (i) at least one condition of the home environment implies a palpable threat to the health or development of the child (known as environment cases) or (ii) the child endangers their health or development through criminality, substance abuse, or other destructive behavior (known as behavior cases). However, what is best for the child in terms of the child's health and development is to be decisive.

As required in the Administrative Courts Act, court cases must promptly be assigned to a judge following predetermined and objective criteria. At the Administrative Court of Gothenburg, the registration office registers all incoming petitions in the case management system.⁸ The case is quasi-randomly assigned to a department via a rotating system and then to a judge within the department (again via a rotating system).⁹ As described in Helénsdotter (2023), the only

⁶See Helénsdotter (2023) for further details about the institutional context.

⁷Before February 15, 2010, there were 23 courthouses.

⁸The courts in Falun, Malmö, and Stockholm provide similar descriptions of the case assignment process and confirm that quasi-random assignment has been used during the years covered in our data.

⁹A departmental structure is employed in the four largest courts. Each department has a chief

exception to the assignment process is junior judges. As specified in national guidelines, junior judges are typically not assigned: (i) cases in which there is suspected physical or sexual abuse of a young child, (ii) environment cases in which a parent has an intellectual disorder, and (iii) behavior cases in which the need for care largely is based on ADHD or autism.¹⁰ The balance test and results are robust to excluding cases that are typically not assigned to junior judges.

The court must offer each family member a lawyer and hold an oral hearing within 2 weeks of receiving the petition for child removal. The court administrator decides the date of the hearing based on courtroom availability and the calendars of the lawyers, judge, and law clerk. Judges are expected to be available Monday-Friday during office hours. No hearings are held after office hours or on weekends. When the date of the hearing is set, the case is randomly assigned three jurors (*nämndemän*) from the pool of available jurors. The judge cannot influence the choice of jurors.

All concerned parties are invited to the hearing but attendance is not mandatory and whether a party attends should not influence the outcome of the case. The judge's identity is revealed before the hearing. In contrast to the setting studied in Ash and Nix (2023), there are no public statistics on judges' decision tendencies.¹¹

The judge and three jurors hold deliberations immediately after the hearing. The deliberations tend to be shorter than 15 minutes and end with a vote. Each vote is given equal weight and the judge holds the tiebreaker. The sole task of the court is to decide if the child is to be placed in out-of-home care, i.e. there is only one judiciary outcome. The SWC is in charge of making all other decisions (e.g., where the child should be placed and for how long). See Helénsdotter (2023) for further details about child protection in Sweden and a cross-country comparison.

The court's ruling can be appealed by the SWC, a parent, or the child to one of Sweden's four administrative appellate courts (*kammarrätten*).¹² When needed for clarity, we refer to the former as the trial court. If the trial court decides to remove the child from home, the child is kept in out-of-home care until the appellate court has reached a new decision.

Information about how to appeal is provided as a 1-page appendix to the

judgment. All parties have the right to appeal free of charge but the appeal must be filed in writing and received by the trial court within 3 weeks of the judgment. The appeal should include information about how and why the concerned party believes the court's judgment should be changed. If the appeal is received on time, the trial court submits the appeal to the appellate court with jurisdiction. There is no additional screening of appeals and no review permit is required for the appellate court to try the case.

Trial and appellate courts are all subject to the Administrative Courts Act and use the same case management software. Hence, the case processing is almost identical in trial and appellate courts. In particular, incoming cases are first assigned to a department and then to judges within the department following a two-level rotating system. A key difference is that three judges are assigned to appellate court cases. Once the judges, law clerk, and lawyers are assigned, the court administrator promptly schedules an oral hearing and assigns two jurors. Judges and jurors who serve at the trial level cannot serve at the appellate court level at the same time. After concluding the hearing, the court deliberates and votes on whether the trial court's judgment to remove or not remove the child from home should be changed. Each judge and juror has one vote of equal weight.

The median number of days between the trial court's and the appellate court's judgment is 84 days.¹³ Once the appellate court's judgment is finalized, it is sent to the trial court in full. The trial court administrator then sends the judgment to the trial judge. This process can take a few days.

3.3 Data

3.3.1 Data Description

Our analysis exploits novel data that we collected from Swedish appellate courts and several existing sets of data linked using unique case, judge, child, and parent identifiers. Our primary source of Swedish court data at the trial level is the database built by Helénsdotter (2023). This database contains 26,577 child-bycase observations spanning 2001 to 2019 (with national coverage from February 14, 2010). An array of case characteristics are included (e.g., decision date, date of oral hearing, courthouse, presence of siblings, petition grounds).¹⁴ In addition, we observe judge gender, year of birth, and position. Unfortunately, only the date of first employment as a *regular* judge is available. Hence, we focus on the number of years since the first employment as a regular judge at any Swedish court as our measure of judge experience.

judge and a team of judges. Typically, one department is solely focused on tax cases and the remaining departments are assigned all other cases. Immigration cases are solely processed at specific departments in Stockholm, Gothenburg, and Malmö. The results are robust to the use of department-by-year FEs.

¹⁰The guidelines also state that junior judges are typically not to be given a case if it includes a rare or complicated legal matter; is very big; has or can be expected to receive attention by the media; concerns security issues; or will likely require special experience to not delay proceedings.

¹¹The SWC can change its claims before or during the hearing. Background variables such as petition grounds are based on the initial petition (i.e. before the judge is assigned).

¹²A third and last appeal can be made to the Supreme Administrative Court (*Högsta förvalt-ningsdomstolen*). However, a review permit is required and such a permit is rarely granted.

¹³See Figures A1-A2 for the distribution of days between decisions and the median number of days separately by appellate court.

¹⁴See Helénsdotter (2023) for a detailed data description and variable definitions.

The database is linked with several national registers kept by Statistics Sweden, the National Board of Health and Welfare, and the National Council for Crime Prevention. Thereby, we have standard demographic information about each child and birth parent (e.g., gender, date of birth, emigration/immigration dates, labor income, marital status) but also national data on all deaths (date and cause; 1997-2022), hospitalizations (date and cause; 1997-2020), and legal proceedings (date of crime, date of decision, and section of the law; 1997-2021).¹⁵

We supplement the database used in Helénsdotter (2023) with novel data on appeals. We collected and transcribed the universe of judgments handed down by each appellate court in Sweden from January 1, 2005, to December 31, 2019. From the appellate court judgments, we extract, e.g., appeal case number, trial case number, decision date, judgment, and appellate judge names using scripts.¹⁶ The full appeal database contains 8,974 unique appeals. However, since the trial court database does not have national coverage until early 2010, only 7,426 appeals are matched with the trial court database.

In our main analysis, we focus on the effect of an appellate court handing down a judgment in the 2-4 weeks before the date of deliberation in an unrelated case handled by the same trial judge. We exclude the 7 days immediately before the date of deliberation because it takes time for the appellate court's judgment to reach the trial judge (see Section 3.2). There are four types of appeal judgments: overturned prior non-removal, affirmed prior removal, overturned prior removal, and affirmed prior non-removal. We refer to these types of appeal judgments as '*Wrong, remove*', '*Right, remove*', '*Wrong, do not remove*', '*Right, do not remove*'.

3.3.2 Sample Creation and Descriptive Statistics

In this section, we describe the analysis subsamples, which vary depending on the availability of register data. Throughout the paper, we drop children who we have almost no background information on as we cannot observe them in Statistics Sweden's register data (N=1,576).¹⁷ The baseline sample is then reduced from 26,577 to 25,001 observations.

In our analysis of the influence of judge experience, we drop cases assigned to a judge for whom we cannot observe years of experience as a regular judge (N=5,170), i.e. judges who have not been promoted to regular judges.¹⁸ We also

When studying the effects of appellate court decisions, we restrict the sample of children who are observable in Statistics Sweden's register data to those whose case is handed down at least one month after the start of our appeal data (January 1, 2005). Thereby, we drop 528 observations. This restriction is imposed because we cannot observe if judges who handle cases in the first weeks of 2005 received a signal from an appellate court in the prior 2-4 weeks. We also drop cases in court-by-year cells containing only one active judge (N=1) and judges who handle less than 2 cases (N=59). The sample (N=24,413) is referred to as the 'Appeal Sample'.

Table 3.1 displays descriptive statistics at the child and birth parent level (Panel A), appeal level (Panel B), and judge level (Panel C) for each analysis sample. For comparison purposes, the first column shows statistics for the full court sample conditional on being observed in Statistics Sweden's register. The child, parent, and appeal statistics are almost identical across columns. Almost 90% of children whose case goes to court are removed from home by the trial court. At the same time, 40% of the decisions are appealed but only 4% of all decisions are eventually overturned by the appellate court.

In Panel C, we first present the average judge removal tendency, which is calculated as the judge's mean removal rate in all other cases (leaving out the focal case).¹⁹ In line with the random assignment condition, the average judge removal tendency is almost identical across columns. However, the other judge characteristics vary slightly by sample. The reason is that in column 2, we restrict the sample to cases assigned to regular judges, who tend to be older and less likely to be female than non-regular judges.

In Table A1, we provide descriptive statistics by whether the focal case is appealed. As expected, there is selection into the appeal group along an array of child and parent characteristics. For example, appealed cases are more often exclusively based on deficiencies in the home environment, involve siblings, and result in child removal without the consent of any parent.

judges.

¹⁵The legal proceedings register contains all crimes committed in Sweden (conditional on guilt having been established), including convictions, penalty orders without a court hearing, and waivers of prosecution.

¹⁶When possible, we cross-checked each variable (e.g., judgment and trial case number) with administrative data provided by the appellate courts.

¹⁷These children have missing or inaccurate personal identity numbers. Almost all have recently been born or immigrated to Sweden and, therefore, have not been given their personal identity numbers yet.

¹⁸We only have complete data on the date hired as a regular judge. Regular judges may have varying experience as junior judges (i.e., judges in training) before being promoted to regular

¹⁹Figure A3 illustrates the substantial variation (mean 0.885; std. dev. 0.062) in behavior across judges that exists in our sample, even after accounting for court-by-year FEs. In particular, a judge at the 1st percentile removes 69.7% of children while a judge at the 99th percentile removes 99.5%. Our judge removal tendency is not comparable with the behavior tendency reported in studies using the decisions of child protection caseworkers because, in our setting, the caseworkers have *already* decided to submit a petition for removal.

All in Registry Judge Sample Appeal Sample A: Child & Parent Characteristics Removed 0.89 0.88 0.89 Girl 0.46 0.47 0.46 Age at judgment 10.83 10.72 10.79 Sibling case 0.32 0.33 0.32 Behavior petition 0.61 0.62 0.61 Double grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Child consents to removal 0.64 0.65 0.64 Non-junicr case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Crime against person 0.09 0.09 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) 0.23 0.24 0.24 Crime against person 0.09 0.00 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.10 0.10 0.10 Other crime 0.05 0.05 0.05 Martied, yr t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 Ary	Table 3.1. Descriptive	statistics		
A: Child & Parent Characteristics Removed 0.89 0.88 0.89 Girl 0.46 0.47 0.46 Age at judgment 10.83 10.72 10.79 Sibling case 0.32 0.33 0.32 Poreign background 0.38 0.39 0.38 Behavior petition 0.11 0.61 0.62 0.61 Double grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 0.10 0.11 Child consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 0.17 Crime against person 0.09 0.09 0.09 No4 Norther time 0.11 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) 0.23 0.24 0.24 Ary birth parent: Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.0		All in Registry	Judge Sample	Appeal Sample
Removed 0.89 0.88 0.89 Girl 0.46 0.47 0.46 Age at judgment 10.83 10.72 10.79 Sibling case 0.32 0.33 0.32 Foreign background 0.38 0.39 0.38 Behavior petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Outle grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Outle grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Othid consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Crime against person 0.09 0.09 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Mental health 0.06 0.05 0.05 Substance use 0.05 0.05 0.05 Missing yrs t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 Any birth parent: Dead 0.05 0.05 <td>A: Child & Parent Characteristics</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	A: Child & Parent Characteristics			
Girl 0.46 0.47 0.46 Age at judgment 10.83 10.72 10.79 Sibling case 0.32 0.33 0.32 Foreign background 0.38 0.39 0.38 Behavior petition 0.29 0.27 0.28 Environment petition 0.61 0.62 0.61 Double grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Child consents to removal 0.64 0.65 0.64 At least 1 parent consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.40 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Crime against person 0.09 0.09 No.09 Narcotic crime 0.10 0.10 0.10 Other orime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to: Mental health 0.06 0.05 0.05 Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 0.24	Removed	0.89	0.88	0.89
Age at judgment 10.83 10.72 10.79 Sibling case 0.32 0.33 0.32 Foreign background 0.38 0.39 0.38 Behavior petition 0.61 0.62 0.61 Double grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Child consents to removal 0.64 0.65 0.64 At least 1 parent consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Crime against person 0.09 0.09 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.10 0.10 0.10 Other crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to: Mental health 0.06 0.06 Substance use 0.05 0.05 0.05 Martied, yrt 1 0.45 0.45 0.45 Nor hap archit parent: Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 Ib	Girl	0.46	0.47	0.46
Sibling case 0.32 0.33 0.32 Foreign background 0.38 0.39 0.38 Behavior petition 0.29 0.27 0.28 Environment petition 0.61 0.62 0.61 Double grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Child consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3): Crime against person 0.09 0.09 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to: Mental health 0.06 0.06 0.05 Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 0.24 Any birth parent: Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 0.24 Any birth parent: Dead 0.05 </td <td>Age at judgment</td> <td>10.83</td> <td>10.72</td> <td>10.79</td>	Age at judgment	10.83	10.72	10.79
Foreign background 0.38 0.39 0.38 Behavior petition 0.29 0.27 0.28 Environment petition 0.61 0.62 0.61 Double grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Child consents to removal 0.64 0.65 0.64 At least 1 parent consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Crime against person 0.09 0.09 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.10 0.10 0.10 Other crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to:	Sibling case	0.32	0.33	0.32
Behavior petition 0.29 0.27 0.28 Environment petition 0.61 0.62 0.61 Double grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Child consents to removal 0.64 0.65 0.64 At least 1 parent consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Crime against person 0.09 0.09 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Mental health 0.06 0.06 0.06 Substance use 0.05 0.05 0.05 Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 Any birth parent:	Foreign background	0.38	0.39	0.38
Environment petition 0.61 0.62 0.61 Double grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Child consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3): 0.09 0.09 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.10 0.10 0.10 Other crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to: Mental health 0.06 0.06 Substance use 0.05 0.05 0.05 Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 Any birth parent: Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 Married, yr t-1 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 No labor income, yr t-1 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 Married, yr t-1 0.05 0.05 0.06 Any birth arent: Dead 0.63 <t< td=""><td>Behavior petition</td><td>0.29</td><td>0.27</td><td>0.28</td></t<>	Behavior petition	0.29	0.27	0.28
Double grounds petition 0.11 0.10 0.11 Child consents to removal 0.64 0.65 0.64 At least 1 parent consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Crime against person 0.09 0.09 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.10 0.10 0.10 Other crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hensth health 0.06 0.06 0.06 Substance use 0.05 0.05 0.05 Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 Any birth parent: Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.65 No labor income, yr t-1 0.45 0.45 0.45 No labor income, yr t-1 0.05 0.05 0.06 Any crime, yr t-1 0.05 0.05 0.06 Any cri	Environment petition	0.61	0.62	0.61
Child consents to removal 0.64 0.65 0.64 At least 1 parent consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3): 0.09 0.09 0.09 Crime against person 0.01 0.10 0.10 Other crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to: 0.05 0.05 0.05 Mental health 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.05 Substance use 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 A.24 Any birth parent: Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 No labor income, yr t-1 0.45 0.45 0.45 N.63 No labor income, yr t-1 0.05 0.05 0.06 Any eith deasing Xs, yr t-1 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 Maried,	Double grounds petition	0.11	0.10	0.11
At least 1 parent consents to removal 0.36 0.35 0.36 Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3):	Child consents to removal	0.64	0.65	0.64
Case largely based on child mental health 0.04 0.04 0.04 Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3):	At least 1 parent consents to removal	0.36	0.35	0.36
Non-junior case type 0.16 0.17 0.17 Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3):	Case largely based on child mental health	0.04	0.04	0.04
Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3): Crime against person 0.09 0.09 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.10 0.10 0.10 Other crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to:	Non-junior case type	0.16	0.17	0.17
Crime against person 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 Narcotic crime 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 Other crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to:	Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3):			
Narcotic crime0.100.100.10Other crime0.110.110.11Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to: Mental health0.060.06Substance use0.050.050.05Missing, yrs t-1 to t-30.230.240.24Any birth parent: Dead0.050.050.05Married, yr t-10.450.450.45No labor income, yr t-10.630.630.63Hosp, d.t. mental health, yr t-10.070.070.07Hosp, d.t. substance use, yr t-10.050.050.06Any crime, yr t-10.160.160.16Missing Xs, yr t-10.240.240.24B: Appeal Characteristics Case appealed0.400.410.40Days between trial decision and appellate decision Appellate overturned prior approval0.030.030.03Appellate overturned prior denial0.010.010.010.01C: judge Characteristics Judge age9.890.890.88Female judge0.530.500.530.53Judge age49.8153.0149.86Judge experience7.967.918.00Unique judges847381777Unique cases202061580219700Unique children231841860622643Unique birth parents316652555130857Observations250011975624413	Crime against person	0.09	0.09	0.09
Other crime 0.11 0.11 0.11 Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to:	Narcotic crime	0.10	0.10	0.10
Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to:Mental health0.060.060.06Substance use0.050.050.05Missing, yrs t-1 to t-30.230.240.24Any birth parent:0.050.05Dead0.050.050.050.05<18 y.o. at birth of child	Other crime	0.11	0.11	0.11
Mental health 0.06 0.06 0.06 Substance use 0.05 0.05 0.05 Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 Any birth parent: 0.23 0.24 0.24 Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 <18 y.o. at birth of child	Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to:			
Substance use 0.05 0.05 0.05 Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3 0.23 0.24 0.24 Any birth parent: $$	Mental health	0.06	0.06	0.06
Missing, yrs t-1 to t-30.230.240.24Any birth parent: 0.05 0.050.05 0.24 0.020.020.02Married, yr t-10.450.450.45No labor income, yr t-10.630.630.63Hosp. dt. mental health, yr t-10.050.050.06Any crime, yr t-10.160.160.16Missing Xs, yr t-10.160.160.16Missing Xs, yr t-10.240.240.24B: Appeal Characteristics 0.40 0.410.40Case appealed0.400.410.40Days between trial decision and appellate decision90.5690.3290.58Appellate overturned prior approval0.030.030.03Appellate overturned prior denial0.010.010.01C: Judge Characteristics U U U Judge removal tendency0.890.890.88Female judge0.530.500.53Judge age49.8153.0149.86Judge experience7.967.918.00Unique cases202061580219700Unique children231841860622643Unique birth parents316652555130857Observations250011975624413	Substance use	0.05	0.05	0.05
Any birth parent:Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 <18 y.o. at birth of child	Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3	0.23	0.24	0.24
Dead 0.05 0.05 0.05 <18 y.o. at birth of child	Any birth parent:			
<18 y.o. at birth of child	Dead	0.05	0.05	0.05
Married, yr t-1 0.45 0.45 0.45 No labor income, yr t-1 0.63 0.63 0.63 Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1 0.07 0.07 0.07 Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1 0.05 0.05 0.06 Any crime, yr t-1 0.16 0.16 0.16 Missing Xs, yr t-1 0.24 0.24 0.24 B: Appeal Characteristics 0.40 0.41 0.40 Days between trial decision and appellate decision 90.56 90.32 90.58 Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge Characteristics	<18 y.o. at birth of child	0.02	0.02	0.02
No labor income, yr t-1 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1 0.07 0.07 0.07 Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1 0.05 0.05 0.06 Any crime, yr t-1 0.16 0.16 0.16 Missing Xs, yr t-1 0.24 0.24 0.24 B: Appeal Characteristics 2 0.40 0.41 0.40 Days between trial decision and appellate decision 90.56 90.32 90.58 Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge Characteristics 1 1.98 9.89 0.88 Female judge 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge removal tendency 0.89 0.89 0.88 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 25551 30857	Married, yr t-1	0.45	0.45	0.45
Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1 0.07 0.07 0.07 Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1 0.05 0.05 0.06 Any crime, yr t-1 0.16 0.16 0.16 Missing Xs, yr t-1 0.24 0.24 0.24 B: Appeal Characteristics 0.40 0.41 0.40 Days between trial decision and appellate decision 90.56 90.32 90.58 Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge Characteristics 0.89 0.89 0.88 Female judge 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge age49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 25551 30857	No labor income, yr t-1	0.63	0.63	0.63
Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1 0.05 0.05 0.06 Any crime, yr t-1 0.16 0.16 0.16 Missing Xs, yr t-1 0.24 0.24 0.24 B: Appeal Characteristics 0.40 0.41 0.40 Days between trial decision and appellate decision 90.56 90.32 90.58 Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge Characteristics 90.53 0.53 0.53 Judge removal tendency 0.89 0.89 0.88 Female judge 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge age 49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 25551 30857	Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1	0.07	0.07	0.07
Any crime, yr t-1 0.16 0.16 0.16 Missing Xs, yr t-1 0.24 0.24 0.24 B: Appeal Characteristics Case appealed 0.40 0.41 0.40 Days between trial decision and appellate decision 90.56 90.32 90.58 Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge Characteristics Unique removal tendency 0.89 0.89 0.88 Female judge 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge age 49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 25551 30857	Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1	0.05	0.05	0.06
Missing Xs, yr t-1 0.24 0.24 0.24 B: Appeal CharacteristicsCase appealed 0.40 0.41 0.40 Days between trial decision and appellate decision 90.56 90.32 90.58 Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge Characteristics 0.89 0.89 0.88 Female judge 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge age 49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 2551 30857 Observations 25001 19756 24413	Any crime, yr t-1	0.16	0.16	0.16
B: Appeal CharacteristicsCase appealed 0.40 0.41 0.40 Days between trial decision and appellate decision 90.56 90.32 90.58 Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge CharacteristicsJudge removal tendency 0.89 0.89 0.88 Female judge 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge age 49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 2551 30857 Observations 25001 19756 24413	Missing Xs, yr t-1	0.24	0.24	0.24
B: Appeal CharacteristicsCase appealed 0.40 0.41 0.40 Days between trial decision and appellate decision 90.56 90.32 90.58 Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge CharacteristicsJudge removal tendency 0.89 0.89 0.88 Female judge 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge age 49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 2551 30857 Observations 25001 19756 24413				
Case appealed 0.40 0.41 0.40 Days between trial decision and appellate decision 90.56 90.32 90.58 Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge CharacteristicsJudge removal tendency 0.89 0.89 0.88 Female judge 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge age 49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 2551 30857 Observations 25001 19756 24413	B: Appeal Characteristics			
Days between trial decision and appellate decision 90.56 90.32 90.58 Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge CharacteristicsJudge removal tendency 0.89 0.89 0.88 Female judge 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge age 49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 2551 30857 Observations 25001 19756 24413	Case appealed	0.40	0.41	0.40
Appellate overturned prior approval 0.03 0.03 0.03 Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge Characteristics 0.89 0.89 0.88 Judge removal tendency 0.89 0.53 0.53 Judge age 49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 25551 30857 Observations 25001 19756 24413	Days between trial decision and appellate decision	90.56	90.32	90.58
Appellate overturned prior denial 0.01 0.01 0.01 C: Judge Characteristics 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.88 Judge removal tendency 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge age 49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 25551 30857 Observations 25001 19756 24413	Appellate overturned prior approval	0.03	0.03	0.03
C: Judge Characteristics Judge removal tendency 0.89 0.89 0.88 Female judge 0.53 0.50 0.53 Judge age 49.81 53.01 49.86 Judge experience 7.96 7.91 8.00 Unique judges 847 381 777 Unique cases 20206 15802 19700 Unique children 23184 18606 22643 Unique birth parents 31665 2551 30857 Observations 25001 19756 24413	Appellate overturned prior denial	0.01	0.01	0.01
Judge removal tendency0.890.890.88Female judge0.530.500.53Judge age49.8153.0149.86Judge experience7.967.918.00Unique judges847381777Unique cases202061580219700Unique children231841860622643Unique birth parents316652555130857Observations250011975624413	C: Judge Characteristics			
Female judge0.530.500.53Judge age49.8153.0149.86Judge experience7.967.918.00Unique judges847381777Unique cases202061580219700Unique children231841860622643Unique birth parents316652555130857Observations250011975624413	Judge removal tendency	0.89	0.89	0.88
Judge age49.8153.0149.86Judge experience7.967.918.00Unique judges847381777Unique cases202061580219700Unique children231841860622643Unique birth parents316652555130857Observations250011975624413	Female judge	0.53	0.50	0.53
Judge experience7.967.918.00Unique judges847381777Unique cases202061580219700Unique children231841860622643Unique birth parents316652555130857Observations250011975624413	Judge age	49.81	53.01	49.86
Unique judges847381777Unique cases202061580219700Unique children231841860622643Unique birth parents31665255130857Observations250011975624413	Judge experience	7.96	7.91	8.00
Unique cases202061580219700Unique children231841860622643Unique birth parents31665255130857Observations250011975624413	Unique judges	847	381	777
Unique children231841860622643Unique birth parents316652555130857Observations250011975624413	Unique cases	20206	15802	19700
Unique birth parents 31665 2551 30857 Observations 25001 19756 24413	Unique children	23184	18606	22643
Observations 25001 19756 24413	Unique birth parents	31665	25551	30857
	Observations	25001	19756	24413

Note: This table presents descriptive statistics on child, parent, appeal, and judge characteristics for all children who are observed in Statistics Sweden's register and for each analysis sample as described in Section 3.3.2. Statistics are shown for observations with non-missing information.

3.4.1 Empirical Specification

The main aim is to investigate how judge characteristics affect the probability of court-ordered care. The specification that we bring to the data can be written as:

$$R_{i,c,t} = \beta X_{j(c,t)} + \alpha_{h,t} + \delta_j + \epsilon_{i,c,t}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where $R_{i,c,t}$ is an indicator equal to 1 if the court orders child i to be removed from their home in year t, $X_{j(c,t)}$ is a time-varying characteristic of judge j who is assigned case c, $\alpha_{h,t}$ are court-by-year FEs, δ_j are judge FEs, and $\epsilon_{i,c,t}$ is an error term.

We include court-by-year FEs because the randomization of cases to judges occurs within the pool of available judges at each court. By including such FEs, we account for differences in child and judge characteristics across courts and over time.²⁰

While conditional randomization is enough to disentangle the effect of $X_{j(c,t)}$ from case characteristics, it is not enough to disentangle the causal effect of $X_{j(c,t)}$ from all other characteristics of judge j. For example, if more senior judges tend to be male, and male judges behave differently than female judges of similar seniority, β suffers from omitted variable bias. To avoid omitted variable bias stemming from such differences in time-invariant characteristics across judges, we include judge FEs. However, other time-varying characteristics still pose an issue. Judge experience is correlated with age. Therefore, β might be picking up the effect of being assigned an older judge. Hence, we follow Altonji et al. (2005) and Oster (2019) and examine the stability of the coefficient and *R*-squared to the inclusion of additional time-varying judge characteristics.

Throughout the paper, we cluster the standard errors at the case level because judges are quasi-randomly assigned to cases that may contain siblings (see Abadie et al., 2023, Chyn et al., 2023).

3.4.2 Random Assignment

To isolate the effect of judge characteristics on removal from case selection, we require quasi-random assignment of judges to cases. Given the features of the institutional setting, judges are expected to be assigned to cases quasi-randomly conditional on observable controls (see Section 3.2). To test the validity of this assumption, we inspect the balance of case characteristics.

²⁰Our results are robust to the use of other FEs, including department-by-year FEs, court-by-year FEs together with day-of-week FEs and SWC FEs, and court-by-year FEs together with male-judge-by-year FEs.

Table 3.2. Test of Random Assignment

	Remo	ved	Judge Rem	oval Tendency
	Coeff	Std err	Coeff	Std err
Girl	-0.0063	0.0047	0.0010	0.0009
Age at judgment	0.0035***	0.0008	-0.0001	0.0002
Sibling case	-0.0264***	0.0081	0.0005	0.0016
Foreign background	0.0282***	0.0066	0.0011	0.0014
Behavior petition	0.0154**	0.0075	0.0014	0.0017
Environment petition	-0.0998***	0.0093	-0.0018	0.0019
Child consents to removal	0.2425***	0.0095	-0.0005	0.0015
At least 1 parent consents to removal	0.0674***	0.0064	-0.0016	0.0014
Missing consent data	0.1416***	0.0213	-0.0001	0.0043
Case largely based on child mental health	-0.0385***	0.0149	0.0007	0.0028
Non-junior case type	-0.0104	0.0078	0.0008	0.0015
Committed (yrs t-1 to t-3):				
Crime against person	0.0097	0.0078	0.0010	0.0020
Narcotic crime	0.0460***	0.0071	0.0005	0.0019
Other crime	0.0104	0.0075	-0.0014	0.0019
Hospitalized (yrs t-1 to t-3) due to:				
Mental health	0.0006	0.0096	0.0011	0.0021
Substance use	0.0123	0.0090	-0.0005	0.0024
Missing, yrs t-1 to t-3	0.0282***	0.0075	0.0009	0.0016
Any birth parent:				
Dead	0.0294**	0.0122	0.0013	0.0025
<18 y.o. at birth of child	-0.0049	0.0174	-0.0018	0.0036
Married, yr t-1	0.0097	0.0067	-0.0003	0.0014
No labor income, yr t-1	-0.0012	0.0067	-0.0002	0.0014
Hosp. d.t. mental health, yr t-1	0.0158	0.0127	-0.0014	0.0026
Hosp. d.t. substance use, yr t-1	0.0147	0.0141	0.0029	0.0027
Any crime, yr t-1	0.0229**	0.0093	-0.0007	0.0017
Missing Xs, yr t-1	0.0013	0.0091	-0.0013	0.0018
<i>F</i> -statistic	38.55		0.44	
<i>p</i> -value	0.00		0.99	
Ν	19756		18291	

Note: Test of random assignment of judge removal tendency to cases using the 'Judge Sample'. In column 2, observations with missing judge removal tendency are (naturally) excluded. Reported *F*-statistic of joint significance is for the displayed variables. All estimations include court-by-year dummies. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table 3.2 provides strong empirical evidence that judges are randomly assigned conditional on court-by-year FEs. The first column regresses removal on 25 child and parent background variables. Half of the variables are significant predictors of removal (joint *F*-statistic of 38.55). However, in accordance with random assignment, the estimated coefficients are close to zero, lack individual significance, and are not jointly significant (*F*-statistic: 0.44) when leave-out mean judge removal tendency is regressed on the same set of variables. This implies that child and parent characteristics that predict removal are not correlated with judges' tendency to remove children from home. For more than half of the variables, the coefficient signs are not even the same in the two regressions.

Additional randomization tests are provided in Tables A2-A3. In Table A2, we test for random assignment using judge characteristics (judge gender, age, experience) and judge-specific temporal shocks (appellate court decisions). Next, we vary sample and specification decisions (Table A3). We consistently document small *F*-statistics.

3.5 Results

3.5.1 Effect of Judge Experience

Table 3.3 presents the estimated effect of being quasi-randomly assigned a more experienced judge on the probability of removal. In column 1, we only control for court-by-year and judge FEs. The point estimate implies that judges with one more year of experience are 1.8 percentage points (significant at the 5% level) more likely to order child removal. When the full set of child and parent controls (see Table 3.1, Panel A) are included, the point estimates are similar (column 2). In column 3, we also include other time-varying judge characteristics. Specifically, we include judge age at the time of the judgment, judge age squared, categorical versions of judge age (25-35, 36-55, 56-75), and indicators for the four types of appellate court judgments (conditional on the judgment occurring within 2-4 weeks before the date of deliberation). There is no meaningful change in the point estimate, which suggests that bias stemming from omitted time-varying judge characteristics may be of limited concern (Altonji et al., 2005; Oster, 2019).²¹

²¹Following Altonji et al. (2005) and Oster (2019), we calculate the degree of selection on unobserved variables relative to observed variables that would be required to attribute the entire effect of judge experience to omitted variable bias. Assuming that the outcome can be fully explained by the treatment and a complete set of observed and unobserved controls (maximum $R^2 = 1$) yields a ratio of 4.9. This value implies that the selection on unobserved controls must be almost 5 times as large as the selection on observed controls to explain away our estimated effect. The suggested robustness standard is 1 (i.e. equal selection). Hence, omitted variable bias might be of limited concern.

		Full Sample	0	B	y Judge Geno	ler
	(1) Baseline	(2) Case Controls	(3) Judge Controls	(4) Female	(5) Male	99
Judge experience	0.0178** (0.0070)	0.0187*** (0.0068)	0.0179*** (0.0069)	0.0003 (0.0095)	0.0326*** (0.0104)	0.0323^{**} (0.0141)
Dependent mean	0.8840	0.8840	0.8838	0.8875	0.8806	
Child & parent controls	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Time-varying judge controls	No	No	Yes	No	No	No
Z	19756	19756	19435	9864	9888	19752

Table 3.3. Effect of Judge Experience on Child Removal

The 'Judge Sample' is used. All estimations include court-by-year and judge FEs. Standard .01 \vee Note: The dependent variable is an indicator for child removal. errors are clustered at the case level. * p<.1. ** p<.05. *** p<

A flexible regression of removal on judge experience is shown in Figure 3.2. The probability of child removal increases approximately linearly with judge experience. Figure 3.2 also depicts the variation in judge experience after accounting for court-by-year and judge FEs, i.e. the variation exploited for identification. After residualization, the mean number of years as a regular judge is 7.91 (std. dev. 0.38; min. 6.83; max. 8.98).

Figure 3.2. Relationship Between Removal and Judge Experience



Note: This figure depicts the relationship between removal and judge experience. The histogram shows the density of judge experience (leaving out the top and bottom 1%). The 'Judge Sample' is used (see Section 3.3.2). The solid line shows a Kernel-weighted local polynomial regression of removal on judge experience, while the dashed lines show 90% confidence bands. Removal and judge experience are residualized using court-by-year and judge FEs. Settings: triangle Kernel, degree 0, and bandwidth 0.5.

These aggregate results mask meaningful heterogeneity. In columns 4-5, Table 3.3, we split the sample by judge gender. The increase in removal tendency with experience is entirely driven by male judges. For female judges, the point estimate is close to zero while the point estimate in column 5 implies that being randomly assigned a male judge with one more year of experience increases the probability of removal by 3.3 percentage points (1% level). The difference in effect sizes is statistically significant at the 5% level.²² Figure A4 provides a scatter plot

²²Possible time trends in removal tendency by judge gender are explored in Figure A5. Specifically, we regress removal on indicators for each case decision year (in the 'Judge Sample' and the subsample of female and male judges), court FEs, and the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 3.1, Panel A. The point estimates and 95% confidence intervals are presented. We find no evidence of time trends in removal tendency by judge gender after accounting for court FEs and observable child and parent characteristics.

of the probability of child removal and judge experience by judge gender (after residualization using court-by-year and judge FEs).

Using largely the same sample, Helénsdotter (2023) finds that child removal greatly increases the risk of death by the year the child turns 19. As expected given our finding that judges become more likely to remove children as they gain years of experience, Table 3.4 presents reduced-form estimates (with and without case controls) showing that the risk of all-cause death increases by 0.4 percentage points (relative to a mean of 0.7%; 10% significance level) if the child is randomly assigned a judge with one more year of experience.

Table 3.4. Reduced-Form Effect of Judge Experience on Child Mortality

	(1) Baseline	(2) With Controls
Judge experience	0.0040* (0.0023)	0.0042* (0.0022)
Dependent mean Child & parent controls N	0.0070 No 9677	0.0070 Yes 9677

Note: The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if the child dies by the year they turn 19. The 'Judge Sample' is used but restricted to children who (i) would turn 19 by the end of our mortality data (2022) and (ii) are not emigrated by the end of our migration data (2022). All estimations include court-by-year and judge FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Effect of Appellate Court Signals 3.5.2

How are judges' decision-making affected by an appellate court reversing or affirming their previous judgment? Table 3.5 presents OLS results from regressing the probability of removal on indicators for whether an appellate court handed down a judgment (in the 2-4 weeks prior to the focal case's date of deliberation) in which the appellate court either overturns or affirms the judge's previous decision. In all regressions, we include court-by-year and judge FEs to account for differences across courts and over time as well as time-invariant differences across judges.

Right, remove	-	0.0082	0.0083			0.0077	0.0078	0.0056
		(0.0068)	(0.0063)			(0.0068)	(0.0063)	(0.0068)
Wrong, do not remove				0.0002	-0.0034	0.0027	-0.0010	-0.0046
				(0.0234)	(0.0236)	(0.0234)	(0.0236)	(0.0252)
Right, do not remove				-0.0961	-0.0847	-0.0932	-0.0819	-0.0326
				(0.0585)	(0.0609)	(0.0587)	(0.0610)	(0.0573)
Dependent mean	0.8853	0.8853	0.8853	0.8853	0.8853	0.8853	0.8853	0.8840
Child & parent controls	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Time-varying judge controls	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes
Test of equality (<i>p</i> -value)		0.0021	0.0076	0.1253	0.2120	0.0050	0.0205	0.0463
N	24413	24413	24413	24413	24413	24413	24413	19490

0.0637***

0.0628*** (0.0202)

0.0635*** (0.0202)

(0.0214)0.0753***

(0.0213)0.0731***

(8)

6

૭

(2)

(4)

3

 $\overline{\mathbf{0}}$

Ξ

Appellate Court Signal (2-4 Weeks Prior):

Wrong, remove

Table 3.5. Effect of Appellate Court Signals on Child Removal

(0.0213)

(0.0214)0.0746**

Notes: The dependent variable is an indicator for child removal. The 'Appeal Sample' is used in columns 1-7. Column 8 uses the 'Judge Sample'. All estimations include court-by-year and judge FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

In the first column, we only include one type of appellate court judgment: judgments in which the appellate court reverses the trial judge's prior decision to *not* remove a child from home (i.e. signals that the trial judge made the wrong choice and should have ordered removal). The point estimate for 'Wrong, remove' implies that being quasi-randomly assigned a judge who has recently received a signal that they made an incorrect decision to not remove a child from home increases the probability of court-ordered removal by 7.3 percentage points (1% significance level).

In column 2, we also include whether an appellate court affirmed the judge's previous decision to remove a child from home ('Right, remove'). The estimated effect of the reversal is essentially unchanged. In contrast to the effect of being assigned a judge who has recently learned that they made an incorrect decision, the point estimate for 'Right, remove' is small and not statistically significant. The difference in effect size is significant at the 1% level. This implies that judges react more if the appellate court signals that they made an incorrect decision. The estimates are similar when including a full set of child and parent controls (column 3).

In columns 4-5, we regress removal on indicators for whether the appellate court overturned (affirmed) the judge's previous decision to (not) remove a child from home (with and without child and parent controls). The point estimate for 'Wrong, do not remove' is close to zero while the point estimate for 'Right, do not remove' is negative and sizable but imprecisely estimated.

In columns 6-8, we include all four potential appellate court signals with and without child, parent, and judge controls. Across all columns, the point estimates are similar.

To shed light on how persistent the effect of an appellate court reversing a prior decision to not remove a child from home is on judge behavior, we regress removal in case c on indicators for an appellate court handing down such a judgment in the 2-4, 5-8, and 9-12 weeks prior to the date of deliberation in case c. We also include indicators for an appellate court handing down such a judgment in the 2-4, 5-8, and 9-12 weeks after the date of deliberation in case c as a falsification test. Figure 3.3 depicts the estimated effects (with 95% confidence intervals). As expected, the estimated effects of appeal signals that are sent after the date of deliberation (t+1 to t+3) are not significant.²³ Interestingly, the effect of an appeal signal sent before the date of deliberation decays quickly, and the estimated effect is not statistically significant after only one month. However, tests of equality only yield a statistically significant difference (p-value=0.052) in point estimates at t-2 and t+1. A test of equality for the estimates at t-1 and t+1 yields a p-value of 0.108.

Figure 3.3. Effect of Reversal of Judge's Prior Decision to not Order Removal



Note: This figure shows the OLS point estimates and 95% confidence intervals from regressing removal in case c on six indicators that capture whether a court of appeal overturned a case d at weeks 2-4, 5-8, and 9-12 *prior* and weeks 2-4, 5-8, and 9-12 *after* the date of deliberation in case c, conditional on case $c \neq d$ being handled by the same trial judge j. Court-by-year and judge FEs are included in the regressions. The 'Appeal Sample' is used. The dashed line indicates the date the appellate court's judgment is handed down. The coefficients at t-1, t-2, and t-3 capture the (placebo) effect of appellate court judgments handed down *after* the deliberation date of the focal trial case. The coefficients at t+1, t+2, and t+3 capture the effect of appellate court judgments handed down *before* the deliberation date of the focal trial case.

3.5.3 Heterogeneity

Results by child characteristics (gender, foreign background, placement grounds, and age) are presented in Tables 3.6-A5. Table 3.6 regresses removal on judge experience in each subsample indicated at the top of the table. The estimates are fairly similar to the main results and there are no statistically significant differences across subgroups.

²³The focal case is excluded when constructing the indicators for appeal signals.

		Tabl	e 3.6. <i>Het</i> i	erogeneit	y of Effect	of Judge	Character	ristics on R	emoval			
		Gender		I	3ackground		Plac	ement Grou	spu	Ag	e at Placeme	nt
	(1) Girl	(2) Boy	Q (3)	(4) Foreign	(5) Native	Q()	(7) Environ.	(8) Behavior	6)	(10) <13 yrs	(11) \geq 13 yrs	(12)
Judge experience	0.0226** (0.0099)	0.0145^{*} (0.0085)	0.0082 (0.0117)	0.0140 (0.0101)	0.0226** (0.0092)	-0.0086 (0.0136)	0.0149 (0.0105)	0.0081 (0.0078)	0.0068 (0.0131)	0.0140 (0.0120)	0.0211^{***} (0.0072)	-0.0071 (0.0134)
Dependent mean N	$0.8771 \\ 9195$	0.8899 10530	19725	0.9032 7617	0.8719 12099	19716	0.8521 12297	0.9410 5391	17688	0.8500 9698	0.9167 10025	19723

Note: The dependent variable is an indicator for child removal. We limit the 'Judge Sample' to the subgroup specified at the top of each column. All estimations include court-by-year and judge FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table A5 regresses removal on an indicator for whether the assigned judge received a recent signal from an appellate court that they made the wrong decision in a previous case and should have removed the child from home. The point estimate is positive in each subsample except in behavior cases. In particular, the response is 11.5 percentage points higher if the judge is quasi-randomly assigned to an environment case rather than a behavior case (significant at the 1% level). Since children with behavioral problems tend to be older, it is unsurprising that there is a large difference in effect size by the age of the child as well (1% level).

Moreover, we inspect heterogeneity in the effects of appeal signals by judge characteristics (gender, age, and experience) in Table A6. The response to an appellate court reversing the judge's decision not to remove a child from home is positive in all subsamples and there are no statistically significant differences.

3.5.4 Robustness Checks

We present robustness checks related to sample and specification decisions in Tables A4-A7. The main results are robust to dropping each court. Baseline results are provided in Panel A of each table for comparison. The results are robust to limiting the sample to only include years with universal coverage of child protection cases (cases determined after February 15, 2010); cases that are randomized to any judge irrespective of position at the court; the first case per child; cases determined 24 or more months before the outbreak of Covid-19 in February 2020; cases in court-by-year cells containing at least 10 observations; and judges who handle at least 20 cases. We also show robustness to three-way clustering on judge, child, and case level; replacing court-by-year FEs with department-by-year FEs; adding FEs for judgment day of the week and SWC in charge; and adding FEs for male-judge-by-year FEs. In Table A7, we also demonstrate robustness to excluding junior judges from the 'Appeal Sample' and replacing court-by-year FEs with appellate-court-by-year FEs.

3.6 Mechanisms

To understand the drivers of variation in judicial decision-making, it is useful to first model judge behavior.

The judicial objective is stated in the very first section of the Care of Young Persons Act: the court should order out-of-home care $(R_{i,j} = 1)$ if court-ordered care is 'best' for the child, under the condition that (i) the home environment implies a palpable threat to the health or development of the child $(C_i^e = 1)$ or (ii) the child endangers their health or development through criminality, substance abuse, or other behavior $(C_i^b = 1)$. Hence, even if $C_i^e = 1 \lor C_i^b = 1$, the court should *not* order child removal if it is better for the child (from the perspective of the child's health and development) to receive care in the home environment

(Swedish Government, 1989). This decision rule can be formalized as:

$$R_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \left(C_i^e = 1 \lor C_i^b = 1 \right) \land \left(u(H_{i,1}, D_{i,1}) > u(H_{i,0}, D_{i,0}) \right) \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

where $u(H_{i,r}, D_{i,r})$ is the future utility of child *i*, which depends on the child's future health $(H_{i,r})$ and development $(D_{i,r})$ when $R_{i,j} = r$. However, in practice, the judge must form beliefs about C_i^e , C_i^b , $u(H_{i,1}, D_{i,1})$, and $u(H_{i,0}, D_{i,0})$ under limited information.

In many settings, decision-makers accumulate information and improve their skill as they become more experienced. For example, physicians who fail to diagnose a patient may observe the disease progression (false-negative) and physicians who wrongly diagnose a patient may observe the lack of an effect of the prescribed treatment on the patient's symptoms (false-positive).²⁴ By learning about the correct decision ex-post, the physician can improve their skill and make more accurate assessments in the future. However, in the current context, the judges have very limited access to any information about the child ex-post and even if the judge has information about the child, the judge can only learn about the 'correct' decision in extreme cases since only one state of the world is realized.²⁵

What sources of information can affect judge learning in the current context? One potential source is incoming cases. However, only around 7% of cases concern children who have been part of a petition for removal before. In a minority of these cases, the first petition was denied. If the situation progresses, the SWC can submit a new petition for removal. Because the petition cannot be based on the same circumstances, it takes on average 2 years until the next petition is submitted. Nevertheless, these new petitions can serve as information for the judge that the previous decision to deny removal was incorrect.

Moreover, children whose first petition was approved can still be part of a new case if (i) the child was removed based on deficiencies in the home environment and the child has now developed behavioral problems that warrant a petition for placement on those grounds as well or (ii) out-of-home care was terminated and a new need for care has arisen.²⁶ Whether such repeat cases inform judges that the first decision to order out-of-home placement was correct

or incorrect is not evident.

The perhaps most salient source of information that can facilitate learning is decisions made by appellate courts. By affirming or reversing trial judges' decisions, appellate courts send signals informing the judges whether they made the right or wrong decision, from the appellate court's perspective. However, just like trial judges, appellate court judges can only observe noisy information (which largely overlaps with the information available to the trial judge) on which they make their assessment.²⁷

An example of an extreme case in which the ex-post (weakly) 'correct' decision is observable is when the child dies. However, if the child dies, the appellate court cannot hand down a judgment, nor can the SWC file a petition for removal. Hence, it is plausible that judges receive little to no information about child mortality. This lack of information can explain why we do not find that premature child mortality decreases if their case is randomly assigned to a more experienced judge. But why do removal and mortality rates *increase* with the experience of the assigned judge?

We show that trial judges respond to an appellate court reversing their prior decision to not remove children from home by removing more children in the following weeks. This response to appellate court reversals could generate a gradual increase in removal tendency with experience. However, the effect diminishes quickly and is not statistically significant after just one month. Hence, it is unlikely that judges 'learn' to remove more children with experience through repeated signals from appellate courts.²⁸

An ecdotal evidence suggests that judges might become 'hardened' over time and lower their threshold for when child removal is the dominant choice. In particular, judges with more experience might assign a lower subjective cost (c_j) to removing a child from their home against the family's wishes. This phenomenon would be consistent with our findings.

An alternative explanation is that judges might be influenced by external sources of information, such as news stories.²⁹ Indeed, judges may learn from

²⁴See Chan et al. (2022) for an excellent study on decision-making and diagnostic skills.

²⁵As discussed in Helénsdotter (2023), some decisions made by the SWC can be appealed. If the family requests that care be terminated and the SWC denies the request, the family can appeal to the trial court, but such an appeal will only be quasi-randomly assigned to the judge pool leaving out the judge who ordered out-of-home care in the first place. Other appeals are treated as standalone cases and are quasi-randomly assigned to any judge.

²⁶The SWC needs to submit a petition for placement on the grounds of behavioral problems to place the child in institutional care and use coercive measures such as isolation and body searches.

²⁷The investigations used for both the trial and appellate judgments are largely the same. On average, the appellate court's judgment is handed down just 3 months after the trial court's judgment.

²⁸Judges' short-term response to appellate court signals might be explained by judges adapting to minimize the risk of future reversals but that new signals lead to a rapid decay in response (Bhuller and Sigstad, 2022). Another potential explanation is that trial judges are upset about the reversal, which can affect their decision-making (Eren and Mocan, 2018). We inspect whether reversing a peer's decision to not remove a child from home affects the focal judge's probability of removing a child from home in the subsequent 2-4 weeks by rerunning the regression in Table 3.5, Column 1, but using an indicator taking the value 1 if a colleague at the same court experienced such a reversal as the main regressor. We find no evidence of such peer spillovers (point estimate=0.002, std. err.=0.015).

²⁹Philippe and Ouss (2018) find that media exposure to crime increases sentence lengths in criminal cases. However, the effect is only temporary.

media coverage of, e.g., severe maltreatment in the home environment and critique of the child protection system's failure to protect the child. On the other hand, there are ample news stories covering serious maltreatment in out-ofhome care in Sweden during the sample period as well. However, since it is not the role of the judges to ensure the quality of out-of-home care, the media's critique of judges and judges' own sense of responsibility might be stronger when judges are exposed to news stories about cases in which child protection agents – and especially fellow judges – failed to remove a child from a harmful environment. Thereby, judges may react more to such news compared to news stories about deficiencies in out-of-home care.

3.7 Conclusion

This paper utilizes detailed Swedish data on child protection cases to explore why judges make different decisions in court cases, holding case characteristics constant. We focus on two potential drivers of variation in judicial decision-making: judge experience and signals from appellate courts regarding the appropriateness of the judge's *previous* decisions. To identify causal effects we exploit the quasi-random assignment of judges to cases together with temporal variation in experience and appellate court signals.

The analysis yields strong and robust evidence that judges become more 'stringent' as they gain experience, i.e. children who are quasi-randomly assigned judges who have one more year of experience are more likely to be removed from home conditional on judge FEs. Interestingly, this increase in judge stringency with time is entirely driven by male judges.

The change in judge behavior with experience is *not* consistent with learning in the sense of increasing the accuracy of the decisions. The decision rule (which follows the Convention of the Rights of the Child) is that children are to be placed in out-of-home care only if it is best for the child from the perspective of the child's health and development. However, children who are quasi-randomly assigned a more experienced judge are *more* likely to die by the year they turn 19.

Intuitively, experience should improve skill. However, information accumulation is central to learning. An important feature of our setting is that there is little to no feedback about the accuracy of the decisions. It is rare that judges ever observe the outcomes of the children they have decided over, and even if they do, it is difficult to assess the decision accuracy as they cannot observe the outcomes of the alternative. This feature – limited and noisy feedback – is common in the court system and might be especially salient in, for example, cases involving involuntary provision of psychiatric or addiction care, child arrangements (e.g., custody and visitation), and refugee applications.

Our results are consistent with a change in judge preferences over time,

but not with 'learning' through appellate court decisions. In particular, we find strong evidence that judges respond to reversals of their previous decision to *not* remove a child from home by removing children at higher rates in subsequent cases, but only during the first month after the reversal. The brief rise in stringency can be driven by judges trying to minimize the risk of future reversals (Bhuller and Sigstad, 2022), but it can also be driven by emotional stress (Eren and Mocan, 2018).

The results of our analysis have important policy implications. First, recent evidence (Helénsdotter, 2023) shows that court-ordered removal of children from their homes adversely affects child mortality in Europe. However, our results suggest that policymakers should not respond to these findings by redirecting more cases to highly experienced judges in the hope that it would reduce mortality. Second, it might be welfare-improving to incorporate learning into the court system by, for example, facilitating evaluation of the short- and long-term outcomes of court decisions.

Bibliography

- Abadie, A., Athey, S., Imbens, G. W., & Wooldridge, J. M. (2023). When should you adjust standard errors for clustering? *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *138*(1), 1–35.
- Altonji, J. G., Elder, T. E., & Taber, C. R. (2005). Selection on observed and unobserved variables: Assessing the effectiveness of Catholic schools. *Journal of Political Economy*, *113*(1), 151–184.
- Anwar, S., Bayer, P., & Hjalmarsson, R. (2012). The impact of jury race in criminal trials. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *127*(2), 1017–1055.
- Anwar, S., Bayer, P., & Hjalmarsson, R. (2014). The role of age in jury selection and trial outcomes. *Journal of Law and Economics*, *57*(4), 1001–1030.
- Anwar, S., Bayer, P., & Hjalmarsson, R. (2019a). A jury of her peers: The impact of the first female jurors on criminal convictions. *Economic Journal*, *129*(618), 603–650.
- Anwar, S., Bayer, P., & Hjalmarsson, R. (2019b). Politics in the courtroom: Political ideology and jury decision making. *Journal of the European Economic Association, 17*(3), 834–875.
- Anwar, S., Bayer, P., & Hjalmarsson, R. (2022). Unequal jury representation and its consequences. *American Economic Review: Insights*, *4*(2), 159–74.
- Arnold, D., Dobbie, W., & Yang, C. S. (2018). Racial bias in bail decisions. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *133*(4), 1885–1932.
- Ash, T., & Nix, E. (2023). How asylum seekers in the United States respond to their judges: Evidence and implications. *Working Paper*.
- Asmat, R., & Kossuth, L. (2020). Does incomplete information attenuate gender differences in judicial decisions? Evidence from child support cases. *Working Paper*.
- Bald, A., Doyle, J., Joseph J, Gross, M., & Jacob, B. (2022). Economics of foster care. *NBER Working Paper Series, No. 29906.*
- Baron, E. J., Doyle, J., Joseph J., Emanuel, N., Hull, P., & Ryan, J. P. (2023). Racial discrimination in child protection. *NBER Working Paper Series*, *No. 31490*.
- Bartelink, C., Knorth, E. J., López López, M., Koopmans, C., Ten Berge, I. J., Witteman, C. L. M., & Van Yperen, T. A. (2018). Reasons for placement decisions in a case of suspected child abuse: The role of reasoning, work

experience and attitudes in decision-making. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *83*, 129–141.

- Bhuller, M., & Sigstad, H. (2022). Errors and monotonicity in judicial decisionmaking. *Economics Letters*, 215, 110486.
- Bhuller, M., & Sigstad, H. (2023). Feedback and learning: The causal effects of reversals on judicial decision-making. *Working Paper*.
- Bindler, A., & Hjalmarsson, R. (2018). Path dependency in jury decision making. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 17(6), 1971–2017.
- Boyd, C. L. (2016). Representation on the courts? The effects of trial judges' sex and race. *Political Research Quarterly*, *69*(4), 788–799.
- Boyd, C. L., Epstein, L., & Martin, A. D. (2010). Untangling the causal effects of sex on judging. *American Journal of Political Science*, *54*(2), 389–411.
- Brodeur, A., & Wright, T. (2019). Terrorism, immigration and asylum approval. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, *168*, 119–131.
- Cai, X., Li, P., Lu, Y., & Song, H. (2021). Gender in-group bias: Evidence from judicial decisions. *Working Paper*.
- Chan, D. C., Gentzkow, M., & Yu, C. (2022). Selection with variation in diagnostic skill: Evidence from radiologists. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 137(2), 729–783.
- Chen, D. L., & Philippe, A. (2019). Clash of norms: Judicial leniency on defendant birthdays. *SSRN Electronic Journal*.
- Chyn, E., Frandsen, B., & Leslie, E. (2023). Examiner and judge designs in economics: A practitioner's guide. *Unpublished Manuscript*.
- Cohen, A., & Yang, C. S. (2019). Judicial politics and sentencing decisions. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 11(1), 160–191.
- De Haan, W. D., Van Berkel, S. R., Van Der Asdonk, S., Finkenauer, C., Forder, C. J., Van Ijzendoorn, M. H., Schuengel, C., & Alink, L. R. A. (2019). Outof-home placement decisions: How individual characteristics of professionals are reflected in deciding about child protection cases. *Developmental Child Welfare*, 1(4), 312–326.
- Depew, B., Eren, O., & Mocan, N. (2017). Judges, juveniles, and in-group bias. *Journal of Law and Economics*, 60(2), 209–239.
- Eren, O., & Mocan, N. H. (2018). Emotional judges and unlucky juveniles. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 10(3), 171–205.
- Farhang, S., & Wawro, G. (2004). Institutional dynamics on the US court of appeals: Minority representation under panel decision making. *Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization*, 20(2), 299–330.
- Flanagan, F. X. (2018). Race, gender, and juries: Evidence from North Carolina. *Journal of Law and Economics*, *61*(2), 189–214.
- Gazal-Ayal, O., & Sulitzeanu-Kenan, R. (2010). Let my people go: Ethnic in-group bias in judicial decisions-evidence from a randomized natural experiment. *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies*, 7(3), 403–428.

- Helénsdotter, R. (2023). Surviving childhood: Health and crime effects of removing a child from home. *Working Paper*.
- Hoekstra, M., & Street, B. (2018). The effect of own-gender juries on conviction rates. *NBER Working Paper Series, No. 25013.*
- Kim, H., Wildeman, C., Jonson-Reid, M., & Drake, B. (2017). Lifetime prevalence of investigating child maltreatment among US children. *American Journal of Public Health*, 107(2), 274–280.
- Knepper, M. (2018). When the shadow is the substance: Judge gender and the outcomes of workplace sex discrimination cases. *Journal of Labor Economics*, *36*(3), 623–664.
- Martén, L. (2017). Political bias in court? Lay judges and asylum appeals. *Working Paper.*
- Mocan, N. H. (2020). Biases in judicial decision-making. In J. Avery & J. Cooper (Eds.), *Bias in the law* (pp. 97–114). Lexington Books.
- Norris, S. (2022). Measuring examiner consistency and skill: Evidence from refugee decisions. *Working Paper*.
- Oster, E. (2019). Unobservable selection and coefficient stability: Theory and evidence. *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics*, *37*(2), 187–204.
- Philippe, A., & Ouss, A. (2018). "No hatred or malice, fear or affection": Media and sentencing. *Journal of Political Economy*, *126*(5), 2134–2178.
- Rehavi, M. M., & Starr, S. B. (2014). Racial disparity in federal criminal sentences. *Journal of Political Economy*, *122*(6), 1320–1354.
- Starr, S. B. (2015). Estimating gender disparities in federal criminal cases. *American Law and Economics Review*, 17(1), 127–159.
- Swedish Government. (1989). Proposition om vård i vissa fall av barn och ungdomar: (1989/90:28).

Appendix Tables and Figures

3.A Appendix Figures and Tables

Figure A1. Distribution of Time Between Judgments



Note: This figure depicts the distribution of time from the trial court's judgment to the appellate court's judgment. The 'Appeal Sample' is used.

Table A1. Descriptive Statisti	ics by Appeal	Status	
	Full Appeal		Not
	Sample	Appealed	Appealed
A: Child & Parent Characteristics			
Removed	0.89	0.95	0.84
Girl	0.46	0.49	0.45
Age at judgment	10.79	9.01	12.01
Sibling case	0.32	0.44	0.24
Foreign background	0.38	0.41	0.36
Behavior petition	0.28	0.14	0.38
Environment petition	0.61	0.78	0.49
Double grounds petition	0.11	0.08	0.12
Child consents to removal	0.64	0.73	0.58
At least 1 parent consents to removal	0.36	0.22	0.48
Case largely based on child mental health	0.04	0.04	0.04
Non-iunior case type	0.17	0.21	0.14
Committed (vrs $t-1$ to $t-3$):			
Crime against person	0.09	0.05	0.11
Narcotic crime	0.10	0.05	0.13
Other crime	0.11	0.06	0.14
Hospitalized (vrs t-1 to t-3) due to:		0100	0111
Mental health	0.06	0.04	0.08
Substance use	0.05	0.02	0.00
Missing vrs t-1 to t-3	0.03	0.29	0.20
Any hirth parent:	0.21	0.2	0.20
Dead	0.05	0.04	0.06
< 18 vo. at hirth of child	0.03	0.04	0.00
Married vr t-1	0.02	0.02	0.02
Na labor income vr t-1	0.43	0.40	0.45
Hosp dt mental health yr t-1	0.03	0.08	0.07
Hosp. d.t. substance use vr t-1	0.07	0.08	0.07
Any crime $xr t_1$	0.00	0.03	0.00
Missing Ye yr t-1	0.10	0.18	0.15
Missing AS, yi t-1	0.24	0.23	0.23
B: Appeal Characteristics			
Case appealed	0.40	1.00	0.00
Days between trial decision and appellate decision	90.58	90.58	•
Appellate overturned prior approval	0.03	0.07	0.00
Appellate overturned prior denial	0.01	0.03	0.00
C: Fudge Characteristics			
Judge removal tendency	0.88	0.89	0.88
Female judge	0.53	0.52	0.50
Indre age	10.55	10.02	10.52
Judge experience	49.80 8.00	7 99	8.02
Junge experience	0.00	1.77	0.02
Unique judges	777	702	756
Unique cases	19700	7017	12155
Unique children	22643	9277	13372
Unique birth parents	30857	11851	20001
Observations	24413	9561	14124

Note: This table presents descriptive statistics on child, parent, appeal, and judge characteristics by whether the case was appealed. Descriptive statistics in the full 'Appeal Sample' are shown in the first column for comparison. Statistics are shown for observations with non-missing information.

Judge Sample(2)(3)(4)(2)(3)(4)Judge Removal(3)(4)TendencyFemale Judge >50 0.441.310.90.990.140.518291197561971signment of judge removal tendency and crent characteristics listed in Table 3.1 and	(5) (5) (5) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2	(6) (6) Removed 48.68 0.00 24413 ses using the Reported <i>F</i> -	App (7) (7) Judge Removal Tendency 0.85 0.68 19791 19791 'Judge Sample' an	eal Sample (8) (8) Signal: Wrong, Remove 0.71 0.86 24413 d the 'Appeal Samj ignificance is for th	(9) Appellate Court Signal: Right, Remove 0.93 0.56 24413 ple'. All estimations he child and parent
litei l	Judge Sample(2)(3)(4) (2) (3)(4) (2) (3)(4) (2) (3)(4) (2) (3)(4) (2) (3) (4) (2) (3) (4) (2) (3) (4) (2) (3) (4) (2) (3) (4) (2) (3) (4) (2) (3) (4) (2) (3) (4) (3) (3) (4) (3)	Judge Sample(2)(3)(4)(5)(2)(3)(4)(5)Judge RemovalJudgeJudgeJudgeTendencyFemale Judge ≥ 50 y.o.Experience0.441.31 0.94 0.85 0.99 0.14 0.55 0.68 1829119756 19756 19756 symmet of judge removal tendency and characteristics to canand court-by-year FEs.	Judge Sample(2)(3)(4)(5)(6)Judge RemovalJudgeJudgeJudgeTendencyFemale Judge ≥ 50 y.o.ExperienceRemoved0.441.31 0.94 0.85 48.680.99 0.14 0.55 0.68 0.00 18291197561975624413symment of judge removal tendency and characteristics to cases using the nt characteristics listed in Table 3.1 and court-by-year FEs. Reported F .	Judge SampleApproximation(2)(3)(4)(5)(6)(7)Judge RemovalJudgeJudgeJudge RemovalJudge RemovalTendencyFemale JudgeJudgeMapproximationJudge RemovalTendencyFemale Judge ≥ 50 y.o.ExperienceRemovedTendency0.441.31 0.94 0.85 48.68 0.85 0.99 0.14 0.55 0.68 0.00 0.68 1829119756 19756 24413 19791 gmment of judge removal tendency and characteristics to cases using the 'Judge Sample' and the characteristics listed in Table 3.1 and court-by-year FEs. Reported F-statistic of joint s	Judge SampleAppeal Sample(2)(3)(4)(5)(6)(7)(8)Judge RemovalJudgeJudge RemovalSignal:TendencyFemale Judge ≥ 50 y.o.ExperienceRemovedTendencyWrong, Remove0.441.310.940.8548.680.850.710.990.140.550.680.000.680.860.86182911975619756244131979124413stimment of judge removal tendency and characteristics to cases using the 'Judge Sample' and the 'Appeal Samat characteristics listed in Table 3.1 and court-by-year FEs. Reported F-statistic of joint significance is for t

Table A2. Additional Tests of Random Assignment I

Table A3. Additional Tests of Random Assignment II

	* 1 0 1	. 10 1
	Judge Sample	Appeal Sample
<u>A: Baseline</u>		
F-statistic (p-value)	0.44 (0.99)	0.85 (0.68)
Ν	18291	19791
B: Sample With Natio	nal Coverage	
F-statistic (p-value)	0.58 (0.95)	0.91 (0.59)
Ν	16685	18144
C: Excluding Non-Jun	ior Cases	
F-statistic (p-value)	0.58 (0.95)	0.66 (0.89)
Ν	15241	16498
<u>D: First-Time Cases</u>		
<i>F</i> -statistic (<i>p</i> -value)	0.48 (0.99)	0.86 (0.67)
Ν	16963	18344
E: Cases Determined 2	≥24 Months Before	Covid-19
<i>F</i> -statistic (<i>p</i> -value)	0.54 (0.97)	0.82 (0.72)
Ν	14509	15731
F: Cases in Court*Year	r Cells With \geq 10 of	bs
<i>F</i> -statistic (<i>p</i> -value)	0.45 (0.99)	0.86 (0.66)
Ν	18245	19758
<i>G:</i> Judge Handles \geq 20) cases	
<i>F</i> -statistic (<i>p</i> -value)	0.46 (0.99)	0.78 (0.77)
Ν	18056	19452
H: Three-Way Cluster	at Case, Child, and	l Judge Level
F-statistic (p-value)	0.66 (0.89)	1.04(0.41)
Ν	18291	19791
I: Court-by-Year FEs R	eplaced With Depa	artment-by-Year FEs
<i>F</i> -statistic (<i>p</i> -value)	0.54 (0.97)	0.98 (0.49)
Ν	18260	19757
J: Court-by-Year FEs F	Replaced With App	ellate-Court-by-Year FEs
<i>F</i> -statistic (<i>p</i> -value)	0.90 (0.60)	0.82 (0.72)
Ν	7189	7821
K: Add Day-of-Week a	and Social Welfare	Committee FEs
F-statistic (p-value)	0.43 (0.99)	0.86 (0.66)
Ν	18282	19782
L: Add Male-Judge-by	v-Year FEs	
F-statistic (p-value)	0.41 (1.00)	0.83 (0.71)
Ν	18291	19791

Note: In Panels B-G, we limit the baseline samples to years with universal coverage, cases that are randomly assigned to any judge within the judge pool irrespective of the judge's seniority, the first case for each child, cases decided \geq 24 months before February 2020, cases in court-by-year cells with at least 10 observations, and judges who handle at least 20 cases. Decisions related to specification are varied in Panels H-L. Panel H clusters the standard errors on the case, judge, and child level. Panels I-J replace court-by-year FEs with department-by-year FEs and appellatecourt-by-year FEs, respectively. Panel K adds FEs for judgment day of the week and SWC. Panel L adds FEs for male-judge-by-year FEs. All estimations include the child and parent characteristics listed in Table 3.1. Reported F-statistic (p-value) of joint significance is for the child and parent characteristics only. Standard errors are clustered at the case level.





Note: This figure depicts the median time from the trial court's judgment to the appellate court's judgment. The 'Appeal Sample' is used. While the appeal database has national coverage from 2005 onward, the trial database only has national coverage from February 15, 2010, onward. Since no trial courts within the jurisdiction of the Administrative Court of Gothenburg are observable in the trial database before 2010, the median time between decisions cannot be calculated before 2010.

Figure A3. Relationship Between Removal and Judge Removal Tendency



Note: This figure illustrates the variation in judge removal tendency and the relationship between removal and judge removal tendency. The histogram shows the density of judge removal tendency (leaving out the top and bottom 1%). The baseline sample is used but restricted to judges who handle at least 20 cases (see Section 3.3.2). The solid line shows a Kernel-weighted local polynomial regression of removal on judge removal tendency, while the dashed lines show 90% confidence bands. Removal and judge removal tendency are residualized using court-by-year FEs. Settings: triangle Kernel, degree 0, and bandwidth 0.10.

Figure A4. Effect of Judge Experience on Child Removal by Gender



Note: This figure plots mean removal rates among cases assigned to male (black diamonds) and female (gray dots) judges whose experience levels fall within the same bin (15 bins of equal size). Removal and judge experience are residualized using court-by-year and judge FEs. The 'Judge Sample' is used.

Figure A5. Time Trend in Probability of Removal



Note: This figure shows the OLS point estimates and 95% confidence intervals from regressing removal on indicators for case decision year in the full 'Judge Sample', cases assigned to female judges, and cases assigned to male judges. The base year is 2001. All regressions include a full set of child and parent characteristics (see Table 3.1) and court FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the case level.

Table A4. Robustness Checks of	Effect	of Judge	Experience	on Removal
--------------------------------	--------	----------	------------	------------

		Removed
	Coeff	Std err
A: Baseline		
Judge experience	0.0178**	0.0070
Observations	19756	
B: Sample With Na	tional Covera	ge
Judge experience	0.0145*	0.0074
Observations	17885	
C: Excluding Non-j	funior Cases	
Judge experience	0.0155**	0.0073
Observations	16458	
D: First-Time Cases	:	
Judge experience	0.0188***	0.0061
Observations	18324	
E: Cases Determine	$d \ge 24$ Month	s Before Covid-19
Judge experience	0.0238***	0.0082
Observations	15581	
F: Cases in Court*Y	ear Cells With	$h \ge 10 \ obs$
Judge experience	0.0177**	0.0070
Observations	19701	
$G: Judge Handles \geq$	20 Cases	
Judge experience	0.0197***	0.0072
Observations	18056	
H: Three-Way Clust	ter at Case, Cl	hild, and Judge Level
Judge experience	0.0178**	0.0077
Observations	19756	
I: Court-by-Year FE	s Replaced W	ith Department-by-Year FEs
Judge experience	0.0158**	0.0071
Observations	19728	
J: Add Day-of-Wee	k and Social V	Velfare Committee FEs
Judge experience	0.0171**	0.0069
Observations	19749	
K: Add Male-Judge	-by-Year FEs	
Judge experience	0.0180**	0.0070
Observations	19756	

Note: Panels B-F limit the 'Judge Sample' to years with universal coverage, cases that are randomly assigned to any judge within the judge pool irrespective of the judge's seniority, the first case for each child, cases decided \geq 24 months before February 2020, cases in court-by-year cells with at least 10 observations, and judges who handle at least 20 cases. Panel H clusters the standard errors on the case, judge, and child level. Panel G replaces court-by-year FEs with department-by-year FEs. Panel J adds FEs for judgment day of the week and SWC while Panel K adds male-judge-by-year FEs. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

		Gender		I	3ackground		Plac	ement Grou	nds	Age	e at Placeme	nt
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(2)	(9)	(7)	(8)	(6)	(10)	(11)	(12)
	Girl	Boy	∇	Foreign	Native	∇	Environ.	Behavior	∇	<13 yrs	$\geq 13 \text{ yrs}$	∇
Appellate Court Signa	ıl (2-4 Weeks	s Prior):										
Wrong, remove	0.0694^{**}	0.0822^{***}	-0.0280	0.0800^{**}	0.0796^{***}	0.0144	0.1108^{***}	-0.0064	0.1151^{***}	0.1462^{***}	0.0172	0.1206^{***}
	(0.0340)	(0.0263)	(0.0412)	(0.0343)	(0.0286)	(0.0439)	(0.0308)	(0.0327)	(0.0441)	(0.0346)	(0.0275)	(0.0422)
Dep. mean	0.8773	0.8921		0.9038	0.8736		0.8530	0.9406		0.8519	0.9164	
Ν	11260	13034	24295	9219	15059	24284	14874	6813	21691	11739	12567	24311

Table A5. Heterogeneity of Effect of Appellate Court Reversal on Removal I

Note: Removal is regressed on an indicator that takes the value 1 if an appellate court handed down a judgment 2-4 weeks before the date of deliberation in the focal case and overturned the assigned judge *j*'s prior decision to *not* remove a child from home. We limit the 'Appeal Sample' to the subgroup specified at the top of each column. All estimations include court-by-year and judge FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .1. ** p < .05. **** p < .01.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)
	Female	Male	⊲	>50	≤ 50	⊲	>6	9 1	⊲
Appellate Court Sign	al (2-4 Week:	s Prior):							
Wrong, remove	0.0661^{**}	0.0916^{***}	-0.0117	0.0978***	0.0495^{*}	0.0401	0.1069^{***}	0.0349	0.0643
	(0.0274)	(0.0329)	(0.0419)	(0.0303)	(0.0299)	(0.0423)	(0.0286)	(0.0319)	(0.0425)
Dep. mean	0.8866	0.8839		0.8813	0.8891		0.8816	0.8903	
N	12844	11564	24413	11689	12719	24409	14029	10370	24402

Table A6. Heterogeneity of Effect of Appellate Court Reversal on Removal II

Judge Experience (Years)

Judge Age (Years)

Judge Gender

Note: Removal is regressed on an indicator that takes the value 1 if an appellate court handed down a judgment 2-4 weeks before the date of deliberation in the focal case and overturned the assigned judge j's prior decision to *not* remove a child from home. We limit the 'Appeal Sample' to the subgroup specified at the top of each column. All estimations include court-by-year and judge FEs. Standard errors are clustered at the case level. * p < .05. *** p < .01.

Table A7. Robustness Checks of Effect of Appellate Court Reversal on Removal

	Remo	ved
	Coeff	Std err
A: Baseline		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0731***	0.0213
Observations	24413	
B: Sample With National Coverage		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0793***	0.0213
Observations	22154	
C: Excluding Junior Judges		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0726***	0.0222
Observations	19528	
D: Excluding Non-Junior Cases		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0601***	0.0228
Observations	20348	
<u>E: First-Time Cases</u>		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0671***	0.0214
Observations	22605	
<i>F</i> : Cases Determined \geq 24 Months Before Covid-19		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0689***	0.0266
Observations	19254	
<u><i>G</i></u> : Cases in Court*Year Cells With \geq 10 obs		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0731***	0.0213
Observations	24371	
H: Judge Handles ≥ 20 obs		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0750***	0.0218
Observations	19452	
I: Three-Way Cluster at Case, Child, and Judge Level		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0731***	0.0219
Observations	24413	
J: Court-by-Year FEs Replaced With Department-by-Year FE	s	
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0757***	0.0218
Observations	24386	
K: Court-by-Year FEs Replaced With Appellate-Court-by-Yea	ır FEs	
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0786***	0.0287
Observations	9480	
L: Add Day-of-Week and Social Welfare Committee FEs		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0800***	0.0215
Observations	24407	
M: Add Male-Judge-by-Year FEs		
Appellate court signal (2-4 weeks prior): Wrong, remove	0.0737***	0.0213
Observations	24413	

Note: Panels B-F limit the 'Appeal Sample' to years with universal coverage, cases handled by regular judges, cases that are randomly assigned to any judge within the judge pool irrespective of the judge's seniority, the first case for each child, cases decided \geq 24 months before February 2020, cases in court-by-year cells with at least 10 observations, and judges who handle at least 20 cases. Panel I clusters the standard errors on the case, judge, and child level. Panels J-K replace court-by-year FEs with department-by-year FEs and appellate-court-by-year FEs, respectively. Panel L adds FEs for judgment day of the week and SWC while Panel M adds male-judge-by-year FEs. * p < .1. ** p < .05. *** p < .01.

Previous doctoral theses in the Department of Economics, Gothenburg

Avhandlingar publicerade innan serien Ekonomiska Studier startades (Theses published before the series Ekonomiska Studier was started):

Östman, Hugo (1911), Norrlands ekonomiska utveckling Moritz, Marcus (1911), Den svenska tobaksindustrien Sundbom, I. (1933), Prisbildning och ändamålsenlighet Gerhard, I. (1948), Problem rörande Sveriges utrikeshandel 1936/38 Hegeland, Hugo (1951), The Quantity Theory of Money

Mattsson, Bengt (1970), Cost-Benefit analys

Rosengren, Björn (1975), Valutareglering och nationell ekonomisk politik

Hjalmarsson, Lennart (1975), Studies in a Dynamic Theory of Production and its Applications

Örtendahl, Per-Anders (1975), Substitutionsaspekter på produktionsprocessen vid massaframställning

Anderson, Arne M. (1976), Produktion, kapacitet och kostnader vid ett helautomatiskt emballageglasbruk

Ohlsson, Olle (1976), Substitution och odelbarheter i produktionsprocessen vid massaframställning

Gunnarsson, Jan (1976), Produktionssystem och tätortshierarki – om sambandet mellan rumslig och ekonomisk struktur

Köstner, Evert (1976), Optimal allokering av tid mellan utbildning och arbete Wigren, Rune (1976), Analys av regionala effektivitetsskillnader inom industribranscher Wästlund, Jan (1976), Skattning och analys av regionala effektivitetsskillnader inom industribranscher

Flöjstad, Gunnar (1976), Studies in Distortions, Trade and Allocation Problems Sandelin, Bo (1977), Prisutveckling och kapitalvinster på bostadsfastigheter Dahlberg, Lars (1977), Empirical Studies in Public Planning Lönnroth, Johan (1977), Marxism som matematisk ekonomi

Johansson, Börje (1978), Contributions to Sequential Analysis of Oligopolistic Competition

<u>Ekonomiska Studier</u>, utgivna av Nationalekonomiska institutionen vid Göteborgs Universitet. Nr 1 och 4 var inte doktorsavhandlingar. (The contributions to the department series 'Ekonomiska Studier' where no. 1 and 4 were no doctoral theses):

- 2. **Ambjörn, Erik** (1959), Svenskt importberoende 1926-1956: en ekonomisk-statistisk kartläggning med kommentarer
- 3. Landgren, K-G. (1960), Den "Nya ekonomien" i Sverige: J.M. Keynes, E. Wigfors och utecklingen 1927-39
- 5. **Bigsten**, Arne (1979), Regional Inequality and Development: A Case Study of Kenya
- 6. **Andersson, Lars** (1979), Statens styrning av de kommunala budgetarnas struktur (Central Government Influence on the Structure of the Municipal Budget)
- 7. **Gustafsson, Björn** (1979), Inkomst- och uppväxtförhållanden (Income and Family Background)
- 8. **Granholm, Arne** (1981), Interregional Planning Models for the Allocation of Private and Public Investments
- 9. **Lundborg, Per** (1982), Trade Policy and Development: Income Distributional Effects in the Less Developed Countries of the US and EEC Policies for Agricultural

Commodities

- Juås, Birgitta (1982), Värdering av risken för personskador. En jämförande studie av implicita och explicita värden. (Valuation of Personal Injuries. A comparison of Explicit and Implicit Values)
- 11. **Bergendahl, Per-Anders** (1982), Energi och ekonomi tillämpningar av input-output analys (Energy and the Economy Applications of Input-Output Analysis)
- 12. **Blomström, Magnus** (1983), Foreign Investment, Technical Efficiency and Structural Change Evidence from the Mexican Manufacturing Industry
- 13. Larsson, Lars-Göran (1983), Comparative Statics on the Basis of Optimization Methods
- 14. Persson, Håkan (1983), Theory and Applications of Multisectoral Growth Models
- 15. Sterner, Thomas (1986), Energy Use in Mexican Industry.
- 16. **Flood, Lennart** (1986), On the Application of Time Use and Expenditure Allocation Models.
- 17. **Schuller, Bernd-Joachim** (1986), Ekonomi och kriminalitet en empirisk undersökning av brottsligheten i Sverige (Economics of crime - an empirical analysis of crime in Sweden)
- 18. **Walfridson, Bo** (1987), Dynamic Models of Factor Demand. An Application to Swedish Industry.
- Stålhammar, Nils-Olov (1987), Strukturomvandling, företagsbeteende och förväntningsbildning inom den svenska tillverkningsindustrin (Structural Change, Firm Behaviour and Expectation Formation in Swedish Manufactury)
- 20. **Anxo, Dominique** (1988), Sysselsättningseffekter av en allmän arbetstidsförkortning (Employment effects of a general shortage of the working time)
- 21. **Mbelle, Ammon** (1988), Foreign Exchange and Industrial Development: A Study of Tanzania.
- 22. **Ongaro, Wilfred** (1988), Adoption of New Farming Technology: A Case Study of Maize Production in Western Kenya.
- 23. Zejan, Mario (1988), Studies in the Behavior of Swedish Multinationals.
- 24. **Görling, Anders** (1988), Ekonomisk tillväxt och miljö. Förorenings-struktur och ekonomiska effekter av olika miljövårdsprogram. (Economic Growth and Environment. Pollution Structure and Economic Effects of Some Environmental Programs).
- 25. **Aguilar, Renato** (1988), Efficiency in Production: Theory and an Application on Kenyan Smallholders.
- 26. Kayizzi-Mugerwa, Steve (1988), External Shocks and Adjustment in Zambia.
- 27. **Bornmalm-Jardelöw, Gunilla** (1988), Högre utbildning och arbetsmarknad (Higher Education and the Labour Market)
- 28. **Tansini, Ruben** (1989), Technology Transfer: Dairy Industries in Sweden and Uruguay.
- 29. Andersson, Irene (1989), Familjebeskattning, konsumtion och arbetsutbud En ekonometrisk analys av löne- och inkomstelasticiteter samt policysimuleringar för svenska hushåll (Family Taxation, Consumption and Labour Supply An Econometric Analysis of Wage and Income Elasticities and Policy Simulations for Swedish Households)
- 30. **Henrekson, Magnus** (1990), An Economic Analysis of Swedish Government Expenditure
- 31. **Sjöö, Boo** (1990), Monetary Policy in a Continuous Time Dynamic Model for Sweden

- 32. Rosén, Åsa (1991), Contributions to the Theory of Labour Contracts.
- 33. Loureiro, Joao M. de Matos (1992), Foreign Exchange Intervention, Sterilization and Credibility in the EMS: An Empirical Study
- 34. **Irandoust, Manuchehr** (1993), Essays on the Behavior and Performance of the Car Industry
- 35. **Tasiran, Ali Cevat** (1993), Wage and Income Effects on the Timing and Spacing of Births in Sweden and the United States
- 36. **Milopoulos, Christos** (1993), Investment Behaviour under Uncertainty: An Econometric Analysis of Swedish Panel Data
- 37. Andersson, Per-Åke (1993), Labour Market Structure in a Controlled Economy: The Case of Zambia
- 38. Storrie, Donald W. (1993), The Anatomy of a Large Swedish Plant Closure
- 39. Semboja, Haji Hatibu Haji (1993), Energy and Development in Kenya
- 40. **Makonnen, Negatu** (1993), Labor Supply and the Distribution of Economic Well-Being: A Case Study of Lesotho
- 41. Julin, Eva (1993), Structural Change in Rural Kenya
- 42. **Durevall, Dick** (1993), Essays on Chronic Inflation: The Brazilian Experience
- 43. Veiderpass, Ann (1993), Swedish Retail Electricity Distribution: A Non-Parametric Approach to Efficiency and Productivity Change
- 44. **Odeck, James** (1993), Measuring Productivity Growth and Efficiency with Data Envelopment Analysis: An Application on the Norwegian Road Sector
- 45. **Mwenda, Abraham** (1993), Credit Rationing and Investment Behaviour under Market Imperfections: Evidence from Commercial Agriculture in Zambia
- Mlambo, Kupukile (1993), Total Factor Productivity Growth: An Empirical Analysis of Zimbabwe's Manufacturing Sector Based on Factor Demand Modelling
- 47. Ndung'u, Njuguna (1993), Dynamics of the Inflationary Process in Kenya
- 48. **Modén, Karl-Markus** (1993), Tax Incentives of Corporate Mergers and Foreign Direct Investments
- 49. Franzén, Mikael (1994), Gasoline Demand A Comparison of Models
- 50. **Heshmati, Almas** (1994), Estimating Technical Efficiency, Productivity Growth And Selectivity Bias Using Rotating Panel Data: An Application to Swedish Agriculture
- 51. **Salas, Osvaldo** (1994), Efficiency and Productivity Change: A Micro Data Case Study of the Colombian Cement Industry
- 52. **Bjurek, Hans** (1994), Essays on Efficiency and Productivity Change with Applications to Public Service Production
- 53. **Cabezas Vega, Luis** (1994), Factor Substitution, Capacity Utilization and Total Factor Productivity Growth in the Peruvian Manufacturing Industry
- 54. **Katz, Katarina** (1994), Gender Differentiation and Discrimination. A Study of Soviet Wages
- 55. **Asal, Maher** (1995), Real Exchange Rate Determination and the Adjustment Process: An Empirical Study in the Cases of Sweden and Egypt
- 56. Kjulin, Urban (1995), Economic Perspectives on Child Care
- 57. **Andersson, Göran** (1995), Volatility Forecasting and Efficiency of the Swedish Call Options Market
- 58. **Forteza, Alvaro** (1996), Credibility, Inflation and Incentive Distortions in the Welfare State
- 59. Locking, Håkan (1996), Essays on Swedish Wage Formation
- 60. Välilä, Timo (1996), Essays on the Credibility of Central Bank Independence
- 61. **Yilma, Mulugeta** (1996), Measuring Smallholder Efficiency: Ugandan Coffee and Food-Crop Production
- 62. **Mabugu, Ramos E.** (1996), Tax Policy Analysis in Zimbabwe Applying General Equilibrium Models
- 63. **Johansson, Olof** (1996), Welfare, Externalities, and Taxation; Theory and Some Road Transport Applications.
- 64. **Chitiga, Margaret** (1996), Computable General Equilibrium Analysis of Income Distribution Policies in Zimbabwe
- 65. Leander, Per (1996), Foreign Exchange Market Behavior Expectations and Chaos
- 66. Hansen, Jörgen (1997), Essays on Earnings and Labor Supply
- 67. **Cotfas, Mihai** (1997), Essays on Productivity and Efficiency in the Romanian Cement Industry
- 68. **Horgby, Per-Johan** (1997), Essays on Sharing, Management and Evaluation of Health Risks
- 69. **Nafar, Nosratollah** (1997), Efficiency and Productivity in Iranian Manufacturing Industries
- 70. **Zheng, Jinghai** (1997), Essays on Industrial Structure, Technical Change, Employment Adjustment, and Technical Efficiency
- 71. **Isaksson, Anders** (1997), Essays on Financial Liberalisation in Developing Countries: Capital mobility, price stability, and savings
- 72. Gerdin, Anders (1997), On Productivity and Growth in Kenya, 1964-94
- 73. **Sharifi, Alimorad** (1998), The Electricity Supply Industry in Iran: Organization, performance and future development
- 74. **Zamanian, Max** (1997), Methods for Mutual Fund Portfolio Evaluation: An application to the Swedish market
- 75. **Manda, Damiano Kulundu** (1997), Labour Supply, Returns to Education, and the Effect of Firm Size on Wages: The case of Kenya
- 76. **Holmén, Martin** (1998), Essays on Corporate Acquisitions and Stock Market Introductions
- 77. **Pan, Kelvin** (1998), Essays on Enforcement in Money and Banking
- 78. **Rogat, Jorge** (1998), The Value of Improved Air Quality in Santiago de Chile
- 79. Peterson, Stefan (1998), Essays on Large Shareholders and Corporate Control
- 80. **Belhaj, Mohammed** (1998), Energy, Transportation and Urban Environment in Africa: The Case of Rabat-Salé, Morocco
- 81. **Mekonnen, Alemu** (1998), Rural Energy and Afforestation: Case Studies from Ethiopia
- 82. **Johansson, Anders** (1998), Empirical Essays on Financial and Real Investment Behavior
- 83. Köhlin, Gunnar (1998), The Value of Social Forestry in Orissa, India
- 84. Levin, Jörgen (1998), Structural Adjustment and Poverty: The Case of Kenya
- 85. **Ncube, Mkhululi** (1998), Analysis of Employment Behaviour in Zimbabwe
- 86. Mwansa, Ladslous (1998), Determinants of Inflation in Zambia
- 87. **Agnarsson, Sveinn** (1998), Of Men and Machines: Essays in Applied Labour and Production Economics
- 88. **Kadenge, Phineas** (1998), Essays on Macroeconomic Adjustment in Zimbabwe: Inflation, Money Demand, and the Real Exchange Rate
- 89. Nyman, Håkan (1998), An Economic Analysis of Lone Motherhood in Sweden
- 90. Carlsson, Fredrik (1999), Essays on Externalities and Transport
- 91. Johansson, Mats (1999), Empirical Studies of Income Distribution

- 92. Alemu, Tekie (1999), Land Tenure and Soil Conservation: Evidence from Ethiopia
- 93. Lundvall, Karl (1999), Essays on Manufacturing Production in a Developing Economy: Kenya 1992-94
- 94. Zhang, Jianhua (1999), Essays on Emerging Market Finance
- 95. Mlima, Aziz Ponary (1999), Four Essays on Efficiency and Productivity in Swedish Banking
- 96. **Davidsen, Björn-Ivar** (2000), Bidrag til den økonomisk-metodologiske tenkningen (Contributions to the Economic Methodological Thinking)
- 97. Ericson, Peter (2000), Essays on Labor Supply
- 98. **Söderbom, Måns** (2000), Investment in African Manufacturing: A Microeconomic Analysis
- 99. **Höglund, Lena** (2000), Essays on Environmental Regulation with Applications to Sweden
- 100. Olsson, Ola (2000), Perspectives on Knowledge and Growth
- 101. Meuller, Lars (2000), Essays on Money and Credit
- 102. Österberg, Torun (2000), Economic Perspectives on Immigrants and Intergenerational Transmissions
- 103. **Kalinda Mkenda, Beatrice** (2001), Essays on Purchasing Power Parity, RealExchange Rate, and Optimum Currency Areas
- 104. **Nerhagen, Lena** (2001), Travel Demand and Value of Time Towards an Understanding of Individuals Choice Behavior
- 105. **Mkenda, Adolf** (2001), Fishery Resources and Welfare in Rural Zanzibar
- 106. Eggert, Håkan (2001), Essays on Fisheries Economics
- 107. Andrén, Daniela (2001), Work, Sickness, Earnings, and Early Exits from the Labor Market. An Empirical Analysis Using Swedish Longitudinal Data
- 108. Nivorozhkin, Eugene (2001), Essays on Capital Structure
- 109. **Hammar, Henrik** (2001), Essays on Policy Instruments: Applications to Smoking and the Environment
- Nannyonjo, Justine (2002), Financial Sector Reforms in Uganda (1990-2000): Interest Rate Spreads, Market Structure, Bank Performance and Monetary Policy
- 111. Wu, Hong (2002), Essays on Insurance Economics
- 112. Linde-Rahr, Martin (2002), Household Economics of Agriculture and Forestry in Rural Vienam
- 113. **Maneschiöld, Per-Ola** (2002), Essays on Exchange Rates and Central Bank Credibility
- 114. Andrén, Thomas (2002), Essays on Training, Welfare and Labor Supply
- 115. **Granér, Mats** (2002), Essays on Trade and Productivity: Case Studies of Manufacturing in Chile and Kenya
- 116. Jaldell, Henrik (2002), Essays on the Performance of Fire and Rescue Services
- 117. **Alpizar, Francisco, R.** (2002), Essays on Environmental Policy-Making in Developing Countries: Applications to Costa Rica
- 118. Wahlberg, Roger (2002), Essays on Discrimination, Welfare and Labor Supply
- 119. **Piculescu, Violeta** (2002), Studies on the Post-Communist Transition
- 120. Pylkkänen, Elina (2003), Studies on Household Labor Supply and Home Production
- 121. Löfgren, Åsa (2003), Environmental Taxation Empirical and Theoretical Applications
- 122. **Ivaschenko, Oleksiy** (2003), Essays on Poverty, Income Inequality and Health in Transition Economies

- 123. Lundström, Susanna (2003), On Institutions, Economic Growth and the Environment
- 124. Wambugu, Anthony (2003), Essays on Earnings and Human Capital in Kenya
- 125. Adler, Johan (2003), Aspects of Macroeconomic Saving
- 126. Erlandsson, Mattias (2003), On Monetary Integration and Macroeconomic Policy
- 127. Brink, Anna (2003), On the Political Economy of Municipality Break-Ups
- 128. Ljungwall, Christer (2003), Essays on China's Economic Performance During the Reform Period
- 129. Chifamba, Ronald (2003), Analysis of Mining Investments in Zimbabwe
- 130. **Muchapondwa, Edwin** (2003), The Economics of Community-Based Wildlife Conservation in Zimbabwe
- 131. Hammes, Klaus (2003), Essays on Capital Structure and Trade Financing
- 132. Abou-Ali, Hala (2003), Water and Health in Egypt: An Empirical Analysis
- 133. **Simatele, Munacinga** (2004), Financial Sector Reforms and Monetary Policy in Zambia
- 134. Tezic, Kerem (2004), Essays on Immigrants' Economic Integration
- 135. INSTÄLLD
- 136. Gjirja, Matilda (2004), Efficiency and Productivity in Swedish Banking
- 137. Andersson, Jessica (2004), Welfare Environment and Tourism in Developing Countries
- 138. **Chen, Yinghong** (2004), Essays on Voting Power, Corporate Governance and Capital Structure
- 139. **Yesuf, Mahmud** (2004), Risk, Time and Land Management under Market Imperfections: Applications to Ethiopia
- 140. **Kateregga, Eseza** (2005), Essays on the Infestation of Lake Victoria by the Water Hyacinth
- 141. Edvardsen, Dag Fjeld (2004), Four Essays on the Measurement of Productive Efficiency
- 142. Lidén, Erik (2005), Essays on Information and Conflicts of Interest in Stock Recommendations
- 143. **Dieden, Sten** (2005), Income Generation in the African and Coloured Population Three Essays on the Origins of Household Incomes in South Africa
- 144. Eliasson, Marcus (2005), Individual and Family Consequences of Involuntary Job Loss
- 145. **Mahmud, Minhaj** (2005), Measuring Trust and the Value of Statistical Lives: Evidence from Bangladesh
- 146. **Lokina, Razack Bakari** (2005), Efficiency, Risk and Regulation Compliance: Applications to Lake Victoria Fisheries in Tanzania
- 147. **Jussila Hammes, Johanna** (2005), Essays on the Political Economy of Land Use Change
- 148. **Nyangena, Wilfred** (2006), Essays on Soil Conservation, Social Capital and Technology Adoption
- 149. **Nivorozhkin, Anton** (2006), Essays on Unemployment Duration and Programme Evaluation
- 150. Sandén, Klas (2006), Essays on the Skill Premium
- 151. **Deng, Daniel** (2006), Three Essays on Electricity Spot and Financial Derivative Prices at the Nordic Power Exchange
- 152. **Gebreeyesus, Mulu** (2006), Essays on Firm Turnover, Growth, and Investment Behavior in Ethiopian Manufacturing

- 153. Islam, Nizamul Md. (2006), Essays on Labor Supply and Poverty: A Microeconometric Application
- 154. **Kjaer, Mats** (2006), Pricing of Some Path-Dependent Options on Equities and Commodities
- 155. **Shimeles, Abebe** (2006), Essays on Poverty, Risk and Consumption Dynamics in Ethiopia
- 156. Larsson, Jan (2006), Four Essays on Technology, Productivity and Environment
- 157. Congdon Fors, Heather (2006), Essays in Institutional and Development Economics
- 158. **Akpalu, Wisdom** (2006), Essays on Economics of Natural Resource Management and Experiments
- 159. **Daruvala, Dinky** (2006), Experimental Studies on Risk, Inequality and Relative Standing
- 160. **García, Jorge** (2007), Essays on Asymmetric Information and Environmental Regulation through Disclosure
- 161. **Bezabih, Mintewab** (2007), Essays on Land Lease Markets, Productivity, Biodiversity, and Environmental Variability
- 162. **Visser, Martine** (2007), Fairness, Reciprocity and Inequality: Experimental Evidence from South Africa
- 163. **Holm, Louise** (2007), A Non-Stationary Perspective on the European and Swedish Business Cycle
- 164. Herbertsson, Alexander (2007), Pricing Portfolio Credit Derivatives
- 165. **Johansson, Anders C.** (2007), Essays in Empirical Finance: Volatility, Interdependencies, and Risk in Emerging Markets
- 166. **Ibáñez Díaz, Marcela** (2007), Social Dilemmas: The Role of Incentives, Norms and Institutions
- 167. **Ekbom, Anders** (2007), Economic Analysis of Soil Capital, Land Use and Agricultural Production in Kenya
- 168. Sjöberg, Pål (2007), Essays on Performance and Growth in Swedish Banking
- 169. **Palma Aguirre, Grisha Alexis** (2008), Explaining Earnings and Income Inequality in Chile
- 170. Akay, Alpaslan (2008), Essays on Microeconometrics and Immigrant Assimilation
- 171. Carlsson, Evert (2008), After Work Investing for Retirement
- 172. Munshi, Farzana (2008), Essays on Globalization and Occupational Wages
- 173. Tsakas, Elias (2008), Essays on Epistemology and Evolutionary Game Theory
- 174. Erlandzon, Karl (2008), Retirement Planning: Portfolio Choice for Long-Term Investors
- 175. **Lampi, Elina** (2008), Individual Preferences, Choices, and Risk Perceptions Survey Based Evidence
- 176. **Mitrut, Andreea** (2008), Four Essays on Interhousehold Transfers and Institutions in Post-Communist Romania
- 177. **Hansson, Gustav** (2008), Essays on Social Distance, Institutions, and Economic Growth
- 178. **Zikhali, Precious** (2008), Land Reform, Trust and Natural Resource Management in Africa
- 179. **Tengstam, Sven** (2008), Essays on Smallholder Diversification, Industry Location, Debt Relief, and Disability and Utility
- 180. Boman, Anders (2009), Geographic Labour Mobility Causes and Consequences
- 181. **Qin, Ping** (2009), Risk, Relative Standing and Property Rights: Rural Household Decision-Making in China

- 182. Wei, Jiegen (2009), Essays in Climate Change and Forest Management
- 183. **Belu, Constantin** (2009), Essays on Efficiency Measurement and Corporate Social Responsibility
- 184. Ahlerup, Pelle (2009), Essays on Conflict, Institutions, and Ethnic Diversity
- 185. **Quiroga, Miguel** (2009), Microeconomic Policy for Development: Essays on Trade and Environment, Poverty and Education
- 186. Zerfu, Daniel (2010), Essays on Institutions and Economic Outcomes
- 187. Wollbrant, Conny (2010), Self-Control and Altruism
- 188. Villegas Palacio, Clara (2010), Formal and Informal Regulations: Enforcement and Compliance
- 189. **Maican, Florin** (2010), Essays in Industry Dynamics on Imperfectly Competitive Markets
- 190. Jakobsson, Niklas (2010), Laws, Attitudes and Public Policy
- 191. **Manescu, Cristiana** (2010), Economic Implications of Corporate Social Responsibility and Responsible Investments
- 192. **He, Haoran** (2010), Environmental and Behavioral Economics Applications to China
- 193. Andersson, Fredrik W. (2011), Essays on Social Comparison
- 194. Isaksson, Ann-Sofie (2011), Essays on Institutions, Inequality and Development
- 195. **Pham, Khanh Nam** (2011), Prosocial Behavior, Social Interaction and Development: Experimental Evidence from Vietnam
- 196. Lindskog, Annika (2011), Essays on Economic Behaviour: HIV/AIDS, Schooling, and Inequality
- 197. Kotsadam, Andreas (2011), Gender, Work, and Attitudes
- 198. Alem, Yonas (2011), Essays on Shocks, Welfare, and Poverty Dynamics: Microeconometric Evidence from Ethiopia
- 199. **Köksal-Ayhan, Miyase Yesim** (2011), Parallel Trade, Reference Pricing and Competition in the Pharmaceutical Market: Theory and Evidence
- 200. Vondolia, Godwin Kofi (2011), Essays on Natural Resource Economics
- 201. **Widerberg, Anna** (2011), Essays on Energy and Climate Policy Green Certificates, Emissions Trading and Electricity Prices
- 202. **Siba, Eyerusalem** (2011), Essays on Industrial Development and Political Economy of Africa
- 203. Orth, Matilda (2012), Entry, Competition and Productivity in Retail
- 204. **Nerman, Måns** (2012), Essays on Development: Household Income, Education, and Female Participation and Representation
- 205. Wicks, Rick (2012), The Place of Conventional Economics in a World with Communities and Social Goods
- 206. **Sato, Yoshihiro** (2012), Dynamic Investment Models, Employment Generation and Productivity Evidence from Swedish Data
- 207. Valsecchi, Michele (2012), Essays in Political Economy of Development
- 208. **Teklewold Belayneh, Hailemariam** (2012), Essays on the Economics of Sustainable Agricultural Technologies in Ethiopia
- 209. **Wagura Ndiritu, Simon** (2013), Essays on Gender Issues, Food Security, and Technology Adoption in East Africa
- 210. Ruist, Joakim (2013), Immigration, Work, and Welfare
- 211. Nordén, Anna (2013), Essays on Behavioral Economics and Policies for Provision of Ecosystem Services
- 212. Yang, Xiaojun (2013), Household Decision Making, Time Preferences, and

Positional Concern: Experimental Evidence from Rural China

- 213. **Bonilla Londoño, Jorge Alexander** (2013), Essays on the Economics of Air Quality Control
- 214. Mohlin, Kristina (2013), Essays on Environmental Taxation and Climate Policy
- 215. **Medhin, Haileselassie** (2013), The Poor and Their Neighbors: Essays on Behavioral and Experimental Economics
- 216. Andersson, Lisa (2013), Essays on Development and Experimental Economics: Migration, Discrimination and Positional Concerns
- 217. Weng, Qian (2014), Essays on Team Cooperation and Firm Performance
- 218. Zhang, Xiao-Bing (2015), Cooperation and Paradoxes in Climate Economics
- 219. **Jaime Torres, Monica Marcela** (2015) Essays on Behavioral Economics and Policy Design
- 220. **Bejenariu, Simona** (2015) Determinants of Health Capital at Birth: Evidence from Policy Interventions
- 221. Nguyen, Van Diem (2015) Essays on Takeovers and Executive Compensation
- 222. **Tolonen, Anja** (2015) Mining Booms in Africa and Local Welfare Effects: Labor Markets, Women's Empowerment and Criminality
- 223. **Hassen, Sied** (2015) On the Adoption and Dis-adoption of Household Energy and Farm Technologies
- 224. **Moursli, Mohamed-Reda** (2015) Corporate Governance and the Design of Board of Directors
- 225. **Borcan, Oana** (2015) Economic Determinants and Consequences of Political Institutions
- 226. **Ruhinduka, Remidius Denis** (2015) Essays on Field Experiments and Impact Evaluation
- 227. **Persson, Emil** (2016) Essays on Behavioral and Experimental Economics, Cooperation, Emotions and Health.
- 228. Martinangeli, Andrea (2017) Bitter divisions: inequality, identity and cooperation
- 229. **Björk, Lisa** (2017) Essays on Behavioral Economics and Fisheries: Coordination and Cooperation
- 230. Chegere, Martin Julius (2017) Post-Harvest Losses, Intimate Partner Violence and Food Security in Tanzania
- 231. Villalobos-Fiatt, Laura (2017) Essays on forest conservation policies, weather and school attendance
- 232. Yi, Yuanyuan (2017) Incentives and Forest Reform: Evidence from China
- 233. **Kurz, Verena** (2017) Essays on behavioral economics: Nudges, food consumption and procedural fairness
- 234. Yashodha, Yashodha (2017) Contract Choice and Trust in Informal Groundwater Markets
- 235. **Meles, Tensay Hadus** (2017) Power Outages, Increasing Block Tariffs and Billing Knowledge
- 236. **Mühlrad, Hanna** (2018) The Impact of Reproductive and Birth Technologies on Health, Fertility and Labor Outcomes
- 237. **Gakii Gatua, Josephine** (2018) Primary Health Care Interventions and Social Ties in Kenya
- 238. **Felgendreher, Simon** (2018) Essays on behavioral economics and the effects of the colonial rule on Java
- 239. Demeke, Eyoual (2019) Essays on Environmental and Behavioral Economics
- 240. Kiss, Tamas (2019) Predictability in Equity Markets: Estimation and Inference
- 241. Khomenko, Maksym (2019) Essays on the Design of Public Policies and

Regulations

- 242. Mukanjari, Samson (2019) Climate Policy and Financial Markets
- 243. Schürz, Simon (2020) Economic and Intergenerational Decision-Making in Families
- 244. Lau, Debbie (2020) Empirical Essays on Education and Health Policy Evaluation
- 245. Ho, Hoang-Anh (2020) Essays on Culture, Institutions, and Economic Development
- 246. **Rubio Ramos, Melissa** (2020) The Economics of Coercive Institutions, Conflict, and Development
- 247. Lindahl, Anna (2021) Empirical tests of exchange rate and stock return models
- 248. Sjöholm, Carolin (2021) Essays on public policy in the informal sector context
- 249. **Tian, Ruijie** (2021) Impacts of Climate Policy and Natural Disasters: Evidence from China
- 250. Larsson, Sebastian (2021) Providers and Profiteers: Essays on Profits and Competition in the Provision of Public Services
- 251. **Norrgren, Lisa** (2022) Carpe Diem or Seize your Health? The Economics of Time Preferences, Health, and Education
- 252. Andersson, Lina (2022) Emotions in Game Theory: Fear, friendliness and hostility
- 253. Enlund, Jakob (2022) Three essays in applied economics
- 254. **Berggren, Andrea** (2023) Choices among Doctors, Students and Primary Care Providers: Empirical Evidence from Sweden
- 255. Hansson, Magnus (2023) Decentralized Finance and Central Bank Communication
- 256. Bilén, David (2023) Sustainable Consumption and Prosocial Actions
- 257. Inkinen, Ville (2023) Wetland Mitigation Banking in the United States
- 258. Tesemma, Tewodros (2023) Essays on Environmental and Behavioral Economics
- 259. **Behler, Timm** (2024)Telling Talent:Essays on Discrimination and Promotion Contests
- 260. Helénsdotter, Ronja (2024) Court-Ordered Care